

Wayne State University Dissertations

1-1-2015

Inclusive Representation In Global Decision-Making Processses: Challenges Of Democracy, Sovereignty, And Liberatory Politics For Marginalized Groups

Laurel Dawn Sprague Wayne State University,

Follow this and additional works at: http://digitalcommons.wayne.edu/oa_dissertations

Part of the Political Science Commons

Recommended Citation

Sprague, Laurel Dawn, "Inclusive Representation In Global Decision-Making Processes: Challenges Of Democracy, Sovereignty, And Liberatory Politics For Marginalized Groups" (2015). Wayne State University Dissertations. Paper 1168.

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by DigitalCommons@WayneState. It has been accepted for inclusion in Wayne State University Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@WayneState.



INCLUSIVE REPRESENTATION IN GLOBAL DECISION-MAKING PROCESSSES: CHALLENGES OF DEMOCRACY, SOVEREIGNTY, AND LIBERATORY POLITICS FOR MARGINALIZED GROUPS

by

LAUREL SPRAGUE

DISSERTATION

Submitted to the Graduate School

of Wayne State University,

Detroit, Michigan

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

2015	
MAJOR: POLITICAL SCIENCE	
Approved By:	
Advisor	Date



DEDICATION

This is dedicated to my family: my partner, Elaine Dunlap, and my son, Chioke Bowden.

Thank you both.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I want to express my greatest appreciation to Brad Roth for your persistence, guidance, and support throughout the stages of this project. Every word read, every source recommended, every edit suggested, every proposition challenged, made this project so much more than it could have been. My gratitude also goes to my Committee Members: Sharon Lean, Philip Abbott, and Peter Hammer. This project took longer than any of us anticipated at its beginning. Your support and willingness to work with my drafts when I was able to send them, instead of when might have been more convenient for you, are deeply appreciated. To have the support of four professors for whom I have such great respect is more encouraging than I can say. Thank you also to Ronald Brown, for making time for deep and important conversations with a new graduate student and for embodying an approach to scholarship based in commitment to social justice. I learned more about research in our informal conversations than in any formal training.

I also want to acknowledge and thank the AIDS activists, feminists, lesbian and gay liberationists, transgender rights advocates, and committed anti-racists – those here and those who have passed on to the other side - who have been my companions, my friends, and my support. I have been honored to be part of a community of people who, time and again, have refused to accept treatment that diminishes our common humanity and who have insisted that the right response to disparaging treatment is dignity, humor, resistance, and resolve. My heartfelt thanks go to Patrick Welsh who showed by example that one could talk to even the most angry and prejudiced people as if holding a conversation with a dear friend and to Derrick Anderson who taught me to keep loving and keep fighting.



PREFACE

My commitment to this project arises from the joining together of two streams of experience that have deeply influenced me. One stream is the academic training and mentoring that I have received in political theory, particularly in the philosophies of human rights, democracy, civil society engagement, and political representation. The other stream is my professional and personal engagement since the 1990s with grassroots, national, and international networks of people living with, affected by, and concerned about, HIV and AIDS. This engagement has included work on HIV-related stigma and discrimination with networks of people living with HIV in Sub-Saharan Africa, Central and Eastern Europe, and North America, as well as with the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV and AIDS (UNAIDS), USAID, and international research institutions, such as the International Center for Research on Women. My understanding of the issues facing marginalized groups, and the challenges to participation by those most subordinated within these groups, has been shaped by participation in strategic and advocacy planning sessions on the inclusion of people living with HIV and members of marginalized groups within Canadian and United States' provincial, state, and regional organizations and, at the international level, with the Global Network of People Living with HIV, the ATHENA network and other collaborations among women's health advocates, and the International Community of Women Living with HIV.

My attention to Indigenous Peoples' organizing arose later as I began to work more closely with Native Americans and Aboriginal Canadians living with HIV, who were advocates for native peoples in both fields. My understanding of the effects of exclusion on Indigenous Peoples deepened in 2013, when I attended a presentation to the U.S.



Presidential Advisory Council on HIV and AIDS on the situation of Native Americans and HIV. This presentation, by Dr. Katrina Walters and Harlan Pruden taught me to look at intergenerational trauma, fears that one's community will cease to exist, vulnerabilities within States for groups whose existence challenges the logic of the State, and the intersections of vulnerabilities that Indigenous Peoples who are also HIV-positive face.

Midway through this dissertation project, in 2014, I became more deeply involved in the issues I was studying when I was selected to represent North American civil society organizations on the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board (the Board of Directors for UNAIDS). My appointment as one of the two delegates representing North American has greatly sensitized me to the challenges of representing a large, diverse community of affected groups who face multiple intersecting vulnerabilities and stigmas, including those based on HIV-status and those based on sexual and gender orientation, race, class, and sex. All of these serve as forces for exclusion, albeit in different forms for different groups, from meaningful participation in decision-making processes.

There are some experiences that change us forever. For me, those experiences come from two directions: tremendous acts of dignity and courage in the face of mistreatment, and deep analyses that expose systems of power, meant to be invisible, that serve to trap and limit us. It has been my good fortune to be surrounded by a disproportionate number of people able to engage in both of these activities. This work can never be solely professional nor solely personal for me. I believe this is a strength.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Dedication	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Preface	iv
List of Tables	ix
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
Statement of the problem	4
Democracy	8
Representation	12
Theoretical approach	14
Structure of the project	17
Chapter 2 Inclusive Representation: Democratic Criticisms and Responses	19
Democratic critiques of inclusive representation processes	22
Conceptions of democracy at a global level	23
Responses to the critiques	27
Summary	48
Chapter 3 Theoretical Foundations For the Representation of Marginalized Groups	51
Types of representation	52
Representation as legitimacy in decision-making for others	56
Changing ideas about what ought to be "made present" by the representative	57
Representation as making interests present	59
Representation as making people present	69
Political representation in global arenas	72



Summary	88
Chapter 4 Democratic Benefits from the Inclusion of Marginalized Groups	90
Empirical work on descriptive representation	92
Political theory on the benefits of descriptive representation	94
Increased quality of deliberation and decisions	95
Improved status for marginalized groups	97
Stronger legitimacy and accountability for institutions	99
Addressing and remedying the lack of meaningful recourse within states	101
Summary	105
Chapter 5 Obstacles for Marginalized Group Representation in Global Organizations	108
Reinforcement of existing power and status hierarchies	112
Structural violence	119
Global power dynamics	124
Counter strategies: Responding to global, state, and local challenges	130
Summary	134
Chapter 6 The Struggle for the Right to Meaningful Participation: Indigenous People	es and
People Living with HIV	138
Introduction	138
Differences between the groups	140
Similarities across the groups	144
Indigenous Peoples and the Struggle for Representation	149
People Living with HIV and the Struggle for Representation	168
	101



Chapter 7 A Framework for Liberatory Representation	184
Sketching a liberatory framework of representation	188
Evaluating two processes for representation of marginalized groups	202
Summary	237
Chapter 8 Conclusion	241
A look back at where we have been	248
A look forward to where we are going	256
References	260
Abstract	297
Autohiographical Statement	299



LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Conceptions of Global Democracy24
Table 2: Civil Society Representation in Global Organizations
Table 3: Civil Society Provisions in Global Conventions, Treaties, Declarations80
Table 4: Foundations for a Framework for Liberatory Representation
Table 5: Composition
Table 6: Mandate193
Table 7: Selection process
Table 8: Working methods
Table 9: Comparison of the UN Permanent Forum for Indigenous Issues and the Joint UN
Programme on HIV/AIDS204
Table 10: The UN Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues and Liberatory Goals and
Dilemmas
Table 11: The Joint UN Programme on HIV and AIDS and Liberatory Goals and Dilemmas
222



CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

What should be the role of unelected civil society members in global decision-making? More specifically, how much power should disliked or marginalized social groups have to influence decisions that have a disproportionately weighty effect on their wellbeing? Does purposeful inclusion of marginalized groups increase the democratic nature of political processes by providing a voice to those otherwise excluded? Or does it unjustifiably limit the ability of nations and national majorities to self-determine the policies under which they live?

Consider three examples:

In Geneva, the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) makes governance and policy decisions through its governing body—the Programme Coordinating Board (PCB). Five representatives from civil society sit on the PCB alongside 22 representatives of states and the eleven UN cosponsors that make up the Joint Programme. While the civil society representatives do not have voting rights on the board, decisions are made by consensus, providing civil society organizations with the power to suggest, negotiate, and even potentially to block, decisions.

In New York City, the Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues for the United Nations (Permanent Forum) provides recommendations and engages in advocacy efforts for the inclusion of issues important to Indigenous peoples throughout the UN system. The governing board of the Permanent Forum is composed of eight government appointed representatives and eight representatives selected by Indigenous communities from different regions of the world.

In Kingston, Jamaica, the national body charged with creating a national HIV/AIDS strategy and determining the roll out of funds from the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria is chaired by an openly gay man from an organization dedicated to the health and rights of "men who have sex with men, sex workers, people who use drugs, orphans and other children made vulnerable by HIV, migrant populations, exprisoners, and youth in especially difficult circumstances" (Caribbean Vulnerable Communities 2015). This influential position is held despite Jamaican sodomy and indecency laws criminalizing gay relationships. The Chairperson was selected to serve on this decision-making body, not by the government, but through elections held by Jamaican civil society organizations. The members of the decision-making body then chose their leadership, selecting a member from the government and one from academia as vice-chairs. Similar arrangements, established to meet Global Fund funding criteria, are found among other global-fund recipient countries worldwide.

These are but a few examples of the ways in which non-elected civil society representatives have gained influence on matters of global importance. Further, these civil society representatives come from groups historically disadvantaged within their own countries. Indeed, their domestic marginalization is the very reason for their inclusion in global decision-making processes. The work done at global levels by the bodies in which these civil society representatives serve is felt at national levels, directly in the case of the Global Fund, and indirectly through the United Nations. The result is that groups with little to no influence on national policies through traditional domestic political processes play a role in shaping both global norms and national policies. This current situation creates a compelling challenge in which two highly valued aspects of just democratic governance are

pitted against one another: the inclusion of a political voice for those who are affected by policies but are, otherwise, excluded from meaningful participation in the crafting of these policies versus the widely-held principle that legitimate public policies are those that have the support of the majority – or some kind of institutionally-structured plurality - of a country's citizens.

For clarity, throughout this project, the term civil society refers to associations of people that are voluntary, non-governmental (not created or controlled by the government), and outside of the business sector. In this definition, civil society includes associations that are new and loosely organized as well as those with strong, ongoing organizational structures. This definition does not distinguish between associations created for reactionary, or exclusionary, purposes and those seeking to promote greater inclusion. Both groups may well contain a combination of inclusive and exclusive goals. For example, they may consist of people who are excluded from decision-making themselves and seeking inclusion while simultaneously seeking exclusion of specific others. To exclude more reactionary groups from the analysis on the basis that their goals are un-civil would be to misunderstand the nature of contestation within societies. Groups historically excluded from power -- such as the poor; racial or ethnic minorities, particularly those whose ancestry stems from low and middle-income regions; or women seeking full equality -- must contend within civil society with reactionary, un-civil groups that are devoted to their exclusion. Those on both sides frequently seek the exclusion of the other: reactionary groups in favor of the status quo and marginalized groups seeking greater justice than the status quo offers.

Statement of the problem

The central aspect of political equality is to have a voice in decision-making processes whereby people, or their representatives, have a reasonable chance of shaping the decisions that affect their lives (or, in cases of direct democracy, individuals have a reasonable chance of affecting decisions that affect their lives). Without this voice, people remain politically as children under the guardianship of others. Others make decisions for them; and neither they, nor their chosen representatives, make decisions for themselves. Political majorities or other decision-makers may be view them sympathetically -- as "good children"-- or unsympathetically -- as "bad children". Nonetheless, they are treated as children and barred from political decision-making on their own behalf.

The path of democratic progress is one of movement toward the recognition of political adulthood for increasing numbers of people. Children, politically speaking, are those for whom others make decisions. Adults, politically speaking, are those perceived by themselves and others in the political community as having emerged childhood to take their station in the community as equals in the practice of self-government. In 1775, in his "Speech on Conciliation with the Colonies," Edmund Burke expressed the following:

Perhaps we might wish the colonists to be persuaded, that their liberty is more secure when held in trust for them by us (as their guardians during a perpetual minority) than with any part of it in their own hands.

People have struggled to take part in the practice of self-governance "in their own hands" through the multiple battles for suffrage that ultimately extended the franchise in Western democracies to non-property owners, women, and racial, ethnic, and national minorities.

What is the intended result of these struggles? The equal ability for each person to influence legislation and to participate in the creation of the laws and policies that affect



them. However, this equality has never been realized. Some groups of citizens are, and have been, persistently unable to influence political decisions that affect them. Simply having an equal vote does not ensure meaningful and effective representation, as is illustrated by the many minority members in the U.S. who can vote in every election for their entire lives and never see a candidate whom they see as representing their interests win an election (Ely 1980). As a result, these groups find themselves caught in a condition of political childhood.

At the same time, global organizations and institutions are struggling to identify good practices for representation of marginalized peoples. This struggle takes place within, and responds to, a global context in which there is an increasing sense that global human rights norms can apply to realms of human life previously considered to be the sole purview of national governments, such as protection of the environment and the rights of people with disabilities or members of Indigenous groups (Cohen and Rai 2000, Nagel 1999). At the same time, the question of whether a human right to democratic participation exists has emerged in public consciousness and debates among political theorists (Benhabib 2011, Fox 2000, Franck 2000, Roth 2000). The debates focus on a right to participation at a national level; however, they are part of a larger movement in which human rights language is used to make claims for inclusion.

The convergence of these conditions has created an impetus within non-governmental and international bodies to turn their attention inward toward their own representation processes as well as outward to offer guidelines for appropriately inclusive processes to global institutions. This combination of events gives rise to a question that is simply put, yet is of critical importance for modern global governance: Who should

participate in global decision-making processes? Traditionally, the answer has also been quite simple: states, through their representatives, were charged with this right and responsibility. However, the question has become particularly acute in the current context in which, first, discussions about a right to democracy are gaining increased currency and awareness, and, second, many of the contemporary issues of global governance address situations within which national governments fail to adequately protect or consider their most marginalized populations. In response, the United Nations system has brought representatives of vulnerable and marginalized populations into decision-making processes, placing them alongside the representatives of states. Similarly, other international bodies and non-governmental organizations have devised various mechanisms for including representatives of key populations in their own governance and decision-making processes (Warren & Castioglione 2004).

However, this inclusion in global processes, while laudable for its commitment to the dignity of marginalized peoples, requires attention to both the processes and the guiding assumptions that animate it. In terms of processes, marginalized populations, in many cases, cannot be represented according to traditional models. Their constituencies may cross multiple geographical borders, as well as social, religious, and language groups. They may not be organized into defined political units able to hold elections and hold representatives accountable. Indeed, some groups are criminalized domestically which makes political organizing difficult (one example is the status of lesbians and gay men in the 78 countries which criminalize homosexuality). These challenges create an almost insurmountable barrier to representation of marginalized populations in the way that legitimate representation has been traditionally conceived – as requiring representatives

to be intentionally selected by their constituents and to be accountable to them, in an open contest in which information is freely available and all members of the represented group are able to participate without fear of reprisals (Pitkin 1967; Dahl 1989). To determine legitimate processes requires new ways of thinking about representation within the context of global realities.

Beyond the examination of processes, the assumptions that drive the movement toward inclusion require attention. These assumptions have not, to date, been fully specified by either proponents or opponents of these global efforts at inclusive representation, but four fundamental assumptions can be identified:

- First, that people ought to have a voice in the decisions that affect the conditions of their lives, and, correspondingly, that *groups* of people ought to have meaningful involvement in decision-making about issues that have a distinct impact on the members of the group;
- Second, that inclusion within global governance for ais the proper solution for groups that are marginalized domestically and that have important stakes in particular political decisions;
- Third, that representatives of marginalized groups generally must, themselves, be members of the group (descriptive representatives, as Pitkin (1967) and subsequent scholars have named them); and

المنسارات للاستشارات

¹ Young (2006) highlights the importance of global fora for providing this voice. She argues that the kinds of decisions on which groups ought to have a voice are those that "affect one's life conditions for self-development and self-determination" (1).

 Fourth, that inclusion of representatives of marginalized groups is an unqualified good in terms of democratic practices, globally and domestically, and poses no risk of harm.

The goal of this project is to conduct a close analysis of the principles of inclusive representation of marginalized groups in global decision-making processes, both as analyzed by political theorists and as currently practiced in global institutions. From this foundation, this project offers a framework for inclusive global representation that meets democratic conditions for participation and voice of those most affected by specific issues, and that does so in ways that reduce domination, while attending to challenging concerns about the interests of majorities, state sovereignty, and unintended consequences that could harm the group or those most marginalized within the group.

Democracy

Inclusion of non-elected civil society representatives, especially those from marginalized groups, raises a concern for normative democratic theory of how to understand the competing democratic tensions created by this inclusion: the democratic impulse to increase access to decision-making for those who historically have been kept out of positions of power versus the democratic focus on the enactment of public policies that have the support of national majorities. The fundamental questions for democratic theory are whether governmental policies that are enacted by democratic states and that affect marginalized communities are legitimate in democratic terms when there is no effective way for these communities to affect the decision-making (that is, the policies affect but are not affected by the minority) and, conversely, whether governmental policies

that address the needs of marginalized groups are legitimate if they appear to contradict the political interests or wishes of the majority of the population.

One's conceptualization of the meaning of democracy will shape the answer to these questions. Democratic theorists differ in their emphasis the extent to which democracy is best defined by the processes adopted by a state (primarily voting) or whether the outcomes of these processes matter also. A brief explanation of each approach and its relevance for understanding the challenges of political representation of marginalized groups follows.

Works by Dahl (1989, 2006), Huntington (1991), and others describe representative democracy primarily, although not exclusively, in terms of processes, with Huntington directly advocating for a process-defined approach to democracy because of the way it sets up measurable criteria with which to evaluate a government's claims to be democratic. Approaches based on processes, like Huntington's, emphasize the importance of majority rule for legitimacy. As such, a process-defined approach to democracy raises substantial challenges to practices that place non-elected citizen representation in positions that affect domestic policies.

Other procedural approaches to democracy take a broader approach than majoritarianism. Certain social organizations, including those with persistent political minorities, ensure that majoritarianism does not translate into political equality. For example, when societies are segmented by language, religion, or ethnic divisions, then processes, such as consociational democracy (Lijphart 1969), that require consent from these different segments assure agreement across major social groups before laws or policies can be adopted. Lijphart (1969) describes consociational democracy as an

alternative structure for societies that are segmented such that cross-cutting consent is required for stability. However, Lijphart is clear that consociationalism works through the mutual agreement and accommodation of the elites who represent dominant social cleavages. As such, whether based on majoritarianism, super majorities, or consociationalism, these processes consistently leave out the marginalized groups that are the fundamental concern for this project.

Other democratic theorists place greater emphasis on the substantive outcomes of political processes. These scholars focus less on majoritarian aspects of democracy and more on the extent to which all members of the political community enjoy political equality. Roth (1995) argues that a normative approach that goes beyond the simple mechanics of voting is necessary for evaluating democratic progress. Ely (1980) argues that one must pay attention to those groups who are unable to participate equally in normal political processes, such as racial minorities who may find that racial animosity directed toward them by other citizens leaves them unable to form coalitions with other groups to press for their interests. For Dworkin (1999), the central aspect of democracy is whether the state shows equal concern for the good of all of its citizens.

While acknowledging the arguments for a process-driven definition of democracy, this project adopts Dworkin's approach and argues that the focus on majoritarianism that results from process-driven definitions is inadequate. Whether or not there is majority approval in any particular case, a political structure is not democratic in any meaningful sense of the term when some groups of people, who are otherwise full members of the political community, are consistently unable to exert any meaningful influence on policies that directly impact them. This is particularly true when a majority that will experience

few, or no, effects from the decisions that are made has the power to decide those policies. When some members of a political community are excluded *in practice* from effective participation in the decisions that concern them, they are not political equals, as required for a democratic process. Instead, they are, *in practice*, political wards, or children, of the majority who make decisions on their behalf. In Dworkin's (1999) words, they lack "moral membership" in their political community (102). I will discuss this concept of moral membership in the next chapter. At this point, it is important simply to note that Dworkin considers political decisions to be democratic only when they take place in the context of moral membership (1999, 102-105).

My concepts of political childhood and political adulthood build upon Agamben's (1998) conception of the "relations of ban." Agamben's "ban" refers to the hierarchical ordering of society by those with resources; an ordering within which some people are deemed inherently valuable and worthy of care and others are not. Those considered unworthy of care and concern are considered to be subject to the relations of ban. These are the groups with which this project is most concerned. Of particular relevance to discussions of democracy and political representation, those who have been banned are not excluded entirely from the state; they remain bound in a marginal position within the political system. Agamben describes the vulnerability of this existence on the margins, "He who has been banned is not, in fact, simply set outside the law and made indifferent to it but rather abandoned by it, that is, exposed and threatened" (Agamben 1998, 29). The struggle for inclusive representation is a struggle of people who have been denied full political adulthood and instead have been "abandoned," "exposed and threatened," by decisions that they have no effective hand in creating. When groups find that their own

governments persistently lack concern for their wellbeing then one result is that they have no voice to represent them in economic and political talks. In these cases, inclusive representation can serve as a liberatory practice, bringing political voice and stature to those who have been governed while excluded from governing.

Representation

Political theorists' conceptions of the kinds of interests within the *polis* that might require representation within political processes have undergone significant changes over time. When social contract theorists crafted their images of political communities, the ways in which processes of representation might work within in the governing structures of the social contract were ill defined at best. Instead, these theorists characterized political communities as largely unified by a common goal -- whether the goal was protection of human security (Hobbes, 1651), amelioration of the "inconveniences" of life without government (Locke, 1689), or the common good (Rousseau, 1762)--and thus devoted little attention or support to structures for channeling particular concerns through a system of representation.

The different interests that exist within a political community were Burke's (1792) focus in his writings on representation. However, for Burke, interests were narrowly conceived as business or economic interests. An examination of the problem of marginalized or minority populations emerged in the writings of J.S. Mill (1861) on proportional representation and deliberative assemblies. Mill recognized multiple interests within a citizenry, as exemplified by his focus on the existence of minorities within a community and what rights to participation they ought to have. However, Mill's

recommendations for greater inclusion and voice corresponded with his belief that the power of the deliberative body to make laws and policies must be limited.

A shift can be seen between the earlier ideas of minority groups or viewpoints that might need to be represented and current ideas. Modern political theorists have focused attention on the representation of women and on racial and ethnic minorities. This work follows Pitkin's (1967) close examination of different types of representatives and the identification of "descriptive representation," as one category. Descriptive representatives are those representatives who are selected because they are similar to their constituents on some, socially relevant, dimension. The idea of descriptive representation has been seen as highly relevant to concerns about representation of marginalized groups, with a substantial literature about legislative politics revolving around the question of whether marginalized populations are better represented by those who come from within the same population (Swain 1993, Thomas 1994, Phillips 1998, Lublin 1999, Mansbridge 1999). However, Young's (1990) discussion of the politics of difference presents a serious challenge to those who would suggest that a simple formula for descriptive representation will provide a political voice for those who are marginalized, drawing attention to the ways in which minorities within a minority group can be silenced when only the most privileged members of the group are expected to speak for all.

Emerging political theory on political representation attempts to address new issues of representation beyond the sphere of legislative politics. This literature is particularly relevant to a political theory of non-elective civil society representatives in the global sphere. Young (2002) argues for inclusion as an accountability mechanism for global organizations that otherwise lack transparency. Urbinati and Warren (2008) describe non-

electoral representation as "expan[ding] and pluraliz[ing] spaces of political judgment in today's democracies" (403) and Held (2003) takes up the challenge of identifying conditions under which specific inclusion of marginalized groups in global decision-making processes is legitimate in democratic terms.

Theoretical approach

Feminist analysis provides the theoretical underpinnings of this study. Feminist theory illuminates two key approaches to the study of the relationship between marginalized groups, the states within which they live, and the global system: attention to human wellbeing through a consideration of those who are excluded or made invisible and an examination of the power dynamics within the predatory and the protective aspects of the state.

Attention to human wellbeing through consideration of that which is excluded or made invisible

Feminist theory has, across time, offered an approach for interrogating both formal and informal political systems with the purpose of attending to the equality, liberation, and wellbeing of all members of a given *polis*. Concern for all members of a polis requires attention to those who might be missing from care. The feminist approach follows a rich tradition from Wollstonecraft's ([1792] 1999) calls for attention to women's "personhood" to Jaggar's (1983) and Young's (2005) illumination of the effects of women's alienation from their bodies. While the feminist approach has consistently centered the situation of women and girls in analyses of political questions, newer feminist approaches have expanded the approach to other subordinated groups. Contemporary feminist theorists

have used understandings of marginalization to pay particular attention to the differences between those conceived of as "normal" and those who are considered "other" or invisible in political analyses: people with disabilities, lesbians, gay men, bisexuals, and transgendered people, racial and ethnic minorities, and those whose identities are at the intersections of two or more of these categories (Collins 1990, Kristeva 1982, Young 1990).

In this way, feminist theory's distinct contribution to projects concerned with the conditions for human flourishing has been consistently to ask: Who is excluded? And then, to answer that question by exploring the situation of people in spaces labeled and restricted as private, such as the home or many of the traditional settings to which women have been assigned. Employing an approach based in a feminist commitment to human wellbeing means that one must attend to the inclusion of those excluded or made invisible within new global processes of representation.

The state: predatory and protective

Feminist theorists highlight the complex relationship between the state and marginalized groups when human rights are at issue. Early feminist writings about the role of political authority emphasized the power of the state to violate the rights of women, particularly in relation to denials of the right to vote and legal discrimination in favor of men in child custody and property rights (Report of the Woman's Rights Convention, Held At Seneca Falls, N.Y., July 19th and 20th, 1848; Wollstonecraft [1792] 1999). Over time, as formal equality for women has increased, feminist theorists have developed more nuanced analyses of the state (de Beauvoir 1949, Nussbaum 2000, Okin 1991). The calls for, and eventual adoption of, the Convention on Elimination of all forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW) in 1979, demonstrated a shift in recognition of the multiple ways in

which women face discrimination in daily activities and the responsibility of the state to address these.

The focus over the last decades has been on the state as a protective force against the multitude of private violations that women and girls face within families, communities, schools and social and religious organizations. However, there remain feminist voices that argue that the need for private space, protected from government intervention, continues to be essential for women's abilities to exist with dignity within any political system (Hirschmann 2003). As seen, different theorists highlight the importance of the state for guaranteeing the right to equal opportunities for participation and development ("positive liberty" in Berlin's (1969) terminology) and to ensuring that private actors do not prey on women or other marginalized groups with impunity. Other theorists focus on the right to be left alone and on the need to be free from predatory and invasive acts toward marginalized groups enacted by the state, itself (Berlin's "negative liberty"). Taken together, what these theorists demonstrate is that groups may need to simultaneously struggle for affirmative state action to ensure their rights are protected and for protections against state predation. I extend this work done by feminist theorists by claiming that an approach based in feminist theory will insist that one must hold in mind both the protective and predatory potential of the state when exploring questions of global and state justice. This kind of analysis allows an exploration of the kinds of political institutions that may be called for when neither abolishing nor strengthening the state is sufficient for ensuring justice for marginalized groups.

Structure of the project

This analysis of global processes for inclusive representation proceeds in four parts. The first part, Chapter 2, examines concerns in democratic terms about increasing the voice and influence of marginalized groups when these groups support policies that are opposed by majorities and then discusses support for this practice, also in democratic terms. The chapter concludes with an exploration of the conditions under which inclusive representation might strengthen democratic practices. The second part, Chapters 3-5, looks closely at historical and current theoretical literature on political representation, applying foundational understandings of these concepts to the new demands for citizen representatives in global settings. Emerging political theory that attempts to address the problem of non-elected citizen representatives in the global sphere is discussed. This section of the project takes seriously Mansbridge's (1983) claim that the kind of representation needed depends on what the representation is for, exploring the potential gains and losses when inclusive representation is utilized and identifying when representatives who come from, or are selected by, marginalized groups are most required. Further, this section examines both the anticipated benefits and the potential obstacles to creating processes for decision making that are liberatory for marginalized people. The third part of the project, Chapter 6, explores two different social movements that have led to formal inclusion in global decision-making processes: the Indigenous Rights movement and the creation of the United Nations Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues; and the movement by people living with HIV and the establishment of the NGO Delegation to the Programme Coordinating Board (PCB) of the United Nations Joint Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS). Examining the trajectories taken by each group, this section of the project looks

at the similarities and differences in group organizing and the forms of power each group has within the processes for inclusion that have been established. In the final section, Chapter 7, criteria are proposed for creating, and evaluating, inclusive representation processes in global institutions. In addition, a set of three tensions that any process of representation must address is described. The criteria and the tensions, together, form a framework for working through key issues related to political representation in global bodies. The end of the chapter focuses on evaluating the Permanent Forum and the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board based on this framework. The project concludes with a summary and a call for further work to better understand how power flows within representation processes in global institutions.



19

CHAPTER 2 INCLUSIVE REPRESENTATION: DEMOCRATIC CRITICISMS AND RESPONSES

"For over two decades, the Indigenous people of the Americas have carried their struggles and debates to the United Nations arena, demanding a process of democratization of the international body..."

Director of the Indigenous Research Center of the Americas at the University of California,

Davis, Stefano Varese 2006, 231

The problem that this project seeks to address stems from the systematic marginalization of some groups of people within their own countries. This marginalization makes members of these groups vulnerable to a host of human rights violations and leaves them with little recourse within the state for protection from, or remedies, to rights violations. In response, global institutions have increasingly crafted governance processes designed to increase the meaningful participation of these groups. These processes are recent developments, with the earliest dating from the 1982 establishment of the United Nations Working Group on Indigenous Issues. In the main, these processes have been created in isolation from each other and in reaction to social advocacy campaigns. Those designing inclusive processes have done so without the luxury of systematic attention to the assumptions underlying the processes crafted or the benefit of the rich literature from political theory and the social sciences drawn from generations of theory and practice of political representation.²

الله نشارات كالدستشارات

² One possible exception to this general description could be the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria and the processes designed for representation at the global and country level. The Global Fund adopted an iterative learning process; from this, weaknesses have been identified in the processes for inclusion of members of civil society and addressed through structural changes that require inclusion as a condition for state-level funding.

This chapter explores the concept of inclusive representation through addressing a series of criticisms about the movement for increased involvement of marginalized peoples in supra-state processes. The overarching question of this chapter is whether inclusive representation is a goal that ought to be pursued: specifically, is it a goal that meets democratic criteria and is it a goal that is possible to accomplish? This chapter argues that inclusive representation is both – it enhances democracy and can be designed to be effective and meaningful – and sets forward some possible parameters for a pragmatic practice of inclusive representation.

Critiques of the concept of increased inclusion for marginalized peoples have been rare, presumably because most of those engaged in this question became involved out of a commitment to bringing people who would be otherwise left out into decision-making about matters that affect them. The arguments in favor of the inclusion of marginalized peoples center on two factors: a) inclusion is the right thing to do because it is democratic; and b) inclusion makes decisions and programs more effective. By contrast, most criticisms have focused on the ways in which these processes have been implemented. Instead of opposing the project for greater inclusion, these criticisms spring from support for the project, focusing on ways in which processes have been inadequately inclusive.

However, there are some situations in which tensions have erupted. In some cases, state representatives to global bodies have objected to the inclusion in decision-making processes of civil society organizations when those organizations promoted human rights policies that conflicted with state practices. In other cases, the conflicts have been between different communities, such as when majorities are barred from initiating policies they want because of particular minority protections.



For example, conflicts between UN member State representatives and civil society representatives have developed over powers given to civil society representatives to participate in global forums. During the 2011 and 2012 meetings of the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board (PCB) which is the governing board for UNAIDS, the representatives from Egypt, Iran, and an African bloc of states (who later dropped their resistance) vocally opposed a series of recommendations put forward by the NGO Delegation to the board in their 2011 annual report (Coulterman 2011a, 2011b, 2012). The recommendations called for states to "oppose and repeal laws that criminalize HIV non-disclosure, exposure or transmission, homosexuality, gender identity and/or expression, abortion, sex work and drug use"(Simon 2011). At the June 2012 meeting, some member states requested that the NGO Delegation not be allowed to include "decision points," or recommendations, in their future reports to the board (Coulterman 2012). The effect of this change, which was subsequently accepted, will be to limit the power of the NGO Delegation to frame the agenda in future PCB meetings (UNAIDS PCB Bureau 2012).

In other situations, tensions have arisen when processes designed to respect the wishes of marginalized groups provided outcomes that conflicted with what was seen as the national interest or the wishes of governments. For example, Peru was among the initial 144 signatories to the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP) in 2007, committing to obtaining the Free, Prior and Informed Consent (FPIC) of affected Indigenous peoples before engaging in activities that substantially affect them. Yet in a 2012 development project, the Pakitzapango hydroelectric dam, the Peruvian government did the opposite. They neglected to inform the local Indigenous community, the Ashaninka, of the plans for the dam even while awarding land concessions

and conducting feasibility studies. The dam is anticipated to generate power that can be exported to Brazil in exchange for funds that can be used for national development, supporting President Humala's social agenda for improvements for Indigenous and impoverished Peruvians. However, if the project is implemented, the majority of the Ene river basin, where the Ashaninka live, will be flooded (Nelson 2012). The controversy over Peru's dam project is one of many examples worldwide where government wishes to meet national development needs in certain ways are pitted against the rights of Indigenous minorities to protect their land, ways of life, and livelihoods (see, for example, Lyons 2012 on the Belo Monte dam in Brazil and Khagram 2004 for the history and politics of the Narmada Projects in India).

Democratic critiques of inclusive representation processes

As described in the Introduction, supporters of increased inclusion have given limited energy to theorizing inclusive representation to date; similarly, opponents have yet to sketch out a full critique. Despite this, a sympathetic reading of the concerns expressed by state actors, or that might be put forward by majority populations, allows identification of three potentially serious criticisms:

- 1. Is it anti-democratic to elevate the *voices* of particular groups in global and national decision-making?
- 2. Is it anti-democratic to increase the *influence* of particular groups in global and national decision-making?
- 3. Is it possible in practice to determine fairly which groups should be eligible for processes to increase voice and influence and which should be excluded?

This chapter addresses each critique in order: first, examining the extent to which the rights of majorities might be violated by amplifying the voice of marginalized groups or, assuming amplification can be acceptable in democratic terms, the extent to which majority rights might be harmed by increasing the influence of marginalized groups on outcomes. This chapter presents the that increased voice and increased influence for marginalized groups do not violate the rights of majorities, and, further, enhance the democratic legitimacy of decision-making processes. Next, this chapter addresses concerns about the impossibility of identifying the appropriate groups for inclusion. Serious challenges to processes of inclusive representation are raised by this critique. In response, proposed criteria for determining the characteristics of groups who are required to be at the table for a process to be considered inclusive are offered.

Conceptions of democracy at a global level

The first two of the three criticisms center on possible violations of democratic principles. Before examining the criticisms individually, this section provides an orientation to different approaches to thinking about what democracy at a global level might mean.

Many definitions of democracy focus on identifying minimal criteria, usually based on electoral processes, for determining whether or not a state should be considered a democracy (see, for example, Dahl 1989, Huntington 1991). However, global governance functions primarily without elections. To explore questions about democracy in global institutions and organizations requires a deeper look, beneath the process of elections, and an examination of why it is that democracy *matters* in global affairs?

Three different statements can be identified as ways that democracy is conceptualized at the global level. Each statement highlights a different democratic ideal:

Table 1: Conceptions of Global Democracy

State-centric	Each state—and through the state, its citizens—has
	formally equal status in global decisions. States are
	responsible for bringing their population's concerns to
	global bodies, whether or not those concerns are
	democratically determined.
Global public sphere	A global public sphere is created where groups of people
	can seek to be heard when other democratic processes
	have failed to provide them with a meaningful voice in
	particular decisions that affect their life chances.
Equal respect and	Global decisions provide equal respect and concern to all
concern	persons, no matter in which country or region they live.

Democracy belongs to states, not to global institutions.

The first statement defines democracy as something that does not exist at the global level, beyond the choices made by states to represent the wishes of their populations. Instead, states have the right to participate in global governance on a formally equal basis with one another. The result of this sovereign equality among states is that citizens in small, low-resource, or less powerful countries have a formally equal voice – although, nowhere near equal influence – with those in large, wealthy, or more powerful countries.

Access to a global public sphere

The second statement presents a vision of a democratic global public sphere where people from around the world can present their concerns, interact with others who may have similar, complementary, or opposing concerns, and attempt to organize support. The global public sphere may be physical, such as when civil society groups come together around UN meetings or for protests of the G8 or World Trade Organization meetings. It can also be virtual, for example, such as when dialogue space is developed through social media or on-line discussion platforms. The idea of the democratic global public sphere takes inspiration from Habermas's (1996) insistence that vibrant public spheres and processes of deliberation are essential for political equality (see also Dryzek 2007). For Habermas, the public sphere is a space where anyone, however situated in her own society, can bring forward concerns and proposals for public attention. If her concerns or proposals are to be considered, they must be backed by reasoned arguments that others can accept. The extent to which a person can find support is dependent only on the strength of her arguments, not her social status. Extending this concept to the global level, the function of the democratic global public sphere can be understood as providing attention, and possibly other kinds of recourse, to people who are excluded from the respect and concern by their state. The goal for these communication and organizing efforts is to use global attention to affect state policies.

A challenge for this view of global democracy is that it presupposes that groups marginalized within their own countries can find a way to bring their concerns to an international audience. However, this is not as impossible as would seem at first glance. The opportunities for representation within international organizations gained by

Indigenous peoples and people affected by the HIV/AIDS epidemic provide examples of how marginalized groups can gain this attention at global levels (for additional examples, see Keck and Sikkink (1998) on transnational advocacy networks).

Access to equal respect and concern in global decisions

The third statement reaches farther, offering a vision of democracy in which people from anywhere in the world, when their own states fail them, can have meaningful access to the attention and concern of global decision-makers. This idea builds on, then extends, Dworkin's (1999) argument that the meaning of democracy is to provide "equal respect and concern" to all members of a political community. For Dworkin, democracy is realized only when all members of the political community are "moral members" in that community. A political community must meet three relational conditions to determine moral membership.³ Dworkin writes, "[a] political community cannot count anyone as a moral member unless it gives that person a *part* in any collective decision, a *stake* in it, and *independence* from it" (103). Contained within the three relational conditions is the idea of influence. Dworkin explains:

Each person must have an opportunity to make a difference in the collective decisions, and the force of his or her role—the magnitude of the difference he or she can make—must not be structurally fixed or limited in ways that reflect assumptions about his or her worth or talent or ability, or the soundness of his or her convictions or tastes (103).

But what if the political community does not do these three things for all of its members? If it does not, then the basic democratic conditions are violated. When collective decisions are made, only those who are moral members in the political community are

³ In addition to relational conditions, Dworkin (1999) specifies structural conditions that are required for a genuine political community. The structural conditions include such factors as shared geography, identity, and history, among others (103). These factors

engaged in self-government. If there are others, even if those others have an equal vote, they are excluded from self-government. In that case, the democracy requires new procedures that do provide equal respect and concern. In this vision of democracy, the focus of citizen engagement is on global actions to set standards or press states to be more inclusive rather than seeking to influence states to pass supportive policies or remedy injustices. However, there may also be additional focused efforts at the state-level to press states to adopt these global decisions.

This conceptualization of global democracy includes, and goes beyond, the ideal of the public sphere. The global public sphere is process oriented, requiring no particular outcomes of equality so long as conditions exist to allow open dialogue. By contrast, the emphasis on equal respect and concern requires a fair chance for people to have their needs heard and equally considered by decision makers and it requires that the outcomes of decision-making processes distribute costs and benefits in ways that are generally equitable by some clear criteria. This is to say, while there may be uneven distributions for any given decision, no groups should find themselves consistently excluded from political influence while others set the policies for and reap the benefits of their shared political life.

The fundamental tension for global decision-making processes is the attempt to balance the different values that each of these democratic visions promotes.

Responses to the critiques

The next sections discuss the three critiques of inclusive representation in turn.

Does increasing the *voice* of marginalized groups in decision-making violate democratic principles?

Inclusive representation creates spaces beyond the level of the state in which members of particular marginalized groups can give voice to their interests, perspectives, and needs. However, as all individuals do not share equally in this access to speak in the halls of global decision making, such processes can raise concerns that global processes are rigged for certain outcomes, designed to give disproportionate attention to the needs of some small groups of people, and are, therefore, essentially undemocratic.

The opening chapter provided examples of current processes to increase the voice of members of marginalized groups in decision-making processes that serve to illustrate the kinds of situations to which this critique refers. In these examples, formal, on-going positions have been established to allow input into decisions by groups of people who are marginalized within most states: Indigenous Peoples and those living with and affected by HIV infection. These two groups differ from each other in many respects, described in the case studies in Chapter 6. One similarity is important for understanding the representative processes described in this section: these representatives have been invited to speak within a global institution (the United Nations) by virtue of the marginalized status of their groups. With access to speak but not to vote and with no rules for determining a standard of fairness for outcomes, this situation corresponds to the global public sphere concept of democracy described in the previous section.

Consistent with the first vision of global democracy described previously, international institutions, such as the United Nations and the organizations within the UN system, were founded upon the principle that state leaders, or their appointed representatives, speak for each state. Citizens of the state were to address their concerns to

their leaders within the state. Representatives from democratic countries may be perceived as having more credibility when they speak for their citizenry; however, democracies and non-democracies alike are viewed as the legitimate voices for the interests of their states.⁴ Representatives of marginalized groups all live within and come from states; they are individual citizens within states. According to traditional understandings of international institutions, individual citizens do not represent themselves or any group of which they are a part at the global level; rather they are represented by those who are appointed to speak for their state as a whole.

This system breaks down in an important way that speaks to the question of inclusive representation: some groups are persistently excluded from any kind of meaningful attention within their state because of their low social status. These groups are subject to the "relations of the ban" which excludes them from participation alongside others as equal participants in self-government (Agamben 1998). Biases by dominant groups, whether based on race or ethnicity, religion, language, gender, sexual orientation, disability, or other stigmatized status, ensure that these marginalized groups have, at best, limited power to get their issues on the political agenda, to get a fair hearing, to build coalitions with others in the state, or to enact beneficial policies for their group, while members of dominant groups wield all of these forms of power within the state on their own behalf.

⁴ Certainly quite visible democratic deficits exist at the levels of global governance. The UN Security Council is the prime example of this, as are the power imbalances between high-resource and low-resource countries that limit meaningful equality of voice in such powerful bodies as the World Trade Organization, the World Bank, and the International Monetary Fund. However, the existence of other democratic deficits does not remove the

concern to see inclusive processes at this level for marginalized groups.

Descriptions of catalysts for Indigenous rights movements frequently focus on the lack of access to state governments as a primary cause for transnational organizing and global advocacy work. For example, speaking of the 1970s Canadian First Nations movements, Dahl (2009) writes, "Even in a democratic country such as Canada, all appeals for respect for the unique Indigenous cultures were in vain. Faced with this situation, the Indigenous peoples looked outside their communities and countries for support" (35). Similarly, Chirif (2006) describes Indigenous societies in Latin America as having "deep democratic roots and yet [are] not subject to the representational processes on which our society claims to base the principles of democracy" (15). Reporting on a series of interviews with Indigenous rights activists in Latin America, Brysk writes, "With some exceptions, Indian-Latin political partnerships have been hindered by geography and cultural isolation, the class-based character of opposition forces, and lack of interest in resource-poor Indians by other sectors of civil society. A spectrum of Indian leaders from Brazil to Honduras stated that they sought international help because 'we had no real support at home" (Brysk 2000, 63, emphasis mine). In some cases, even these groups' identities as peoples that exist across state boundaries, with shared concerns and common interests, have been crafted because of their marginalized status within their own particular states. Brysk quotes Ecuadoran leader, Blanca Chancosa, "Indian identity is imposed—we have our own names. But if they call us Indians, we will rebel as Indians" (2000, 57).

A second issue requires attention: chief among the requirements frequently posited for a democratic system (Dahl 1989) is access, particularly on the part of decision makers, to information that broadly reflects the experiences and interests of their constituents.



When some members of any political community are persistently excluded in decisions about the issues that affect their lives, the result is that the information that they can bring to decision-making processes from their lived experiences is lost. If this information is lost at the state level, it cannot be represented in global fora by government leaders appointed to speak for their states. When states enact policies at home and when their representatives speak in global fora, the needs of members of these groups are excluded from consideration. This situation is the essence of non-democracy as certain classes of people, because of their low status, are ruled by the decisions of others with no voice in decisions that affect them. No plausible definition of democracy calls for the consistent silencing of minorities in favor of discriminatory majorities.

This exclusion from consideration by states within global venues is illustrated by the arguments made by the representatives of Egypt and Iran during the 2011 and 2012 UNAIDS PCB meetings that certain key populations related to the HIV epidemic do not exist in their countries and legal protections would be inappropriate in their country contexts (Coulterman 2011b, 2012). In a strikingly similar parallel, Soguk (2007) describes strategies used by states to avoid political recognition of Indigenous peoples upon the signing of the UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous People (UNDRIP). Soguk describes public statements by China and India voicing support for Indigenous peoples, followed by denials that any exist within their countries (18). In the UNAIDS situation, the presence in the room of the NGO delegates lead to a direct challenge to Egypt and Iran's claims, with civil society delegates and observers standing together in support while Joël Nana, an openly gay delegate from Cameroon, made a passionate plea in gentle tones for the board to recognize that while:



[T]here are many parts in Africa, where I come from, where people have not even started implementing MSM [gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men] programs or programs for sex workers; it doesn't mean that they do not exist in those countries. They do exist in all those countries. We do exist in all those countries (Nana 2012).

Focusing on the U.S. political system, where democratic concerns are periodically raised about role of the Supreme Court, as a powerful but unelected branch of government, Ely (1980) argues, nonetheless, that Supreme Court interventions to assure equal treatment are essentially democratic in nature. Ely views majority rule as the legitimate democratic practice except in very specific cases. When situations occur in which some groups are so disliked that they are unable to use normal political processes, such as creating alliances with other groups to press for attention to their needs, then, Ely argues, additional processes are needed to ensure that members of these groups can enjoy full participation in political life. Ely writes, "The whole point of the approach is to identify those groups in society to whose needs and wishes elected officials have no apparent interest in attending" (151), a required element for this identification is that "the minority in question be one that is barred from the pluralist's bazaar...for reasons that in some sense are discreditable," unable to form coalitions or to have their interests even considered by members of dominant groups because of biases and discrimination (152-153). Viewed with these undemocratic country-level practices in mind, the inclusion of voices of marginalized peoples in global decision-making becomes a democratic remedy. Without this remedy, global politics inevitably reinforce anti-democratic country practices.

Does enhancing the *influence* of marginalized groups in decision-making violate democratic principles?

A focus on the influence of marginalized groups in decision-making highlights the extent to which members of these groups can directly and effectively shape outcomes. This



question incorporates the idea of increased consultation with marginalized people and goes beyond this to the question of the justice, in democratic terms, of providing direct influence. Strategies to increase the influence of marginalized groups range from providing reserved seats, with equal voting powers, on decision-making bodies (such as those for developed and developing country NGOs on the global board of the Global Fund to Fight AID, Tuberculosis, and Malaria) to veto power over certain state or global decisions (for example, for Indigenous Peoples regarding certain kinds of development projects under World Bank Policy OP 4.10 (2005)). An important caveat is needed here: Indigenous Peoples' rights over land and development are founded in the idea of a prior right and in principles of self-determination of disparate political communities rather than general democratic concerns. This current project seeks to determine whether processes to increase the influence of Indigenous Peoples, as well as other marginalized groups, can *also* be supported under democratic principles.

The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria (Global Fund) is a private-public partnership established in 2002 by private donors, international institutions, and states to coordinate global funding to address the triple epidemics of AIDS, tuberculosis, and malaria in low-, and some middle-, income countries. An example from the Global Fund illustrates the concern about increased influence: The funding processes developed by the Global Fund require countries to establish bodies, called Country Coordinating Mechanisms (CCMs), with participation from public officials, private or business partners, and civil society organizations, to set national HIV/AIDS strategies, develop funding priorities, apply for project funding, and, if successful in their application, monitor implementation of projects. Initially, the Global Fund set guidelines, rather than requirements, for

participation; however, these were often ignored. In response, mandates have been increasingly specified. Currently, CCMs are required to demonstrate that their members include people living with HIV -- and people affected by tuberculosis or malaria, if funding is requested for these diseases -- before they are eligible to be considered for funding. Communities of people living with the diseases have the right and responsibility to select their representatives. The representatives from civil society, including people living with HIV and affected communities, hold equal voting rights on the CCM. In addition, CCMs must demonstrate that they have consulted with key population groups, which the Global Fund defines as "women and girls, men who have sex with men, transgender persons, people who inject drugs, male and female and transgender sex workers and their clients, prisoners, refugees and migrants, people living with HIV, adolescents and young people, vulnerable children and orphans, and populations of humanitarian concern" (Global Fund 2011, 8).

The previous section discussed ways in which ensuring an enhanced voice for marginalized people can be supported using democratic principles, focusing on the increase in the relevant information, perspectives, and needs that are brought into the public sphere for consideration. However, providing increased influence in the outcomes of decisions raises additional concerns. Three issues are of particular relevance:

1) For decisions that are taken in state-centric, multilateral institutions, such as the United Nations, amplifying the influence of some groups in society seems to circumvent existing processes by which states determine how to press for state interests within global fora.

- 2) Increasing the influence of members of marginalized groups has the de facto effect of minimizing the influence, and thus, attention to the needs of members of majority groups.
- 3) The increased influence for marginalized groups can come at the expense of those, such as the poor, who are subordinated members of majority groups.

These issues are most challenging for democracies, as their processes are legitimated by elections in which the citizens select their nation's leaders, who then make national policies and appoint international representatives. However, it is also challenging for non-democracies as their leaders are recognized at global levels as the legitimate decision-makers for the polity. If democratic principles are to be defended under principles of equal respect and concern for all members of a political community, then these issues require consideration. Are members of majority groups, or of other oppressed groups, harmed when specific decision-making rights are conferred on marginalized groups who are excluded through normal political processes?

In terms of any possible harm to dominant majority groups within countries, the rationale for increasing the voice of marginalized groups, described in the previous section, holds just as strongly as a rationale for increasing their influence. The interests of dominant groups are already strongly represented within decision-making processes, whether state or global. Even with the current global structures of inclusion for Indigenous Peoples and people living with HIV, in the end, at the global level, dominant groups have the final word.

Certainly, the power of either Indigenous Peoples or people living with and affected by HIV should not be overstated. Neither is able to override state policy preferences in substantial ways. State commitments under UNDRIP are honored more often in their



breach. In a recommendation for a special session focused on good governance, the 2014 Report to the Economic and Social Council on the 13th Session of the UN Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues (E/C.19/2014/11) summarizes violations faced by Indigenous Peoples seeking to influence policies that affect them:

Many examples of bad governance were cited, in particular with regard to bureaucracy, such as Governments making decisions without indigenous participation, consultation, or free, prior and informed consent; Governments making policy in centralized locations without input from indigenous peoples; and the imposition of new policies and programmes without any notice. Such actions lead to disempowerment, a lack of identity and violations of indigenous peoples' human rights. In particular, some States have policies that criminalize indigenous peoples when they exercise the right to self-determination, including over their lands and territories.

Similarly, one measure of influence for people living with HIV would be greater access to medical treatment. Access to medications shows up as the top priority for people living with HIV worldwide (People Living with HIV Advocacy Agenda 2012, NGO Delegation 2014b). Yet, in 2013, only 38% of adults with HIV in low- and middle-income countries who needed treatment were able to access the medications that they need to stay alive. For children with HIV, the number drops to 24% (UNAIDS 2014a).

These realities highlight the critical issue at hand, which is that these are such deeply marginalized groups that even global treaties and international institutions set up to attend to their needs cannot assure the outcomes for which they were designed. Further, the democratic deficits that these groups face may not even be remedied by solutions to increase the influence of marginalized peoples. In his opening remarks to the Regional Meeting of Indigenous Peoples on the World Conference against Racism, Racial

Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance, Dr. William Jonas⁵ described the limited influence that participating in consultations has on outcomes:

It is important to note...that the World Conference is ultimately a meeting of UN member states. While participation and contributions from...affected groups such as Indigenous Peoples [are] being actively sought, at the end of the day it will be the governments of the world who will negotiate and commit to a program of action at the World Conference (2001, 38).

However, for other subordinated groups, such as women or the poor, the concern about increased influence for some marginalized groups is more substantial. Countries struggle to raise funds to develop social, educational, employment and health systems for their citizens (United Nations 2012) and may view natural resources in areas traditionally belonging to Indigenous Peoples as the solution for relieving some of the struggles of the poor. In health fields, concerns have been raised about whether the focus on HIV funding has hurt the response to other health conditions (see, for example, Bongaarts and Sindig 2009, Schiffman 2008). While the studies to date have demonstrated positive effects on the ability of health systems to address other health issues, resulting from HIV funding (Shepherd et al. 2012, Yu et al. 2008), the resonance that this concern continues to have demonstrates the fear that the health needs of others in the population will be overlooked.

Responding to concerns about the effects of increased influence for some marginalized groups is critical. Without ensuring protection of the interests of the diversity of those subordinated within the county, dominant groups can simply play different oppressed groups off each other. Dominant groups would, as a result, continue to enjoy undue access to resources and the benefits that accrue from the state.

⁵ Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Justice Commissioner, Australian Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission.



To return to the Global Fund example, the Global Fund requires countries to allow people living with and affected by HIV substantial influence in determining what grant proposals are submitted. Countries do have a choice about whether they seek Global Fund grants; however, for countries with high epidemic burdens that are straining to meet even basic health care needs, the freedom to choose whether or not to ask for funds is severely compromised. Because the Global Fund requires countries that seek funding to establish CCMs with strong civil society representation and voting power and because the amount of funding is significant for most countries, if funding is granted by the Global Fund, decisions by the CCMs can effectively set domestic health policies and programs. These policies and programs may conflict with the choices that majorities, and their representatives in government, support. While these majorities have the power within government and society to ensure that their needs are also met, what happens to other subordinated groups with serious health concerns who lack the clout needed to assure attention to their wellbeing?

Further illustrating this concern, from the perspective of Indigenous rights, Marcus Colchester, anthropologist and former director of the Forest Peoples Programme, writes:

Many of the objections to both Indigenous rights in general and the right to Free, Prior and Informed Consent in particular have come from assertions that recognition of this right poses an obstacle to national development. If Indigenous peoples are 'granted' the right to veto proposed developments that will affect them or affect their lands, territories and resource, it is claimed, then valuable opportunities for countries to emerge from poverty will be blocked (2010, 11).

Again, it is likely that one oppressed group – specifically, the poor – will bear the costs from the increased influence that another oppressed group – specifically, the Indigenous – gains. However, to assume that only one marginalized group can be included at a time is to accept



a false dichotomy. In the next section, I present criteria for determining which groups should be included in particular decision-making processes. These criteria support inclusion of multiple subordinated groups, depending on the issue under consideration. While this inclusion does not guarantee any particular marginalized group the ability to control the decision-making process – a control they would not have even if they were the only marginalized group represented – it does guarantee that different marginalized groups are able to work directly with one another on decisions without having their concerns filtered through dominant groups. This limits the opportunities for dominant groups to insist that issues are zero sum with one subordinate group or the other guaranteed to be the loser while dominant groups present themselves simply as referees.

Having the ability to weigh in through a vote or a process that seeks consent provides some ability to ensure that your needs, as a member of a marginalized group, are actually counted within the decision-making process. Within democratic processes, the members of marginalized groups may still lose, but there is, at least, a record left of their support for their position and a chance to persuade others to join the cause. Further, if you are at the table as a representative of marginalized populations, then, at a minimum, representatives of states must cast their votes to your face rather than behind your backs. ⁶

To return to the question of why inclusion matters in these cases, the clearest argument can be found in Dworkin's claim that the essential democratic condition is "equal status for all" (Dworkin 1999). An examination is required of the challenges to achieving "equal status for all" within inclusive processes for dominant and marginalized groups. For marginalized groups, inclusive processes do not guarantee equal status but they do create

⁶ Thanks to Gorik Ooms for this point reflecting his experience serving on the Mozambique CCM, personal conversation, Johannesburg, March 23, 2011.

the possibility, otherwise missing, for this democratic condition to exist. As Young (1989) contends, "a major reason for explicit representation of oppressed groups in discussion and decision making is to undermine oppression" (262). Dominant and majority groups generally exist in a condition in which they are "more equal than others," able to shape policies as they wish, whether or not they themselves are particularly affected by the outcomes. Dworkin writes, "When majoritarian institutions provide and respect the democratic conditions, then the verdicts of these institutions should be accepted by everyone for that reason. But when they do not, or when their provision or respect is defective, there can be no objection, in the name of democracy, to other procedures that protect and respect them better" (1999, 96). The legitimacy of adopting such "other procedures" relies on a determination of whether the state's "provision or respect is defective". How to determine this is the focus of the next section.

To conclude the discussion of the democratic legitimacy of processes to enhance the influence of marginalized groups, two aspects need to be highlighted: First, these processes only exist for specific marginalized groups in bounded topic areas that affect the life chances of group members in a significant and unique way. That is, inclusive processes are not created to give enhanced decision-making power to marginalized groups on issues that affect everyone within the population equally. Second, the processes are designed because the groups are marginalized. Should conditions change and the marginalized group experience treatment as equal members of the political community, as demonstrated by such conditions as the ability to have their issues highlighted within political coalitions, put issues on the agenda, see their issues receive serious consideration, and win broad support

for electoral offices, then the inclusive processes that were set up to assist in gaining equal status would no longer be necessary for that group.

The exclusion of equal respect and concern for the groups under consideration for this project – Indigenous Peoples and people living with HIV – as well as racial, ethnic, and language minorities; immigrants; and even women; is long-standing and deeply ingrained. While maintaining the possibility for democratic change, such change is not imminent. As a result, this project only roughly sketches the criteria for determining when a group would no longer be eligible for specific inclusive processes. Instead, this project adopts Laclau and Mouffe's (2001) compelling argument that political equality for subordinated groups is an on-going struggle – a "war of position" in Gramscian terms – such that advances toward equality for one group allows attention to move to additional groups that face domination. As such, inclusive representation processes will have the greatest democratic potential when they are structured for the inclusion of new groups as these groups are identified.

Is it possible to establish fair criteria for determining which groups, or characteristics, should be eligible for processes to increase voice or influence?

The concern addressed in this section is a criticism on pragmatic grounds. Assuming that inclusive processes can be supported in democratic terms, this concern asks whether it is possible to determine which groups ought to be included. The essence of the problem is that, for any issue, many stakeholders can be identified who would have some claim to participate if the criterion is solely that they expect the outcomes will affect them. In addition, with multiple issues involved, the groups of affected people can shift depending on the issue and new affected groups can emerge, potentially bringing even more people to the table. The easy response is to ignore the practical difficulties and include everybody who claims to have a stake. However, this is not possible in practice. The inclusion of too

الم للاستشارات

many representatives creates bodies too large and unwieldy to act. As a result, everyone's voice is diluted, dominant groups have the advantage, and the democratic potential for bringing marginalized people to decision-making bodies is lost.

The complexity involved in crafting inclusive processes is demonstrated by an example:

The proposed TransCanada Keystone Pipeline would move tar sand oil from the Canadian province of Alberta south through the United States to the Gulf of Mexico. Indigenous Peoples in both countries oppose the project, which is expected to affect Indigenous communities through pollution, excavation, disruption of archeological and sacred sites, and risks of oil and chemical spills. Pipeline proponents, largely legislators who are members of the Conservative (Canada) and Republican (U.S.) parties, argue that this project will help reduce U.S. dependence on Middle Eastern oil, create jobs in both countries, and provided significant revenues for both countries (Dembicki 2011, Broder 2012). Opponents cite environmental degradation of the boreal forests, river waters, and water table; increased human health dangers, pointing to the emergence of new cancers in First Nations communities downriver from the refineries; and violations of the rights of Indigenous peoples through failures of the governments in both countries to seek their consent for the changes that will affect their lands and their well-being (Dembicki 2011, Worth 2012). Permission to work on the southern portion of the pipeline, from the State of Oklahoma to the Gulf of Mexico, was granted by the U.S. government in June 2012. After an initial rejection, TransCanada resubmitted documents requesting permission to start work on the northern section in May 2012 (Broder 2012). As of January 2015, TransCanada had

filed eminent domain papers in Nebraska courts in an attempt to seize the final lands needed for the northern section (Wilson 2015).

If an inclusive process were to be developed for the Keystone Pipeline project to amplify the voice and the influence of marginalized groups, who are the stakeholders who would need to be involved? First, following the provisions agreed to in the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP), any inclusive process would need to include all affected Indigenous peoples through their representative institutions. When member states of the United Nations adopted the UNDRIP, they signaled their commitment to "consult and cooperate in good faith with the Indigenous peoples concerned through their own representative institutions in order to obtain their free, prior and informed consent before adopting and implementing legislative or administrative measures that may affect them" (Article 19) or "prior to the approval of any project affecting their lands or territories and other resources..."(Article 32). Canada and the United States endorsed the UNDRIP in 2010. However, obtaining the free, prior and informed consent of the Indigenous peoples concerned is more complex than the phrase implies. In the case of the Keystone Pipeline, the kinds of issues requiring attention can be suggested as:

- (1) whether Indigenous peoples on each side of the U.S./Canada border should be consulted together or separately;
- (2) what representative institutions are in place to represent Indigenous peoples and whether each Indigenous nation and local community has separate institutions;

- (3) the extent to which the institutions represent the people in transparent and accountable ways and are, thus, authorized to join agreements that affect the land and the ways of life of the people; and
- (4) whether specific outreach is required to ensure that Indigenous women, the elderly, and the young are all included in the decision-making process.

A working paper for the World Bank summarizes experiences from processes designed to respect Indigenous peoples' rights to informed consent:

Even working through local leaders may not be sufficient. Informed consent should be seen first and foremost as a process that embraces all stakeholders. It is not an issue that should be delegated to representatives. An Indigenous leader rarely is empowered to speak for everyone. At the very least there are several key groups that should be consulted, e.g. elders, women and young men (Clay et al. 2000, 11).

In addition, a process designed to meet the democratic criteria of giving voice and influence to marginalized people about the decisions that affect them, as outlined earlier in this chapter, requires one to think more broadly than simply ensuring that UNDRIP is not violated. Local groups with a stake in the outcome include non-Indigenous people living in areas affected by the pipeline, including, among others, residents, immigrants and migrant workers, and local farmers and ranchers, particularly those who are reliant on the water that is diverted to support the project or polluted by residue or leaks in the pipeline. Other stakeholders include oil companies, workers, environmentalists and nature tourists, local and national politicians, and, potentially, people throughout the U.S. who see their oil prices decline or who may benefit from reduced U.S. reliance on oil from the Middle East. How can an inclusive process be established to allow effective input from stakeholders when, at some level, almost everyone can stake a claim?



Developing these criteria requires that attention be returned to the purpose for inclusive representation: to ensure meaningful participation for people who would otherwise find themselves dominated within their polity. Political theorists, working from this foundation, have proposed specific criteria for when inclusive representation is appropriate. To this end, Held (2003) describes three democratic benefits that result from increased participation for marginalized groups: inclusiveness for those most affected by decisions; subsidiarity, through bringing decision-making processes to the level of those affected by decisions; and equivalence of voice in decisions, through better leveling of the power differences between marginalized and dominant groups of people. From these, he proposes basic criteria for determining who should be involved: ⁷

The principle of inclusiveness and subsidiarity is often regarded in democratic theory as a helpful means to clarify the fundamental criterion for drawing proper boundaries around those who should be involved in particular decision-making domains, those who should be accountable to a particular group of people, and why. At its simplest, it states that those significantly (i.e., nontrivially) affected by public decisions, issues, or processes should, ceteris paribus, have an equal opportunity, directly or indirectly through elected delegates or representatives, to influence and shape them. Those affected by public decisions ought to have a say in their making (10).

Held specifies that "significantly affected" refers to "those whose life expectancy and life chances are significantly affected by social forces and processes" (12).

المنستشارات

⁷ Held also develops criteria for determining when supra-state decision-making processes are legitimate. For Held, this happens in situations within which people's life chances are shaped by processes that occur outside of their state and cannot be addressed adequately by state-level governance, such as environmental, economic, and health issues with effects that cross borders. He claims that, in these situations, "the principles of inclusiveness, subsidiarity, and equivalence can only be properly upheld in a transnational context" (17). Note that these issues comprise many of the most significant areas that affect human wellbeing.

In related work, Young (1989) and Mansbridge (1999) seek to identify when a particular form of inclusive representation, descriptive representation, is warranted. ⁸ Young writes, "[r]epresentation should be designated whenever the group's history and social situation provide a particular perspective on the issues, when the interests of its members are specifically affected, and when its perceptions and interests are not likely to receive expression without that representation" (265-266). Mansbridge (1999) further develops the criteria, arguing that there are three specific conditions that call for representation of marginalized groups: first, when members of marginalized groups lack trust in official decision-making bodies; second, when they need to challenge negative public perceptions about group members' ability to contribute meaningfully to political life; and third, when the decision-making body is likely to consider new issues for which group positions have not yet developed.

Under each of Mansbridge's conditions, a representative who comes from outside the group, even if selected by group members, will lack the ability to shift the situation of the group from a state of dominance to one of equality. In the first case, alienation from the governing systems will not be overcome by a representative who is not from the group, primarily because group members will not have the assurance that their representative will be affected by decisions in the same way that they are. In the second case, electing a non-group member to represent the group cannot overcome the stigma faced by group members and could, instead, reinforce the stigma by continuing to make it appear normal and acceptable to have a governance body within which certain groups are perpetually excluded. Finally, any representative will struggle to address new and unanticipated issues

⁸ Different types of representation as described by Pitkin (1967) are explained in detail, with particularly attention to descriptive representation, in Chapter 3.



that emerge and call out for resolution. However, as Mansbridge explains, a representative from the group, who shares the group's history and experience, has a better chance of responding in ways that support the group's needs.

Taken together, these statements provide a set of criteria for designing processes for inclusive representation in decision-making processes. Six questions can be asked, based on the work by Held, Young, and Mansbridge, to determine which groups need to be included to ensure that a process is democratic:

- 1) Is there a group whose life chances are affected by the decisions to be made?
- 2) Is this group situated differently from other groups such that its experiences and understandings of the issues at hand are unlikely to be included in deliberations?
- 3) Is it likely that the group's interests will be meaningfully included in decision-making if they do not have specific representation?
- 4) Do group members trust the existing decision-making bodies to take their concerns into consideration equally with the concerns of others?
- 5) Has the group been previously viewed by dominant groups as incapable of meaningful participation as political equals?
- 6) Will the decision-making body address emerging issues on which the group's positions have not yet crystallized?

These six questions can guide both marginalized groups seeking representation and people involved in current decision-making processes to identify when marginalized groups ought to have specific representation and, further, when that representation ought to come specifically from groups members rather than outside representatives. That is, that inclusive representation is a process for people significantly and specifically affected by

decisions that will be made, who are situated differently from other members of the politically community such that the group's views are likely to differ from other groups and the group is unlikely to be heard without specific representation. In addition, representation by a member of the group is called for to address the effects of power dynamics that have traditionally subordinated the needs of marginalized group to those of others in the political community, including lack of trust in governing bodies by marginalized groups and social biases that have normalized marginalized groups' exclusion from power. Finally, representatives from marginalized groups are needed to ensure the group is well represented when new and unexpected issues arise; issues on which a community could not brief their representative ahead of time.

Summary

The greater inclusion of marginalized people in decision-making that affects them can clearly be defended as a social justice concern. The question explored here is whether this inclusion enhances or contradicts democratic principles. Inclusive representation can provide marginalized groups with greater influence on local or global decisions than they would have through majoritarian or other established procedures. The basic concern is that this increased influence might harm members of majority groups, or, of more troubling concern, other oppressed groups such as women or the poor who are among the dominant ethnicity, by reducing the amount of control they have over decisions.

To examine this question, three conceptions of global democracy are proposed, each focused on a different, but critical, democratic principle: Democracy is a concern for states who determine, for themselves, how to bring forward their citizens' concerns to the global sphere; a global public sphere is created where groups of people can seek recognition when

other democratic processes have failed to provide them with a meaningful voice in decisions that affect them; and global decision-making bodies are established that ensure groups that are affected by their decisions experience equal respect and concern, especially when these groups are otherwise marginalized. The challenge for advocates for more inclusive democracy is to find ways to balance the underlying principles of each. Inclusive processes for representative seek to create this balance by crafting ways for those who are excluded from the attention of local and state decision makers to access public spheres and decision-making bodies.

Inclusive processes can be criticized on three levels: that they are anti-democratic for amplifying the voice of marginalized groups; that they are anti-democratic for enhancing the influence of marginalized groups; and that they cannot be created in ways that meet democratic goals without becoming so large that they cannot act. However, when democracy, in its essence, is seen as the demonstration of equal respect and concern for each person within the political community, then inclusive processes can be supported as legitimate, even necessary, democratic remedies for undemocratic political situations. Processes designed to increase the voices of marginalized people protect against the silencing of disliked minorities and offer access to more relevant information in decisionmaking. Processes created to increase the influence of marginalized people assure the equal status, through equalizing access to the power to shape policies, despite prejudices by majorities. Without the assurance of decision-making power over the issues that affect them, marginalized people are forced into a childlike position in relation to states and dominant groups: decisions are made for them by others and they are, in essence, ruled by the majority. Finally, crafting inclusive processes designed to meet the first two democratic challenges is possible when the focus is placed on the inclusion of those who are directly affected in significant ways by the decisions that will be made and who are persistently excluded from effective participation in decision-making within normal channels because of biases against them by members of the dominant or majority group.

In July 2012, women from the Center for Health and Gender Equity (CHANGE) held up a sign at the XIX International AIDS Conference, held in Washington D.C., that illustrates the importance of inclusive processes for meaningful influence in decision-making. The sign read: "Including women means: not just having us at the table but allowing us to call the meeting." To paraphrase Dworkin, when processes are found or invented that do a better job of ensuring that every person involved enjoys equal status in the crafting of decisions that affect them, then there cannot be opposition to these processes on democratic grounds. Instead, these inclusive processes should be welcomed for their potential to enrich existing democratic practices.

CHAPTER 3 THEORETICAL FOUNDATIONS FOR THE REPRESENTATION OF MARGINALIZED GROUPS

We can no longer pretend that the full range of ideas and preferences and alternatives has been adequately represented when those charged with the job of representation are all white or all male or all middle-class, or that democracies complete their task of political equality when they establish a free market in political ideas.

Anne Phillips (1996, 151)

It is not people's identity as such that seeks for representation, but their ideas and claims as citizens who suffer, or are liable to suffer, injustice because of their identity.

Nadia Urbinati (2000, 776)

Efforts to apply concepts of political representation to civil society and the global sphere of activities are relatively recent (see Warren & Castioglione 2004). However, theoretical and empirical work focused on representation, specifically on how it ought to be structured to ensure the inclusion of various interests, has a long history within political science. Attending to the work in this tradition can inform attempts to expand representation to global and to groups frequently left out or made invisible in decision-making processes that affect them.

This chapter proceeds in three sections. First, I describe the primary categories developed by Hannah Pitkin (1967) for analyzing the role of the political representative: these categories provide a useful foundation for understanding the purposes of setting up representational processes and for identifying potential gaps or weaknesses that might affect marginalized groups when these processes are established. Next, I draw on Pitkin's foundational work on political representation to make an argument that political representation is best understood as legitimacy in decision making for others. In this section, I examine changing ideas about the purpose of representation and who the people are that ought to be represented. This argument leads into the third section, in which I

document further changes to the theory and practice of representation: non-elective representation in the global sphere.

Types of representation

In 1967, Pitkin's analysis of the differing conceptualizations of what representatives were supposed to be and to do led her to identify four categories of political representation: formal, descriptive, symbolic, and substantive. These categories have shaped subsequent approaches to political theories of representation. Although Pitkin's focus was broader than the attention this project gives to the political representation of marginalized groups, her categories are, nonetheless, instructive. Each category highlights a different approach to the meaning, functions, and processes for legitimation, of representation. As calls for representation expand into new spheres of decision-making, Pitkin's categories are useful for thinking through how these representation processes might be structured. Pitkin describes these as four distinct theoretical categories; however, they are not mutually exclusive either in theory or in practice.

Formal representation is concerned solely with processes: specifically, those processes put in place for authorization or accountability. So long as a representative is either selected or subject to removal according to an established, accepted process, the representative is considered a legitimate stand-in for her constituents. In formal representation, what the representative actually does in the process of representing is not a concern. This form of representation can be the easiest to institute and evaluate because the focus is on the process and not the outcomes of decisions.

Symbolic representation refers to the meaning that a representative holds for her or his constituents. As with formal representation, what the representative does is not a

concern in symbolic representation. Rather it is what the existence of the representative "suggests, evokes, [or] implies" to constituents that matters (Pitkin, 1967, 97). Frequently cited early examples of symbolic representatives include the Queen of England or the Pope. More recent studies of political representation have greatly expanded Pitkin's description of symbolic representation, such as examining the symbolic effect that representatives from marginalized groups have for group members. For example, Theobald & Haider-Markel (2009) use the framework of symbolic representation to examine ways in which the existence of public officials and legislators from minority groups suggests a multiracial democracy and the equal citizenship of minorities in the population.

Substantive representation is focused on the outcomes of representation, rather than the processes. What matters for this form of representative is that she or he represents the needs and interests of the group, as best those can be defined. Substantive representation is said to occur when the representative first and foremost acts for the wellbeing of the group, whether or not the group's interests are articulated directly by the group or are perceived by the representative. How the representative was selected or can be removed and to which groups the representative belongs are immaterial for substantive representation.

Descriptive representation occurs when representatives are required to be members of the group they represent. Mansbridge (1999) defines descriptive representatives as "individuals who in their own backgrounds mirror some of the more frequent experiences and outward manifestations of belonging to the group" (628). This would be the case when, for example, a governing body sets criteria that the representative for a group of Indigenous people must come from that Indigenous group himself.



Although Pitkin described these categories as four different categories of representation based on different logics and appearing in different circumstances, expectations for representatives frequently combine elements of two or more of these categories. Most obviously, formal and substantive representation are combined in an image of representation that includes both the sense that legislators ought to be formally selected and held accountable through elections and that they ought to provide substantive representation while in office. When attention turns to representation of marginalized groups, descriptive and symbolic types of representation are often highlighted, without considering the ways in which these forms of representation can alternately enhance or limit the accountability and substance found at the center of the other two categories.

In practice, each category of representation contains elements that are important and interconnected with elements of the others for the representation of marginalized groups. The rules of *formal representation* require that transparent processes be in place that allow the represented to select or recall (or both) their representatives. Establishing these processes creates particular challenges for marginalized groups, such as Indigenous peoples, who frequently are divided by state borders, and those, such as many communities affected by HIV, who are criminalized based on their identities or behaviors. The concept of *symbolic representation*, when applied to marginalized groups, draws attention to the important role representatives play as public faces of the group. For members of the marginalized group, a representative symbolizes a level of acceptance as equal members of the larger community. Within a decision-making body, representatives of dominant groups may view the physical embodiment and actions of representatives of marginalized groups as symbolizing all the other members of the group. Similarly, the

general public may judge the entire group based on what the representative says or does. At the same time, the presence of marginalized groups at decision-making tables symbolizes to non-group and group members alike that the group is now part of the governing body. *Descriptive representation* draws attention to questions of whether representatives ought to be members of the group they represent and, if so, whether that might create other effects, positive or negative, for the group.

The goal of representation, with these three forms at its service, is *substantive* representation. Substantive representation occurs when constituents' interests, the *substance* of their political will, are advocated for, alongside others' interests, in political decision-making. Although there are many ways that representatives might go about doing this, at a minimum, this means that some kind of collective identity is required for the members of marginalized groups and some kinds of communicative practices between representatives and constituents must exist, despite any legal vulnerabilities (such as criminalization), resource challenges, and geographic differences.

For each of these categories, and most of the early theoretical work on representation, the thorny question of what it is that representatives are actually supposed to do to make their constituents – or their constituents' interests – present is left largely unsolved. Edmund Burke is the exception. His eloquent defense of the representative as a trustee for constituents' interests, made in his Speech to the Electors of Bristol (1774), outlined two distinct methods for engaging in the work of representation. The first method, strongly opposed by Burke, is that of a delegate. The delegate takes his instruction directly from his constituents to the legislature, voting exactly as constituents instruct him to do. In the delegate model of representation, deliberation happens among constituents. Once their

decision is made, the job of their representative is to support and advocate for that decision. The second method, and the one with which Burke identifies himself, is that of a trustee. Representatives who operate as trustees commit to hearing and respecting the opinions of their constituents but they do not bind themselves to voting exactly as their constituents' wish. Burke says of the representative, "his unbiased opinion, his mature judgment, his enlightened conscience, he ought not to sacrifice to you, to any man, or to any set of men living" (447). In the trustee model of representation, the critical deliberation happens among representatives in the legislature. There, the representative must use her knowledge of her constituents' situations, her understanding of the consequences of different courses of action, the information she learns from other representatives, and her wisdom to make decisions that are in the interests of her constituents and the good of the entire polity.

Representation as legitimacy in decision-making for others

In Pitkin's close linguistic and functional analysis, she highlights a fundamental tension in the concept of representation. Close examination of this tension opens new directions for thinking about representation in non-elective settings. Pitkin defines representation as "the making present of something which is nevertheless not literally present" (Pitkin, 1967, 144). Most subsequent work on representation focuses on the first part of the equation: the person who "makes present" the others. However, the second part of the equation is equally important because it directs our attention to those people or interests that are "not literally present"; highlighting the absence of some other group of people than those who are seen. Instead of being distracted by those we see at decision-making tables, the question arises: who is not here? Further, attention to the second half of

the equation reveals the fact that a decision is being made whenever representation is performed. This decision holds, first, that there is someone that ought to be made present, and second, that political representation is the correct process for accomplishing this. Making visible both aspects of this decision opens conceptual space for the investigation of new forms of political representation.

Changing ideas about what ought to be "made present" by the representative

Pitkin's definition of representation as "making present" something that is not actually present has been enduring. It fits the way representation is and has been constructed. Never set in stone, however, is what exactly it is that calls out to be made present. Current claims for representation within global fora and for groups that have been historically excluded from decision-making power, are the most recent challenges to a system that has been pressed constantly to expand and change. Individuals, social groups, interests, and discourses are variously highlighted as the appropriate elements of representation. Modern representatives are generally described by liberal democratic theorists, and in common usage, as representing their individual constituents. Robert Dahl (1989, 2006) typifies this focus, as does Jeremy Bentham ([1907] 2007) in an earlier time. Current theorists concerned about political exclusion and inequalities, including Iris Marion Young (1989, 1990, 1993, 1996), Melissa Williams (1995), Anne Phillips (1996), Jane Mansbridge (1999), and Nadia Urbinati (2000), expand the earlier focus on individuals to include the social groups to which they belong. An older tradition, exemplified by John Stuart Mill (1861) and Edmund Burke ([1775] 1854-56), purposes representation as the bringing forward of relevant interests. Fundamentally, these elements are all based in the logic of representation of people: whether as individual choosers of preferences and

bearers of interests or as members of identity groups that are effectively excluded from democratic processes because of social bias.

Representation, as Pitkin so aptly describes, contains multiple requirements within itself that are at times in tension with one another. At the risk of oversimplifying a sometimes fraught concept, each of these different focus areas provides a different pathway with which to approach the same multi-faceted concept. All of these approaches, whether focused on individuals, groups, or interests, portray representation as legitimate when it is perceived that the representative "makes present" the issues and wishes of the correct group of persons: those whom current norms regard as the constituents for whom the representative is expected to speak.

In this overview of the landscape of political representation, one sees two overlapping groups: constituents and representatives, with representatives generally coming from the constituent group. I would suggest that there is another important group, an audience, that plays a significant role in determining who are legitimate bearers of interests and what are legitimate interests to bear. The audience sees and judges the composition of the decision-making body and the outcomes. Constituents are part of the audience, but the audience is larger than constituents. It also includes those who are affected by decisions but unable to play a role in the selection of representatives, such as children, resident alien immigrants, those in a perpetual losing minority, or those outside of the jurisdiction for voting purposes but affected by decisions nonetheless. The audience also includes those outside the jurisdiction who are not materially affected by decisions but who do use moral criteria to judge whether the decision-making body is properly constituted and discharging its duties fairly.



Closely linked to judgments about whether representation has been legitimately instituted within a political system is the social perception about which groups have interests that are real, valid, and different from those already represented. No matter what the setting in which representation takes place, from legislatures to governing boards, this social perception should be understood as a kind of "common sense" among the audience for the decision-making body. As Gramsci (1971) explained, what the audience believes is natural and normal -- that is, common sense -- will largely match the status quo and preferences of current dominant groups. Understood this way, marginalized groups must struggle to get other members of the audience to believe, instead, that it is natural and normal to support the inclusion of their interests alongside those of others in decision-making bodies.

Representation as making interests present

In established democracies, the right to vote was once reserved only for those who are seen as having particular economic interests. This is no longer the case. Indeed, while representation of interests continues to hold significance for our sense of whether or not a decision-making body is adequately constituted, ideas about which interests require representation have broadened. Imagine, for example, an election in a racially-diverse state in the U.S. in which all the members elected to office were white heterosexual upper class men. There are no quotas or affirmative action requirements in the U.S. for political parties or legislatures, so no challenge to this situation could be brought formally. However, as quoted by Phillips (1996) earlier, this situation strikes us as unfair, as unrepresentative. This situation would become a matter of public concern, with open arguments made about the legitimacy of a legislature with no members who were racial minorities or women of

any race. This thought experiment demonstrates that there is some recognition among members of the political community that racial minorities and women from all races may have particular political interests that are not likely to be represented by a body entirely composed of white men. However, it is unlikely that any action to protest the lack of representatives who were poor people or lesbian, gay, bisexual, or transgendered would gain similar traction, even among the poor or LGBT communities, as members of these groups do not expect (yet) to be seen as deserving of representatives from their communities or as groups who have the power to challenge the legitimacy of a governing body by their absence. The point is that which interests are perceived as legitimate and which groups are considered able to speak for those interests varies and, further, that dominant groups often are seen as capable of representing all people in a way that marginalized groups are not.

Classical political theorists conceptualized diversity of interests, for purposes of governance, largely in terms of class or economic divisions. Plato ([380 B.C.E.] 2004) and ([350 B.C.E.] 2009) expressed concerns about the injustice of rule by factions, conceived as rule by either the rich for the rich or by the poor for the poor, and about the destabilizing effects of economic inequality. Aristotle, in Politics, notably hailed social structures that largely consist of and are governed by what we would now call the middle class, a group marked by neither the insecurity of poverty nor the excesses of wealth. For Aristotle, this created shared interests and, therefore, a situation in which political friendship can thrive. These classical theorists saw diverging interests as dangerous, centering their political calls on the need for structures that create unity above all else.

Later, social contract theorists presented contrasting views on the question of whether unity of interests is necessary for the legitimacy of a political system. For Hobbes ([1651] 1994) and Rousseau ([1762] 1988), unity of interests formed the bedrock of the social contract. For Hobbes, unity was created through the shared experience of human vulnerability and the near-exclusive claim to power of the sovereign or monarch; in this view, other kinds of differences are not relevant at best, and their recognition, let alone their representation, could be deadly for human security. For Rousseau, the common interest was the raison d'être for the social contract and the only legitimate laws were those dealing with shared interests. People would have their own interests; but would be expected to vote based on their best sense of what was for the good of all. Like Aristotle, Rousseau was concerned about the divisive effects of differing economic interests among citizens, and was, therefore, a proponent of greater equality. Locke ([1689] 1980) was not concerned with unifying the interests of individuals, but rather with legitimizing a system within which people were free to pursue their own individual interests with the least interference by others or the state. Locke, the founder of classical liberalism, justified economic inequalities through their relationship to property and did not appear to find inequalities to be an issue of major concern for the governance system.9

Marx (1844, 1871), by contrast, was not afraid that recognition of differences could bring bad consequences; rather his concerns centered on the dangers in the *lack* of

⁹ Waldron (1979) presents a convincing response to this common interpretation of Locke's views on property and inequality. In Waldron's reading, Locke establishes, in the *First Treatise of Government*, that natural law gives each person both the right and duty to preserve himself, first, and then others in need. The duty to others includes Locke's assertion that each person, when partaking of the earth's resources, must make sure that he leaves "enough and as good" for others. Once the social contract has been entered into, as described in the *Second Treatise of Government*, this duty to others becomes the responsibility of the government.

recognition of conditions of privation and exploitation. However, Marx's political thought does not recommend class-based representation in the political system. His adamant belief that economic exploitation of individuals could -- and would -- end meant that class interests were temporary and appropriately weighed only when they were the interests of the workers. Like Rousseau, Marx sought a unified political system, devoted to the good of all. For Marx, the only pathway to this end was through ensuring that everyone was a producer (to the extent they were able), thus ending class-based distinctions.

In the early days of the U.S. republic, class differences also received close attention. This is clear from Madison's writings, as Publius, in the Federalist Papers 10 (1787) and 51 (1788), published to encourage support of the newly drafted U.S. Constitution. However, Madison's concerns centered on the maintenance of political unity and careful management of differences to ensure that widespread democracy would not threaten the economic standing of landowners and businessmen.

There is no meaningful space within the work of any of these early political theorists for attention to particular burdens that might be placed on minorities by majorities or to forms of domination based on culture, religion, or other social practices, including that enacted within families. Indeed, for these earlier theorists, representation of interests, when considered acceptable at all, was perceived as representation of economic or material interests. Further, this representation was limited, without apparent recognition of this as a limit, to the kinds of activities that male heads of households might pursue.

Another set of political philosophers, however, did concern themselves with more nuanced questions about which interests should be included in a representative body. Burke (1774a, 1792) and Mill ([1861] 2008), despite many philosophical differences, took

this approach. This approach is also taken by Yates (writing as Brutus, 1787) and Hamilton (writing as Publius, 1788) in their arguments on either side of the debate over ratification of the U.S. Constitution.

For Burke, what was most important was that, with rare exceptions, one's community's industry interests were represented (i.e. manufacturing, agriculture, fishing, or shipping). If all industry interests were represented, then so were all communities, even those with no vote. Burke understood this as "virtual representation"; which he described as "that in which there is a communion of interests and a sympathy in feelings and desires between those who act in the name of any description of people and the people in whose name they act, though the trustees are not actually chosen by them" (1792). The concept of virtual representation fits cleanly with Burke's ideas about how representatives ought to operate within legislatures. So long as it is interests that one must bring forward for deliberation, rather than the specific wishes of particular groups of people, then the trustee relationship between representative and constituents can function.

When Burke argued that American colonists (1774a) and Irish Catholics (1792) ought to have representatives in Parliament, it was not because he thought that American colonists or Irish Catholics required a physical presence in the legislature in order to be represented. Rather, he saw their interests as different from any currently represented in the legislature and, therefore, needing inclusion in Parliamentary deliberations. Presumably, if there were some way to make present their interests through an existing representative, that is, through "virtual representation," Burke would have been satisfied.

Burke's discussion of discrimination against Irish Catholics is notable for his recognition of social and psychological issues that affect the ability for Protestants to

represent their interests. Once he turned to this question, he made no mention of the industry interests that ere central to his theory of representation elsewhere. Indeed, he underscored the extent to which he believed virtual representation would be impossible because of biases held by Irish Protestants toward their Catholic compatriots:

Sure I am that there have been thousands in Ireland who have never conversed with a Roman Catholic in their whole lives, unless they happened to talk to their gardener's workmen, or to ask their way, when they had lost it in their sports—or, at best, who had known them only as footmen, or other domestics, of the second and third order: and so averse were they, some time ago, to have them near their persons, that they would not employ even those who could never find their way beyond the stable. I well remember a great, and in many respects a good man, who advertised for a blacksmith, but at the same time added, he must be a Protestant. It is impossible that such a state of things, though natural goodness in many persons will undoubtedly make exceptions, must not produce alienation on the one side and pride and insolence on the other (1792).

On the question of representation of Irish Catholics, Burke went on to write, "[a]s things stand, the Catholic, as a Catholic, and belonging to a description, has no virtual relation to the representative—but the contrary." Indeed, Burke made his feelings clear that virtual representation was often preferable to a direct constituent-to-legislator relationship; however, without a "communion of interests and sympathy," the very position within which marginalized groups find themselves, virtual representation would be impossible.

Subsequently, the idea that the legislature ought to be based on representation of interests, albeit with an explicitly elitist twist on Burkean virtual representation, ¹⁰ was

¹⁰ Burke is well known for elitist statements about the existence of a "natural aristocracy" whose members ought to be elected to Parliament. Nonetheless, as compared with Hamilton, there is nothing in his writings about virtual representation to suggest that working class people qua working class people should see themselves as represented by this natural aristocracy, neither through "a sympathy of feeling" or "community of interest." However, this does not mean that Burke calls for specific representation for working class

expressed by Hamilton. In the Federalist Paper No. 35, Hamilton (1788, writing as Publius) recognized that ratification opponents were concerned that the legislative branch would be too small to adequately represent the interests of all voters. He argued that there were three main interests that needed to be part of the legislature, and that electoral processes would naturally put members of these groups into office: merchants, members of the learned professions, and landed interests. Further, Hamilton argued further that these groups were well placed to look out for less advantaged or informed groups connected to them, with, for example, merchants looking out for laborers, landed interests looking out for small property holders, and the more educated members able to critically analyze laws and policies for everyone.

The arguments put forward by Yates (1787) to oppose ratification of the U.S. Constitution articulate a nuanced-understanding of the multiplicity of interests within the political community and stand in direct contrast to Hamilton's elitism. Yates, writing as Brutus (Brutus, No. 3), argued that representatives "should bear the strongest resemblance of those in whose room they are substituted" and "to have a proper representation...each class [of people] ought to have an opportunity of choosing their best informed men for the purpose." His critique of the proposed lower house of Congress stands in opposition to what Hamilton would write in response -- that the elites in a given area will naturally be best placed to represent everyone.

The great body of the yeomen of the country cannot expect any of their order in this assembly — the station will be too elevated for them to aspire to — the distance between the people and their representatives, will be so very great, that there is no probability that a farmer, however respectable, will be chosen — the mechanicks of every branch, must expect to be excluded from a

interests. Rather, it would seem that, for Burke, workers would be viewed as represented based on the industry interests of their communities.



seat in this Body — It will and must be esteemed a station too high and exalted to be filled by any but the first men in the state, in point of fortune; so that in reality there will be no part of the people represented, but the rich, even in that branch of the legislature, which is called the democratic. — The well born, and highest orders in life, as they term themselves, will be ignorant of the sentiments of the midling class of citizens, strangers to their ability, wants, and difficulties, and void of sympathy, and fellow feeling (Federalist No. 35).

Throughout Brutus No. 3, the kinds of resemblances that Yates highlighted as important foreshadow Mills in their breadth: sentiments, opinions, feelings, occupations, wants, and interests.

For Mill (1861), the widest possible range of interests called for representation. For Mill, as for Burke, a primary value of the legislature was found in its creation of a deliberative space. The greatest diversity of ideas and opinions had to be included within legislative decision-making to ensure that all possibilities, including creative new ones, and their effect on people's welfare, were considered. It was crucial for Mill that all relevant interests be included; otherwise the deliberation would lack the required data for informed decisions. Unlike Burke, however, Mill advocated for a broadly inclusive political system based on representation of individuals and their interests.

Because of his concern that the widest variety of people and their interests be represented in the legislature, Mill was a proponent of a ranking form of proportional representation, in which voters would order their ballots according to their preferences. The result, for Mill, should be the inclusion of "all interests or classes of any importance" (1861, 125). The concern that an assembly with the broadest representation of interests possible would find it difficult to make decisions was not particularly troublesome for Mill, as he felt the important goal for an assembly is to deliberate and then to delegate work to

the people it feels appropriate. Although not labeled as such, virtual representation, specifically for women, rears its head in Mill's theory as well. Despite his advocacy for the rights of women in some respects, Mill did not see the need for women representatives in the legislature. Because Mill viewed representation as based on interests, rather than individuals, and he believed women's interests were identical to those of their male family members, he argued that women were represented adequately by people selected by men.

In a more recent contribution to theories of representation, Plotke (1997) has called for a return to representation based on interests. He argues that formal representation was valued because of the particular context of the Cold War when it was advantageous for western powers to label countries with competitive election processes as democratic and those without as undemocratic. In Plotke's view, the focus on individual constituents, and their ability to participate in formal representative processes (that is, to authorize and hold accountable representatives) has outlasted its usefulness in the current globalized world.

Three important concepts for representation of marginalized groups can be identified in the work on interest-based representation: First, a focus on the inclusion of all relevant interests provides opportunities to argue on behalf of the inclusion of interests of people who are not currently part of decision-making bodies. ¹¹ Second, systems of representation centered on interests can be created that are not reliant on formal authorization and accountability processes to be considered legitimate, something quite useful for creating representative processes at non-state levels where groups who seek inclusion may exist across borders and may face legal barriers to organizing in traditional

ألم للاستشارات

¹¹ However, this begs the question of how those interests would be determined without the physical presence of marginalized groups. In this way, a focus on representation of interests for people in marginalized groups leads toward a focus on the representation of people themselves.

ways. If it can be instituted adequately, "virtual representation" might provide a way to bring relevant interests into decision-making at global levels. Third, as Plotke's work makes clear, the legitimacy of different systems of representation is related to the period of time and geopolitical context. This applies to the whole universe of representation options, not just to interest-based representation. An understanding that what is seen as legitimate representation can change over time should allow greater flexibility for change and experimentation to meet current representation needs. This is particularly important as the arenas for representation expand from legislatures to global institutions and organizations.

Where theorists of interest-based representation falter is in the failure to recognize that power struggles determine which interests are seen as valid. Indeed, as Lukes (2005) illustrates, dominant groups are largely able to determine which interests are seen at all. This is the warning raised by Yates in 1787. For members of marginalized groups to get their concerns into a public space where they can be contested is a step forward, although it certainly may not feel that way for the people whose right to even have interests is debated by people outside their group. We cannot claim that all relevant interests are represented within a decision-making body until that determination is made by people from all affected communities and walks of life. Representation of interests, then, becomes based in representation of groups that might have a stake in the outcome. Laclau and Mouffe (2001) highlight the eternally contested nature of every political process, particularly as it relates to inclusion, whether of interests or of groups. Their work on radical democracy offers a reorientation for all marginalized groups from fighting for inclusion to recognizing that inclusion is an on-going struggle. This struggle is for the

group's entry into arenas of power traditionally inhabited by dominant groups, but is not only located there. The struggle continues within the group, as those subordinated within the group, who, depending on the group, might be women, young people, racial or ethnic minorities, religious minorities, or lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender group members, continue to fight to have their voices heard. Mouffe (1996) contends that there are so many marginalized groups of people in every level of society that winning one battle for recognition means simply that the next one can be engaged.

In addition, a serious challenge to basing representation solely on interests comes from Phillips (1996). She contrasts a focus on the inclusion of a diversity of ideas, thoughts, beliefs, and opinions, that is, a diversity of the things to which people subscribe, with a focus on who it is that does the representing, that is, a diversity of who the representatives are. Phillips argues that "when the politics of ideas is taken in isolation from what I will call the politics of presence, it does not deal adequately with the experiences of those social groups who by virtue of their race or ethnicity or religion or gender have felt themselves excluded from the democratic process" (141). That is, interest-based representation alone does not solve problems related to agenda setting, equal treatment as citizens, alienation from government or decision-making bodies, or misperceptions by members of privileged groups about the capacities of marginalized groups to participate in self-government. For this, we need to turn our attention to representative processes focused on ensuring that those persons affected by decisions are made present within decision-making processes.

Representation as making people present

There has been a fundamental shift in political theory, primarily since the late 1980s, away from a focus on what is be to represented (interests) toward questioning who

needs to be at decision-making tables in order to ensure that people affected by a decision, whether the citizens of a state or a newer body created for global decision-making, are represented in the process and outcome. This change has been characterized by attention to the inclusion of women, racial and ethnic minorities, with some small pockets of concern about representation for lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender citizens.

The idea that the people have a right to participate in the decisions that concern them has never included all of the people. Beliefs about whether or not one ought to have a say has depended on whether one is seen as fit to speak on one's own behalf and whether one is perceived by the larger society as having interests that are real and valid. In terms of voting, the right to choose one's representatives in government has been limited consistently by whether one is part of a group whose members are seen by socially powerful actors as fit to articulate their own interests and advocate on their own behalf. In some cases, this is based on arguments that some lack the capacity to vote, for example, children (albeit temporarily) and people with severe disabilities are denied the right to vote. On this same basis, women and racial and ethnic minorities have been denied the right to vote (as women continue to be in Saudi Arabia) and people who are currently incarcerated or who have a felony conviction in their past are disenfranchised, and therefore, de-represented, in some places (including ten states in the U.S. that bar some or all of those with a past felony conviction from voting).

Ideas about the right people who ought to have a voice in decision-making have changed substantially over time. Certainly we have come far since Wollstonecraft was obliged to argue in 1792 that, "Women ought to have representatives, instead of being arbitrarily governed without any direct share allowed them in the deliberations of

government" (chapter 9, para 22). People labeled unfit in the past have won the franchise (the poor, women, racial minorities); people said to not have their own particular and valid interests are widely recognized to have legitimate interests after all (these same groups). Even when groups are recognized as having legitimate and particular interests, historic disenfranchisement has led to on-going marginalization marked by fewer representatives in legislative assemblies and continued low levels of social power. By contrast, groups that have historically dominated political decision-making continue to be overrepresented. The chasm between formal political equality and the unequal composition of legislative bodies challenges the democratic legitimacy of the decisions that are made -- for those who do not see themselves represented, for those who are concerned with full and inclusive deliberations about decisions, and for democratic and critical theorists (see Williams 1995, Young 1990, 1996).

The particular questions being asked about representation have expanded over time as democratic language has been applied more widely, to more groups, situations, and types of places. In 1967, Pitkin largely dismissed the concept of descriptive representation as unable to provide any guidance about what a representative ought to do. Further, concerns are absent in Pitkin's work about political inequality and the lack of access to meaningful representation for disliked groups, possibly leaving little reason for her to consider potential uses for descriptive representation. Contrast this with Williams, writing three decades later, who claims, "how we conceive of the social groups that are relevant for politics radically affects our conclusions about what constitutes fair representation" (1995, 30). Because of the emergence of works by Mansbridge (1983, 1999, 2003), Young (1989, 1990, 2000), Phillips (1995, 1996, 2000, 2003), and Williams (1995, 1998), contemporary

representation theory has focused largely on the inclusion of previously disenfranchised groups.

Political representation in global arenas

From before the founding of the League of Nations until recent times, representation in venues dealing with global governance was viewed strictly as the prerogative of states. The lines of authority were simple and clear: governments were responsible for representing the people within their state boundaries. If governments failed to represent some of the people, then recourse for those people existed only within the hope that some other government would take their plight to heart and speak for them. This might happen, for example, for national minorities living within one state but sharing an ethnic, or "national," identity with the dominant group within another state. Even in these cases, people could expect advocacy on their behalf by another state only if such advocacy aligned with state's strategic interests.

The United Nations, like the League of Nations before it, was founded on principles of state sovereignty. The United Nations charter and, indeed, its very name, point to the purpose of "developing friendly relations *among nations*" (Chapter 1, Article 1.2, emphasis mine). This focus on sovereignty has lead to tension in current times: between, on the one hand, the desire to hold leaders accountable for killings, torture, and policies that undermine the social fabric of existence for people within their countries and, on the other, the wish to ensure that states do trample on the existence of other states, and their peoples, simply because they are bigger, richer, or more powerful in some other way. The focus on state sovereignty that underpins the structure of the United Nations functions as a barrier between states to engagement in one another's internal policies: treating each state as the

equal of every other in decision-making and allowing intervention into a state's affairs only under the strictest of conditions.

The dilemma that has arisen is this: what happens to groups of people whose governments, responding to domestic animosity against them (whether by members of dominant domestic groups, people serving within the government itself, or both), persistently ignore their needs or actively work to make their life chances and conditions unbearable? There is little chance that governments that neglect or oppress groups of people at home will vigorously advocate for these same people in global arenas. Domestically oppressed groups can hope, like national minorities, that some government other than their own might feel a sense of kinship with them and see strategic value in pressing for their rights or wellbeing. However, when the same groups are marginalized in country after country, as the past experiences confirm for many groups -- including Indigenous Peoples, lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender people, people living with HIV, and others -- the chance that their needs will be championed at global levels appears quite dim. Even dimmer are prospects that such attention would trickle back down to affect their experiences at the state level.

¹² Notwithstanding the language in the *Declaration on Principles of International Law concerning Friendly Relations and Cooperation among States in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations* (the "Friendly Relations Declaration," UN Resolution A/RES/25/2625 1970) within which states are responsible for "representing the whole people belonging to the territory without distinction as to race, creed or colour," in practice, those groups that are marginalized domestically receive little concern by their governments in global fora, except when it serves the governments. For example, from 2010 to 2013, China sought to burnish its human rights record through attention to its HIV epidemic (Global Fund 2012, Xinhau 2013). The fact that China's efforts turned out to be more symbolic than meaningful lead to speculation that the real goal for China was to enjoy rehabilitated image that would be demonstrated by selection to the UN Human Rights Council (Hayoun 2013). China was selected for membership on the UNHCR for the 2013-2016 term. However, the Chinese government has continued to violate the human rights of people living with HIV and organizations seeking to stem the epidemic (Yu 2014).

Nevertheless, shifts have occurred in the practices of global representation. These shifts are characterized by an acknowledgement, stated or unstated, that some groups may have the right to represent themselves within global decision-making. As Warren and Castiglione (2004) note, "the United Nations has begun recognizing civil society organizations within its programs as representative of groups that are not well represented by its member states" (404, emphasis mine). While governments continue to be the overwhelming voice in global governance, 13 these shifts represent small movements away from the idea that governments are the only legitimate decision makers. Chief among these movements are the processes that involve the participation of the two groups described in this project: those by and for Indigenous Peoples and by and for people living with HIV and key affected populations. These movements were similar in that both occurred during a time in which arguments for the democratic value of civil society movements were highlighted in political and academic realms, especially as formerly autocratic states in Eastern Europe and Latin America transitioned to democracy. Yet, the processes by which they reached global recognition were conducted separately from each other. The frameworks for participation that were developed as a result of their respective movements for recognition also differ: Indigenous Peoples movements succeeded in getting governments and global bodies to agree that the "free, prior, and informed consent"

¹³ The strongest non-government players in shaping global and national conditions and policies continue to be multinational corporations; however, corporate interests lack a *formal* role in global governance. While considerable, their influence is enacted through the pressure they place on, and an alignment of interests with, their governments and governments of the world and through their ability to create economic conditions to which governments must react. My focus here is on marginalized groups, whose very marginalization means that they lack access to the powerful venues for influence that others, such as corporate interests, enjoy; yet, at least two of these groups have won formal recognition within global governance processes of a right to participate directly in decisions that affect them.

of Indigenous Peoples was needed before engaging in activities that would affect them (ILO Convention 169, UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples); while people living with HIV achieved support for what is known as the GIPA (Greater Involvement of People Living with HIV and AIDS) principle, by which governments and global bodies commit to "support a greater involvement of people living with HIV at all…levels…and to…stimulate the creation of supportive political, legal and social environments" (from the 1994 Paris Declaration).

The increasing acceptance of the idea that civil society members have an important role to play in global decision-making is illustrated in Table 2. The table shows the many ways that civil society organizations are able to engage with the UN system. It also demonstrates that it is rare that civil society be allowed to select its own representatives in these decision-making processes. Indeed, only Indigenous Peoples and networks of people living with HIV and HIV-related civil society organizations have that prerogative. Further, the existence and timing of a human rights declaration does not appear to have a relationship with the existence of representation in decision-making. Representation can come after relevant declarations call for it, as in the case of people living with HIV, before such declarations, as in the case of Indigenous Peoples, or not at all despite such declarations, as in the case of women, racial minorities, migrants, people with disabilities, or children.

The Committee on the Protection of the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, for example, is one of the bodies on the list that allows engagement by civil society. The International Disability Alliance (IDA), a network of eleven global and regional networks of people with disabilities, identifies multiple challenges for organizations seeking to

influence the selection of members to the Committee. As they explain to their member organizations:

The process which took place at previous COP [Committee of State Parties] elections and experience from other election processes of UN human rights treaty bodies show that the outcome of the election process in New York is strongly connected to the efforts made by permanent missions to the UN in seeking support for their candidate from other States- often in exchange for reciprocal support related to other UN election processes. The quality of the nominees is not always the most relevant criterion for States Parties in taking a decision for whom to vote (IDA 2014, p. 2).

By contrast to the State processes, IDA seeks specific characteristics in representatives: the most important of which they describe as knowledge in the rights of people with disabilities and connections to communities of people with disabilities.

Table 2: Civil Society Representation in Global Organizations

Civil	Global	Representation Role	Number of	Term
Society Group	Organization ¹⁴		Representatives Selected by Civil Society	
Indigenous Peoples	United Nations Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues (2000)	Advisory Body to the UN Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC). Regional Indigenous Peoples' organizations nominate 8 of the members. Member States select the other 8.	8 Members are selected by civil society	3 years, Possibility of one additional term
People Living with HIV	Programme Coordinating Board (PCB) of the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV and AIDS (UNAIDS) (1994);	Governance body for the Joint UN Programme. Civil society holds five non-voting seats (three for developing countries and two for developed and countries in transition, with a Delegate and an Alternate organization selected for each) alongside 11 non-voting UN Co-Sponsors, and 22 voting Member States. Decisions are made by consensus.	5 Delegates and 5 Alternates	2 years Possibility of one year extension
	Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria (Global Fund) (2002)	Civil society holds three voting seats out of 20 on the Global Fund Board of Directors: one each for the Developing Country delegation; the Developed Country delegation; and the Communities (of people affected by the three diseases) Delegation. Each of these Delegations selects a Delegate, an Alternate, and a Communications Focal Point. All attend Board meetings but only the Delegate can vote. The Communities delegation has 40 members who are all living with or affected by HIV,	3 Delegates and 3 Alternates	2 years

¹⁴ Founding documents: ECOSOC Res 2000/22 (Permanent Forum); ECOSOC Res 1994/24 (UNAIDS); Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria By-laws (2011); ILO Charter (1919); ECOSOC Res 11/2 (CSW); General Assembly Resolution A/RES/2106(XX)A-B (CERD); A/RES/44/25 (CRC); A/RES/45/158 (CMW); A/RES/61/106 (CRPD)

			1	1
		tuberculosis, or malaria; the Developing Country NGO delegation has 18 members; and the Developed Country NGO delegation has 9 members.		
Workers	International Labour Conference, the governing body of the International Labour Organization (1919)	The governing body is composed of 28 Member States (10 of these seats are held by "States of Key Industrial Importance") and 28 deputies (alternates), 14 representatives each of workers, and 14 representatives of employers. There are 19 deputies (alternates) each for workers and employers. Member States select the Worker and Employer Members "in agreement with the most representative national organizations of employers and workers."	Zero	3 years
Women	Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW Committee) (1982)	Expert panel. No formal representation role for civil society. Civil society members can file reports and give testimony to the Committee. States that are party to the Convention nominate and select experts to serve on the Committee. The panel of 23 Committee Members may be members of civil society but are not nominated by or	Zero	4 years
Racial Minorities	Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination (CERD) (1965)	accountable to civil society. Expert panel. No formal representation role for civil society. Civil society members can file reports and give testimony to the Committee. States that are party to the Convention nominate and select experts to serve on the Committee. Committee Members may be members of civil society but are not	Zero	4 years Possibility of re- election



		nominated by or accountable		
Children	Committee on the Rights of the Child (CRC) (1989)	to civil society. Expert panel. No formal representation role for civil society. Civil society members can file reports and give testimony to the Committee. States that are parties to the Convention nominate and select experts to serve on the Committee. Committee Members may be members of	Zero	4 years Possibility of re- election
		civil society but are not nominated by or accountable to civil society.		
Migrant Workers	Committee on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families (CMW) (2003)	Expert panel. No formal representation role for civil society. Civil society members can file reports and give testimony to the Committee.	Zero	4 years Possibility of re- election
	(GHW) (2003)	States that are parties to the Convention nominate and select experts to serve on the Committee. Committee Members may be members of civil society but are not nominated by or accountable to civil society.		
People with Disabilities	Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD)(2006)	Expert panel. No formal representation role for civil society. Civil society members can file reports and give testimony to the Committee.	Zero	4 years Possibility of re- election
		States that are parties to the Convention nominate and select experts to serve on the Committee. Committee Members may be members of civil society but are not nominated by or accountable to civil society.		



Despite the avenues for participation available to the groups listed in Table 2, a *right* to participation is not generally recognized. As shown in Table 3, only a few civil society groups see a right to participation included in the existing global conventions, treaties, or declarations: Indigenous Peoples and people living with HIV have broad participation rights; migrant workers have rights to participate in local community decisions; and people with disabilities have rights to participate in state policy and legislation.

Table 3: Civil Society Provisions in Global Conventions, Treaties, Declarations

Civil Society Group	Major Existing Global Conventions, Treaties, or Declarations	State Parties and Signatories (if applicable)	Agreed Language Regarding Participation Rights
Indigenous Peoples	ILO Convention No. 169 (1989); United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (2007)	22 State Parties UN General Assemby Declaration	The right to free, prior and informed consent on issues affecting Indigenous Peoples
People Living with HIV	Paris Declaration (1994); Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS (2001); Political Declaration on HIV/AIDS (2006); Political Declaration on HIV/AIDS (2011)	The Paris Declaration was made by 42 States The other three Declarations were made by the UN Member States during UN General Assembly Special Sessions on HIV and AIDS	The right to participate in decision-making processes that affect the lives of people living with HIV, also known as the GIPA (Greater Involvement of People Living with HIV) principle.
Workers	Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise Convention, ILO Convention No. 87 (1948); Right to Organise and Collective Bargaining Convention, ILO Convention No. 98 (1949); Workers' Representatives Convention, ILO Convention No. 135 (1971); Tripartite Consultation (International Labour	153 State Parties 164 State Parties 85 State Parties 137 State Parties	The right to organize and negotiate collectively without facing discrimination, both for workers and their representatives. Workers (and workers' organizations) have the right to free and voluntary collective bargaining with employers (and employers' organizations) to determine
	Standards) Convention, ILO Convention No. 144 (1976);		working conditions and terms of employment and

	Labour Relations (Public Service) Convention, ILO Convention No. 151 (1978);	52 State Parties	regulate worker/employer relationships.
	Collective Bargaining Convention, ILO Convention No. 154 (1981)	46 State Parties	Consultations are required between workers, employers, and governments, operating on equal footing, on issues related to ILO standards, conventions and agenda items for the International Labour Conference.
Racial Minorities	Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination (1965)	177 State Parties 5 Signatories	The equal right to vote and be eligible to be elected and hold public office. The equal right to participate in policy creation and implementation and in non-governmental organizations. No language provides rights of consultation, involvement, or consent in decisionmaking that specifically affects racial minorities.
Women	Convention on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW) (1979)	188 State Parties 2 Signatories	The equal right to vote and be eligible to be elected and hold public office. The equal right to participate in policy creation and implementation and in non-governmental organizations. No language provides rights of consultation, involvement, or consent in decisionmaking that specifically affects women.
Children	Convention on the Rights of the Child (1989) The Third Optional Protocol (adopted 2011, in force April 2014) allows children to directly file a claim with the CRC.	194 State Parties 2 Signatories 14 State Parties 46 Signatories	Individual children have the right to express their views about issues that affect them and to have their views considered, in light of their age and capacity, including in administrative and judicial proceedings. No language provides rights of consultation, involvement, or consent in decisionmaking that specifically affects children overall.
Migrant Workers	International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and	47 State Parties 19 Signatories	Rights of consultation or participation by migrant workers and members of



	Members of their Families (1990)		their families in decisions affecting their local communities
People with Disabilities	Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (2006)	131 State Parties 51 Signatories	In policy and legislation, States Parties shall closely consult with and actively involve persons with disabilities, including children with disabilities, through their representative organizations.

Challenges to the legitimacy of these voices from civil society have been made by government delegations -- at times with some success; but the overall record indicates an expansion, albeit slow, in favor of the inclusion of the voices and perspectives of people who are otherwise marginalized. These challenges can be observed, for example, between the lines of a letter sent to the President of the General Assembly, John Ashe, in January 2014, from the three UN mechanisms designated to ensure meaningful involvement of Indigenous Peoples in global efforts that affect them: the Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues, the Special Rapporteur for the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, and the Expert Mechanism on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples. In the letter, leaders from the three mechanisms express their disappointment with Ashe's decision not to follow through on commitments for Indigenous participation made in 2013 and requested recognition of their right to fully participate in the convening and facilitation of the World Conference on Indigenous Peoples to be held in May 2014. The authors stressed the importance of their involvement, "It is absolutely critical that all decision related to the World Conference on Indigenous Peoples, its arrangements and the outcome document be made with the full, equal, and effective participation of Indigenous Peoples...and that an Indigenous representative be designated to ensure their participation" (Littlechild et al. 2014). The

authors went on to differentiate their claim for representation from that of other civil society groups, writing "[w]e would like to emphasize that Indigenous Peoples have a status that is distinct from other non-State actors. They are not non-governmental organizations or minorities. As recognized by the United Nations system and multiple other global intergovernmental developments, they are peoples with their own cultures, histories and institutions of authority and decision-making". Referring to the UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, the authors describe the "right to self-determination" in terms of "the right of effective participation in all decisions affecting them." They conclude with reassuring language for governments who might oppose their participation, writing that, "because of [our] unique status, designating an Indigenous representative to work alongside a State representative in no way establishes a precedent for other non-State actors generally" (Littlechild et al. 2014). After the North American Indigenous People's Caucus voted to withdraw their engagement from the World Conference because of the lack of meaningful engagement of Indigenous Peoples, Ashe relented, but only slightly, by including two Indigenous advisors as part of the drafting committee. The World Conference went forward. UN Member States negotiated the outcome document based on an Indigenous draft document (the Alta Outcome Document 2013) but without Indigenous influence in the negotiations beyond that of the two advisors (Gilio-Whitaker 2014, Toensig 2014a, Toensig 2014b).

Members of civil society involved in the HIV response face similar challenges when participating in UN and other global fora. ¹⁵ As noted in Chapter 1, within the UNAIDS

¹⁵ Although civil society organizations involved in the HIV response are situated differently from Indigenous Peoples' organizations. People living with and affected by HIV are not

Programme Coordinating Board (PCB), some UN Member State seated on the PCB have pressed strongly for limits on the kinds of comments and level of influence available to the NGO Delegation to the same board – despite the fact that the NGO Delegation was established by ECOSOC (Resolutions 1994/24 and 1995/2) as non-voting but otherwise full members of the board.

In 2013, governments were successful in restricting certain recommendations from the NGO Delegation. However, they may have reached a limit on what they were able to restrict in December 2013. At the semiannual meeting of the PCB in Geneva, the government representatives of Iran, Egypt, and Zimbabwe worked together to present a challenge to the right of the NGO Delegation to present any recommendations to the other members of the PCB. They argued that issues that could become "decision points" should only be brought forward by UN member states. Other governments expressed their opposition to this position. To break the impasse, the chair sought a legal ruling on the language in the founding declaration of the PCB. UN Legal Counsel reviewed the Declaration and indicated to the PCB his clear sense that the NGO delegation had the authority to participate in everything except voting. This result brought formal clarity to the position of the NGO Delegation and strengthened its standing within the PCB. During the same time period that these challenges have been put forward, the member states of the United Nations have affirmed three times (in 2001, 2006, and 2011) the principle of greater involvement of people living with HIV in decision-making.¹⁶ Subsequently, in July

defined as a "people" with the rights and recognition, albeit partial recognition, that come with that status.

¹⁶ The conservative bloc within the UNAIDS governing board based its challenge to the rights of the NGO Delegation on the concept of state sovereignty upon which the United Nations system is based. However, this challenge ignores the history of the creation of the

2014, the NGO Delegation proposed a decision point that was approved without discussion or controversy (NGO Delegation 2014a).

Different UN bodies have created mechanisms for involvement of non-governmental or other civil society organizations in their processes. To address the need for a better system that can respond to problems of equitable distribution of public resources, the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), has recommended the following processes and principles for cooperation between UNDP projects and civil society:

- promoting the principle of stakeholder-decisionmaker equivalence¹⁷
- developing criteria for fair negotiations
- strengthening the negotiating capacity of developing countries
- developing rules for interactions between state and non-state actors
- creating advisory scientific panels for all major global issues, following the example
 of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
- creating negotiating arenas for new priority issues (such as the right of access to water for all people) together with appropriate grievance panels (such as a world water court)
- creating **demand-driven review and response facilities** to promote flexible implementation of policy regimes, such as a trade and development review council within the World Trade Organization" (from Held 2003, 14-15, emphasis mine).

NGO Delegation. UN member states, working within ECOSOC, established the resolutions that created UNAIDS and its governing board. Inclusion of NGOs was explicitly noted in both founding resolutions. Rather than an imposition on state sovereignty, NGO participation on the governing board is the creation of member states.

¹⁷ By stakeholder-decisionmaker equivalence, it is meant that those with a stake in projects have an equal voice with those who have formal decision-making power.



In particular, those people and organizations charged with responsibilities for development within human rights frameworks have sought models for the meaningful involvement of affected populations in decision-making. The Special Rapporteur on the human right to safe drinking water and sanitation, Catarina de Albuquerque, focused her October 2014 report to the UN General Assembly on the right to meaningful participation and how this right can be realized, drawing on examples as diverse as anti-poverty commissions in Scotland, participatory budgeting in Italy and Brazil, anti-stigma campaigns against HIV in the US, disability rights in South Korea, and community water boards in Nicaragua (de Albuquerque 2014).

The United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC), HIV/AIDS Section, provides an example of rapid change toward inclusion of affected communities in decision-making processes. As recently as 2012, UNODC faced public criticism about the lack of communication with civil society and a related lack of attention to the needs of people who use drugs in their HIV programme. Noting that, "the absence of any systematic form of engagement means that civil society has very limited knowledge of UNODC's plans, activities and results," Mat Southwell, a member of the International Network of People who Use Drugs (INPUD) serving as a European NGO Delegate to the UNAIDS governing board at that time, argued, "[i]f UNODC cannot bring itself to embrace and champion the interventions that are central to the response with our community and moreover endorsed by this Board, Commission on Narcotic Drugs and WHO guidance then the growing calls for the lead for the HIV response among people who inject drugs to pass to another Cosponsor will only grow in intensity and legitimacy" (Southwell 2012). He called on "UNAIDS and this Board to help us address the dislocation of civil society from the work of UNODC and for

the endorsement of core strategies by UNODC." By contast, only 18 months later in July 2014, the new NGO Delegate from Europe, Brian Texiera, openly praised the Executive Director of UNODC for the relationship that had developed between UNODC and civil society. "We would, in particular, like to emphasize the exemplary work done by UNODC who have, in their HIV response work, set up civil society councils, convened at UNODC's expense, to advise them in their work. May we recommend that this be adopted as a model for other areas of work, and for other Co-Sponsors [of the Joint UN Programme on HIV and AIDS] to consider replicating this model of engagement with civil society" (Texiera, 2014).

On the other hand, the World Trade Organization leaves no ambiguity about the role of non-governmental organizations in its decision-making processes, indicating that, "[a]s a result of extensive discussions, there is currently a broadly held view that it would not be possible for NGOs to be directly involved in the work of the WTO or its meetings" (World Trade Organization Guidelines for arrangements on relations with Non-Governmental Organizations 1996, VI). The WTO explains that the reason for excluding civil society is two-fold: first, because the WTO is based on treaties among its members and second, because nation-states should be consulting with NGOs at home and are the parties responsible for representing their concerns. Whether or not this happens in practice is not a concern for the WTO because governments are responsible for determining how representation is met.

The WTO position on the engagement of civil society has become a minority position within international fora. Other international and regional institutions with some formalized internal guidance and role for civil society include: the UN Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC) and consultative status NGOs; UNAIDS and the NGO Delegation to the

governing board; the UN Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues, the World Bank, the International Labour Organization, the African Union and the Centre for Citizens' Participation in the African Union (CCP-AU), the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) and the ASEAN Civil Society Conference/ASEAN Peoples' Forum, and the European Commission among others. While lacking formal mechanisms for civil society involvement, the Union of South American Nations calls on its member states to "promote innovative mechanisms and spaces to encourage the discussion of various issues, ensuring that the proposals submitted by civil society are given adequate consideration and response" (UNASUR Constitutive Treaty 2008).

Summary

Current calls for inclusion of marginalized affected populations within global fora raise two old questions: who and what is it that call out to be made present? Ideas about which people -- and what interests – ought to be represented have shifted over time, generally in an expansive direction as more groups have fought for and achieved formal voting rights in legislatures around the world. Earlier ideas about which people are best placed to legitimately make decisions for others are now contested. Instead, groups of people who have been traditionally excluded from decision-making power, whether women, racial minorities, people with disabilities, migrants, or others, have used democratic language about participation, self-governance, and equality, to fight for a place at decision-making tables.

Over time, as decisions that affect peoples' lives are made increasingly outside of state jurisdictions, and as global institutions become central to many health and development initiatives, people affected by these decisions and institutions have pressed

for a recognition of a right to participate in them. These challengers are gaining ground and structures for participation have appeared in multiple UN, global, and regional organizations. Even so, many states – particularly in response to Indigenous Rights organizing – and conservative forces continue to seek to strongly enforce previous paradigms of authority.

These movements by the formerly excluded seek, through participation, not only to influence the decisions that affect them but also to change societal ideas that others -- not them -- are fit to rule. These are liberation struggles for full political adulthood. The struggles are not revolutionary; rather they seek to reform the political system through movement toward equal respect and concern for those who are marginalized.

CHAPTER 4 DEMOCRATIC BENEFITS FROM THE INCLUSION OF MARGINALIZED GROUPS

Currently, the great majority of political representation worldwide is based on geographical population groups—so much so that this is frequently assumed to be how representation should be distributed. The underlying assumption is that people who share a geographical location have similar interests and a shared fate, so they should be grouped together for purposes of representation. Why is this? Fundamental to the concept of representation is the belief that the representative should, in some way, share the fate of the represented. Proponents of more inclusive representation processes shine light on the ways in which most representatives do not, in fact, share their fate with their constituents from marginalized groups.

Williams (1998) names inequity in representation for members of historically discriminated-against groups as the failure of liberal representation. She points to overwhelmingly white and male legislatures as inherently problematic symptoms of processes of representation that systematically neglect marginalized groups. Further, Williams (1998, 17) demonstrates that legislators can repeatedly neglect the needs of constituents from racial minority groups without facing any kind of electoral penalty to hold them accountable. These inequities create challenges to realizing justice across the political community and they cause further problems. Those who make decisions for everyone risk being seen as legitimate only by others in dominant groups but as lacking legitimacy in the eyes of members of marginalized groups. Further, it becomes less and less rational for marginalized groups, who persistently find that their needs are left

unaddressed by dominant groups, to participate in processes within which they have no influence.

This chapter focuses specifically on descriptive representation, or processes that require representatives to be members of the group to be represented. Proponents of descriptive representation seek to solve the inequities, questions of legitimacy, and issues of self-government that result from the domination of marginalized groups in other kinds of representation processes. While inclusive representation, the broader focus of this project, is not synonymous with descriptive representation - that is, inclusive representation is focused on the inclusion of representatives of marginalized groups in decision making while descriptive representation insists that those representatives must, themselves, be members of the group – within current inclusive representation processes, marginalized groups frequently select representatives who are group members (as is clear from the membership of the Permanent Forum and UNAIDS NGO Delegation). Indeed, inclusive representation processes offers members of marginalized groups the chance to weigh the benefits of descriptive representation against other considerations in particular cases, for example, exploring the status, networks, expertise, or moral authority that specific candidates might offer.

In political theories of representation and in empirical studies focused on efforts to improve governance for marginalized groups, descriptive representation has been the primary type of representation explored. Works by political theorists including Williams (1995, 1998), Young (1989,1990, 2001), Phillips (1996), Mansbridge (1999), Guinier (1991, 1998), Urbinati (2000) and Sawer (2000) have rehabilitated the concept of descriptive representation through engaging in difficult normative questions about what

descriptive representation ought to accomplish, who ought to be included, and whether the potential harms might outweigh any possible good. Their writings indicate that they, as Phillips (1996) stated in an article title, offer a "contingent 'Yes'" to instituting some processes of descriptive representation. Starting with a summary of empirical studies of descriptive representation and then examining the theoretical foundations for descriptive representation, this chapter describes why, despite hesitations, these theorists find descriptive representation to be right for many challenges of our time. The next chapter will explore the obstacles and challenges, identified by many of the same theorists, that such representation poses.

Empirical work on descriptive representation

Empirical research results indicate that processes that include representatives who come from marginalized groups provide some positive effects for group members, including: increased trust in government, increased political efficacy, and better substantive representation. In the United States, for example, members of minority racial and ethnic groups expressed more trust in government when their representative came from their group (Abney & Hutchinson 1981, Gay 2002). Further, when Maoris in New Zealand and African Americans in the United States were represented by people who came from their group, they expressed a stronger belief in their ability to affect civic affairs (Banducci et al. 2004).

There is some evidence that members of minority groups have their substantive interests better represented when there are descriptive representatives serving. Williams (1998) found that United States Congressional decisions were more attentive to concerns of minorities when minority legislators were present. A series of studies examining the

legislator-constituent relationship for African Americans found that African American legislators are more responsive than other legislators to their African American constituents (Fenno 2003, Gay 2002, Lublin 1997). In Australia, however, examinations of this same question led to different and more qualified results. Nixon (1998) found no differences in levels of responsiveness to minority constituents between minority and non-minority Members of Parliament (MPs), while Zappala (1999) reported the intriguing finding that Australian MPs from minority groups were more responsive to minority constituents – but only when the MPs were on the political left.

This empirical work has been conducted within the context of legislatures, but offers instructive lessons for other forms of political representation. It appears that the theorized connections between trust in government and better substantive representation, in some cases, are largely supported by empirical work. In addition, the increased feelings of political efficacy for marginalized group members when their representatives come from the group indicates, at a minimum, an internal sense of improved status. At the same time, the mixed results regarding responsiveness to constituents highlight the political calculus

¹⁸ Whether minorities' interests suffer overall from the creation of majority-minority districts is an open question. These districts, designed to increase the likelihood that racial minorities can elect the candidate of their choice and from their racial group, increase the number of representatives who are racial minorities. However, they also shift minority voters out of other jurisdictions where they might be able to influence representatives of dominant groups to attend to minority interests. King (2010) finds a distinct race-class interaction when majority-minority districts are created such that predominantly minority districts are also disproportionately poor districts. He argues, "the practice of excessively packing poor and lower class Blacks into districts diminishes their substantive representation. Once a certain threshold is reached, legislators, Democrats and Republican alike, exhibit the net tendency of becoming more conservative in their ideological temperament as the numbers of poor and lower class Blacks in their districts increase" (838). However, Washington (2012), using different underlying assumptions and focusing on African American votes across class groupings, finds that state delegations from states that increased the number of majority-minority districts in the 1990s showed a slight, albeit non-significant, movement in a liberal direction.

that is ever present for representatives, such as when to press for community wishes, as those wishes are understood by the representative, and when to align oneself with the more dominant voices in one's political party.

Political theory on the benefits of descriptive representation

A broad literature that explores the potential benefits of descriptive representation now exists. For the most part, the benefits are seen as accruing to both members of marginalized groups and the political community as a whole. The one exception to this is the potential for increased status for marginalized groups within the larger political community. For those historically dominant, who may lose the ability to easily institute policies of their choice, the increased status for others may not be perceived as beneficial. Drawing together the various works on descriptive representation allows a categorization of the expected benefits as follows:

- Increased quality of deliberation and decisions
- Improved status for marginalized groups
- Stronger legitimacy and accountability for institutions
- Addressing and remedying the lack of recourse within states for marginalized populations

When taken as a whole, these benefits point toward a larger change: that of reduced domination. The democratic legitimacy for amplifying the voice and increasing the influence of subordinated groups is based on the situation of domination into which these groups are otherwise forced. If the theorized benefits of descriptive representation are realized, then previously marginalized groups will experience less domination and greater opportunities to take part in the democratic project of self-governance.

Increased quality of deliberation and decisions

The inclusion of members of marginalized groups is theorized to increase the quality of deliberation and decisions through expanding the variety of perspectives considered and ensuring strong and energetic support for the perspectives of marginalized groups (Guinier 1998, Mansbridge 1999, Phillips 1996, Williams 1998, Young 1989, 1990). As expressed by international women's groups in the Beijing Platform for Action in 1995, "Women's equal participation in decision-making is not only a demand for simple justice or democracy but can also be seen as a necessary condition for women's interests to be taken into account" (para. 181). The involvement of members of marginalized groups, whether in legislatures or in decision-making more broadly, brings perspectives that are otherwise missing. Based on historical research on movements by women and African Americans in the U.S. to gain rights to political representation, Williams (1998) argues that members of dominant groups often fail to see experiences, perspectives, and needs of marginalized groups; that these are frequently invisible to them. Similar to the insistence by Mills that the greatest variety of opinions and perspectives were needed for political communities to be able to thrive, Williams argues that the deliberation needed for good decisions is inadequate when the "voice" of members of marginalized groups is absent.

Beyond the increased number of perspectives, which could, by itself, lead to a shallow recitation of various issue positions, inclusion of representatives from marginalized groups is expected to improve decision-making processes through their active engagement and promotion of issues that affect group members. In this vein, Phillips (1995) writes of the "degree of vigorous advocacy that people bring to their own concerns" (69). Similarly, Conover (1988) argues that, "[t]he way we think about social

groups depends enormously on whether we are part of that group. Try as we might, the political sympathy that we feel for other groups is never quite the same as that which these groups feel for themselves or that which we feel for ourselves" (75). This political sympathy and vigorous advocacy for one's own community creates opportunities for fuller and richer deliberation to occur, which is expected to shape decisions that are better grounded in the life experiences and needs of a broader range of affected people.

Further theoretical support for a positive relationship between descriptive representation and stronger deliberation focuses on the potential for improved communications between constituents and representatives that happens when constituents feel that their representatives can identify with their experiences (Mansbridge 1999) and by the fact that the presence of representatives from marginalized groups forces other decision makers, from dominant groups, to work together with them as peers (Sawer, 2000). Other legislators can no longer make statements about group members behind their backs (or closed doors) (Sawer, 2000). Descriptive representation forces those who argue against women, for example, based on bias or animosity to make those arguments to (at least some) women's faces. It is not terribly brave or principled to legislate against a group and never be willing to speak your thoughts to their faces or respond to their arguments about your decisions, logic, or evidence. Finally, it is argued that the inclusion of marginalized group representatives challenges unwarranted assumptions that may be held by members of dominant groups. As Young describes, "Such group representation also exposes in public the specificity of the assumptions and experience of the privileged. For unless confronted with different perspectives on social relations and events, different values and language, most people tend to assert their own perspective as universal" (1989, 262).

Improved status for marginalized groups

Other arguments for the presence of marginalized group representatives in decision-making bodies focus on the potential for improved status, and reduced stigma, for the group. Improvements in status are theorized to occur because the presence of members of marginalized groups in decision-making bodies provides a tangible demonstration that that they are equals in governing, not simply people for whom others must make decisions. Mansbridge (1999) writes:

In certain historical conditions, what it means to be a member of a particular social group includes some form of 'second-class citizenship.' Operationally, this is almost always the case when at some point in the polity's history the group has been legally excluded from the vote. In these conditions, the ascriptive character of one's membership in that group carries the historically embedded meaning, 'Persons with these characteristics do not rule,' with the possible implication, 'Persons with these characteristics are not able to (fit to) rule'" (648-9).

She argues further that the anti-stigma effects from descriptive representation should be considered for both those who have been excluded and for members of dominant groups, claiming that the importance of including descriptive representatives from marginalized groups may be even greater for those who have been historically privileged. "It is important that members of a disadvantaged group not be given, in Taylor's words, "a demeaning picture of themselves" (1992, 65)... Yet I consider of even greater importance the effects of social meaning on the perceptions and actions of members of the more advantaged groups. There are sometimes more of them, and they are more powerful. My

aim, in short, is changing the psychology of the 'haves' far more than the psychology of the 'have-nots'" (Mansbridge 1999, 651).

In related work, Young (1989) argues that full participation in decision making improves the social and political status of members of marginalized groups, demonstrating that group members are full members of the political community and participants in resolving community concerns. Indeed, some collectives of marginalized people set this demonstration as a key goal. The Positive Women's Network – USA, a collective of women living with HIV within the US, explicitly links this demonstration with reductions in stigma that members face. They include as part of their mission, "combatting HIV-related stigma and demonstrating the women living with HIV are part of the solution" (Positive Women's Network – USA 2013).

Democratic theorists have long praised the stability of political communities whose members form bonds and interact with one another across multiple social groupings. Theorists argue that political decisions made by these communities -- which Bentley (1908) describes as having "overlapping memberships," Truman (1951) as producing "multiple memberships," and Lipset (1963) as possessing "cross-cutting cleavages" -- are more likely to express moderate solutions to common issues. Political leaders practice moderation because they know, understand, and want to maintain support from individuals from many different social positions. By contrast, a body of political decision-makers, with each leader connected only to his narrowly defined group, faces grave difficulties in making decisions that are acceptable across multiple groups.

What is good for the security of political communities overall is doubly good for the security of members of marginalized groups. When marginalized groups are excluded from

the cross-cutting cleavages within society, their concerns are invisible to the political decision makers. However, as marginalized groups join decision-making bodies, opportunities arise for them to identify commonalities and build cross-cutting relationships with members of more dominant groups.

Stronger legitimacy and accountability for institutions

It is argued that institutions enjoy more legitimacy when groups are not seen as perpetually excluded from meaningful involvement in decision making (Mansbridge 1999, Williams 1998, Young 1990, Sawer 2000). Sawer (2000) writes that arguments to address underrepresentation are based in part on, "the idea that the legitimacy of political institutions will be undermined if significant sections of the community appear to be locked out of them" (362). Williams (1995, 1998), as described earlier, highlights the challenge to democratic legitimacy when those charged with governing fail repeatedly to look like, or come from, the diversity of groups who are governed. Going beyond an argument based simply on the better aesthetics of inclusive bodies, Williams argues that the legitimacy that follows from inclusion is directly related to the greater trust placed by marginalized communities in representatives that look like them. When representatives come from the group, they are seen as subject to the same laws and decisions, and, perhaps more importantly, subject to the same enforcement, as group members in general. As a result, members of marginalized groups see the decisions that their representatives support as more legitimate than decisions that are made without the support of anyone from the group.

In addition, theorists including Held (2005), Scholte (2011), and Young (2007), promote inclusive representation precisely for its potential to increase accountability of



global institutions and civil society organizations, places where electoral cycles do not exist. Representatives from civil society organizations are credited with increasing the accountability of global organizations by observing global organizations' processes and actions and by creating communication links between decision-makers and grassroots communities at home and, with the advent of social media, around the world. Accountability of global organizations is bolstered when representatives of affected populations are present in the rooms where decisions are made. Civil society representatives not only share information widely about what takes place within global decision-making fora, the fact that they are there, what Philips (1995) calls the "politics of presence," changes the decision-making dynamic. It is a very different process for people in power to make decisions when the people affected by the decisions are with them, looking at them, from within the same room.

Even without formal decision-making power, the presence of these representatives allows the exercise of the "negative power of the people" (Urbinati 2006), providing source material and direct witnesses for monitoring, following up on promises, and challenging decisions or processes deemed anti-democratic or against human rights or other global norms and agreements. Applying Urbinati's concept of the "negative power of the people" to non-legislative arenas, Bray (2011) writes of the "professional organizations (political parties, NGOs, unions, public ombudsmen, think-tanks, etc.) that *monitor, influence, judge and shame formal power-wielders* (and each other) on behalf of, and in the view of, a citizenry of lay people who remain the final court of appeal" (198-199, emphasis mine).

An example of a professional organization serving these functions is AIDSPAN, an NGO in Kenya established as an independent monitoring and reporting organization in the



wake of the development of the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria. AIDSPAN regularly evaluates the Global Fund, such as reporting the extent to which the Global Fund actually turns down applications if the country has not included representatives of people living with the diseases in the country-level decision-making bodies (the Country Coordinating Mechanisms) and the results of Global Fund inspections for proper management of funds (Garmaise 2015, Kinyanjui 2014, Rivers 2010).

Addressing and remedying the lack of meaningful recourse within states

Lack of equal protection of rights or concern for dignity by states toward marginalized populations is not only observed when state interests are in direct conflict with those of minority groups. Instead, the relationship between the state and marginalized groups is characterized by low levels of concern. This is the basis of the second democratic argument for inclusion in global governance expressed by marginalized groups. For example, speaking of the movements by Canadian First Nations peoples in the 1970s, Dahl argued "Even in a democratic country such as Canada, all appeals for respect for the unique Indigenous cultures were in vain. Faced with this situation, the Indigenous peoples looked outside their communities and countries for support" (Dahl 2009, 35). Alberto Chirif, Peruvian anthropologist and advocate for the rights of Amazonian Indigenous peoples, describes the "deep democratic roots" of Indigenous societies in Latin America, saying, however, that these societies are "yet not subject to the representational processes on which our society claims to base the principles of democracy" (2006, 15). In a similar vein, Dodson notes the increase in international visibility of Indigenous Peoples and engagement between Indigenous Peoples and international bodies such as the ILO and the World Bank. He compares this to the situation domestically in which "it is still the case that Indigenous

Peoples in their own countries and regions are among the most marginalized and excluded groups" (Dodson 2001, 202-203, section 11). The anthropologist Brysk concurs, explaining that, after the 1960s, "Indigenous peoples themselves reached out to the international system. Indians sought international protection because they were poor and persecuted and because they lacked political access at home. Many Latin American Indians did not identify with their nation-states, and they were often legally defined as second-class citizens" (2000, 10).

People living with HIV describe a similar situation within which they reach out to global institutions seeking assistance to address the lack of concern for their well-being expressed by their states. For example, the new funding model by the Global Fund seeks to shift funding for programs in middle and upper middle income countries to national governments. However, networks by and for groups such as people living with HIV, gay men and other men who have sex with men, people who use drugs, and sex workers are expressing deep concern. AIDSpan, a non-governmental organization set up by civil society to monitor the Global Funding, reported that, in September, 2013, twenty-four organizations in Eastern Europe and Central Asia sent an open letter to the Global Fund, cautioning them about their expectations that governments would quickly scale up their medical coverage for people living with HIV and arguing that "the proposed transition timeline away from Global Fund-supported programmes towards state-funded programmes is too short and could widen the gap of unmet needs in many newly identified middle-income countries" and needs to consider barriers such as "the ability and willingness of governments to fund these programmes in the future" (Zardiashvili 2013). In a letter to AIDSpan, Dasha Ocheret, the Deputy Director for policy and advocacy for the

European Harm Reduction Network wrote, "Advocacy work at the national level and additional resources must be allocated and made available for civil society if the Global Fund expects UMICs [Upper Middle Income Countries] such as Azerbaijan, Belarus, Kazakhstan and others to fully cover harm reduction programmes and ART treatment with domestic funding in the next 12 months," (Zardiashvili 2013).

A study of the documents put forward by marginalized people seeking the right to participate in decision-making on their own behalf, and by researchers and advocates, reveals further democratic arguments for representation in global governance. The first of these is the lack of meaningful recourse within states when the interests of marginalized groups conflict with state interests. This is especially the case for Indigenous People's struggles. Kevin Bruyneel (2007) names Indigenous political spaces as a "third space of sovereignty" in which Indigenous people exist within and without the state, but never fully in either (217). Indigenous concerns such as land rights, political representation, and levels of autonomy or self-government reach the core meanings of sovereignty and, thus, are seen as threatening by the states in which they reside. Protections of Indigenous rights often conflict, or are seen to conflict, with profit-generating plans by local land owners, multi-national or local corporations, or the state (Colchester 2005, 18). Young (2007) argues that sovereignty is better understood as non-domination for states and people alike. In Young's articulation, shared power between marginalized groups and states is possible without a loss of state sovereignty. The challenge, however, is to convince states to agree.

In 2007, inclusion of the term "peoples" to refer to Indigenous Peoples was a major accomplishment in the UNDRIP.¹⁹ States with Indigenous populations have fought against any recognition of Indigenous Peoples as "peoples" in a legal sense as important rights of self-determination are linked with the designation of peoplehood. Article 1.1 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights states, "All peoples have the right of self-determination. By virtue of that right, they freely determine their political status and freely pursue their economic, social, and cultural development. However, UN member states gave with one hand what they took away with the other. States demonstrated their continued resistance to recognizing Indigenous Peoples as holding equal status with other "peoples" through the particular and restricted definition offered within the UNDRIP. The last article of the Declaration, Article 46.1, reads,

Nothing in this Declaration may be interpreted as implying for any State, people, group or person any right to engage in any activity or to perform any act contrary to the Charter of the United Nations or construed as authorizing or encouraging any action which would dismember or impair, totally or in part, the territorial integrity or political unity of sovereign and independent States.

This restriction on the meaning of self-determination serves to dilute its essence entirely.

Because Indigenous Peoples and states have competing interests, the state is frequently unable to serve as the body responsible for protecting the rights of Indigenous Peoples within its borders. "In the context of such claims, therefore, the state ceases to be

¹⁹ States with Indigenous populations have fought against any recognition of Indigenous Peoples as "peoples" in a legal sense. Important rights of self-determination are linked with the designation of peoplehood. Article 1.1 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights states, "All peoples have the right of self-determination. By virtue of that right, they freely determine their political status and freely pursue their economic, social, and cultural development. States have not wanted to recognize Indigenous Peoples' claims of self-determination, as demonstrated by the particular and restricted definition offered within the UNDRIP.

the guarantor of rights and is revealed instead to be a bearer of opposing rights" (Beier 2007, 5). In this case, Indigenous Peoples must seek recourse at the global level as "[t]he state, in these circumstances, cannot be the arbiter of claims that unsettle its own foundations and is thus determined by its own logics to become the object of resistance" (Beier 2007, 5). Dalee Sambo Dorough, Director of the Indian Law Resource Center in Alaska, writes, "[Indigenous representatives] have repeatedly and respectfully requested that the United Nations and its Member States uphold their own norms and principles of equality, non-discrimination, and the prohibition of racial discrimination with respect to Indigenous Peoples. However, Nation states have repeatedly ignored our statements and carried on with their attitudes of superiority" (Dorough 2001, 113-114). Indeed, Varese (2006) documents the processes by which, "for over two decades, the Indigenous people of the Americas have carried their struggles and debates to the United Nations arena, demanding a process of democratization of the international body as well as less nationalist positions" (231).

Summary

The idea that every adult person in a political community ought to have an equal vote with all the others has become fundamental to the definition of democracy. Yet, this formal equality has disappointed proponents of more substantive democracy who seek outcomes that represent perspectives and interests that go beyond the usual elites. It has also disappointed those who anticipated that decision-making bodies that look more like the political communities they represent would have outcomes that demonstrated a stronger influence by the groups that were previously excluded.

The concept of descriptive representation has inspired a great deal of theoretical work, combined with a number of empirical studies of the effects of minority representatives on legislatures and their work. Empirical work supports theoretical arguments that descriptive representation can increase trust in government by members of marginalized groups and may improve substantive outcomes for these groups. However, political considerations still apply for representatives as they determine the best alliances and spaces to place their energy.

Political philosophers anticipate that the participation of descriptive representatives in decision-making processes supports many democratic goals. Greater inclusion of affected communities brings perspectives and information to decision-making bodies that they would otherwise lack, increasing the quality of deliberations. Better deliberations offer the potential for increasing the quality of outcomes. Further, the very presence and participation of members of marginalized groups in decision-making disrupts stereotypes within dominant communities regarding the value of the group. Instead of normalizing dominant group members as the rule makers and marginalized group members as the rule followers, seating members of both groups on an equal basis within decision-making bodies creates a new meme: that members of groups historically excluded from power have a rightful and equal part to play in shaping the collective future. When descriptive representation is established, then institutions of governance may gain a legitimacy they lacked, particularly among marginalized groups who experienced little evidence of concern for their interests previously. In addition, inclusive of representatives from marginalized groups can result in greater democratic accountability by these institutions to the people they are supposed to serve. This is particularly true in global institutions that have few democratic accountability mechanisms available to them. Finally, including representative of marginalized groups in global bodies, allows these groups a way to seek recourse for the lack of state concern domestically. Marginalized groups may seek global attention in order to pressure their states to follow and attend to their interests and needs. Each of these potential benefits of inclusion, while a democratic good in its own terms, is part of a larger goal: non-domination of marginalized groups by more powerful social actors

Representation of people does not assure that all relevant interests are considered or that substantive outcomes will result. If adopted, the next step is to consider processes to ensure that representation leads to an effective voice. Inclusion is necessary but not sufficient to ensure that people can be heard and can influence the outcomes. We must still ask, once members of marginalized groups are included in the deliberative body, what challenges do they face in gaining adequate attention and responses to their issues?

CHAPTER 5 OBSTACLES FOR MARGINALIZED GROUP REPRESENTATION IN GLOBAL ORGANIZATIONS

Some of these meetings our international activists attend...can sometimes be lonely and isolating places. Places where we can end up questioning our own abilities, when slowly but surely we can end up feeling our backs are up against the wall, trapped, trying to find a way to push forward our agenda in an environment that has no room or time for the depth of what we are trying to get across in today's incredibly fast paced and highly politicized world.

Sometimes, the terrible burden of responsibility our representatives feel for our community in these fast-moving, process driven, rarely straightforward meetings can eat away at us from deep inside... as we, too, are expected to play the game of process, business meeting etiquette, all the while trying to find out just how to ... get our issues heard - especially the issues that are at the crux of our self-determination (like decriminalization, for example), when there is just no room or time to even begin to unpack such topics around the resulting 'collateral damage' (that's us, dudes, you and me in this crazy war on drugs)...Even that aside, it can be devastating, difficult, lonely, scary.

Eliot Albers, International Network of People Who Use Drugs, 2013

The previous chapters provided democratic arguments for increasing representation of marginalized groups and a foundation for understanding the political processes and strategies that have shaped the struggles for dignity, recognition, and political equality by Indigenous Peoples and people living with and affected by HIV. This chapter focuses on the challenges to creating representative processes for marginalized groups, and to ensuring that those processes are liberatory. To be liberatory, representative processes for marginalized people must generate movement toward political equality, such that space and opportunities are created for marginalized groups to see their issues treated with equal levels attention and respect and to meaningfully influence political decisions that affect them.



As previously described, there are a number of reasons that marginalized people might seek representation in global settings. Marginalized people have, by definition, a fraught relationship with their state and government. Frequently, they have few illusions that they can turn to the state to remedy rights violations and little expectation of equal treatment within political processes. The combination of domestic marginalization and the spread of global human rights language to excluded peoples, communities, and groups, has lead many marginalized groups to turn to the global arenas as one site for their struggle for political voice.

The democratic benefits that can accompany increased representation are critical for marginalized groups seeking a full and equal voice in the decisions that concern them. These benefits include: reduced domination by powerful elites (Young 1989, 1990, 2007); opportunities to share information about group interests and express group needs (Urbinati 2000), leading to better decision-making (Young 1990); increased opportunities for different marginalized groups to learn from one another and develop shared goals and strategies (Urbinati 2000); accountability for global organizations (Laclau and Mouffe 2001, Young 1990); greater voice by affected people in the decisions that affect them (Held 2003); broadened social status as rightful participants in a shared political project, rather than as people who need to be governed (Young 1989, Mansbridge 1999); and inclusion by others into perceived communities of shared fate (Urbinati 2000).

While the democratic case for increasing representation of marginalized groups into global and other non-elective venues is substantial, the obstacles to doing so in a meaningful manner are also substantial. There must be processes that could reasonably be put into place within which people from marginalized groups could authorize

representatives to participate on their behalf and hold those representatives accountable, have a noticeable influence on the outcomes of decision-making processes, and experience a positive change in status within the decision-making body and without. Before exploring how such processes have been, and might be, established, the obstacles to a framework of liberatory representation need to be identified. The focus of this chapter, then, is on what could go wrong if frameworks for representation are not skillfully developed.

This chapter focuses specifically on obstacles that could limit or bar movement toward more liberatory outcomes for marginalized groups. These obstacles are identified from the literature by political theorists and writings about representation and voice by Indigenous peoples, people living with HIV, and those from key affected populations that bear the highest burdens of the disease.²⁰

To be sure, there are many challenges to the effectiveness of any representative process. When the representative process is structured to be inclusive of marginalized groups, specific obstacles may include: limits on group members' choices of representatives (Mansbridge 1999); promotion of the interests of group elites, leading to further silencing of those more marginalized within the group (Phillips 1996, Young 1990); perceptions by dominant group members that larger social inequities are adequately handled and need no further attention within the decision-making body or outside it

²⁰ As related to the HIV epidemic, key populations are generally understood as those who have disproportionately high rates of infection and disproportionately low access to resources, health care, or government concern. Key populations always include gay and bisexual men and other men who have sex with men, sex workers, and people who use drugs. Other marginalized groups may be included depending on the epidemiology of each national epidemic (see the 2011 UN General Assembly Political Declaration on HIV and AIDS, A/RES/65/277, para 29). Broader lists include transgender people, poor people, racial and ethnic minorities, immigrants, prisoners, and women and young people (see, for example, the groups that are included, based on context, throughout the UNAIDS 2011-2015 Strategy, UNAIDS 2010).

(Young 1993, 1996, 2001; Williams 1995; Urbinati 2000). Dominant groups may act as if those representing marginalized groups now carry the sole responsible for ensuring attention to the needs of those groups (Young 1990) or that the representatives can speak authoritatively only about group issues rather than the totality of issues that the decision-making body must determine (Young 1990). Further challenges include: the material and emotional costs of representation that members of marginalized groups bear when they participate; the lack of trust in governments and institutions by many marginalized groups; and difficulties in organizing that result from the often punitive and controlling legal environments for marginalized groups. This chapter seeks to analyze these obstacles in a systematic way. To the end, the obstacles are grouped into three categories: 1) reinforcement of existing power and status hierarchies; 2) effects of structural violence on the participation of marginalized groups; 3) influence of global power dynamics on the room within which civil society can maneuver.

Each of these concerns is directly relevant to the project for liberatory representation. If including representatives from marginalized groups in decision making processes has the effect of further reducing their status in society, of further marginalizing those who are already subordinated within the group, and of further limiting the extent to which their concerns can be considered in the decisions that affect them, then this representation would constitute the continuation of an oppressive system. A liberatory system of representation requires a satisfactory answer to each of these concerns.

Reinforcement of existing power and status hierarchies

Existing hierarchies that mark some people in a political community as more valuable and more deserving of power interact with processes of representation in predictable ways. The hierarchies that exist within marginalized groups can privilege group elites and silence those who are subordinated within the group, a particular concern when it comes to the equal rights of women. Further, external hierarchies within the larger society can replicate themselves within the decision-making body, limiting the influence of representatives from marginalized groups.

Privileging group elites at the expense of those subordinated within the group

Foremost among the goals of a project to increase marginalized peoples' representation in global settings is to counter the overrepresentation of dominant social groups – and, through them, their specific interests and concerns – in decision making processes. This is done by ensuring that people who are affected by decisions, but generally excluded from a meaningful voice in their adoption or enactment, are seated, on an equal political basis, at decision-making tables. This democratic impulse can, however, have unintended consequences. Critical concerns are raised about whether, and when, processes for including civil society representatives within global venues simply create further venues for people who are more privileged to increase their voice and participation. Further marginalization for those who are subordinated within the group -- for example, women or LGBT people – can result as elites within larger marginalized group are

appointed as spokespersons for the entire group.²¹ Looking specifically at what they label as "self authorized" representation in the global sphere, Warren and Urbinati (2008) note:

In the case of electoral representation, an abstract equality is achieved through the universal franchise. There is no equivalent equality of influence or voice in the nonelectoral domain, where the advantages of education, income, and other unequally distributed resources are more likely to translate into patterns of over- and underrepresentation. The many advantages of self-authorized representation—and they are considerable—may also result in increasingly unequal representation" (405).

Similar concerns are raised about inclusive representation in global bodies even when selection processes exist, so that no one can represent without at least a minimal authorization process.

This is a particularly serious concern for descriptive representation, which, because it is structured as if all group members are similarly placed, can act to "essentialize" members of marginalized groups, through treating group members as if they all have matching views, interests, and experiences, and reinforcing existing hierarchies within groups. Young (1990) highlights the difficulties inherent in one person standing in for others, when there is great diversity among the represented. She draws attention to ways in which selecting representatives based on one similarity within a group can increase access to voices along one dimension while suppressing others and urges attention to who might be left out when others are included, particularly in terms of subgroups. Young uses the example of representatives of racial minority groups, selected because they are part of a particular racial group, who may consciously or unconsciously represent only the interests of male, wealthier, or heterosexual members of the group. Mansbridge (1999)

²¹ This point is made by Kukathas (1992) and used as one of his arguments against any group-based approaches to rectifying past injustices or addressing current ones.



raises a related concern, focused on the symbolic effects that might occur if representatives always come from the most privileged within marginalized groups, is raised by. She writes, "If the women representatives are almost all White and the Black representatives are almost all men, however, the implicit message may be that Black women do not or should not rule. A similar message holds for gay men and lesbian women" (649). As Okin (1999) warns:

When liberal arguments are made for the rights of groups, then, special care must be taken to look at within-group inequalities. It is especially important to consider inequalities between the sexes, since they are likely to be less public, and less easily discernible. Moreover, policies aiming to respond to the needs and claims of cultural minority groups must take seriously the need for adequate representation of less powerful members of such groups (23).

The opportunity for unfair influence across geographic lines is particularly acute in global representation. Held (2003) writes, "to avoid citizens of developed countries being unfairly represented twice in global politics (once through their governments and once through their NGOs) special attention and support needs to be given to enhance the role of NGOs from developing countries" (20). Further, because NGOs from developing countries are frequently supported by governments and donors from wealthier countries, protections to ensure their independence in global governance are necessary. Any process of representation intended to provide marginalized groups a meaningful voice in decisions that affect them must adequately respond to concerns about determining the legitimacy of representatives, assessing the democratic contributions of these representatives, and ensuring that the voices, needs, and perspectives of the most marginalized groups are not overpowered by more privileged members of civil society.

Even within the often times radical and emancipatory politics practiced by Indigenous Peoples and people living with HIV (as described in the next chapter), these inequalities of power and privilege are sites of constant struggle. Indigenous women often face discrimination on the basis of gender, ethnicity, and, frequently, poverty (Roy 2004). In the intersecting dynamics of gender, race, sexual orientation, and poverty, in the early U.S. activist response to the HIV epidemic, women, people of color, and low income people struggled to have a voice in the activist response (Stockdill 2003). Female sex workers continue to lack inclusion in decision-making bodies outside of their own networks (Das and Horten 2014). In 2010, the Global Network of People Living with HIV changed its board membership to include specific seats for key affected populations after determining that regional representatives too often provided inadequate representation for the most marginalized people living with HIV in their regions.

In current Indigenous organizing, older leaders and those without formal education sometimes find entry to decision-making processes closed to them but open to those who are younger and better educated. "Over the last few years, a new generation of Indigenous leaders has arisen, usually younger and with more formal education than previous leaders. This is unequivocally a step forward but it is not without problems. Without these young educated people, the Indigenous communities would not be able to present their case in an efficient way to the surrounding society" (Dahl 2009, 123). These problems are from the attention to one more privileged part of the group, who fit the surrounding norms more closely, and the lack of attention to other voices within the group, those with less formal education but other experiences and bases for understanding.



When communities intentionally work to ensure that all subgroups have their interests addressed, inclusion can still be difficult. For example, a "Common Ground" meeting was held in 2010 to develop shared advocacy messages among gay men, women, young people, transgender people, sex workers, and people who use drugs. The meeting report carried a sense of optimism, "Participants were positive about the ability to carry one another's messages and noted examples of lesbian communities supporting gay men and women's groups supporting gay men's issues." However, the report went on to document that, "Discussions were also realistic about the difficulties of working in coalition and the fear of many that it would be difficult to uphold this commitment of shared messages once they leave the meeting and are faced with pressures from members of their own constituencies who had not been part of the process" (MSMGF 2010).

Obstacles to a representation that is truly emancipatory, then, include any processes that have the effect of amplifying the voices of the most privileged within marginalized groups and continuing to ignore those who lack such privilege within the group. Those who are subordinated within marginalized groups vary based on the group, but often include women, lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender people, racial or ethnic minorities, people with disabilities, people from the Global South, or those who are stigmatized because of a behavior, such as drug use or sex work in the case of the HIV epidemic.

External inequalities exert influence within the decision-making body

Probably the most critical concern about descriptive representation focuses on the ways in which external social hierarchies continue to exist within decision-making groups, which can effectively curtail the ability of representatives of marginalized groups to influence decisions (Urbinati 2000, Williams 1995). One purpose of inclusive

representation is to have as much information as possible about the problems to be solved. This information supports a deliberative process, using the combined experience, perspectives, needs, and resources of the group to come to the best possible decisions. The problem, though, is that status differences in larger society impact status within the representative body (Young 2001). In terms of deliberative processes, expressing reasons is fundamental. However, what one accepts as legitimate reasons is contingent on one's power relationship with the person speaking. One person's illustrative example is, to another, nothing more than an anecdote. As Young (2001) contends, there are inherent difficulties for dominant group members in accepting the reasons and evidence of marginalized group members, particularly when these reasons conflict with the interests or perceptions of dominant groups. Status differences in the larger society impede the practice of equality necessary within a representative body. With lower status in the group, representatives of marginalized groups will be less likely to be listened to when they speak or to have proposals adopted and will face significant barriers to developing the relationships needed to gain support for their group's needs (Urbinati 2000).

The risk of tokenism is a constant threat for representatives of marginalized groups. The power relationships that exist outside the group leave members of marginalized groups at a disadvantage in terms of the networks and experiences that are key for building relationships within the group. Further, the effects of stigma mean that members of dominant groups have been taught to consider marginalized group members as less valuable and to ignore or subvert their contributions.

Discussing the negotiations surrounding the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, Andrew Gray, co-director of International Working Group on Indigenous Affairs, described the tokenism that Indigenous organizations experienced:

Over one hundred Indigenous organisations have now been accredited, although a few have been refused, mainly from Africa and Asia. However they can still obtain access to the meeting by working with NGOs who have consultative status with ECOSOC...Once inside the meeting, Indigenous peoples have had to battle for full speaking rights and to be considered as part of the decisionmaking process.

(quoted in Dahl 2009, 115)

In 2013, the U.S. People Living with HIV Caucus, a network of networks of people living with HIV and individual HIV positive activists, released a policy document entitled: "Parameters for Collaboration with Efforts Seeking to Engage PLHIV Input through the U.S. PLHIV Caucus". ²² This document outlined their process for evaluating whether an invitation to partner was tokenistic or substantive. Their criteria include: involvement by people living with HIV in all levels of the project, from formation through dissemination; broad inclusion of the diversity of communities affected by HIV, with a focus on those most marginalized within the U.S.; and ownership of the results by people living with HIV to use, share, and disseminate.

A misguided hope, or assumption, that responding to inequality can become someone else's problem can prompt decision makers from traditionally powerful groups to support increased representation from marginalized groups (see Young 1990). Similarly, dominant groups may decide that problems of equal representation are solved when a few members of marginalized groups are seated at a decision-making table. However, increasing the voice of marginalized groups in decision-making bodies will fail to create a

²² Provided by members of the U.S. PLHIV Caucus, http://www.hivcaucus.org/contact-the-caucus.html

liberatory politics if all responsibility for attending to issues of inequality is then placed at their feet.

A slightly more subtle manifestation of tokenism can occur in legislatures when representatives from groups that are marginalized are assumed to only have legitimacy or expertise when they speak about issues specific to their group. Issues of general interest, which by definition would also be of interest to members of marginalized groups, may be seen as falling strictly within the purview of representatives from dominant groups. These representatives, as Young (1990) describes, see themselves as representing universal perspectives in contrast to what they perceive as the particularities of less privileged groups.

Structural violence

The term, "structural violence" was coined in 1969 by Johan Galtung for events, arising in some way from human endeavors, that have violent effects on groups of people but with no apparent actor causing these effects. In Galtung's words:

We shall refer to the type of violence where there is an actor that commits the violence as *personal* or *direct*, and to violence where there is no such actor as *structural* or *indirect*. In both cases individuals may be killed or mutilated, hit or hurt in both senses of these words [i.e., physical and psychological], and manipulated by means of stick or carrot strategies. But whereas in the first case these consequences can be traced back to concrete persons as actors, in the second case this is no longer meaningful. There may not be any person who directly harms another in the structure. The violence is built into the structure and shows up as unequal power and consequently as unequal life chances.

(1969, 170-171)

Structural violence is an impediment to meaningful representation for people who are marginalized. Structures and institutions are developed by and for dominant groups. The suffering caused by structural violence is born by marginalized people. If they were not



marginalized, they would have the power, like existing dominant groups, to change structures and institutions. Using the language of structural violence, Farmer (2001) writes about the effects of the global HIV epidemic on poor women and the "differential economy of risk" they face:

Their sickness is a result of structural violence: neither culture nor pure individual will is at fault; rather, historically given (and often economically driven) processes and forces conspire to constrain individual agency. Structural violence is visited upon all those whose social status denies them access to the fruits of scientific and social progress (2001, 79).

Marginalized groups need access to power in order to address the effects of structural violence on their communities. However, structural violence makes participation difficult, with the difficulty increasing the more marginalized one is. Higher rates of poverty among marginalized groups, lack of funding for their organizations, poorer health, and legal frameworks that criminalize marginalized people's identities and restrict their freedom of movement are among the most basic effects of structural violence on representation.

Poverty continues to limit representation of low-income communities. People with less education, who speak in local dialects rather than the grammar used by national elites, who lack internet access, or who do not own a credit card for checking into a hotel or funds to prepay costs and wait for reimbursement, are frequently unable to participate and bring their voices to decision-making bodies.

Smaller organizations often lack funding or organizational capacity to participate. Individuals have widely differential access to education and resources. Dahl (2009) notes that discussions about weak organizations were a frequent concern for IWGIA:

[I]t became clear that one has to be realistic when it comes to the possibilities of Indigenous peoples' organisations fighting for their rights without support from abroad. Maintaining an office in town, purchasing

equipment, paying salaries, travelling back and forth between remote communities, taking part in international meetings etc, requires financial resources that are beyond their capacity. Few governments are willing to provide these resources since they are often the targets of these organisations (124).

Laws that criminalize marginalized populations and restrict their mobility present another pernicious manifestation of structural violence. If one risks hostile police attention simply by attempting to organize with similarly situated others, such as gays and lesbians (ILGA 2014), ²³ transgender people, ²⁴ sex workers, ²⁵ immigrants, ²⁶ even women in countries that restrict their right to move freely (see, for example, HRW 2008), then creating a network of affected people or a non-governmental organization becomes difficult. Even when these networks and organizations exist, representation from them to global bodies is deeply risky for individuals and the group. If a group of marginalized

2

ألم للاستشارات

²³ The International Lesbian and Gay Association (ILGA) published, through 2014, an annual report on laws that criminalize and those that recognize same sex relationships. In 2014, they reported that same sex relationships were illegal in at least 78 countries and that homosexuality was punishable by death in at least seven (and possibly eleven) countries. Itaborahy & Zhu (2014) at http://old.ilga.org/Statehomophobia/ILGA SSHR 2014 Eng.pdf

²⁴ No list exists of countries that protect the rights of transgender people. The closest document is the ILGA 2011 report which provides information on laws for name change after transition and on employment non-discrimination (ILGA 2014).

²⁵ In most of Latin America, Europe (outside of the countries of the former Soviet Union), Canada and New Zealand, sex work is technically legal, although there are differences in whether it is regulated by the state and whether clients of sex workers can be prosecuted (the "Nordic" model, also adopted in Canada). In most of Africa, the Middle East, Central and Eastern Europe, Asia, and the United States, sex work is illegal and sex workers can be prosecuted. Where sex work is illegal, sex workers are routinely harassed, assaulted and raped, robbed, and arrested by police (WHO 2005).

²⁶ The U.S. Human Rights Network was formed in 2003 as a coalition of US grassroots organizations seeking to press the U.S. to adopt, in practice, human rights policies. police brutality in the U.S. with U.S. obligations under international law. Their 2014 *Shadow Report Submissions to the United Nations Committee Against Torture* documents multiple forms of police and other State violence against immigrants, as well as against African Africans, LGBT people, Indigenous People, and people who are incarcerated (U.S. Human Rights Network 2014).

people overcomes these obstacles and achieves a voice in decision-making body, the requirements of representation are nearly impossible to meet. Basic representation processes, such as selection of representatives, consultations with communities, reporting back on actions and decisions, and other accountability processes, become dangerous hurdles. For communities that are disproportionately incarcerated, such as Indigenous Peoples and many racial and ethnic minorities and immigrant groups (Hogg 2001, add additional cites), the legal environment creates similar challenges.

Not surprisingly, marginalized groups often lack trust in public institutions. This distrust can be an obstacle to their meaningful participation in representative processes. They may have this distrust for legitimate historical reasons. Public institutions, whether governments, police, health authorities, courts, or schools, have frequently demonstrated a distinct lack of concern for the needs of those without social power (see, for example, Washington 2007). Distrust may be a healthy response when it motivates representatives of marginalized groups to act with caution within decision-making bodies. However, it can work to their disadvantage if it unnecessarily bars relationships that might allow communication and establishment of social networks between representatives of marginalized groups and other representatives. For a system of representation intended to have liberatory outcomes, issues of trust require attention.

Indigenous Peoples' relationships with states and the global system have been shaped by generations of injustice by state actors. In the 1990s, increasing recognition within the UN of Indigenous People's rights as part of the human rights agenda, combined with democratization movements throughout Latin America, the former Soviet Union, and countries in Asia created a challenge for Indigenous organizing strategies. As documented

by Dahl (2009), with these political openings, members of Indigenous organizations faced difficult challenges in determining whether to work in partnership with nation-states and dominant societies where they lived. Tensions arose between the distrust of the nation-state, society, and development agencies and the desire for cooperation with these entities, such that, "to this day, this has remained the foremost point of controversy between Indigenous peoples in international settings" (Dahl 2009, 84-85).

Lack of trust is not the only result of structural violence on marginalized people. An emotional toll is exacted on representatives when they are one of few people in the room embodying the issues being discussed. For marginalized peoples, these issues routinely include questions about whether communities can be trusted to speak for themselves and whether or not harms done to the community qualify as issues of concern for the larger polity. Representatives from marginalized groups report that participation generally involves feelings of great urgency and responsibility that are hard to manage when the other people in the room are not similarly faced with the loss of lives, livelihoods, loved ones, land, culture, or community. The words of INPUD executive director, Eliot Albers, that opened this chapter pay tribute to the representatives who face these emotional challenges.

Further exacerbating the emotional costs of participation for marginalized groups is the reality that, because their struggles for recognition and dignity challenge deeply entrenched social biases and economic interests, battles are never really completely won. Governments or other powerful actors can seemingly always choose to reopen, or simply not fully implement, agreements on issues ranging from fairer distributions of resources to inclusion in leadership bodies. When moving their struggle from a concern that has been

addressed to another concern, marginalized people must be constantly vigilant to ensure that the first issue is not overturned, and, must proceed, likewise, with the second, third, fourth, and subsequent issues.

Global power dynamics

What happens at global decision-making tables, so long as commitments are well constructed, broadly supported, and implemented, can affect people's lives and can particularly affect the lives of those who are most marginalized. As described previously, a community-driven effort, led by the NGO Delegation to the UNAIDS board, resulted in a dramatic change of course -- from a punitive, law enforcement approach to a human rightsbased harm reduction approach -- in policies and programs by the HIV/AIDS Division of UNODC. This example also highlights some of the limits of what civil society representation can achieve. Providing useful insight is Bewley-Taylor's (2012) analysis of the tensions surrounding the international drug control conventions. These tensions appear between UN Member States committed to models of prohibition and punishment, and other Member States, with the rest of the UN system, pushing for greater attention to public health and human rights. Bewley-Taylor notes that UNODC, and particularly the UNODC HIV/AIDS Division, has been moving closer to the human rights approach found through the UN System. However, he also documents the strong pressures by Member States, often led by the U.S., to fight the movement toward harm reduction. The reality on the ground is that some countries, perhaps using technical support and the cover of legitimacy provided by UNODC, have increased their harm reduction programs for people who use drugs. Others, including powerful countries such as Russia and the U.S., have largely refused to institute harm reduction programs, not because such programs are ineffective but because these

programs run counter to the political culture in each country (Malinowska-Sempruch 2008, Williams and Ouellet 2010, Wodak and McLeod 2008).

Within our contemporary iteration of globalization, this example serves as a reminder that it is states that continue to dominate the global system. Although the global sphere is perceived as more supportive of the rights of marginalized peoples than national spheres; the global system is founded upon and structured to maintain the power of states. As a result, state resistance toward marginalized groups at local and national levels continues at global levels. As Dr. William Jonas AM, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Justice Commissioner, states:

It is important to note, however, that the World Conference is ultimately a meeting of UN member states. While participation and contributions from non-governmental organizations, National Human Rights Institutions, other UN agencies and affect groups such as Indigenous Peoples is being actively sought, at the end of the day it will be the governments of the world who will negotiate and commit to a program of action at the World Conference (2001, 38).

Chirif (2006) discusses the continuing dominance of the state system within global governance despite the widespread focus on globalization. He explains:

[W]hen one talks of globalization today, two errors are committed. The first is to believe that it is a recent phenomenon...The second consists of considering this as something that democratizes people's access to information and knowledge, when in reality it does none other than reproduce the unequal structures in which they are placed (21).

Drawing attention back to the power of states within existing global systems provides a counter point to much of the literature about civil society's influence within international, as compared with national, spaces. Soguk (2007) demonstrates how international spaces, founded on the power of states, continue to work to maintain the power of states:

Just as the movements of Indigenous peoples continue to pressure states and territoriality into the openness of transversality, resistance to them is most

manifest in sites that states still manage to dominate—formal structures and institutions. Through those institutions at both national and international levels, states still work to capture Indigenous lives while appearing to recognize their political and civilizational qualifications. The most prolific site, paradoxically, is the United Nations where intergovernmental efforts attempt to rein in indigeneity (16).

Soguk describes a number of strategies by states to avoid political recognition of Indigenous peoples, all of which begin by voicing support for Indigenous peoples and then: 1) Denying that any exist within one's own country (China, India); 2) Expressing the view that none of the provisions in the Declaration of the Rights of Indigenous Peoples should be considered legally binding rights (Japan, USA); and 3) Reinforcing state sovereignty, inalienability of national ownership of the land, diversity among citizens, and a concept of the public interest as limits on the practical applications of the declaration (Mexico, Argentina) (18). Using different methods, states continue to shape the response to the HIV epidemic, to determine who will and who will not be recognized in such deeply personal matters as one's gender and those with whom one chooses to form a family, to decide whether state interests in maintaining the status quo will win over scientific evidence about incarceration, drug use, and sex work. It is states that negotiate the language of political declarations and conventions. In the discussions regarding the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) that will set targets for states to meet to address global health issues and political, social, and economic inequities, civil society groups actively seek to sway governments toward the positions they feel are right. However, in the end, those who negotiate the language and will be the authors of the Post-2015 SDGs are governments.

Notwithstanding the continuing power of the state and related challenges for marginalized groups to influence global processes, other theorists argue that what is worse than state power and is the loss of state power. For these theorists, the current era is

[🍎 للاستشارات

characterized by, if not the withering away of the state, then its subduction.²⁷ As Colchester (2005) argues in relation to Indigenous Peoples, "[I]ronically, one of the most acute difficulties facing Indigenous peoples in this era of change comes from the withering away of the state, not its extension" (15). As multinational corporations increase their power, the state has decreased power to regulate business activities within its territory (due in large part to World Trade Organization agreements) and, in many cases, to provide human services (due to previous structural adjustment programs, debt, poor governance practices, and the effects of global financial strain). As a result of weakening states, in this view, Indigenous groups now lack clear pathways for lodging grievances or pressing for participation rights.

For Warren and Jackson (2002), both perspectives have an aspect of truth. While they disagree with Colchester's assessment that the state is weakening; they do not take on the question of whether the nation-state, historically less willing, is now also less able to provide the protections that are expected from a state. They argue:

The state remains a crucial focus of Indigenous activism because state politics continues to mediate the impact of global political and economic change on local communities. Despite economic globalization, it does not make sense to dismiss the state as irrelevant. Given the way states continue to repress Indigenous communities, such generalizations fail to capture the crosscurrents of change in late capitalism...the state has not withered... (12).

They do go on to conclude that "Indigenous struggles for greater autonomy are enacted within the pressured context of global capitalism, which makes the nexus of state and transnational affairs an important backdrop to the histories of activism..." (13). As

²⁷ Subduction is a geologic term that refers to the forceful covering up of one tectonic plate by another. The term is used here to recognize that the state continues to exist with some strength but under tremendous pressure from global trade agreements and multinational business interests. By contrast, Colchester (2005, 15) goes further, arguing that the current era of globalization is leading to the "withering away" of the state.

marginalized groups press for influence in decision-making, determining whether or not state-centric systems are likely to maintain enough power to ensure that any negotiated agreements take meaningful effect will be critical.

Even more complicated, however, is the final concern about global power dynamics. Marginalized groups seeking influence through participation in the global sphere may find that the system of state cooperation is more fragile than it initially appears. There can be an inverse relationship between civil society influence and the perceived legitimacy of global institutions by States. The result is that increasing representation of marginalized groups may cost legitimacy in the global system; thus, destabilizing the very system from which recourse is sought.

In the discussion in Chapter 4, one of the democratic benefits of increasing representation for those who are marginalized was the increased legitimacy that decisions would carry as a result. Indeed, after examining civil society participation in the governance of global health institutions, Abbott and Gartner (2012) conclude, "that direct participation would increase civil society contributions to environmental and other international institutions, especially along the dimensions of legitimacy, deliberation, and effectiveness" (25). However, looking at the structure of the global system, more specificity about this democratic benefit is needed. In fact, the increased legitimacy occurs primarily within the marginalized group and, perhaps, fellow nationals. It does not follow that legitimacy would increase among other groups. For example, increasing the number of African Americans in a U.S. legislature can result in an increased sense among African Americans that their government is attending to their concerns. Within the global system, greater inclusion of Indigenous Peoples or people living with HIV in decision-making would

likely also increase the legitimacy of the global organization within that group. However, marginalized groups do not provide the fuel on which the global system runs. Member states do. The increased legitimacy for those who are marginalized can come at a heavy cost. As Keohane (2002) explains:

If we recognize that powerful states pose the most serious threats to accountability in world politics, we will see that well-meaning efforts to demand "more accountability" from international organizations can be problematic. As I have argued, "more accountable" often means "accountable to NGOs and advocacy networks," rather than just to governments. Certainly some real benefits could result from making the WTO and the IMF more accountable to a wider range of interests and values. But we should be alert to the prospect that the political result of such a shift would be a reduction of states' interests in such organizations. If states get less benefit from international institutions, they will be less willing to provide resources and to accept demands on them, through these institutions, for accountability. The ultimate result of such well-meaning moves, therefore, could be a weakening of the accountability, limited as it is, that multilateralism imposes on powerful states (29).

For a theory of liberatory representation, a basic principle must be that the representation, at a minimum, leaves those who are marginalized no worse off than they would have been without this representation. If representatives of marginalized groups gain influence within global institutions, but global institutions lose their influence on states, then marginalized groups are likely to lose out overall. Instead, a reasonable balance will be needed that maintains the tensions of the current consensus system. While maddeningly difficult to find consensus across the different beliefs, and interests, of Member States, the stubborn commitment to negotiations until there is an agreement that every can accept is what maintains the unity and authority of the global system.

Counter strategies: Responding to global, state, and local challenges

People belonging to marginalized groups have developed counter strategies to respond to some of the obstacles they face when organizing and working to gain a political voice in decision-making processes. These counter strategies have included efforts to raise consciousness and build a shared political identity, to frame struggles in the language of human rights, to "leapfrog" over national level processes to the international system when national political systems fail them, and to ensure that they are represented in ways that they choose, even when not invited or allowed to speak.

Consciousness raising and political identity formation

Identifying problems as group problems, with political solutions, rather than as individual failings is a necessary component of community organizing work. Marginalized groups have taken this practice and used it to both raise political consciousness and develop a shared group identity in order to address shared problems. Following practices in line with Freire's (1970) concepts of critical paedagogy, both Indigenous Peoples and people living with HIV have formed collective "resistance identities" (Castells 1997). Resistance identities are based in the lived experiences of group members with attention to the structural violence and opportunities for agency that they experience. This framework for identity development opens up an analysis of the power relationships that shape their life conditions and provides a logic of hope that change, through resistance, is possible.

Based on interviews with members of Indigenous groups throughout Latin American, Brysk (2000) documents the development of a common Indian, or Indigenous, identify. In her interviews, common elements identified across different Indigenous Peoples are expressed, such as the shared experiences of colonization and dispossession of

land or finding that outsiders see members of your community as all the same. Brysk's interviews demonstrate the connections made by Indigenous leaders between their local situations and global issues. For example, she quotes pan-Amazon organizer, Evaristo Nugkuag, in 1993, discussing the effects that the 1980 Russell Tribunal had on him, "From international contact, I realized that my problem is politics—not folklore" (2000, 63).

Similarly, in studies of movements organized to respond to the HIV epidemic, Aggleton et al. (2003) document that, "Resistance identities quickly arise in response to stigmatization. All over the world, people with HIV/AIDS, both individually and collectively, have been at the forefront of efforts to challenge the negative social identities ascribed to them. They have been joined in their struggles by individuals and groups (including doctors, politicians, health care workers, teachers and academics) disturbed at the near exclusive portrayal of people with HIV/AIDS in negative terms" (12, see also Parker and Aggleton 2003).

Framing struggles in the language of human rights

Marginalized groups have learned to use human rights language to describe their circumstances and stake claims to the protections guaranteed within the language of these rights. For example, Brysk describes the way that some indignenous groups have defined local demands according to international standards (2000, 59). In this way, international standards become a source of power that is accessible to those at the margins. In fact, the work of many NGOs has come to involve translating international human rights language and standards into locally relevant language and situations (see, for example, Merry 2006, on how human rights norms against gender violence are translated for local advocacy and education). In the Common Ground meeting, described earlier, held by marginalized

populations affected by HIV, the language that was developed focused on human rights as the centerpiece of the advocacy agenda:

We agree on a human rights framework on all levels. Individually, by recognizing and building on human dignity and meaningful involvement, and also in approaching potential tensions and disagreements. As a movement, by looking at HIV in terms of 'health as a human rights movement' and grounding our language in the human rights entitlements of all human beings. This includes collective action to maintain rights at the heart of the movement and pushing a rights agenda in face of disease specific approaches.

(MSMGF 2010)

In August 2014, nine respected community-based organizations in the U.S. used this strategy to develop a report to the United Nations Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination titled, "HIV Criminalization, Poverty, and Health care Access – United States' Violations of the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination" (Int_CERD_NGO_USA_17737_E-3). Gathering data from multiple U.S. areas on racial disparities, criminalization, poverty and employment, and health care access, the coalition used the language of human rights and racial equality to systematically document the inadequacy of the U.S. government response to HIV. In their words:

The US government's response continues fail to recognize that high infection rates are due in part to a combination of unjust and uneven policies and laws that enforce racism, stigma, criminalization, and discrimination, thus hindering access to health...The above-listed organizations submit that this disparity – in part due to laws, policies and practices – continues to systemically discriminate against communities of color; increases vulnerability to HIV transmission and to stigma and discrimination following HIV diagnosis; and places people of color living with HIV at undue risk for criminalization and human rights violations.

These failures also represent a violation of the US' international obligations as a State Party to the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination (CERD)... (2).

Human rights language, human rights conventions, and the existence of a human rights monitoring body provided a new set of tools for analysis and a new venue for presentation.



Using these tools and this venue, oppressed groups dealing with racism and HIV in the U.S. and their supporters were able to characterize their struggles as matters of international concern and of human rights.

"Leapfrogging"

For decades, marginalized groups have adopted a strategy of organizing at local levels, then leapfrogging the state to advocate at international levels. From there, they have used their local foundations and international support to bring pressure to the national level. This leapfrogging approach is similar to the boomerang approach described by Keck and Sikkink (1998), but with one key difference. In Keck and Sikkink's study transnational civil society advocacy, people from outside the oppressed group played a critical role. Those directly facing oppression collected information about human rights violations and sent that information to concerned groups outside the country. The outside groups then publicized the information and directed popular and political pressure toward the offending governments. These external concerned helpers might, or might not, share common characteristics with the oppressed group and often did not. By contrast, in the Indigenous Peoples' and People Living with HIV movements, whether working at the local, international, or national level, all of the activists generally share an identity. In some cases, the same people work at the national and global levels, for example, former ACT UP member and current director of a housing and anti-poverty organization in New York City for people with HIV, Charles King, also serves on the governing board for UNAIDS. In other cases, there are different people working at each level, but all consider themselves part of the same identity group.



Guerilla representation: Visibility without invitations

Even when not excluded from participation, marginalized groups have found ways to make themselves present. These strategies include standing silently in visible areas in traditional dress, for Indigenous People, or in identifying clothing, such as the HIV Positive t-shirts worn by members of the Treatment Action Campaign in South Africa. These strategies have a storied history, arising from multiple locations of exclusion. This form of guerilla representation is the art of those who have no other means of influence. Selfrepresentation, in this way, has been practiced in annual days of mourning by Aboriginal Australians in Sydney (beginning in 1938), in the U.S. House of Representatives by the Mississippi Freedom Democratic Party seeking to be seated (in 1965), in the steps of Las Madres de Plaza de Mayo in Buenos Aires (beginning in 1977), and weekly protests at the Japanese Embassy in Seoul by the elderly South Korean women whose WWII slavery as "Comfort Women" for Japanese soldiers continues to be denied by Japan (1992). This insistence on having a presence by people otherwise excluded means that any representations of them that are put forward in decision-making bodies cannot occur in the absence of their own self-representation.

Summary

Political theorists anticipate a number of benefits and articulate a number of concerns the greater inclusion of representatives from marginalized groups as a remedy for historical and on-going exclusion. The benefits described are substantial: improved deliberations and better decisions, reductions in stigma and improvements in status for marginalized groups, increased accountability and legitimacy for decision-making bodies, and opportunities to seek recourse for state-level discrimination. At the same time, the

obstacles to a more liberatory politics for the excluded through inclusive representation are considerable. More inclusive representation processes, if not crafted skillfully, can exacerbate existing hierarchies, through replicating larger social inequalities within decision-making bodies and reinforcing relationships of domination and subordination that operate within groups. These challenges highlight the importance for marginalized groups to carefully examine whether, and how much, to press for representation compared with other courses of action to ensure meaningful attention to their needs. This is especially true given the structural violence under which marginalized groups must live and act. This structural violence is characterized by the inactivity of states when it comes to their positive rights (such as social protection and health programs) coupled with state enthusiasm for limiting civil and political rights (as seen by restrictions of freedoms of speech, association, and movement and the criminalization of people for their sexual orientation, gender identity, or HIV status).

Further obstacles to a liberatory politics of global representation come from the power dynamics within the global sphere. Marginalized groups seeking address state-level violations can be frustrated to find that states are in charge of global institutions, and that state sovereignty, not a more cosmopolitan democracy, is their underlying logic. What may be worse are situations where states are not in charge, and trade agreements and multinational corporations create a shadowy yet seemingly impermeable wall for anyone seeking information or attempting to create change. Even when marginalized groups are able to access the decision-making bodies within global institutions, inclusion comes with hard conditions. Although those who have been excluded seek representation precisely to be able to change the existing system, the structure of the system may leave them with one

hand tied behind their back. Because the global system is reliant upon cooperation among states that often disagree on fundamental issues, marginalized groups find they need to attempt to *persuade* states, carefully, to attend to their needs. Activities that press states to go too far beyond their zone of willing compromise threaten to disrupt the consensus-based system and can result in a loss of legitimacy for global institutions. Marginalized groups are caught between their urgency to realize changes in the human conditions of their communities and their need for the willing participation of states to make that happen.

Attention to these obstacles highlights a critical concern for a process of liberatory representation, namely that existing hierarchies of domination and subordination not be reinforced by the very processes intended to bring greater equality. Certainly, this concern should be sobering for proponents of descriptive representation, given the limited resources for all marginalized groups. It calls for a thoughtful examination in each case of when representation, versus activities outside of formal decision-making bodies, is anticipated to offer the best opportunities for meaningful change for the group.

Even so, many of these issues are structural concerns, and, as such, can be addressed to some extent through institutional design. If decision-making bodies are serious about inclusive representation for marginalized groups, then the representation structure can include seats for subgroups within oppressed communities and mechanisms to support their participation. The decision-making body cannot, by itself, end the structural violence experienced by marginalized communities, but it can commit to asking questions and listening carefully to determine the barriers to meaningful engagement and dignified ways to address those barriers. For example, meeting locations can be moved to

accommodate people who have been incarcerated and are unable to move freely; hotels can be pre-paid for people without a reserve of cash or credit; and funds can be offered to support community consultations and translations. Centering the process on the needs of representatives from marginalized communities, rather than simply continuing existing practices, can assist in reducing the effects of structural inequalities. For a liberatory politics of representation, marginalized groups will need careful consideration of the limits of state-centric institutions, such as the United Nations, for meeting their communities' goals. Understanding that powerful state and non-state actors control global fora is daunting and necessary for defining clear goals and strategies for change. Differential advocacy positioning, with strategies coordinated between those who are inside the decision-making body, those who are engaging with states and other government actors, and those who are outside in the hallways, sidewalks, and streets, creates possibilities for change that can push global institutions without pushing them over.



CHAPTER 6 THE STRUGGLE FOR THE RIGHT TO MEANINGFUL PARTICIPATION: INDIGENOUS PEOPLES AND PEOPLE LIVING WITH HIV

Introduction

In this chapter, I turn to two groups who have seen some success in gaining representation for their communities in global decision-making: Indigenous Peoples and people living with HIV and AIDS. Their stories demonstrate the many ways each group addressed issues of political domination and lack of state concern. The following discussion traces their separate histories as each group organized to develop a sense of identity that transcended local identities, to collaborate across national and regional borders, and achieved formal language calling for their right to participate in decision making that affects them and formal positions within governing bodies of global organizations.

Indigenous Peoples and people living with HIV have pursued separate paths to recognition and inclusion in global decision-making. Their starting points are different: with Indigenous Peoples joining together on the basis of tribal identity and generations of social customs, traditions and geography, as well as marginalization, violence, and trauma by settler and dominant societies; while people living with HIV join together on the basis of a common stigmatized health condition. These two groups are the focus of this project because of their relative successes in convincing the power holders in global institutions that their participation is critical for the legitimacy and success of initiatives that affect them. These initiatives include such wide-ranging areas as land use, economic development, international loans, institutional discrimination, cultural rights, policing, legal reform, education and language policy for Indigenous Peoples and health care systems strengthening, community-based health services, lesbian, gay, bisexual, and

transgender rights, women's rights, family law, gender-based violence, education policy, criminal law, policing, employment policies, prison and immigration policies for people living with HIV. These two groups, while different in history, composition, and culture, share the experiences of marginalization and of finding strength and resources to insist on a space of influence within global governance bodies.

At the same time, the groups are not mutually exclusive. Indigenous Peoples around the world have disproportionate rates of HIV infection as compared to non-Indigenous Populations and experience similar barriers to prevention, treatment, care, and support services as other marginalized people living with HIV (Gracev & King 2009). The International Indigenous Working Group on HIV and AIDS is a global network of Indigenous people living with HIV that seeks to "create an international voice and structure that links Indigenous peoples with their Indigenous leadership, varying levels of governments, AIDS service organizations, cooperatives, and others in a global collective action to lower the disproportionate impact of HIV and AIDS experienced by Indigenous peoples (IIWGHA 2015). Their understanding of the needs of Indigenous people living with and affected by HIV, together with work by Indigenous organizations and networks of Indigenous people living with HIV, such as the International Secretariat of the Indigenous and Afro-Descendants Peoples and HIV/AIDS, Sexuality, and Human Rights in Mexico or the INA—Maori, Indigenous, and South Pacific Islands HIV/AIDS Foundation in Aotearoa (New Zealand), demonstrates how multiple levels of marginalization affect health and wellbeing and how community, identity, and culture can provide resilience and strength. Despite articulating and exemplifying tenets of both movements, Indigenous people living with HIV

have to continually fight for recognition within both the larger Indigenous Peoples' and HIV/AIDS movements.

The following section describes some of the differences between these groups and some of the similarities in the ways in which Indigenous Peoples and people living with HIV found themselves positioned in a world shaped by state-level, regional-level, and global-level governing structures.

Differences between the groups

Within the Indigenous Peoples movement, identity – claimed or reclaimed – is central. Family generations – grandparents, parents, and children, share the identity. Indigenous identity is understood to be inherent and claimable by group members, even for those who did not previously identify as part of the group (see Eschbach 1993 and Nagel 1996 for examples from the U.S. census data before and after the Red Power Movement). There are local communities of people who all share the identity and work for its continuation. Visible membership in the group, whether through physical traits or open self-identification, can lead to a shared experience of discrimination. This discrimination reaches those who are not visible group members who see the treatment meted out to those who are.

In addition, Indigenous people share a long community history of trauma; with this trauma often hidden or rejected as significant by dominant, non-Indigenous, societies.²⁸

²⁸ See, for example, the outcry when a Maori academic in New Zealand described the decimation of her people as a genocide or holocaust (Dickson 2012). Yet, whether or not the Maori colonial experience is defined as a holocaust, the reality that intense trauma was inflicted by the British settlers is unquestionable. Pool (2012) reports that the 1890 Maori population was 40% of its 1810 size, with most deaths occurring between 1840 and 1890. Approximately 1% of the New Zealand Maori population was killed by muskets each year,



For Indigenous Peoples, trauma is multi-generational, with new generations of Indigenous Peoples affected not only by on-going racism and discrimination but also by the trauma survived by their parents and grandparents (see, among others, Ball, 2008; Evans-Campbell 2008; Walters et al. 2011). Indigenous Peoples have survived campaigns designed to destroy Indigenous identity, including campaigns of genocide, assimilation, removal from their land, and bans on language and expression as well as the stigma of being portrayed as culturally, linguistically, and developmentally inferior (see, for example, Varese 2010, 50). As a result, Indigenous communities work to reclaim a historic and current culture as a source of power and inspiration and positive self-identity and Indigenous Rights work focuses on poverty and development, political autonomy, land and resource use, migration, and maintaining strong cultural practices and communities (Varese 2010).

By contrast, the People living with HIV movement is a solidarity movement based on a stigmatized health condition. The movement focuses on community and self-empowerment and political agency in the face of fear, judgment, and disgust expressed by wider communities (see Siplon 2002).²⁹ Sean Strub, one of the leaders in the U.S. movement, has remarked, "This was the first time in history that people with a disease asserted their political voice in decisions that impacted their lives" (McCroy 2014). In

while another 6% died from infections. It is impossible to differentiate between deaths related to exposure to European diseases that were new to the Maori –which the Europeans could not have easily prevented once they arrived -- and deaths resulting from European activities of colonization: the poverty, crowding, lack of hygienic living conditions, and malnutrition that Maori experienced when they were forced from their lands.

²⁹ For English-language histories of the PLHIV Self Empowerment Movement in the U.S., see Callen 1990 and Callen and Turner 1997; in France, see Bosia 2005; in South Africa, see Treatment Action Campaign 2010; and in Australia, see Power 2011.

general, identity as people living with HIV coexists with multiple other group identities, with many of these identities also marginalized, such as those based on minority race or ethnicity³⁰, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity, or life experience.³¹ Often, identify as a person living with HIV is not a central identity except in moments of activism or support or when facing discrimination. Identity as a person living with HIV is rarely shared by family members, except when partners are both living with HIV or when children are born with HIV from a parent who is HIV-positive. As a result, people who contract HIV must generally learn to navigate the related stigma and discrimination without training or support from their families.

With the development of better medications, it is increasingly rare that physical traits make group membership visible. Therefore, to be part of the group, group members largely must self-identity. In the first decade of the epidemic, HIV was more visible to outsiders because of the physical marks created by wasting and opportunistic infections like Kaposi's sarcoma. Since 1996, and the advent of highly active anti-retroviral therapy (HAART), physical identifiers have been dramatically reduced³². The exception to this is lipodystrophy, a medication side effect from some medications in which body fat becomes

³⁰ Cathy Cohen (1999) demonstrates the barriers to the development of a self or community identity based on a marginalized racial identity (African American in Cohen's work) and a positive HIV status.

³¹ Relevant life experiences that may create further marginalization for people living with HIV might include incarceration, drug use or addiction, homelessness, poverty, or sex work. ³² Sean Strub (2014), longtime activist living with HIV and founder of Poz Magazine, argues that stigma has increased against people living with HIV as physical markers of illness have decreased precisely because it has become more difficult for those who are not HIV-positive, or those who do not know their HIV status, to identify those who are living with HIV.

distributed in unusual ways.³³ Many group members can choose to keep their positive HIV-status a secret; a choice that can protect them from discrimination but also limit the support and healthcare they receive and create intensified internalized stigma (Lee, Kochman, and Sikkema 2002; Physicians for Human Rights 2007; Zhang et al. 2014).

Like Indigenous Peoples, the movement of people living with HIV has been shaped by a history of trauma, violence, grief, and loss. However, this experience is quite different. While Indigenous Peoples have experienced generations of pervasive violence, constantly altering its form and finding new expressions, the HIV epidemic is much more recent. People living with HIV have varied experiences of trauma and grief. In Southern African, the region with the highest HIV prevalence, whole communities experienced multiple losses throughout the 1990s and early 2000s. The survivors continue to deal with the emotional and practical aftermath of an epidemic that killed parents, neighbors, children, friends, and fellow workers in their prime of life (Dow & Essex 2010, Nolen 2007). In other parts of the world, a person's experiences with grief and trauma depend largely on the extent to which that person identifies with other people living with HIV or with one of the groups that is disproportionately affected by the epidemic, such as gay men, transgender women, people who use drugs and their partners, and sex workers. Those who do not access social support with other people living with HIV--whether out of choice or the absence of such support--escape the grief of multiple losses. In return, they experience silence and stigma, and fear about their own health without role models who mirror back

ألم للاستشارات

³³ Lipodystrophy creates noticeable physical changes that are identifiable as illness to those who are not living with HIV; however, recognition that these changes are related to HIV infection is not widespread. As a result, people with lipodystrophy may be stigmatized or discriminated against based on appearance but without linking the physical changes to HIV specifically.

to them their worth and value (Lee et al. 2002, Limin et al. 2009). In countries where the epidemic has decimated gay communities, the trauma reaches back three decades for many survivors. These survivors may be HIV-positive or HIV-negative, men or women, LGBT or heterosexual. They developed resilience but also express feelings of unresolved and complicated grief and emotional distress (Sikkema et al. 2000; Mallinson 1999). In those same countries, women and heterosexual men living with HIV often report telling no one about their HIV diagnosis and frequently report symptoms of depression, isolation, and internalized stigma (Lee et al. 2002; Makin et al. 2008; Aljassem et al. 2014). Experiences of trauma for people living with HIV frequently pre-date their diagnoses and continue post-diagnosis (Kalichman 2004; Ollie et al. 2005; Matchinger et al. 2012)³⁴.

Similarities across the groups

Beyond the connections forged by those who are both Indigenous and living with HIV, the ways in which Indigenous Peoples and people living with HIV have found themselves situated in the contemporary world have created some common experiences as each group struggles for recognition and inclusion. Each group has found it necessary to forge a shared identity that connects members across a great number of different other identities and allows the framing of a common struggle. A sense of inherently shared

³⁴ Meta analysis performed by Matchinger et al. (2012) showed that women living with HIV in the U.S. have an estimated rate of recent post traumatic stress disorder of 30% and lifetime sexual abuse of 61%, both are more than five times the rate in non-HIV-positive women. They also had twice the rate of intimate partner violence (55% compared to 24.8%) and 58% experienced physical or sexual abuse as children, compared to 31.9% of non-HIV-positive women. Research by Kalichman et al. (2004) demonstrated that gay men who were survivors of childhood sexual abuse were more likely to be living with HIV and to experience violence in their intimate relationships. Ollie et al. (2005) have similar findings of high levels of trauma and post-traumatic stress disorder among newly diagnosed people with HIV in South Africa, and particularly highlight the role of intimate partner violence and rape as preceding traumas for women who are diagnosed with HIV.

identity existed for neither group initially. Most Indigenous Peoples have identified themselves by the specific nation, band, group, or name they give themselves rather than as part of one global community (Cornell 1990, Allen 2002). Further, colonized peoples faced government policies designed to forcefully assimilate them into the society of the colonizers and to divide them from other Indigenous peoples within the same territory (Sylvain 2002, Armitage 1995, Nagel 1996). As Dean and Levi (2003) point out, "the category *Indigenous* is an artifact of colonial encounter" (5, see also Carneiro da Cunha & Almeida 2000).

The common thread linking people with HIV into one group is no more than infection with the same virus. However, what might have been a tenuous connection was fortified by the health implications, social stigma, and legal discrimination that attached to that viral infection. As Schneider (2002), in her research on community and governmental responses to HIV, explains:

Until the mid-1990's, when "HAART" — highly active (triple) anti- retroviral therapy — became widely available in industrialised societies, AIDS was as much a death sentence for a white middle class gay man in New York or Cape Town as for a black working class woman in Kampala or Johannesburg. This unusual commonality of experience, at both the individual and the community level, between North and South, straight and gay, white and black, has facilitated bonds and forms of action across numerous of the classic social divides (157).

Identity in both cases was, to a great extent, initially forced by marginalization and repression and then taken on as a positive characteristic around which to develop shared bonds and to mobilize for change. For a global movement to emerge, a political consciousness of a shared identify based on a set of shared experiences and values had to be developed. Indeed, both groups share a conscious understanding that combining within

and across state boundaries could increase political power and wellbeing for the whole group.

A further shared challenge for both people living with HIV and Indigenous Peoples is internalized stigma and, for Indigenous Peoples, internalized colonization.³⁵ Organizing on the basis of a stigmatized identity is extremely challenging, especially when those who share the identity have the choice to hide it. The creation of a supportive movement that empowers group members and creates solidarity thus becomes essential to the political organizing processes.

In addition, each group exists across state boundaries and has been required to find methods of organizing that are not reliant on a shared geographical location. Indigenous Peoples and people living with HIV are found in every country of the world with connections that flow across state borders (Varese, 2010, 228). Within each group, a sense of common identity may be stronger across these borders than with others who share national citizenship. While the conditions of life for members of both groups are largely shaped by the state within which they live, or within which their territory is confined, the adoption of a political identity as Indigenous Peoples and as people living with HIV creates a sense of membership in a much larger community of people with a shared fate. Central to the creation of identities is the creation of what Manuel Castells (1997) has labeled "resistance identities." These contrast with the "legitimizing identities" that are "introduced by the dominant institutions of society to extend and rationalize their domination vis-à-vis social actors. Resistance identities, on the other hand, are those generated by those actors

ألم للاستشارات

³⁵ For more on internalized colonialism, Varese's (2010, 51) discussion of the "internalized colonizer's discourse," provides useful insights into internalized colonialism and Indigenous Peoples.

that are in positions/conditions devalued and/or stigmatized by the logic of domination" (Aggleton et al. 2003, 11-12).

A final commonality is found in the process of political organizing. For both groups, empowerment and mobilization have been largely self-directed and conducted with a noticeable lack of support from likely political allies. Describing Indigenous Peoples' organizing in Latin America, for example, Varese writes:

the new Indigenous movement experienced an ambiguous response from its presumed allies...A mixture of indifference, plain ignorance, misunderstanding and even antagonism accompanied the emergence of these organizations. From the perspective of the organized Left and populist parties...the small, fragmented, local and radical ethnic organizations were perceived as divisive, lacking the correct class analysis and, at best, as dangerous and disruptive" (2010, 224).

For people living with HIV, given the strong relationship between HIV infection and structural inequalities, natural political allies would be expected to be LGBT communities, feminist and feminist health organizations, and racial and ethnic minorities. However, despite the fact that movements of people living with HIV draw upon practices and activists from the U.S. civil rights movement, South African anti-apartheid struggle, women's movements, and gay liberation movements (Karim & Karim 2000, Robins 2004, Senterfitt 2014), support from these different groups overall has been unreliable (Androite 1999, Cohen 1999, Duberman 2014).

This lack of political support can best be explained by Cohen's (1999) framework of marginalization. Seeking to explain the unwillingness by African American leaders to engage in HIV advocacy in the 1980s and 1990s, despite sharply climbing infection and death rates within African American communities, Cohen posited that secondary marginalization, such as that experienced by African Americans, women, or LGBT people—



and those at the intersections of these groups -- who were also living with HIV is associated with lack of concern from group elites. In Cohen's interpretation, those with more political or social capital are reluctant to using their resources to assist those marginalized within the group – and this is particularly so when dominant groups in the larger society define these minorities-within-minorities as deviant (344).³⁶ The result is often predictable: instead of joining together, those with the most status and power in the minority group seek to distance themselves and the group from the negative stereotypes inflicted on those further marginalized within the group.

When discussing the common experiences of Indigenous Peoples and people living with HIV, it is critical to recognize that these are not mutually exclusive groups. Like other groups navigating poverty, marginalization, disruptions in living conditions, political and sexual violence, forced migrations, economic immigration, and lesser access to health services, Indigenous Peoples are disproportionately vulnerable to HIV infection. The discussion later in this chapter of the International Indigenous Working Group on HIV and AIDS (IIWGHA) demonstrates some of the ways that an Indigenous response to HIV has developed across borders, similar to the Indigenous Peoples' movements and movements of people living with HIV overall. Further, Indigenous HIV service organizations and networks of Indigenous people living with HIV can be found in a number of countries and regions, including the Canadian Aboriginal HIV/AIDS Network, the National Native American HIV/AIDS Prevention Center (United States), INA – Maori, Indigenous, and South Pacific Islands HIV/AIDS Foundation) and Te Roopu Tautoko Trust in Aotearoa (New

³⁶ Cohen (1999) demonstrates the same lack of support by those with more political power in the African American community toward welfare programs and the needs of poor single mothers (see pp. 343-344).



Zealand), ANA – Anwernekenhe National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander HIV/AIDS Alliance (Australia), International Secretariat of the Indigenous and Afro-Descendants Peoples and HIV/AIDS, Sexuality and Human Rights (Mexico), and Association for Research, Development and Global Education (IDEI) (Guatemala). These organizations seek to bridge the intersecting marginalizations people experience as Indigenous Peoples and as people living with and affected by HIV.³⁷

Indigenous Peoples and the Struggle for Representation

Perhaps the most succinct definition of Indigenous Peoples is a recent description used by the director of the INA (Maori, Indigenous & South Pacific) HIV/AIDS Foundation, Marama Pala, as "people who have a generational attachment to the land but have no political power over that land." As the first United Nations study of discrimination against Indigenous people found, definitions for Indigenous, aboriginal, native, and first nations people are complicated and vary widely (UN Doc. E/CN.4/Sub.2/1986/7/Add.4). The study report, labeled the "Study on the Problem of Discrimination against Indigenous Population" (hereafter, the Cobo Report) by United Nations Special Rapporteur José A. Martínez Cobo, provided a definition from by the World Council of Indigenous Peoples (UN Doc. E/CN.4/Sub.2/1982/2/Add.6.para 11):

[I]ndigenous peoples are such populations as we are, who from old-age time have inhabited the lands where we live, who are aware of having a character of our own, with social traditions and means of expression that are linked to the country inherited from our ancestors, with a language of our own, and having certain essential and unique characteristics which confer upon us the

³⁸ Communication from Marama Pala on the "Indigenous Position" to the NGO Delegation to the UNADIDS Programme Coordinating Board, 24 February 2014.



³⁷ List of organizations provided by Trevor Stratton, Coordinator, International Indigenous Working Group on HIV and AIDS (IIWGHA), 22 September 2014.

strong conviction of belonging to a people, who have an identity in ourselves and should thus be regarded by others.

In Chapter Five of the Cobo Report, five broad categories in general use by Indigenous Peoples and states when defining membership were examined: ancestry, culture, language, and group consciousness (UN Doc. E/CN.4/Sub.2/1982/2/Add.6). Ultimately, the Cobo report put forward the following, widely cited, definition of Indigenous Peoples (UN Doc. E./CN.4/Sub.2/1986/7/Add. 4.para 379):

Indigenous communities, peoples and nations are those which, having a historical continuity with pre-invasion and pre-colonial societies that developed on their territories, consider themselves distinct from other sectors of the societies now prevailing on those territories, or parts of them. They form at present non-dominant sectors of society and are determined to preserve, develop and transmit to future generations their ancestral territories, and their ethnic identity, as the basis of their continued existence as peoples, in accordance with their own cultural patterns, social institutions and legal system.

Of the 41 countries described in the Cobo Report, only Costa Rica included provisions formally allowing people who are of Indigenous descent to reclaim that identity even if they had sought to distance themselves previously. The Costa Rican government commented in the report that, "An Indigenous person never loses his status in his heart of hearts" (1982, 66). The Costa Rican government recognized that one effect of persistent stigma would be to seek to escape from association with the group and that, contrary to expectations in other countries, this is not a sign of progress but rather a signal of discrimination. Comments from the Costa Rican government included in the Cobo report stated: and

[W]hen a person who has considered himself to be Indigenous subjectively loses his Indigenous status, as in the case of some students or [persons engaged] in entrepreneurial activities who do not wish to feel inferior, because of a wrong understanding of the term <u>Indigenous</u> in that

environment. This change is not always final, because there are cases of 'Indigenous groups which have become acculturated but who, on becoming aware of the value of their own origins, demand to be considered as Indigenous groups, under the rights established in the existing laws, even though previously they preferred to be considered 'non-Indigenous.'

(Cobo 1982, 66-67, emphasis in the original)

Two decades after the Cobo Report, the United Nations appointed another Special Rapporteur, Miguel Alfonso Martínez, to conduct a further evaluation of the situation for Indigenous Peoples. The resulting report was published in 1999 as the "Study on Treaties, Agreements and Other Constructive Arrangements Between States and Indigenous Populations" (hereafter, the Martinez Report, UN Doc. E/CN.4/Sub.2/1999/20). The Martinez Report underscored the findings of the Cobo Report on the inequalities faced by Indigenous Peoples worldwide. Dr. William Jonas AM, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Justice Commissioner, summarized this report as demonstrating, first, that "almost without distinction, Indigenous Peoples across the globe are marginalised and severely disadvantaged in the nations where they live" and, second, that "not much of substance has changed for Indigenous Peoples since [the Cobo Report]" (Jonas 2001, 37). Indeed, in his introduction, Martínez writes of Indigenous peoples, "It is the precarious nature of their existence almost everywhere that is today provoking - as it did when Martinez Cobo's study was commissioned and completed - growing concern in the international community" (Martinez Report, E/CN.4/Sub.2/1999/20E/CN.4/Sub.2/1999/20, para 14).

The global movement for Indigenous rights arose from the combination of persistent discrimination and mistreatment – as documented in these UN reports and understood within the daily experience of Indigenous Peoples -- and a connection to a sense of human and collective dignity and a valuable cultural heritage. The movement is focused on the struggle "for principled change in the status and conditions of Indians as a

distinct cultural group" and includes "Indian organizations, non-Indigenous advocacy groups, and some individuals...who mobilize primarily to improve the position, autonomy, and participation of Indians in their societies and the international system" (Brysk 2000 69). While multiple groups, including many non-Indigenous organizations and individuals, participate in the Indigenous rights movement, leadership and advocacy by Indigenous people for Indigenous people are the focus of the following sections.

*Brief history of the movement*³⁹

Building on a history of resistance already 400 years old, the modern movements started in the 1950s, when Indigenous Peoples began organizing councils, working groups, and federations across different Indigenous nations with a focus on creating a shared national or regional voice. This organizing was conducted within a landscape shaped by loss of sovereignty and territory, discrimination by dominant ethnic groups, and the threat of annihilation of lives, communities, and cultures.⁴⁰ This organizing adopted the language of human, civil, and political rights and engaged in protest movements that mirrored strategies used by African Americans, women, and other liberation and anti-colonial movements.⁴¹

³⁹ Unless otherwise noted, the history of Indigenous Peoples movement for recognition and representation comes from the timelines compiled by Brysk 2000, Beier 2007, Soguk 2007, Dahl 2009, and Varese 2010.

⁴⁰ The threat of physical annihilation refers not to symbolic annihilation and not only to slow deaths from poverty and land dispossession, but also to the massacres and genocides in the 1950s and after, including in Guatemala in the 1950s and 1980s, and the 1968 Tlatelolco student massacre in Mexico.

⁴¹ Key differences existed in the desired outcomes, however, between Indigenous rights movements and civil rights movements by racial minorities and women on one hand and anti-colonial liberation movements on the other. Indigenous rights movements sought recognition of their sovereignty and fulfillment of treaty obligations where treaty relationships existed. Rather than autonomy, civil rights movements sought full equality

From 1956 to 1968, Indigenous Peoples in the north formed the Sámi Council in Norway, the Alaska Federation of Natives in the U.S., and the National Indian Brotherhood in Canada. In 1964, the first Latin American Indian Rights organization, the Shuar Federation, formed in Ecuador, followed, in 1967, by the creation by the Amazonian Amuesha people of Peru of the Amuesha Federation.

From the 1970s through the early 1990s, increased organizing occurred throughout the United States (the American Indian Movement or AIM), Colombia, Peru, Canada (Inuit Tapirissat), Asia-Pacific, Russia (Russian Association of Indigenous Peoples of the North or RAIPON), the Arctic (Arctic Council), Africa, and Brazil. In the 1970s, there were increased actions by Indigenous Peoples to protect their lands and claim rights, including the occupation of Alcatraz Island in the U.S. from 1969 to 1971, the James Bay conflict in Canada from 1971 to 1973, the Chinantec anti-dam movement in Oaxaca in 1973, the confrontation between AIM and the U.S. federal government at Wounded Knee in 1973 and Pine Ridge in 1975, and the Alta conflict from 1979 to 1981 in Norway in which the Sámi successfully protested against a hydropower development project expected to damage reindeer herds. North American Indigenous Peoples in the 1970s took their struggle to the United Nations in an unsuccessful attempt to gain recognition of their right to self-governance, while Canadian (1974) and Maori (1975) Indigenous People marched on their respective parliaments (Canada and Aotearoa/New Zealand) to demand attention to their

within the existing political structure. Like Indigenous Peoples, anti-colonial liberation movements sought sovereignty; however, the form of sovereignty available to them – and for which they fought – was a return to self-rule and removal of the colonial power from governance. As a result, after the civil rights movements and struggles against colonialism were successful, the people in those movements could expect the existing state to look out for their interests domestically and represent their interests internationally. An expectation that Indigenous Peoples have never been able to hold given the tension between their sovereignty claims and those of the states within which they reside.

concerns. Legal protections were won for individual and community land ownership for people of the Amazon in Peru in 1974. In 1986, the Miskito, Sumo, Rama, and Nicaraguan Creoles and the Sandinista government established an agreement on autonomy for the Atlantic Coast region of Nicaragua after armed struggle that lasted from 1981-1986. In Ecuador, Indigenous movements joined together and demonstrated their political power, in 1990, through successfully pressing the government to respond to a list of Indigenous demands and, in 1997, removing the president for corruption. In the Chiapas state of Mexico, the Zapatista movement gained worldwide attention on January 1, 1994 – the day that the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) went into effect -- when organized Indigenous people, naming themselves Zapatistas, took control of 6 cities in Chiapas. The Zapatistas brought attention to the Mexican government's neglect of Indigenous and rural people's needs, protesting the revocation of land reform and the adoption of neoliberal trade policies. Ultimately, the Zapatistas retreated back into the jungle areas and established highly effective processes for global communication, political autonomy over local matters, and a space for organizing for Indigenous people in Mexico (Stahler-Sholk 2007). In Bolivia in 2003, the Aymara and Quechua people were similarly successful in having the president, a proponent of neoliberal policies, removed. In January of 2006, the first Indigenous president of Bolivia, Evo Morales, was inaugurated.

However, history has not moved uniformly in the direction of increased recognition of Indigenous Peoples and rights. Setbacks to Indigenous rights were seen in Guatemala where a national referendum to support Indigenous rights was defeated (Warren and Jackson 2002) and in Mexico with the repeal of Article 27 which had guaranteed collective land ownership rights since the Mexican Revolution. Further, in 1997, Mexican President

Fox replaced the National Institute of Indigenous Affairs with a council with less power, which he named the National Council for Indigenous Peoples' Development, and, in 2001, he oversaw the passage of an anti-discrimination act which the Zapatistas had struggled for initially but which had its land ownership provisions so deeply diluted by the time it was passed that the Zapatistas argued against its adoption.

Global and regional organizing also increased in the decades from the 1970s through the 1990s. At the regional level, this included the convening of an Arctic Peoples' Conference in Denmark in 1973, the American Indian Movement's founding of the International Indian Treaty Council (IITC) in 1974, and in 1984, the establishment in South America of the regional organization, Consejo Indio de Sud America (CISA) and regional coordinating bodies from nine countries for joint advocacy and solidarity (named the the Coordinadora de las Organizaciones Indigenas de la Cuence Amazonica, or COICA), and the Cordillera Peoples' Alliance which included twenty-seven Asian Indigenous Peoples' organizations. In 1989, in Brazil, 48 regional groups comprising 140 separate Indigenous Peoples (estimated by Brysk 2000 to represent 180,000 people) created COIAB, the Coordinating Indigenous Organization of the Amazon Basin. Later, in 1992, CAPOIB was founded in Brazil, representing 101 Indigenous peoples. Beginning formally in the 1990s, Indigenous women organized meetings and conferences for solidarity and attention for their needs at the intersection of women's issues and Indigenous issues. Latin American Indigenous women organized the Latin American Indigenous Women's Conferences held in Peru in 1992 and Bolivia in 1994.

Globally, an International Conference of Indigenous Peoples, with participation from Indigenous Peoples from eighteen countries, was held in British Colombia, Canada in 1975.



At this meeting, the World Council for Indigenous Peoples was established, with a governing structure that ensured representation for five regions: North America, Central America, South America, Australia/New Zealand and the Arctic (Inuit and Sámi). The World Council for Indigenous Peoples met every three years for two decades, dissolving in the mid-1990s. In addition, two International Conferences of Indigenous Women were organized by Indigenous women in the 1990s. The first meeting was in Norway in 1990; the second held in Aotearoa (the Indigenous name for New Zealand) in 1993. In 1992, Indigenous Peoples united in an anti-quincentenary campaign, protesting the celebrations of European conquest of the Americas and promoting decolonization and an antiglobalization vision. In that same year, Rigoberta Menchú Tum became the first and only person to date to be awarded the Nobel Peace Prize for advocacy for Indigenous rights. Indigenous women from across the world coordinated for the Fourth World Conference on Women, held in Beijing in 1995, to make a strong call for systemic change in the world economic order and to insist, successfully, on the inclusion of Indigenous women throughout the outcome document (Beijing Declaration of Indigenous Women 1995; Report of the Fourth World Conference on Women 1995). Organizing and advocacy by Indigenous Peoples resulted in a resolution by the UN General Assembly naming the years 1995 to 2004 as the International Decade of the World's Indigenous Peoples (UN Res. 48/163), with the stated goals of creating partnerships between Indigenous Peoples, UN organizations, and states to focus on poverty and development, the environment, and human rights of Indigenous Peoples.

In the last two decades, the current landscape of global Indigenous organizing has developed, particularly shaped by the establishment of the United Nations Permanent



Forum on Indigenous Issues (2000) and the adoption of the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous People (2007). Recognizing that the goals for the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People's were not met, a Second International Decade of the World's Indigenous Peoples (2005-2014) was agreed by the UN General Assembly. The Second International Decade was given the theme, "Partnership for Action and Dignity," and the goal of implementing the UN Declaration of the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UN Resolution 59/174). The Global Indigenous Women's Caucus was established in 2001 and Member States of the United Nations agreed to hold a World Conference of Indigenous Peoples in 2014.

Involvement in International Institutions: the United Nations

Indigenous Peoples from different parts of the world have consistently identified themselves as sovereign nations and sought participation as such with the other nations of the world. However, their initial attempts to be included in global decision-making, dating back to the 1923 petition for recognition carried by the Chief of the Cayuga Nation to the League of Nations, were ignored or rebuffed (Telles 2007). The timeline of the relationship between the UN and Indigenous Peoples shows increasing effectiveness at the global level of Indigenous organizing, but within substantial constraints.

Before 1970, almost no meaningful support was expressed for Indigenous issues.⁴² Starting in the 1970s, violations against Indigenous peoples started to be included among other concerns relating to racism and discrimination. After further pressure by Indigenous peoples and activists, both Indigenous and non-Indigenous, the first specific attention to

⁴² One notable exception was the proposal by Bolivia in 1948 for a UN sub-commission to address the inequalities experienced by Indigenous peoples in the Americas (see Charters and Stavenhagen 2009). While receiving some support, the proposal failed to be adopted.

Indigenous peoples appears with the appointment of the Special Rapporteur, Martinez Cobo, and his report, presented in 1982.

From that time to the present, Indigenous Peoples have successfully pushed for institutionalized processes that define and protect their rights, in particular, to ensure their right to meaningful participation in all efforts related to their land and resources, and social, political, economic and cultural wellbeing. The Permanent Forum for Indigenous Issues, established in 2000, is one result of this activism. Other results with lasting significance include: the adoption of ILO Convention 169, stating that Indigenous Peoples have the right to actively participate in decision-making that affects them, in 1991; the establishment of the Special Rapporteur on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples in 2007; and the adoption of the UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples in 2008.

Nevertheless, Indigenous Peoples find the struggle for representation continues, even within the UN system. Indeed, in 2014, during preparations for the UN General Assembly high-level plenary meeting, named the World Conference on Indigenous Peoples, Indigenous Peoples launched multiple efforts to press for their meaningful involvement in the meeting named for them.⁴³ A World Conference of Indigenous Women was held in 2013 in Lima, Peru, with a focus on strategizing on shared principles to press for in the World Conference of Indigenous Peoples, Beijing +20 and post-2015 sustainable development goals (SDGs). Another preparatory meeting was held, attended by 600 Indigenous leaders

⁴³ This controversy is summarized in the previous chapter as an example of the obstacles to liberatory representation created by global power dynamics. It is described in further detail here to demonstrate the understandings held by Indigenous Peoples of their rights to participation and to provide examples of the ways in which human rights language is used to express these understandings.



from around the world, including members of the Global Indigenous Youth Caucus and the Global Indigenous Women's Caucus, in Alta, Norway, in June 2013. The Alta outcome document formed the basis for deliberations by Member States at the World Conference on Indigenous Peoples.

By January 2014, disappointment had set in. Despite agreements to the contrary in 2012, Indigenous Peoples saw commitment to their meaningful participation in the World Conference decline. In January 2014, noting the lack of Indigenous leadership in the meeting preparations, the three UN mechanisms (the Permanent Forum, the Special Rapporteur, and the Expert Mechanism) sent a joint letter to the President of the UN General Assembly calling for the appointment of an Indigenous leader, as agreed two years earlier, to co-lead efforts to organize the conference.⁴⁴

Instead of responding, the President of the General Assembly released an Aide-Memoire, in February, describing separate consultation processes for Member States and for Indigenous Peoples to determine whether representatives of Indigenous Peoples should be invited to co-facilitate. Indigenous Peoples' organizations responded with unified outrage. Letters were written to the President of the General Assembly from the co-chairs of the Indigenous Global Coordinating Group (GCG) and 66 supporting Indigenous individuals and organizations as well as from the Asia Indigenous Peoples' Caucus, 45 and the Latin American and Caribbean Indigenous Peoples' Caucus. 46 These letters decried any proposals that a co-facilitator representing Indigenous Peoples would not be required for

⁴⁴http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/unpfii/documents/wc/letter-to-pga-3-mech-jan2014.pdf

⁴⁵ http://www.aippnet.org/index.php/statements/1410-statement-from-the-asia-Indigenous-peoples-caucus

⁴⁶ http://unpfip.blogspot.com/2014/03/communique-to-john-ashe-president-of-un.html

the World Conference. Further outrage was expressed at the different rules proposed for Member States and for Indigenous Peoples: that the results of the Member State consultations would not be released to Indigenous Peoples, while the results of the consultations with Indigenous Peoples would be shared with Member States.

Citing the UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples and General Assembly resolution A/RES/66/296 (which established, in 2012, the guidelines for the organization of the World Conference), the GCG co-chairs, Hjalmar Dahl and Florina Lopez, wrote explicitly of the right to participation for Indigenous Peoples:

Your decision is not acceptable to us as it violates our right to participate in decisions that affect us on an equal basis with states. We are very concerned that our participation in this process is being severely curtailed making it untenable for us to continue to engage. In light of this, we would ask you to reconsider your decision in order to provide for the full, equal and effective participation of Indigenous Peoples.47

A statement released from the North American Indigenous Peoples' Caucus went a step further than the other letters and statements, calling for the cancellation of the meeting as a result of the unequal treatment of Indigenous Peoples laid out in the Aide-Memoire. The Caucus members wrote:

The North American Indigenous Peoples' Caucus operates from the foundational principle that every deliberation, decision or document, by any entity, that fundamentally affects us, our territories, our interests, or our future generations, must include our full, equal and effective participation. This principle applies no less to the decisions and organs of the United Nations than it does to any other entity...

Indigenous Peoples around the globe, including NAIPC, were clear that any such high plenary meeting would obtain the approval and participation of Indigenous peoples only if the condition of equal, full and effective participation by Indigenous Peoples was

المنستشارات للاستشارات

http://www.wcip2014.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/GCG-letter-to-PGA-4-March-20141.pdf

assured by the United Nations. The condition of equal and effective participation was particularly crucial regarding the drafting, production and dissemination of any outcome document that emerged from the $HLPM/WCIP.^{48}$

An Aide-Memoire sent out at the end of February indicated that the decision to hold separate processes, and refusal to appoint an Indigenous co-facilitator, were based on resistance from Member States in two of the five UN regions – not identified – who refused to participate if Indigenous Peoples were treated as equals to member states.⁴⁹ Ultimately, the World Conference took place with only Member States holding rights to participate in the deliberations, although two Indigenous "advisors" were included in the meetings. Despite providing the Alta document, which formed the basis for Member States deliberations during the World Conference, key recommendations by representatives of Indigenous Peoples were not included in the Outcome documents. Central among these were recommendations for full and equal representation at the UN and veto power regarding issues that affect Indigenous Peoples (Gilio-Whitaker 2014).

UN Mechanisms for the Engagement and Rights of Indigenous Peoples

There are three UN mechanisms with mandates to promote and monitor the protection of the rights of Indigenous Peoples. The first mechanism is the Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues, created as an advisory council to the Economic and Social Council in 2000. The other two mechanisms receive their mandate from the Human Rights Council: the Special Rapporteur on the rights of Indigenous peoples, appointed by the High

⁴⁹ http://wcip2014.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Aide-memoire-of-PGA-26-Feb-2014.pdf



⁴⁸ http://www.culturalsurvival.org/news/naipc-calls-cancellation-united-nations-world-conference-Indigenous-peoples#sthash.R2XAQAa0.dpuf

Commission on Human Rights in 2001, and the Expert Mechanism on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples created by the Human Rights Council in 2007.

The three UN mechanisms have different mandates but consult one another and coordinate efforts to press for inclusion of Indigenous peoples in decision making, particularly within UN initiatives, draw attention to rights violations of Indigenous peoples, and promote Indigenous rights.

The Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues (Permanent Forum)

The Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues was created by the United Nations Economic and Social Council in 2000 (Resolution 2000/22). The Permanent Forum is mandated to: educate and raise awareness of Indigenous issues; to assist organizations throughout the UN system to coordinate work on Indigenous rights; and to provide ECOSOC and the UN more broadly with advice and recommendations. The Permanent Forum has sixteen members: eight are elected by Indigenous people from seven regions: Africa; Asia; Central and South America and the Caribbean; the Arctic; Central and Eastern Europe, Russian Federation, Central Asia and Transcaucasia; North America; and the Pacific. These regions are different from the usual regions used by UN and were crafted to support representation by Indigenous Peoples in a way that recognized socio-cultural similarities, which fall differently for people of Indigenous origins than current state boundaries allow. Each region elects one representative and the first three regions alternate to select one additional floating representative. The other eight representatives are selected by UN member states from the five UN regions: Asia, Africa, Latin America and the Caribbean, Eastern Europe, and Western Europe and Other States. Since the establishment of the Permanent Forum, the Member States in four out of the five regions

have taken turns sending, alternately, one or two representatives from their regions. The Western Europe and Other States region have always sent two representatives for each term.

The Special Rapporteur on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples

This office was first commissioned by the Human Rights Council in 2001 (Human Rights Council Resolutions 6/12 and 15/14) and has been consistently renewed since, with the latest renewal in 2007. Current areas of focus are the status of Indigenous Peoples in each region and extractive industries and Indigenous Peoples. The mandate of the special rapporteur is:

- a) To examine ways and means of overcoming existing obstacles to the full and effective protection of the rights of Indigenous peoples, in conformity with his/her mandate, and to identify, exchange and promote best practices;
- b) To gather, request, receive and exchange information and communications from all relevant sources, including Governments, Indigenous peoples and their communities and organizations, on alleged violations of the rights of Indigenous peoples;
- c) To formulate recommendations and proposals on appropriate measures and activities to prevent and remedy violations of the rights of Indigenous peoples;
- d) To work in close cooperation and coordination with other special procedures and subsidiary organs of the Council, in particular with the Expert Mechanism on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, relevant United Nations bodies, the treaty bodies, and regional human rights organizations.

The Expert Mechanism on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples

The Expert Mechanism on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, a five-member expert panel, was created by the Human Rights Council in 2007 (Resolution 6/36) with a mandate for conducting and compiling research relevant to the rights of Indigenous peoples. Members of the Expert Mechanism are appointed by the Human Rights Commission, selected for geographical diversity with the requirement to attempt to ensure representation by Indigenous people and gender equity. Although the criteria do not require the members be Indigenous, from the first appointments in 2008 through 2014, ten of the eleven expert members have been of Indigenous descent. All of the expert members appointed since 2011 have been Indigenous.

Indigenous Peoples and International Human Rights Instruments

Two human rights instruments are fundamental to the current status accorded to Indigenous Peoples in global bodies: ILO Convention 169 and the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP). ILO Convention 169 was established in 1989 and came into force in 1991. The UNDRIP was adopted by the UN General Assembly in 2007. Four countries -- Australia, Canada, New Zealand, and the U.S. – votes against the UNDRIP in 2007 (and eleven abstained); however, all four countries had reversed their previous position and adopted the UNDRIP by 2010. The chief differences between the two are their legal nature and the level of state support. As a convention, ILO Convention 169 is binding on states that ratify it. This gives it stronger legal standing than the UNDRIP which, as a declaration, has no binding authority on states. The stronger legal standing of ILO Convention 169, however, is somewhat offset by the small number of states that have adopted it. The UNDRIP, albeit with weaker legal standing, enjoys the support of

the UN General Assembly while only slightly more than 10% of UN member states have ratified ILO Convention 169.

The biggest questions regarding the status of Indigenous Peoples have revolved around whether or not Indigenous Peoples are considered a "people" according to international norms and are, therefore, due a higher level of consideration for their claims. The UNDRIP has the last word, to date, using the terms "peoples" throughout; then, in Article 46, defining down that term so that it no longer appears to include rights to self-governance, autonomy, and sovereignty.

ILO Convention 169

The Indigenous and Tribal Peoples Convention, ILO Convention 169, was adopted in 1989 and came into force in 1991. Martin Nakata, Chair of Australian Indigenous Education at the University of New South Wales, describes the convention in democratic terms that speak to Dworkin's call for equal respect and concern for subordinate groups. For Nakata, this convention is the first to be "based on the concepts of respect for the enduring nature of Indigenous and Tribal Peoples and on their right to participate in the decision-making process as it affects them in the country in which they live" (Nakata 2001,17). Convention 169 requires non-discrimination for Indigenous Peoples, safeguards for people, property, lands, and cultures, and the right to participate in decisions that affect them and in broader public governance of the country in which they live. This convention is legally binding on the countries in which it has been ratified. However, as of 2015, this included only twenty-

⁵⁰ The ILO Convention does not include a representation requirement, such as, for example, that Indigenous Peoples have representation in ILO governance.



two countries: fifteen in Latin America, four in Europe, two in Asia-Pacific, and one in Africa.⁵¹

The United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples

The UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, adopted by the General Assembly in 2007, contains provisions that relate to autonomy and authority for Indigenous Peoples to make decisions for themselves. The articles contain language supporting the right to self-determination and autonomy (Articles 2 and 3), including to "maintain and develop their own Indigenous decision-making institutions" (Article 18) although Article 3 limits this to "internal and local affairs" and the ability to raise funds. Further provisions charge states with ensuring the protection of Indigenous Peoples' rights to select and work through their own representatives and representative institutions and to provide "free, prior, and informed consent" before any activities or legislation that affect them, in particular, issues having to do with their lands, including relocation, taking of land or cultural, religious or intellectual property, and storage of hazardous waste on Indigenous lands (Articles 11, 19, 28, 29, and 32). In particular, Article 32 details the requirement for free, prior, and informed consent:

States shall consult and cooperate in good faith with the Indigenous peoples concerned through their own representative institutions in order to obtain their free and informed consent prior to the approval of any project affecting their lands or territories and other resources, particularly in connection with the development, utilization or exploitation of mineral, water or other resources.

⁵¹ The countries that ratified ILO Convention 169 as of 2015: Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Central African Republic, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Denmark, Dominica, Ecuador, Fiji, Guatemala, Honduras, Mexico, Nepal, Netherlands, Nicaragua, Norway, Paraguay, Peru, Spain, Venezuela. See http://www.ilo.org/ilolex/cgi-lex/ratifce.pl?C169 for a regularly updated list of ILO conventions and state ratifications.



After ILO Convention 169 and the UNDRIP: The Status of Indigenous Peoples

Marcus Colchester, anthropologist and senior policy advisor with the Forest Peoples Programme, argues that the "third generation' of international human rights law [has] significantly modifie[d] the way the international human rights regime is seen as applying to indigenous peoples" (2011, 20). Summarizing the current state of Indigenous Peoples' rights, Aguilar et al. (2010) note the lack of international consensus on the rights that Indigenous Peoples can claim against states. Even so, they describe what they view as a minimum set of rights that Indigenous Peoples can claim as a result of ILO Convention 169 and the UNDRIP:

[I]t is possible to build a framework of minimum standards for the rights of Indigenous peoples through the use of international human rights instruments, including ILO Convention No. 169 and the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples" including the "rights to non-discrimination, self-determination, cultural integrity, property, use, control, and access to lands, territories, and resources, and to the development, participation, and social well-being, constitute the essential elements of the international standard of Indigenous peoples' rights (91).

Colchester (2011) identifies a similar set of rights:

[I]nternational laws very firmly uphold the principle that indigenous and tribal peoples derive their rights in land from custom and their close ties with their lands. Such rights obtain independent of the actions of the States, which they may in any case predate. International conventions are also explicit that indigenous peoples have the right to exercise their customary law, to self governance and to represent themselves through their own representative institutions (20).

Dahl (2009) describes the change in the international environment after the adoption of ILO Convention 169 and the approval of the Draft Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples in sweeping terms: "the status of Indigenous peoples changed from being objects to being subjects of international law" (20).

People Living with HIV and the Struggle for Representation

UNAIDS estimates⁵² that there were over 35 million people living with HIV in 2013.⁵³ In 2013, 1.5 million people died of AIDS, a number that has been in decline since 2005. New infections have declined since 2001; nevertheless, there were 2.1 million new infections among adults and 240,000 among children in 2013 (UNAIDS 2014a). Reflecting a new optimism, after clinical trials that demonstrated that newly infected people can expect to live an almost normal lifespan (Nakagawa et al. 2012) and that people on effective treatment have little to no risk of transmitting HIV to others (Cohen et al. 2011), the director of UNAIDS, Michel Sidibé, has called for an end to the epidemic by 2030 (UNAIDS 2014b).

Yet serious issues remain that have the potential to derail efforts to end the epidemic. To take one example, ending the epidemic requires access to medication. However, access is an on-going problem for people living with HIV. In 2014, 38% of adults and 24% of children with HIV who needed medication had access to it. Without medication, almost everyone with HIV dies within four to ten years. The biggest determinant of access to medication for a person with HIV is the country in which he resides. The lowest levels of treatment access are seen in Madagascar, where the percent

ألم للاستشارات

⁵² Based on reports from UN Member States.

Feople living with HIV" is the preferred terminology for people who have the Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV). While the term refers to anyone who has HIV, whether or not they have been diagnosed, it is usually understood to mean those people who have HIV and who know it. This terminology and the movement of people with HIV were both established in Denver, in 1983, when a small group of men, all living with AIDS themselves, wrote a set of principles for people with AIDS and those in communities with and providing care for people with AIDS. In the "Denver Principles," they declared, "we are not victims, we are only occasionally patients, we are people with AIDS" (People with AIDS Advisory Committee 1983).

of people living with HIV who need medication and are able to access it is approximately 1%. Madagascar is one of thirteen countries across Asia (primarily in Central Asia, but also in the southern, western, and eastern parts of the region), Eastern Africa, and the Middle East where fewer than 20% of people who need HIV medications are able to access them. At the other end of the spectrum is Cuba, followed by five more countries, all in the Caribbean and Sub-Saharan Africa, who provide access to more than 90% of their populations who need them.

Access to medication is further correlated with being adult, heterosexual, cisgender,⁵⁴ of a dominant racial group, living in one's country of origin and with no history of drug use, sex work, or imprisonment (NGO Delegation 2013). In other words, people who are marginalized in multiple ways, in addition to HIV status, have less access to lifesaving treatment. A report by the NGO Delegation to the UNAIDS governing board highlights two examples of this "equity deficit" faced by key affected populations⁵⁵ in relation to treatment:

[I]n Swaziland, a country which has successfully achieved coverage of 87%, only 33% of [gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men] living with HIV receive ART. In the European region where PWID [people who inject drugs] represent 59% of people living with HIV, World Health Organization studies demonstrate that this community constitutes just 21% of the total number actually receiving ART (NGO Delegation 2013, 4).

⁵⁴ Cisgender refers to people who identify with the gender that they were assigned at birth. ⁵⁵ The phrase "key affected populations " is generally used to refer to groups that carry a disproportionate burden of HIV infections and that have a low social status. This low social status is seen as creating increased risk for HIV and decreased concern by governments for the lives of people in these groups. Although there are some differences in the populations referred to by this phrase, key affected populations are generally understood to include gay and bisexual men and other men who have sex with men, transgender women, people who use drugs, sex workers, and people who are incarcerated. Other populations sometimes included are women, children and adolescents, refugees, migrants, and internally displaced people, and Indigenous Peoples.

Similar gaps exist for gay men, particularly young gay men, transgender people, and sex workers across the world's regions (The Global Forum on MSM and HIV 2012; WHO, UNICEF & UNAIDS 2013; NGO Delegation 2013). A research report based on the experiences of gay men and transgender people in Southern Africa concluded:

[W]hile the global conversation focuses on novel approaches to HIV treatment and prevention, GMT [gay men and transgender people] struggle to obtain the most basic health services. They are isolated, criminalized, blackmailed, and beaten ... Real efforts to increase donor and national government engagement in preventing and treating HIV infection among GMT must include comprehensive human rights programming that addresses stigma and discrimination" (The American Foundation for AIDS Research (amfAR) & Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, 2013).

Based on an interview with Ruth Morgan Thomas, global coordinator of the Global Network of Sex Work Projects, the NGO Delegation wrote, "in countries such as Namibia, which report 91% coverage, there is strong anecdotal evidence that sex workers chose to die rather than face persecution at government ART clinics" (NGO Delegation 2013, 5).

It may seem odd that one of the two major movements for global recognition comes from a group of people united by a medical condition. Unlike the situation for Indigenous Peoples, most people living with HIV are not born into the group. While many people living with HIV share other group affiliations, for example, gay men, overall, many different communities are affected; communities made up of individual people who might never cross paths if they did not share an HIV diagnosis. Adding to the complexity, one's life chances for surviving and achieving a measure of health are dramatically different from one region of the world to another. This would seem an unstable basis for a movement, and makes the success people living with HIV have seen in gaining global recognition particularly puzzling. What similarities exist that have allowed people living with HIV to

weave their different life experiences into one organized community capable of gaining the attention and support of global institutions and organizations?

Two shared circumstances have created the fundamental motivations for this movement: first, the stigma and discrimination faced by people who test positive for HIV; second, the outcome when treatment is not accessible. Stigma, discrimination, and death became unifiers. Nussbaum's (2010) description of the workings of the emotion of disgust is instructive. She demonstrates how disgust has operated – and been manipulated --politically to paint gay men as less than human, thus deserving of restrictions on their rights. Nussbaum links the feelings of disgust that are raised toward gay men with revulsion toward HIV and AIDS in general. Other research documents hierarchies of sympathy, within which some people who test positive for HIV, such as married women and newborn children, are considered sympathetic, or innocent, as compared to others, such as gay or bisexual men, unmarried women, people who use drugs, or sex workers, who are considered guilty or deserving of infection (Fassin 2013).⁵⁶

Stigma is difficult to avoid for people with HIV. HIV is a disease that, early in the epidemic, was associated with marginalized groups – gay men, in particular, also people who use drugs and Haitians. Over time, they and other marginalized communities, including poor people everywhere, have continued to bear the brunt of infections. This has created a situation in which a disease that affects marginalized people was and continues to

⁵⁶ d'Adesky (2004) compares the public reactions to SARS and HIV, concluding that the responses are dramatically different. In her analysis, people fear SARS because they fear infection, but "it is not linked to a moral judgement of human behavior". Further, d'Adesky argues that, "SARS was a matter of concern to all citizens, while AIDS is still viewed by many as a disease that is punishment for a sexual or other transgression from the social norm" (13).



be considered a judgment on their lives; whoever tests positive for this illness becomes guilty by association simply for have a disease associated with disliked groups. To some extent, people with HIV can make a choice to hide their diagnoses. Keeping the diagnosis secret could allow a person to avoid stigma, since the condition does not become obvious until one is ill and the course of illness can appear similar to other diseases. This choice for avoiding stigma, however, is difficult to survive. Mobilizing to address mistreatment based on HIV status became a way for many people to fight to stay alive.

The impossibility of escape from death was an early motivation for the civil society response among people living with and affected by HIV. Within North American and Western Europe, this response was led largely by gay men with the support of lesbians and others. Without change, gay men faced their own deaths, the deaths of lovers, and of whole communities. Lesbians, generally not HIV-positive themselves, faced the loss of gay male friends and community members and the rising hostility toward lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender people as many heterosexuals failed to distinguish between these groups in their newfound anxiety about AIDS and on-going anxiety about sex and gender roles.

The medications that currently keep people with HIV alive were first developed and made available in 1996. Because medications were only available for those individuals and countries that could afford them, the need for treatment, and, thus, survival, continued to motivate movements of people living with HIV. The best known of these movements was in South Africa, where people living with HIV started the Treatment Action Campaign in 1998 and worked with other community-based organizations to successfully fight both

pharmaceutical companies and President Thabo Mbeki's⁵⁷ government through legal action and public protests (Treatment Action Campaign 2010). These struggles continue through the current time as movements of people living with HIV in Thailand, Malaysia, India, Vietnam, Kenya, Guatemala, South Africa, South Korea, Brazil, the UK, Nepal and others organize to fight against Free Trade Agreements between their country and the U.S., Europe, or Japan that include "TRIPS-plus" provisions (Weissman 2006, Bhardwaj 2012). These provisions limit countries' rights to provide generic medications for public health reasons --rights guaranteed in the 1995 Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS) agreement and confirmed in the 2001 Doha Declaration (Farmer et al. 2013, Bhardwaj 2012).

Brief history of the movement⁵⁸

The global movement of people living with HIV emerged in a more centralized manner than the global movement of Indigenous Peoples. For generations, Indigenous Peoples had organized resistance to colonialism and discrimination as individual sovereign nations and as networks and coalitions within national boundaries. The movement for recognition as one group of people at the global level emerged over time. For the HIV/AIDS movement, the urgency to address human rights abuses and access life saving treatment, in a time of increasing global communications and technologies, meant that the movement of people with HIV emerged in a different context and with different imperatives.

⁵⁷ Mbeki's government was infamous for its embrace of "AIDS denialism," a conspiracy theory that holds that HIV does not cause AIDS and that HIV medications are deadly and the cause of AIDS-related mortality. Mbeki's refusal to provide HIV medications to people with HIV in South Africa is estimated to have led to 300,000 avoidable deaths. For further information, see Chigwedere et al. (2008).

⁵⁸ History of the global organizing of people living with HIV provided by Julian Hows, personal correspondence, June 21, 2013.

Coordination across countries began early, largely through friendships and the existing gay liberation networks. In some cases, global coordination happened simultaneously with the development of national networks.

The movement of people living with HIV is considered to start with the Denver Principles, articulated by a group of people with AIDS⁵⁹ in Denver, Colorado in 1983. This statement called for an end to discrimination, protection of human rights, and the right for people living with AIDS to be involved in the decisions made for them (People with AIDS Advisory Committee 1983). That year, groups of people living with AIDS started organizations in the U.S. (the National Association of People with AIDS) and England (the Terrence Higgins Trust).

The first international meeting of people living with HIV occurred in 1987 in London with approximately 50 participants, primarily from across Western Europe. The idea to hold the meeting came from Dietmar Bolle, a nurse specialist who was HIV-positive. The participants focused on self-empowerment, sharing information and networking. These meetings were renamed the European Meetings for People with HIV/AIDS, then renamed again in late 1990, when networks of people living with HIV in North America, Latin America, and the Caribbean organized themselves and joined the European networks in an International Steering Committee.

In 1990, the first meeting that included participants from multiple regions took place in Spain, with 550 people living with HIV in attendance, coming from 42 countries in Africa, Latin America, the Caribbean, the Pacific Islands, North America, and Europe. This

⁵⁹ People were called "people living with AIDS," rather than the "people living with HIV," at that point in time. HIV was not identified until 1985.

meeting focused on highlighting the diversity of people living with HIV and on giving visibility to people from low income countries, people who inject drugs, and women.

Within a few years, regional networks of people with HIV developed around the world and affiliated with the International Steering Committee. In 1992, the International Steering Committee changed its name to the Global Network of People Living with HIV (GNP+). The next year, women living with HIV, including the chair of GNP+, formed a women's organization, the International Community of Women Living with HIV (ICW). From 1994 to 1997, regional networks of people living with HIV organized in Africa (NAP+), Asia (APN+), Latin America (RedLA), North America (GNP+NA),GNP Europe, and the Caribbean (CRN+).

Annual international meetings of people living with HIV took place from 1987 to 1991. The 1992 meeting was postponed after the death of Dietmar Bolle. From 1993 until 2003, meetings took place biennially. The 2005 meeting was canceled after sufficient funds could not be raised. The international meetings were held again in 2008 in Mexico City and 2012 in Washington D.C., organized by a newly-developed Living with HIV Partnership which included GNP+, ICW, UNAIDS, the International AIDS Society and other international organizations and local host partners.

In 2006, GNP+ led a consultation effort with networks of people with HIV around the world to develop a Global Advocacy Agenda for people living with HIV. The agenda was updated in 2008 and 2012 through a series of regional and web-based pre-consultations and during the international meetings in Mexico and the U.S. The 2012 Global Advocacy Agenda is organized around three pillars: universal access to HIV treatment, care, and support; the human rights of people living with HIV, including addressing stigma and

discrimination, travel restrictions, criminalization, and privacy violations; and community mobilization and organizing to build leadership and ensure the continued meaningful involvement of people living with HIV in the epidemic response (People Living with HIV Global Advocacy Agenda 2012).

Starting in 2008, GNP+ shifted its focus to community-level research and began to support country-level networks of people living with HIV to gather evidence on stigma and discrimination, human rights violations, and the meaningful involvement of people living with HIV in the national responses. People with HIV were trained in the use of evidence for advocacy and programs and supported to use the evidence they gathered. GNP+ began to compile evidence from multiple countries at the global level to use for global advocacy. Further adoption of the principle that the people most affected should be at the center of rights movements and decision-making is seen in the launch of multiple networks of populations affected by HIV.

Since the early 1990s, there has been increased organizing by key population groups. The result is an interlocking set of networks with overlapping memberships in some cases. In 1991, the International Indigenous Working Group on HIV/AIDS first met and began work to raise attention to the needs of Indigenous Peoples living with HIV. The Canadian Aboriginal AIDS Network (CAAN) was selected by the other members to host the IIWGHA and lead the global advocacy efforts. One member organization, INA--the Maori, Indigenous, and Pacific Island HIV/AIDS Foundation, describes the efforts within the Working Group to ensure meaningful inclusion for all Indigenous Peoples living with HIV, giving an example from their organization that has adopted the commitment that "Kaupapa"

Maori (inclusiveness based on race, age, gender, sexuality)" be at the center of all policies (INA 2013).

In the Middle East and North Africa, the Regional/Arab Network against AIDS (RANAA) was established in 2002 to combine NGO efforts from 14 countries; establishment in 2010 of MENA Rosa, a network of women living with HIV in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region. Members come from Morocco in the west to Iran in the east to Djibouti in the south. The group members named themselves after U.S. civil rights hero, Rosa Parks. In their words:

MENA-Rosa is a group of women who will work for the rights of women working for dignity and love. The name of the network originates from MENA [Middle East and North Africa] for the region, and Rosa as the first black woman on a bus in the US who refused to give up her seat to a white man, starting the civil rights [movement] for black Americans. Rosa is also a feminine symbol. Our friend Zouheira started this process in Algeria seven years ago, as the first woman to raise her voice. She demonstrated to us, by her courageous actions, that we are able to have a group and to raise our voices as well. Our objectives are numerous, as we find that the particular needs of women are, in fact, different from men's, i.e., sexual and reproductive health, children and families. The outcome would be to impact the health of the woman and her family in the MENA region.

(UNAIDS 2012, 6)

The Global Forum of Men who have Sex with Men was established in 2006. MSMGF which brings together gay and bisexual men and other men who have sex with men, advocates, and researchers to bring attention to the needs of gay men around the world and fight for their health and human rights.

The International Network of People who use Drugs was organized in 2006 to bring a voice to people who use controlled substances. They seek decent treatment and humane responses for people who use drugs and harm reduction approaches to drug policy. The



right to participation by people who use drugs in the HIV response is included in one of their founding principles:

To provide support to established local, national, regional, and international networks of people living with HIV/AIDS, Hepatitis and other harm reduction groups, making sure that active drug users are included at every level of decision-making, and specifically that we are able to serve on the boards (of directors) of such organizations and be fairly reimbursed for our expenses, time and skills (Vancouver Declaration 2006).

In July 2012, during the Sex Worker Freedom Festival in Kolkata, India, the Global Network of Positive Sex Workers and the Asia Pacific Network of Positive Sex Workers were founded to fight for treatment access and for the rights of HIV-positive sex workers. Their platform demands included: "the right to look fabulous - to do this we need better and affordable HIV drugs now;" the right to work as sex workers as well as in any other industry; an end to free trade agreements that limit access to generic medications in poor countries; to "not to be last in line for treatment or refused treatment because we are sex workers" (Tully 2012).

Involvement in International Institutions and Organizations: the Joint United Nations

Programme on HIV and AIDS and the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria

In 1994, the member states of the United Nations created the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) to lead global efforts to address the epidemic. The leadership of this agency is different from any other at the UN in that its governing body, the Programme Coordinating Board, includes five civil society delegates alongside delegates from twenty-two member states (on a rotating basis) and the eleven

cosponsoring organizations from within the UN.⁶⁰ Only the member states have voting rights on the board; however, decisions are made by consensus in practice. As stated in the Terms of Reference for the Programme Coordinating Board, "Though technically NGOs do not have "the right to take part in the formal decisionmaking process" of the PCB, in practice NGOs fully participate and are essential, respected stakeholders in decisionmaking processes" (UNAIDS 2008, quoting in part the Economic and Social Council, Resolution 1995/2 which created UNAIDS).

The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria ("the Global Fund") was established in 2001 as a global public-private partnership to coordinate funds to address these three diseases; all treatable conditions that had become leading causes of death globally. Networks of people living with HIV, through GNP+, played a leading role in the formation of the Global Fund, creating guidance for the leadership structure, funding, and accountability of the GF and submitting this guidance as part of the NGO and Civil Society Consultation of the Global Fund. People living with HIV served on the transition team to create the GF and were instrumental in gaining two seats on the GF board of directors for people living with HIV and a requirement that people living with HIV have voting seats on Country Coordinating Mechanisms, national bodies charged with creating National AIDS Strategies and requesting, implementing, and monitoring grants from the Global Fund. GNP+ has continued to monitor and evaluate the involvement of people living with HIV in the Country Coordinating Mechanisms, providing feedback to the Global Fund and developing training materials for people living with HIV to be equipped to work with the Global Fund processes at the country level. At the 2014 to 2016 replenishment meeting

⁶⁰ The cosponsors are UNHCR, UNICEF, WFP, UNDP, UNFPA, UNODC, ILO, UNESCO, UNWomen, WHO, and the World Bank.



held in Washington D.C. in December 2013, donor states and foundations pledged \$12 billion USD to fight HIV, Tuberculosis, and Malaria. This represents a 30% increase from the amount raised for 2011 to 2013; however it is significantly less than the \$15 billion that was sought to maintain programs in the countries currently receiving Global Fund grants and dramatically less than the \$87 billion estimated need for eradicating all three diseases completely. The largest contributors to the Global Fund overall are the United States, France, the United Kingdom, Japan, and Germany. In 2013, five countries that were current recipients of Global Fund grants made funding pledges to the Global Fund to demonstrate their support for the funding mechanism: Malawi, Nigeria, Mexico, India, and China (Gelfand 2013).

People Living with HIV and International Human Rights Instruments

There are three UN General Assembly Declarations that apply to people living with HIV: the 1996 Political Declaration on HIV and AIDS; the 2001 Declaration of Commitment on HIV and AIDS; and the 2011 Political Declaration on HIV and AIDS.⁶¹ These all include a key provision related to the right to participation for people living with HIV. This provision, the GIPA principle (the greater involvement of people living with HIV and AIDS), calls for people with HIV to be included in the decisions that affect them. The GIPA principle was first articulated in a 1994 meeting of 46 governments in Paris. The statement in 1994 was founded in the 1983 Denver Principles and found a place in all subsequent UN General Assembly Declarations on HIV and AIDS. All three Declarations include attention to human rights, particularly women's human rights, freedom from discrimination, vulnerabilities of children and adolescents, and treatment people living with and affected by HIV.

⁶¹ The next UN General Assembly Special Session on HIV and AIDS will take place in 2016.

Participation rights for people living with HIV are included in three sections in the 2011 Declaration: one focused on cooperation with people living with HIV and key populations to ensure a more effective response, and calling for equal participation for people living with HIV in "social, economic and cultural activities" (para 40); one supporting the leadership and engagement of young people, including young people living with HIV (para 56); and the final one calling for the engagement of people living with and affected by HIV "in decision- making and planning, implementing and evaluating the response" (para 57).

Summary

The challenge for human rights organizing by marginalized groups is three-fold: becoming more visible could lead to backlash; pressing claims against the state and the international systems reinforces the authority of those systems; yet, limiting activism maintains the status quo which is unacceptable (see Minow 1995, Levi 1997). These challenges are particularly acute for indigenous rights organizing. Not only do rights claims against the state and international systems legitimize systems that rose to power through oppression of Indigenous Peoples, but, as Dean and Levi (2003) explain, "while indigenous people's failure to voice the abuse of their rights invites more violations and mistreatment, the more than indigenous people are seen and heard outside of popularly conceived traditional contexts (i.e., the more they become savvy about the media, politically skilled, linked to the international community), the more they risk being seen as 'authentic'" (2). For organizing by people living with HIV, the relationship with the state can be much less fraught. Yet, because HIV-infection occurs disproportionately among people who are already vulnerable, people living with HIV tend to come from the margins of society and lack the concern of the state for their well-being. States would have to actively commit to

transforming class divisions, employment opportunities, gender inequality, and political opportunities for disempowered minority groups to change the relationship to the state for most people living with, and vulnerable to, HIV.

Despite the challenges, adopting the global language and principles of human rights has been effective for both movements. Internally, human rights frameworks helped to shape a particular consciousness within each movement that participants are rightsbearers, even if the state within which they reside fails to recognize them as such. These frameworks have shaped the kinds of demands and language that the movements bring forward. This has required movement leaders to learn the language used by global elites and to engage in processes of translation⁶² to ensure that human rights frameworks have resonance with the lives of people within local communities. If this translation had failed, organizing communities of marginalized peoples around the world on the basis of human rights principles would have been impossible. Externally, the human rights framework has created an entry point into global dialogues about meaningful consultation, inclusion, and representation. Notably, broad appeals for popular support have been rare for both movements. Instead, the claims for the right to participate in decisions that affect them, in essence, self-governance claims, have sidestepped the political communities within each state and been taken directly to political leaders (both national and global). This strategy reflects the extent to which translations of universal human rights principles into local understandings has lagged for general populations as well as the resonance of human rights language for marginalized groups seeking decent treatment.

⁶² Sally Engle Merry (2006) provides a close look at the translation process between global human rights frameworks of gender equality and action against domestic violence in local lived experiences and argues that similar processes of translation are required within any global-local advocacy movement.





CHAPTER 7 A FRAMEWORK FOR LIBERATORY REPRESENTATION

What do we mean by community voice? We mean giving space to the people most impacted. Voice matters because so often the marginalized communities we work with have been spoken over. They're invisibilized, or even worse, hyper-visibilized – meaning they're turned into a stereotype, an image, that politicians and the mass media blame for all the ills happening in our cities. Our communities become synonymous with 'problems that need fixing', and in the process they are stripped of their humanity... We move with and work from a philosophy steeped in the principles of human rights and human dignity. The people we work with deserve a voice, a place at the table, and deserve a right to live in this city and be heard.

Desiree Evans (2013), Women With A Vision, New Orleans, Louisiana

The task taken up in this project is to devise a framework for representation within international institutions through which marginalized groups can move toward increased equality in self-governance. This movement toward self-governance is otherwise understood as a liberatory movement: a process of change from a situation of guardianship, within which dominant groups make decisions for marginalized groups, into a situation of political equality within which marginalized groups are able to shape the decisions that affect them.⁶³ The quote by Evans that opens this chapter articulates this vision of liberatory work with and on behalf of marginalized people.⁶⁴

In creating this theory of liberatory representation, we face a set of difficult dilemmas. States systematically ignore the interests of marginalized populations within

⁶⁴ Women with a Vision is a non-governmental organization established in 1989 by African American women in New Orleans as a women's health collective focused on the needs of local women of color living with and affected by HIV.



⁶³ Certainly, formal political equality can turn out to be too low a bar for a goal of meaningful political voice. Having as much of a voice as everyone else in shared decisions can mean, in some cases, having a great deal of influence, and, in others, having no influence at all. However, in all cases, there exist some social groups that enjoy governmental attention to their interests. Political equality, as used here, refers to the enjoyment of equal influence in decision-making in comparison with those social groups, whether those groups are large or small in their particular societies.

their borders, or worse, become violators of the human rights of these populations. Attempting to bypass states by seeking representation in global bodies is one approach to remedy the lack of state concern. However, once marginalized groups leap over the state to the global system, they find themselves still within state-centric processes, and they face the risk that their advocacy will lessen the legitimacy of the very institutions upon which their hopes for equal treatment are pinned.

On the positive side of the liberation tally sheet, increased global representation can reduce stigma, increase attention to the needs of populations historically excluded from meaningful voice, and build more inclusive communities of shared fate. Yet, a series of minus marks must be added to this tally sheet, reflecting that such representation can reinforce the status quo and more deeply marginalize the most vulnerable people within the group. Further negative marks are required to recognize the disproportionate and heavy burden placed on marginalized groups who seek to participate in decision making places, as they must pull together the time, funding, and skills to struggle for the meaningful attention to their needs that dominant groups – already better resourced – can take for granted. Seen in this light, civil society work on behalf of marginalized groups reflects a privatization of work that governments ought to do to provide equally for their citizens. However, if civil society organizations do not emerge and pressure both governments and international institutions, then work for the political equality of marginalized groups is left undone.

As Abbott and Gartner (2012), theorists and legal practitioners in the field of international institutions, write, "the optimal design of international institutions to



confront twenty-first-century global challenges is an increasingly urgent question" (34). What, then, are we to do?

From the literature of theorists and practitioners of global representation, described in the previous chapters, three goals for a process of liberatory representation can be identified. These are:

- 1. Decisions that affect the members of a marginalized group are made with their meaningful participation (Equal Respect and Concern).
- 2. The marginalized group is perceived as a fellow decision maker in, rather than object of, processes of governance (Status).
- 3. New coalitions develop within which marginalized groups are partners and their interests are included (Partnership).

Each of these goals must be understood in the broadest sense to fundamentally include the diversity of subgroups that exist within a marginalized group, including gender, race and ethnicity, sexual orientation, class, age, and other groups depending on the context. Taken together, the goals promote the outcomes of dignity and political equality for marginalized groups, and sustainability for their on-going participation as political equals in governance.

The dilemmas inherent in global representation, alongside these three goals, are summarized in Table 4. To the extent that a process, through its design and implementation, can achieve these goals and address these dilemmas, it leads toward liberatory outcomes. Each goal and each dilemma should be viewed as a continuum within which decisions can be made that give more or less power to subordinated groups that can be used to shape the conditions under which they live.

Table 4: Foundations for a Framework for Liberatory Representation

Goals	Dilemmas
Equal Respect and Concern: Decisions that affect the members of a marginalized group are made with their meaningful participation.	Institutional Legitimacy: States are not responsive to needs of those marginalized; however, the more effectively states are bypassed, the greater the risks to the legitimacy of international institutions. If these institutions are discredited, the situation for the marginalized can worsen.
Status: The marginalized group is perceived as a fellow decision maker in, rather than object of, processes of governance.	Subordinated groups within: Marginalized group representation offers democratic benefits; however, these may accrue to the most privileged in the group and risk further marginalization of those who are subordinated within the group.
Partnership: New coalitions develop within which marginalized groups are partners and their interests are included.	Undue Burden: Group representation creates an undue burden on marginalized groups, who already face challenges of participation that dominant groups do not, and makes civil society do the work that states ought to do; however, the alternative is to leave marginalized groups without representation.

There are four aspects that comprise any representation framework: composition, mandate, selection, and working methods (Thies 2009). This chapter will examine these four aspects in light of their potential to meet the goals of liberatory representation (influence, status, partnership) and to address the dilemmas (institutional legitimacy, those subordinated within the group, and undue burden). The purpose is not to provide one comprehensive theory of representation; but, rather, to shed light on issues that require attention no matter the context or situation and to offer a theoretical approach and

practical methods for addressing these issues. After describing the framework, this chapter will conduct an analysis of two current representation processes in global institutions, the United Nations Permanent Forum for Indigenous Issues (Permanent Forum) and the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), to determine the degree to which their functions meet liberatory criteria.

Sketching a liberatory framework of representation

There are four critical elements in the development of a representation process that can shape the extent to which the goals of liberatory representation are met and the dilemmas within global representation are adequately addressed. These elements, as described by Thies (2009) are: the composition, the mandate, the selection processes and the working methods. These four elements determine what can be done, by how many and which people, and with what authority? Although some of the elements are interconnected in practice, this chapter examines each element separately to elucidate its distinct properties and potential for a liberatory practice.

Composition

The composition of a representative body includes the number of seats; how the seats are distributed; and, when applicable, where the body fits within a larger organization. These structural decisions affect the likelihood of meaningful influence versus tokenism. Decisions about composition shape the opportunities that different subgroups within a marginalized group have to join the representative body; the partnerships that can develop across oppressed and dominant groups within the representative body, through their shared work; and the partnerships that different marginalized groups can forge with each other within the representative body. Decisions

about composition also affect the burden on communities and on individual representatives, as representative bodies that are poorly structured require additional labor to address issues adequately and manage coordination.

Table 5: Composition

Goals	Dilemmas
Equal Respect and Concern	Subordination within
Partnership	Undue Burden

If the composition is to meet liberatory goals, then it needs to be structured in a way that ensures influence to representatives from marginalized groups. This does not mean that marginalized groups win on every decision, but, rather, that the representatives from these groups have a meaningful opportunity to sway the outcomes. It does mean that marginalized groups do not always lose. When the composition is structured to ensure influence, then partnership also becomes possible. Representatives from dominant groups have a reason to partner with representatives from marginalized groups to get decisions passed.

The composition of a representative body addresses two dilemmas: it can ensure that the democratic benefits from representation also accrue to those subordinated within marginalized groups and, to a lesser extent, it can reduce the costs of participation for representatives. The way that representation is structured affects the burden experienced by the representatives from marginalized groups. If the number of group representatives is large enough, then the emotional weight of representing a group that is looked down on is

lessened for each. A larger group also shares the labor of communicating and consulting with constituents and representing the breadth issues that a marginalized group faces.

For inclusion of subordinated groups within the larger group, the structure of representation must be designed to recognize that multiple groups and viewpoints exist within affected communities. Without specific attention to differences, only the most privileged group members will end up holding positions and speaking for all. Seats can be distributed in such a way that a diversity of representatives, specifically including those from groups that are subordinated within the marginalized group, will hold them. This can be done through assigned seats for specific communities or an overall requirement for diverse representation, or a combination of both. Some parliamentary processes have designated seats for members of Indigenous or ethnic minorities, including for Maori representatives in New Zealand, Indigenous representatives in Colombia, and scheduled castes and tribes in India (Bird, 2004). Processes with designated seat structures support the voices of those who are less dominant within the group. The purpose of these structures are to protect against further advantaging more privileged group members at the expense of those further subordinated within the group. The establishment of formal seats within governance for different subgroups provides greater inclusion and accountability. The further advantaging of more privileged groups is demonstrated by Scholte and co-authors (2011) in case studies of global organizations. In their study, organizations from the global south were rarely included in global organizations' decisionmaking processes. Their inclusion only happened when seats were dedicated for them. Otherwise, all of the civil society voices that participated in decision-making processes came from the global north.



A priority for the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria (Global Fund), when established in 2001, was to ensure that Country Coordinating Mechanisms (CCMs) would be composed in such a way that stakeholders from multiple sectors would work together to address the three diseases in their country. CCMs are decision-making bodies that must exist within each state that wishes to access Global Fund grants (Global Fund, 2015). The Global Fund devised a differentiated structure -- including members from government, the private sector, multilateral and bilateral officers, and civil society -- that is based on a combination of assigned seats and overall diversity requirements. The stated goals for the structure are to "operationalize human rights principles that include nondiscrimination, gender equality and participation of key affected populations" (Global Fund, 2105). In its current guidance documents, the Global Fund requires gender equality within the CCM membership, a minimum of 40 percent of CCM members from civil society, and at least one member who is living with and representing people with HIV. If the country plans to request funding for tuberculosis or malaria programming, then the CCM is also required to have members representing people living with or affected by those diseases. For civil society organizations, having 40 percent of the seats set aside creates influence within the CCM and provides opportunities to partner with other partners.

The reservation of one seat for people living with HIV or one of the other two diseases is intended to ensure the ability of those most affected, but also more stigmatized and generally less funded, to participate. However, setting aside only one seat for people living with HIV and one for those with malaria or tuberculosis has not been sufficient in most settings to give these groups enough influence to affect outcomes or to develop

partnerships with the more established CCM members.⁶⁵ Despite the success of the PLHIV movement globally, within countries, it has often been difficult for members of PLHIV networks to be included in CCMs or treated as partners in the HIV response. An evaluation in 2004 recommended that CCMs include no fewer than two people living with HIV and seek to have a minimum of 10 percent of members be people living with HIV (Policy Project 2004). A later evaluation of CCMs in eight countries, conducted in 2008, found that civil society members overall often lacked respect from other members, needed technical skills, and doubted their own capabilities (ICASO 2008). Further, CCMs, and their civil society members, generally excluded organizations from more marginalized groups (such as those representing women, transgender people, or gay men) in favor of mainstream, better funded, organizations already connected with governments (ICASO 2008). In response to these and internal evaluations, the Global Fund strengthened CCM requirements to include documented membership of key affected populations on CCMs and defines these populations broadly to include "women and girls, men who have sex with men, transgender persons, people who inject drugs, male and female and transgender sex

الم للاستشارات

⁶⁵ However, in a few countries, the opposite situation has prevailed. Civil society representatives have been active participants in CCM meetings, effectively pressing for attention to the most affected communities and communicating their sense of urgency to the full CCM (ITPC 2008). This situation supports Kanter's (1977) predictions in her early research on tokenism. Kanter is better known for her analysis of the effects of structural factors on the behavior of marginalized minorities within larger groups, specifically, that in demographically skewed or tilted environments (in percentages of 15% or less, certainly, but to an extent until representation reaches around 40%) women in male-dominated workplaces will adopt male norms and limit actions considered supportive of women or gender equality. This is the starting point for most work on tokenism today, whether in agreement or opposition to Kanter's arguments (Childs and Krook 2008). However, Kanter received less attention for her predictions that, in some cases, individual women with a pronounced feminist consciousness would disregard the pressures toward tokenism and advocate for women and gender equality despite the expectation that they behave differently (Childs and Krook 2008, Kanter 1977).

workers and their clients, prisoners, refugees and migrants, people living with HIV, adolescents and young people, vulnerable children and orphans, and populations of humanitarian concern" (Global Fund 2011, 8). As of 2015, CCMs must demonstrate annually that they meet the requirements for inclusion of people living with HIV, and, in some places malaria and tuberculosis, and key affected populations, as a condition of acquiring and keeping their funding.

Mandate

The mandate of a representative body indicates the extent of its authority and the boundaries of its jurisdiction. Mandates for representative bodies range from advisory functions to governing responsibilities. The mandate affects the extent to which two democratic goals for liberatory representative processes are met: influence over decisions that affect the group and increased status for members of marginalized groups. The stronger the mandate is, the greater the ability of the representative body to disrupt the status quo. Therefore, the mandate brings to the surface the tensions between increasing the political voice for marginalized groups and maintaining the support of currently dominant actors.

Table 6: Mandate

Goals	Dilemmas
Equal Respect and Concern	Institutional Legitimacy
Status	

If the mandate is to meet liberatory goals, then it must be shaped in a way that ensures that marginalized groups can influence the decisions that affect them and that positions them as political equals in addressing shared problems and challenges. Mandates to serve as a consultative or advisory body offer only the possibility of influence for marginalized groups. These kinds of mandates force marginalized groups to take a gamble with their resources because there is no assurance that, if marginalized groups provide their time and expertise, their interests will be considered in the final decisions. Stronger mandates, in terms of influence and status, are those that charge marginalized groups with providing recommendations, drafting proposals, or making decisions. When bringing representative processes to the global level, the mandate must balance the increased power for marginalized groups with the authority under international law of states -- and states alone -- to negotiate common agreements.

Different representative processes strike different balances regarding the level of influence accorded to marginalized groups. No processes within the U.N. system allow civil society representatives a deciding role in directives that are binding on states. By contrast, within other global institutions, such as the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria (Global Fund), representative bodies exist within which civil society organizations have an equal voice with governments. These differ from U.N. bodies in their voluntary nature – no government is forced to apply to the Global Fund for grants - and their mandate to recommend and oversee programs and funding for the three diseases. States may disagree with the human rights requirements for Global Fund grants but they are free to simply disregard these unless they choose to seek funding. By contrast, the process for developing the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) that will guide the global development agenda after 2015 was been inclusive of civil society organizations in its formative stages. However, controversies between U.N. member states have continually

flared over the question of when civil society should or should not be allowed to comment. More recent stages have excluded civil society organizations despite support from a number of states (IISD 2014, Open Letter 2014).

Selection processes

The composition of a representative body establishes which groups are eligible to serve as representatives. The selection process determines who has the authority to decide, from among those groups, who will actually represent these constituencies. For processes that include civil society representatives, selection options range from elections to appointment.

Table 7: Selection process

The state of the s	
Goal	Dilemma
Partnership	Subordination within

The composition of the representative body and the way that the selection process is designed, together, will determine whether a diversity of voices from marginalized groups will be included or whether those who are most privileged within the group will become the representatives for all. Within marginalized groups, the most privileged are those with characteristics most similar to those valued by dominant social groups, such as heterosexuality, male masculinity, wealth, or higher education. Those most privileged are also the most likely to be known by those outside of the group. Therefore, selection processes that rely on appointment are likely to perpetuate the status quo.

By contrast, holding elections, in which marginalized groups choose their own representatives, supports their self-determination and their dignity as active participants

in discussions about the issues that concern them. In addition, when groups are responsible for selecting or nominating their own representatives, group members are more likely to develop partnerships with a broader range of other people within their group. Prospective representatives communicate with other group members who may be differently situated, facilitating stronger connections and understandings of the range of concerns held by the group.⁶⁶

If the representative body is structured so that the seats are open to anyone in the group, then elections will most likely default to the most dominant group members. However, if seats are dedicated to specific subgroups within a marginalized group – such as women, people with disabilities, gays or lesbians, working class, or young people within racial or ethnic minority groups — then elections can be set up to allow the members of each of these subgroups to select who will represent them. Within global decision-making bodies, dedicated seats are most commonly based on geography, although the pressure from civil society for involvement in health issues has resulted in dedicated seats based on disease condition within the HIV/AIDS response. For example, the Global Fund board of directors includes three seats⁶⁷ for civil society delegations based on geography and disease condition: one for developing country NGOs, one for developed country NGOs, and one for the communities delegation⁶⁸ (Global Fund 2014). Each seat has one voting

⁶⁶ In her work on women's representation, Sawer (2000) demonstrates the broadening effect for women leaders of interactions with other women from different circumstances.

⁶⁷ The Global Fund refers to each seat as a "constituency" to recognize that the board member is not there in an independent function but as the representative of a broader constituency (Global Fund 2014).

 $^{^{68}}$ The communities delegation is made up of people living with or affected by HIV, tuberculosis, or malaria from around the world.

member and a larger delegation that advises and supports the voting member and participates in Global Fund committee work.

At the country level, the Global Fund requires that multi-stakeholder Country Coordinating Mechanims (CCMs) be established to apply for Global Fund grants. Representatives from civil society and those from communities living with and affected by the three diseases, as well as any academic or private sector representatives, are "to be selected by their own constituencies based on a documented, transparent process, developed within each constituency" (Global Fund 2013, 2).

In Kenya, a commitment to making selection meaningful for affected communities has led to a multi-stage selection process, funded by the CCM. Selection starts with a country-wide community education process, followed by regional elections. At a national forum, the regional representatives select their representatives to the CCM (Long & Duvvury 2011).

Working methods

The working methods of a representative body encompass all of the activities -such decision-making processes, consultations, and communication -- and norms -- such as
the amount of deference groups give to constituents or, in global bodies, to powerful states
-- that representatives perform in their role. How a representative body works affects the
extent to which it meets all three liberatory goals: where outcomes demonstrate equal
respect and concern for marginalized groups; whether marginalized groups see an
increased status as a result of their inclusion; and whether new relationships are
developed between marginalized and non-marginalized groups that allow on-going
collaborations on issues of shared concern. The working methods shape the burden that

marginalized representatives shoulder in their struggle to gain equal political concern for their communities. In addition, the working methods that are adopted will determine whether groups that currently hold power – most notably for this project, member states in the U.N. system -- support the representative process or decide to exit through physically leaving the body or simply by withdrawing their participation and support.

Table 8: Working methods

rable or trothing memora	
Goals	Dilemmas
Equal Respect and Concern	Institutional Legitimacy
Status	Undue Burden
Partnership	

The presence of marginalized groups in a decision-making body does not lead automatically to liberatory outcomes. The working methods matter. Although representatives of historically excluded groups are present, they continue to bear the stigma of marginalization that exists outside of the decision-making body (Williams 1998). Their presence, by itself, does not erase the biases against them that other representatives hold. Attention to political equality requires working methods that promote the influence of marginalized representatives, treat them clearly as equals, and encourage partnerships between marginalized and other representatives. A look at two practices illustrates how working methods can be directed toward liberatory ideals: first, rules for making decisions and, second, activities that strengthen marginalized groups' interactions with the larger body.

The rules for how decisions are made, and who is allowed to participate in making them, demonstrate the status that different groups hold. The democratic challenge for marginalized groups is that they are perpetually ruled over by others. If representation is to lead toward political equality, then it must support marginalized groups to meaningfully participate in the adoption of decisions that affect their group. Full and equal voting rights for representatives of marginalized groups demonstrates a formal political equality within the group; however, voting rights within a majoritarian system leave marginalized groups in the same vulnerable position that they hold within countries. That is, the outcomes of a formally egalitarian system are systematically unequal. A system of voting based on simple majorities will be insufficient to achieve liberatory ideals. More substantive political equality for marginalized groups can be achieved through decision-making rules that call for consensus, super majorities, or consent from those most affected. As one example, the Global Fund board of directors has decision rules designed to ensure an equal voice for donors and implementers. All board members are assigned to either the donor bloc (developed countries and private sector representatives) or the implementer bloc (developing countries, NGO and community representatives). For a board decision to be approved, it must gain support from two-thirds of the members of each bloc (Global Fund 2013).

Within international institutions, the rules for decision making, above all other norms and activities, are the working methods most likely to draw the ire of states. Consensus is the process relied upon throughout the U.N. for intergovernmental decisions. Among states, consensus provides a fundamental recognition of the equal right of all to decide for themselves about the rules that apply to all and it creates decisions that are

legitimated through cooperation among nations. Disruption of the international system of consensus among states, through providing voting or other decision-making rights to non-state actors, creates the risk of delegitimizing the decisions that are made and reducing the commitment of individual states to the project of cooperative global governance. This creates a conundrum for civil society, and especially for the most marginalized groups within civil society. International institutions can provide opportunities for political voice that are limited, or denied, domestically. Yet, if the local legitimacy for decisions made by these institutions is lost, then what looked like political equality may turn out to be an expensive exercise without effects.

Inclusion of civil society within the decision-making bodies of international institutions is a fairly new phenomenon. The effects of this inclusion on the perceived legitimacy of decisions are largely unknown. Some current processes, including those that include civil society as part of consensus processes within UNAIDS, have led to decisions from which individual states disassociate themselves or express concern that the conditions under which they agreed to participate in international institutions have been violated. Whether the contested decisions will ultimately be ignored, because of the lack of full support from all states, or whether the decisions, once adopted, will gain legitimacy, with the dispute forgotten, still remains to be seen.

Another set of working methods that lend themselves to liberatory outcomes for marginalized groups focuses on activities to build partnerships among and within marginalized groups, to learn about issues affecting different subgroups, to adopt a set of shared priorities, and tostrategize and assign activities in order to reach those priorities. These activities require funds and meeting space to be provided by the larger decision-

making body. One consistent theme across descriptions and evaluations of the participation of marginalized groups in decision making is the importance of funded premeetings and caucus meetings. For example, civil society organizations met to develop shared recommendations for the Global Fund leadership framework before joining the Transitional Working Group negotiations that created the Global Fund (Global Fund 2013). This practice was seen as valuable and has been continued. Before each board meeting, the Developing Country NGO Delegation, the Developed Country NGO Delegation, and the Communities Delegation meet with each other and with the current Global Fund board leadership (Long and Duvvury 2011). In Indigenous Peoples' advocacy, Dahl (2009) describes such pre-meetings for Indigenous Peoples as "absolutely necessary," writing, "the lesson learned from the process of drafting the Declaration was that Indigenous peoples would have increased opportunities for making a constructive impact on the process if the pros and cons of key issues were analysed prior to the meeting." (90). Similarly, Tulley (2013), from the Asia Pacific Network of Sex Workers (APNSW) explains the importance of separate pre-meetings for sex workers when invited to consultations with the World Health Organization or other international bodies:

[I]n June 2013, sixteen sex workers attended a consultation with the World Health Organisation (WHO) in Accra Ghana to develop an implementation tool to operationalise the guidance on Prevention and treatment of HIV and other STIs for sex workers in low- and middle-income countries... NSWP [the Global Network of Sex Work Projects] held a pre-meeting the day before the consultation started. This enabled sex workers to critique each section of the draft, compile a list of non negotiable points and to develop a strategy for how we would approach the two day consultation. This "sex worker only" session is critical to getting the most out of the consultation. In fact, when NSWP or APNSW meet with UN on important consultations, we now insist on them funding a pre-meeting as a part of the overall process.⁶⁹

⁶⁹ Blog post, "Forging partnerships between sex workers and scientists is important," written for the Asia Pacific Network of Sex Workers. Available at:



Separate meetings for representatives of marginalized groups help to equalize their power to advocate for their groups in larger forums. Advocacy efforts are strengthened by these meetings, as representatives have confidence that they are working from a shared strategy, that they are not alone in their assessment of what is needed, and that they understand the critical points of the discussion and where differences – and word traps – may lie. Caucuses with other marginalized representatives, whether before or during the larger meetings, are also crucial for reducing the emotional burden from both being and representing stigmatized and vulnerable people.

Evaluating two processes for representation of marginalized groups

The United Nations Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues (Permanent Forum) and the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV and AIDS (UNAIDS) are the foremost international institutions providing representation to marginalized people (Indigenous Peoples and civil society organizations by or for people living with and affected by HIV, respectively). While both organizations share a history based in struggles for recognition by marginalized people, their representative processes, and their legitimacy, arise from different rationales. Indigenous Peoples occupy a unique position in the international system by virtue of their prior, and continuing, inhabitation and political organization within spaces that were later appropriated by states.

States in the international system have sought to signal support for the language of self-determination, as it appears in the U.N. Charter, the Friendly Relations Declaration, and other significant international instruments, in respect to the rights of Indigenous Peoples

https://apnsw.wordpress.com/2013/07/09/forging-partnerships-between-sex-workers-and-scientists-is-important/.



without threatening their own privileges and territories. This contradictory approach long predates, and is reflected in the articles of, the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP). The opening articles in the UNDRIP acknowledge Indigenous Peoples as "peoples" and affirm that "Indigenous peoples have the right to selfdetermination. By virtue of that right they freely determine their political status and freely pursue their economic, social and cultural development" (Article 3). However, by the end of the Declaration, this expressed right to self-determination is so deeply restricted as to be rendered nearly meaningless: "Nothing in this Declaration may be...construed as authorizing or encouraging any action which would dismember or impair, totally or in part, the territorial integrity or political unity of sovereign and independent States (Article 46, para 1)." This final article contradicts the text language in Article 3 guaranteeing Indigenous Peoples the right to "freely determine their political status" and it stands in contrast to the ways in which this right has been previously applied.⁷⁰ As Engle (2011) argues, this final statement effectively "seals the deal: external forms of self-determination are off the table for Indigenous peoples, and human rights [rather than rights as "peoples"]

الم للاستشارات

The UN Charter language describes the purpose of the UN as "to develop friendly relations among nations based on respect for the principle of equal rights and self-determination of peoples, and to take other appropriate measures to strengthen universal peace" (Article 1, para 2). Further defining self-determination and emphasizing its importance, the Charter language stresses that, when a country holds control over colonies or territories, fundamental to this trusteeship is to promote "progressive development" by the people in those colonies or territories toward "self-government or independence," based on "the freely expressed wishes of the peoples concerned" (Article 76). The Friendly Relations Declaration (UNGA Resolution 2625 (XXV), 24 October 1970) specifies the meaning of equal rights and self-determination of peoples as the rights of all peoples to "freely to determine, without external interference, their political status and to pursue their economic, social and cultural development" and that the outcomes of this free determination can include "the establishment of a sovereign and independent State, the free association or integration with an independent State, or the emergence into any other political status" (Principle 5),

will largely provide the model for economic and political justice for Indigenous peoples" (147). As a result, the Permanent Forum can be seen as a vehicle for human rights: one that recognizes some rights of Indigenous People to participate in decisions that affect them but stops short of challenging state's control over territory or global decisions.

Table 9: Comparison of the UN Permanent Forum for Indigenous Issues and the Joint UN Programme on HIV/AIDS

riogramme on my A	Permanent Forum	UNAIDS
Composition	16 members with seats allocated regionally. Eight members are decided by government and eight are nominated by civil society. The role is of individual expert rather than representative.	33 members, of which 22 are UN Member States, allocated regionally, and five represent non-governmental organizations, allocated regionally. Six seats represent the eleven UN Co-Sponsor organizations. Two NGO seats are reserved for organizations from developed countries and those with economies in transition and three seats are reserved for organizations from developing countries. All roles are considered to be representative of constituencies.
Mandate	Advisory to the UN system. Equal voting rights for government and civil society members.	Governance of the Joint Programme.
Selection	Governments select one half of the members. The others are aapointed by the ECOSOC president based on the recommendations from regional Indigenous organizations.	The five civil society seats are held by ten civil society organizations from five regions. The NGO Delegation sets the criteria, conducts recruitment, and selects representatives.
Working Methods	Annual open forum with testimonies from Indigenous organizations and other stakeholders. Recommendations are determined in private sessions and publicly announced. Civil society	The NGO Delegation participates in UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board (PCB) meetings and working groups but does not have the right to vote. Co-sponsors do not vote either. The PCB norm is that decisions

observers use opportunity to network with states and leaders.

are made by consensus. Civil society observers provide interventions during PCB meetings at the discretion of the chair. The NGO Delegation meets privately before each PCB to determine strategy and assign work and also holds separate premeetings with civil society observers, the Co-Sponsor Coordinating Committee, the UNAIDS Secretariat, and some Member State delegations.

Compared to the role for Indigenous civil society in the Permanent Forum, the situation for civil society, in general, and people living with HIV in particular, within the UNAIDS governance structure, is less complicated. Rather than attempting to assert a sovereign right to be included, these civil society organizations argue for inclusion on grounds such as protecting the dignity of people stigmatized by the disease, needing to protect the human rights of especially vulnerable groups, and offering expertise in programming to make global efforts effective. These arguments were used to draft and then gain support for the GIPA principle (the Greater Involvement of People Living with HIV) in political declarations and commitments from 1994 forward.⁷¹ Support for the inclusion of NGOs in the governance of UNAIDS was based on both civil society pressure and U.N. member states adoption of, and subsequent reiterations of support for, the GIPA principle. If we use the framework of liberatory goals and dilemmas for representation of

⁷¹ The Paris Declaration of the Paris AIDS Summit, 1994; 2001 Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS (A/Res/S-26/2); 2006 and 2011 Political Declarations on HIV and AIDS (A/Res/60/262, A/Res/65/277).

marginalized groups as the criterion, how do the Permanent Forum and UNAIDS measure up?

UN Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues

The UN Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues was established in 2000 by the UN Economic and Social Council with a mandate to:

- provide expert advice and recommendations on Indigenous issues to the Council, as well as to programmes, funds and agencies of the United Nations, through the Council.
- raise awareness and promote the integration and coordination of activities related to Indigenous issues within the UN system.
- prepare and disseminate information on Indigenous issues.

(ECOSOC resolution 2000/22)

The composition of the Permanent Forum was designed to provide equal status for governments and Indigenous communities, with eight members nominated by governments and ratified by ECOSOC and eight nominated by Indigenous communities and appointed by the ECOSOC president. Government-nominated members are selected based on the five U.N. regions: Africa, Asia, Eastern Europe, Latin America and the Caribbean, and Western Europe and Other States. Indigenous members are nominated by Indigenous organizations in seven regions: Africa; Asia; Central and South America and the Caribbean; the Arctic; Central and Eastern Europe, Russian Federation, Central Asia and Transcaucasia; North America; and the Pacific. The eighth Indigenous seat rotates between the African, the Asian, and the Central, South American, and the Caribbean regions.



The following analysis draws on the founding documents, an assessment of the Permanent Forum in light of its mandate (Schulte-Tenckhoff & Khan 2014), an evaluation of the legitimacy that the forum has among Indigenous community leaders (Thies 2009), and an analysis of Indigenous people's involvement and opportunities for resistance within the Permanent Forum (Lindroth 2011). An overview of the information comparing Permanent Forum structure and processes to the liberatory goals and representation dilemmas is shown in Table 7.

Table 10: The UN Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues and Liberatory Goals and Dilemmas

Goals	Permanent Forum
Equal Respect and Concern: Decisions that affect the members of a marginalized group are made with their meaningful participation.	Within the Permanent Forum, Indigenous members have influence. They are able to shape Permanent Forum recommendations. Permanent Forum decisions are made by consensus and all members have equal standing. Testimony from Indigenous observers can affect the recommendations of Permanent Forum. However, the limited mandate for the Permanent Forum means that the overall influence Indigenous Peoples have is greatly constrained.
Status: The marginalized group is perceived as a fellow decision maker in, rather than object of, processes of governance.	Indigenous Peoples are recognized as valued coparticipants in the U.N. system. Within Permanent Forum, government and Indigenous appointees have equal status.
Partnership: New coalitions develop within which marginalized groups are partners and their interests are included.	The Permanent Forum Members develop relationships with governments and U.N. agencies. It is unclear whether any of these relationships have led to the inclusion of interests of Indigenous Peoples in national or global decisions.
Dilemmas	

Institutional Legitimacy: States are not responsive to needs of those marginalized; however, the more effectively states are bypassed, the greater the risks to the legitimacy of international institutions. If these institutions are discredited, the situation for those marginalized could grow worse.

The Permanent Forum is designed to protect Member State authority, through the mandate, which allows only an advisory role, and the structure, which sets aside one half of the seats for government representatives.

Subordinated groups within:
Marginalized group
representation offers democratic
benefits; however, these may
accrue to the most privileged in
the group and risk further
marginalization of those who are
subordinated within the group.

Diversity of representatives is assured through regional representation; however, there are no other mechanisms to ensure equity in representation for other subgroups of Indigenous Peoples.

Undue Burden: Group representation creates an undue burden on marginalized groups, who already face challenges to organizing that dominant groups don't, and makes civil society do the work that states ought to do; however, the alternative is to leave marginalized groups without representation.

The limited mandate also means a lower workload; however, there is little evidence that Permanent Forum activities improve conditions for Indigenous Peoples at either global or country levels.

Goal 1: Equal Respect and Concern

The experience of equal respect and concern, as a liberatory goal for marginalized people, is defined narrowly for this project. To be considered liberatory, the representative process must be designed in a way that ensures Indigenous Peoples a voice in shaping the outcomes of decisions that affect them. Within the Permanent Forum, the outcomes are mixed. Certainly, Indigenous Peoples have influence within the Permanent Forum;

however, because of the Permanent Forum's limited mandate, in general, that influence does not extend to decisions that affect them in the global system or by governments. An end of the year message from Dalee Sambo Dorough, Chairperson of the Permanent Forum, described the clashing approaches to Indigenous influence:

Fortunately, the Permanent Forum and Indigenous peoples generally enjoy support from UN member states at the international level. However, too often, little support or prioritization to implement Indigenous human rights norms at the national and domestic level is shown. And, in some extreme cases, we have member state support in key areas internationally, while at home, in these same states, Indigenous peoples are being forcibly removed from their lands and their very survival and security threatened both individually and collectively. (Dorough 2014)

When Indigenous leaders were interviewed about the effectiveness of the Permanent Forum as a vehicle for Indigenous influence, their concerns outweighed their positive evaluations. Notably, the Indigenous leaders with the most international experience had the lowest expectations of what was possible within the U.N. system and were, therefore, generally more pleased with what the Permanent Forum has achieved (Thies 2009). Areas that Indigenous leaders credited as providing opportunities for influence were the mechanisms for Indigenous observers to present interventions – thus allowing them the opportunity to raise issues of importance for Indigenous Peoples and to attempt to shape the agenda from the floor — during the Permanent Forum's annual two-week meeting and the opportunities, through these interventions, to press states regarding their human rights violations; 72 and the perceived increased accountability for UN

⁷² It is important to note that that the Permanent Forum has no authority to monitor state's activities toward their Indigenous populations; therefore, interventions that challenge states about their mistreatment of Indigenous populations are designed to "name and shame" rather than to lead to any kind of official sanction (see Lindroth 2014).

organizations in terms of their attention to the needs of Indigenous Peoples (Thies 2009). Further, Indigenous leaders from Asia and the Artic indicated that the nomination process for the Indigenous members of the Permanent Forum was a source of influence as they were able to decide, for themselves, who would hold the Permanent Forum seat. However, leaders from the other regions, where coordinated region-wide consultation processes have not been established, indicated less faith in the nomination process (Thies 2009). For those regions, multiple nominations are put forward and the ECOSOC president decides which one to appoint.

The structure of the Permanent Forum has created concerns about the limited influence available to Indigenous Peoples. Concerns focus on a sense that the mandate to gather information and advise U.N. agencies is too limited, and more authority is needed for the body to truly represent Indigenous issues. In her 2009 research, Thies concluded, "the Forum's inability to generate outcomes that make a difference for the living conditions of Indigenous communities [is] due to its weak mandate, or its perceived unwillingness due to a domination by states" (2009, 38). Thus, Schulte-Tenchkhoff and Khan (2014) describe sympathetically the "constant attempts by the Permanent Forum to expand its mandate," including though defining itself as the implementing body for UNDRIP (680). These attempts have included calls, largely unheeded, to Member States to provide regular reports on their compliance with their obligations under UNDRIP.

There are further restrictions on the influence of Indigenous Peoples that go beyond concerns about the mandate. Permanent Forum members serve as independent experts and not as formal representatives of Indigenous communities. Therefore, the extent of influence that Indigenous organizations have depends entirely on whether or not the

Permanent Forum members choose to engage with them. Indigenous leaders expressed disappointment that they had few opportunities to influence the annual sessions. While observers can provide testimonies to the Permanent Forum, Thies (2009) documented an "elevated number of comments which evaluated participation opportunities for observers negatively" (23) including the following quote from one observer: "[L]ast year in New York, I was never able to intervene because there was no time left...Although there were 14 days, we [were] just assisted to listen to the work of the institutions of the United Nations that work with Indigenous population[s]" (translation by Thies, 23).

Goal 2: Status

Reducing stigma and improving the status of marginalized people is another representation goal. Have Indigenous Peoples seen an improvement in their status as a result of the existence and work of the Permanent Forum? Certainly, the composition of the Permanent Forum, which assigns equal status to Indigenous and non-Indigenous participants, is a recognition of Indigenous Peoples as leaders and experts in addressing their own issues. Generally, Indigenous leaders agree that the Permanent Forum has improved the political status for Indigenous Peoples. When asked, they describe the existence of the Permanent Forum as providing recognition of Indigenous rights, with this recognition most clearly indicated by the right to nominate their own representatives – an activity generally seen as a prerogative of states within the U.N. system (Thies 2009). In the working methods of the Permanent Forum, Indigenous observers are treated as equals with Member State and U.N. agency observers, although leaders report that it is on-going struggle to achieve equal treatment in practice. As one leader told Thies (2009):



"I think it's fair to say that we, we don't really feel like we're observers. From the time that we started in, and like many other Indigenous groups we felt that we had a right to be here, and a right to be heard, and a right of equality with the states that are here. And that has been an ongoing struggle from the outset to ensure that we are being treated as peers, to ensure that we are not being excluded and marginalized by states" (32).

The experience of working as equals has an effect on Indigenous communities as well as the non-Indigenous government and U.N. leaders. This includes education about the larger set of human rights to which all human beings are entitled and that are larger than the rights that come from one's nationality. Reflecting on the experience for Indigenous participants in the Permanent Forum, a Latin American Indigenous leader described it as, "[A] source for consciousness raising among different Indigenous communities themselves, of their representatives. That is, awareness of human rights, not Indigenous rights, human rights, that can be applied to our communities" (Thies 2009, 33, translation mine).⁷³ Insights into different human rights agreements strengthen the internal sense of political equality for Indigenous participants and provide further justifications that they can use in negotiations with UN member states and UN agencies.

Despite the formally equal working relationship between Indigenous and non-Indigenous participants, the nature of working within a system developed to protect state sovereignty restricts the ability for Indigenous Peoples to be treated as equal participants in practice. Analyses by Lindroth (2011) demonstrate the extent to which status, for Indigenous Peoples, is dependent on compliance with UN processes and acceptance of state sovereignty. She notes the different unwritten rules for inhabiting the physical space of the

⁷³ The quote in Spanish reads as follows: "También ha sido una cantera para la adquisición de conciencia de las mismas comunidades indígenas, de sus representantes. o sea conocer los derechos humanos, no derechos indígenas, derechos humanos que pueden ser aplicados para nuestras comunidades" (Thies 2009, 33).



meeting rooms and for making interventions. In Lindroth's words, "It is clearly visible how the UN is an organization of states and how Indigenous peoples have to find their own space, both figuratively and concretely, somewhere among the states and the UN agencies" (550). Initially, Indigenous observers were required to find seats where they could behind the Member State and UN agency observers. In addition, unlike the other observers, they were not provided with official name cards. They would, instead, draw them by hand for themselves. Indigenous observers launched a successful campaign for inclusion among the other observers in the seating arrangements; however they have not been able to change the pre-registration requirement in which they must self-identify as non-governmental organizations rather than as sovereign nations (Lindroth 2011).

While the formal rules provide parity for Indigenous and non-Indigenous interventions, the practice is different. "An experienced Indigenous activist made the following observation about his disillusionment with the UN during the sixth PF session: 'We're conforming to the UN but the UN is not conforming to us'... At a side event during the same session, another Indigenous representative expressed her frustration at the strict time limits for Indigenous statements in the plenary sessions: 'We weigh very carefully every word so that everything we want to say can be said in three minutes' "(Lindroth 2011, 549). Time limits are certainly the prerogative of the chair, and are commonplace in governance forums. However, the time limits are not applied evenly, such that "states enjoy ample speaking time and the chair will not usually interrupt their statements as he or she does those of Indigenous peoples if they exceed the allowed time" (Lindroth 2011, 550). Thus, it seems that the existence and the practices of the Permanent Forum have increased the status of Indigenous Peoples, especially through the symbolism of establishing a

Permanent Forum and making Indigenous Peoples visible as leaders in addressing global problems; yet, this status is contingent on an acceptance by Indigenous Peoples of treatment as less than sovereign in their own affairs and as less equal than others within the workings of the Permanent Forum.

Goal 3: Partnership

The development of partnerships within and across marginalized groups and between marginalized groups and those with more social power is a fundamental goal for liberatory representation. The Permanent Forum has been largely successful in this regard. The area in which it has not met liberatory goals is predictable based on its structure: partnerships have not developed between Indigenous communities and the Permanent Forum (Thies 2009). On the other hand, the Permanent Forum has established a process for observer interventions that has been effective in building partnerships across Indigenous communities. To reduce the number of interventions, a rule was developed that gives first priority in the speaking order, along with five minutes rather than three minutes to speak, to regional representatives. As a result, regional groups have formed coalitions, identifying shared concerns, in order to create regional interventions (Thies 2009, Lindroth 2011). The existence of the Permanent Forum, and its annual meetings, creates spaces for Indigenous organizations to lobby governments and to network with each other. Indigenous leaders indicate increased capacity from their participation especially in terms of their effectiveness when working with their governments back home and their ability to coordinate with other Indigenous organizations (Thies 2009). One further positive partnership effect of the Permanent Forum, according to Indigenous leaders, occurs between the Indigenous Members and those appointed by Member States. As they debate

their recommendations, they build relationships and learn from each other about their respective situations and constraints (Thies 2009).

Dilemma 1: Institutional Legitimacy

Marginalized people seeking, through global institutions, a greater ability to participate in decisions that affect them face a dilemma. Global institutions, whether in the U.N. system or separate, are successful to the extent that states support them. Yet, the work of marginalized people in global forums is to press for changes, predominantly to be made by states. The more pressure that marginalized people place on global institutions, the greater the challenge to states' authority. This means that marginalized people are faced with a tension between attempting to gain as much political power as they can while trying to determine what might push states so far that states withdraw their support for global institutions. For example, in 2009, the Permanent Forum published a General Comment to demonstrate their understanding that UNDRIP article 42 expanded their mandate to include monitoring the Declaration's implementation. Not only did some Member States adamantly oppose this reading of the UNDRIP, but their comments sought to describe the UNDRIP as a document with little authority for the countries that ratified it. As Schulte-Tenchkhoff and Khan explain, "What comes across in our analysis of the Permanent Forum is the mostly unintended negative impact the Forum's permanent quest for a mandate has generated for the normative content of the Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples as a whole, as well as its chances of acquiring a binding force" (694).

At the same time, acknowledging U.N. bodies as legitimate intergovernmental organizations can be particularly challenging for Indigenous Peoples. As Lindroth (2011) describes, "Engaging in a political arena that is based on state sovereignty is problematic

for Indigenous peoples in many ways. However, it is impossible for those peoples to defend their rights and further their claims without having to negotiate with states," and, further, their, "claims for justice by states function to promote and legitimate state sovereignty, as the claims are forwarded on the states' terms and within the states' systems, as is the case in the UN" (Lindroth 552). More than this, the kinds of rights claims that Indigenous Peoples can make are limited by the preferences of states in the global system. Schulte-Tenchkhoff and Khan (2014), write "the Permanent Forum sustains the limitation of collective rights to their least controversial aspect – namely human rights exercised by individuals in community with other members of their group, as opposed to group rights claimed by non-state groups as such" (687). In the U.N. system, Indigenous Peoples have to play by the rules set up by states and perform the recognition of state sovereignty, including the sovereignty of the states within which they claim rights and territory, in order to seek redress for past violations and attention to current needs.

Dilemma 2: Subordinated groups within civil society

Representation processes that are designed for the inclusion of marginalized groups can have an unintended consequence of highlighting the voices of those most privileged within the group and further marginalizing others within the group. This is a serious concern for the Permanent Forum, within which the only diversity requirement is for members from different geographic regions. Although the UNDRIP specifically names Indigenous women, young people, children, the elderly, and people with disabilities as populations requiring specific attention, there are no requirements in either the founding ECOSOC resolution or subsequent Permanent Forum recommendations for their representation in the Permanent Forum. To create a stronger voice, Indigenous women,

young people, and people with disabilities, who attend Permanent Forum meetings as observers, have self-organized their own caucuses. In these caucuses, they identify issues common to their group and draft joint statements to bring the attention of the Permanent Forum members to their concerns (Cooper 2014). Since 2002, when the first Permanent Forum members took their seats, 79 individuals have served. Of these, 44 percent were women and 56 percent were men, with gender equality increasing over time. Since 2011, there have been equal numbers of women and men on the Permanent Forum. No analysis is available that has examined ages, migrant experience, education levels, occupations, sexual orientation, gender identity, incarceration history, or socio-economic status of NGO representatives. In addition, Indigenous leaders express concerns that smaller Indigenous organizations do not have an equal chance at sending a representative to the Permanent Forum (Thies 2009).

Dilemma 3: Burden

The burden carried by Indigenous members, emotional or physical, is not discussed in any of the literature that evaluates or discusses the Permanent Forum. Yet, a burden clearly exists for both the Permanent Forum members and the observers. Permanent Forum members serve as volunteers yet spend two weeks in annual meetings. In addition to the formal meetings, their responsibilities include participation in preparatory meetings, the creation of background reports, review of meeting documents, and responses to issues that arise throughout the year. To be heard at the annual meeting, Indigenous peoples' organizations must dedicate staff time away from their other work as well as raise funds for travel and for accommodation in New York City. To help address the financial burdens related to travel, and to make it possible for Indigenous Peoples to be able to attend

Permanent Forum meetings, the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR) operates a Voluntary Fund for Indigenous Population, with applications due each September or October (Permanent Forum 2007). The Voluntary Fund offsets some, but not all, of the costs for Indigenous organizations and requires a substantial amount of advance planning for meetings that generally take place the next May.

The Joint United Nations Programme on HIV and AIDS (UNAIDS)

The Joint United Nations Programme on HIV and AIDS, established through ECOSOC Resolution 1994/24, was created to coordinate the work of the multiple agencies within the U.N. to address the HIV epidemic. Six agencies (UNICEF, UNDP, UNFPA, UNESCO, WHO and the World Bank) were the original co-sponsors of UNAIDS; that number increased to eleven by 2012.⁷⁴ UNAIDS was the first U.N. body to formally include civil society organizations in its governing board. Most of the details for the Joint Programme were established in 1995 (ECOSOC 1995/2), including the guidelines for civil society involvement (detailed in the Annex to the resolution). The unusual nature of a U.N. body with civil society organizations included in its governance is clear in the 1995 resolution. The Annex explicitly notes: "These arrangements for the participation of non-governmental organizations are not to be regarded as setting a precedent" (ECOSOC 1995/2, Annex).

The Programme Coordinating Board (PCB), as the UNAIDS governing board is named, is made up of 22 Member States, the eleven co-sponsor organizations,⁷⁵ and five civil society organizations. The Member State seats are distributed by regional groupings

⁷⁴ As of 2015, the 11 UNAIDS co-sponsoring organizations are: ILO, UNDP, UNESCO, UNFPA, UNHCR, UNICEF, UNODC, UNWomen, WFP, WHO, and the World Bank.

⁷⁵ Increased from the initial six co-sponsors.

and the civil society seats are divided into two seats for NGOs from developed countries and transitioning economies and three seats for NGOs from developing countries. Only Member States are allowed voting rights in the PCB; however, following U.N. practices, all decisions are made by consensus.

ECOSOC resolution 1995/2 describes the limits of NGO participation:

Non-governmental organizations would be advised of the terms and conditions of their participation. It would be made clear to them that such participation would include:

A seat at the table with 6 representatives of the Committee of Cosponsoring Organizations⁷⁶ and the 22 Member States;

Non-governmental organizations would be able to speak;

Non-governmental organizations would have no negotiating role;

Non-governmental organizations would not participate in any part of the formal decision-making process, including the right to vote, which is reserved for representatives of Governments;

(ECOSOC 1995/2)

The final condition in the list has been subject to some controversy regarding when "formal decision-making processes" commence. The NGO Delegation and most member states have interpreted this condition broadly, with NGO Delegates allowed to speak and deliberate with other PCB members until the moment comes when there is a call by the Chair for consensus. Other member states interpret the final condition more narrowly to mean that NGO Delegates should not propose decision points or engage in discussions or deliberations once decision points have been proposed. In 2013, the PCB Chair sought legal counsel to resolve this controversy. U.N. legal counsel gave his opinion that the NGO

⁷⁶ The number of co-sponsoring organizations has increased steadily. In 2012, UN Women joined, bringing the number of co-sponsors, and seats at the PCB, to eleven.



Delegates could participate in all discussions until the point at which the chair sought to confirm consensus or held a vote.⁷⁷ Since that time, a détente has taken place by which PCB members defer to the Chair regarding when to call on NGO Delegates (NGO Delegation 2013b).

The UNAIDS guiding principles, developed by the PCB, reflect the multiple concerns of the different stakeholders -- states, U.N. agencies, and civil society -- that seek to shape the work of UNAIDS:

- Aligned to national stakeholders' priorities;
- Based on the meaningful and measurable involvement of civil society, especially people living with HIV and populations most at risk of HIV infection;
- Based on human rights and gender equality;
- Based on the best available scientific evidence and technical knowledge;
- Promoting comprehensive responses to AIDS that integrate prevention, treatment,
 care and support; and
- Based on the principle of non-discrimination. (UNAIDS 2015)

While part of the full PCB body, the NGO Delegation has a self-identity that includes a specific function within the PCB. The mission statement created by the NGO Delegation articulates this function, describing its mission as:

To bring to the PCB the perspectives and expertise of people living with, most affected by, and most at risk of, vulnerable to, marginalized by, and

⁷⁷ The opinion of legal counsel was based on his reading of a clear differentiation in the founding documents between NGO Delegates and civil society observers; a difference which would largely disappear if NGO Delegates were only allowed to speak. Further, legal counsel indicated that states maintained their decision-making rights through their exclusive right to vote (NGO Delegation 2013b). Some Member States indicated disagreement with the legal counsel's opinion but they have not, as of early 2015, brought their opposition back to the floor of the PCB.



affected by HIV and AIDS, as well as civil society and nongovernmental entities actively involved in HIV work, in order to ensure that their human rights and equitable, gender-sensitive access to comprehensive HIV prevention, treatment, care and support are reinforced by the policies, programmes, strategies and actions of the PCB and UNAIDS (NGO Delegation 2012).

NGO Main and Alternate Delegates have established norms by which they identify themselves as one NGO Delegation,⁷⁸ rather than a group of individual or regional activists; hold themselves responsible for consulting with civil society, rather than operating as individual experts; make decisions by consensus and commit themselves to support the consensus when interacting outside of the Delegation; and choose not to operate in a hierarchy that differentiates between members and alternates. The longest-serving member from each region is technically considered the Main Delegate, and the junior member is the Alternate Delegate; however there is no difference in status in practice within the Delegation or in interactions with the PCB.

The following analysis draws on the founding resolutions and organizational documents (ECOSOC 1994/24, ECOSOC 1995/2, the Modus Operandi of the Programme Coordinating Board of the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), 2010, and the Terms of Reference for the NGO Delegation to the UNAIDS PCB, 2012), a programme-wide evaluation of UNAIDS (Poate et al. 2009), and an independent review of civil society participation in the UNAIDS PCB (Middleton-Lee 2012). In Table 8, an overview of the information comparing UNAIDS' structure and processes to liberatory goals and dilemmas is shown.

⁷⁸ The label of "NGO Delegation" appears neither in the ECOSOC founding resolutions nor in the UNAIDS PCB Modus Operandi. However, the decision to name themselves in this manner has influenced others on the PCB to also adopt the label. Similarly, Indigenous Peoples have created a group identity and status for the observers who show up for the Permanent Forum meetings, naming that group the Indigenous Caucus.

Table 11: The Joint UN Programme on HIV and AIDS and Liberatory Goals and Dilemmas

Goals	UNAIDS
Equal Respect and Concern: Decisions that affect the members of a marginalized group are made with their meaningful participation.	NGO Delegates participate in setting the agenda for each PCB meeting, bringing forward key issues, proposing recommendations, and engaging in dialogue with the goal of finding consensus among PCB members. Civil society observers can raise issues themselves and work through the NGO Delegation to bring proposals to the PCB.
Status: The marginalized group is perceived as a fellow decision maker in, rather than object of, processes of governance.	The consensus process used by the PCB to make decisions creates an almost equal status for NGO Delegates.
Partnership: New coalitions develop within which marginalized groups are partners and their interests are included.	The NGO Delegation has been recognized for its partnerships with Member States, the UNAIDS Secretariat and co-sponsors. Recently, the NGO Delegation has found common cause with Developing Country member states on particular issues related to trade and development and other social and economic rights.
Dilemmas	
Institutional Legitimacy: States are not responsive to needs of those marginalized; however, the more effectively states are bypassed, the greater the risks to the legitimacy of international institutions. If these institutions are discredited, the situation for the marginalized can worsen.	This is challenging for the NGO Delegation. The level of influence combined with the level of concern extended to the most marginalized groups has led to opposition toward the Delegation by more conservative member states.
Subordinated groups within: Marginalized group representation offers democratic	The NGO Delegation has become more diverse over time in response to criticism. Intentional recruitment has led to the greater inclusion of



benefits; however, these may accrue to the most privileged in the group and risk further marginalization of those who are subordinated within the group.

representatives who are living with HIV or who come from the most marginalized populations. ECOSOC resolution 1995/2 established regional requirements. The Delegation has subsequently set further requirements for inclusion of people living with HIV and key populations within the Delegation.

Undue Burden: Group representation creates an undue burden on marginalized groups, who already face challenges to organizing that dominant groups don't, and makes civil society do the work that states ought to do; however, the alternative is to leave marginalized groups without representation.

There is a heavy burden of work for NGO Delegates and their organizations. Organizations commit to volunteering 10 hours (25% full-time equivalent) per week. Staff support for the Delegation has been provided since 2008; however, even with these staff, the resources available are significantly less than those available to other PCB members.

Goal 1: Equal Respect and Concern

This democratic goal for liberatory representation asks whether a process provides meaningful opportunities for marginalized groups to influence the decisions that affect them. Certainly, the structure of a process does not determine everything about the level of influence that will be wielded as poor recruitment and selection efforts or a work burden that is too heavy can counteract positive structure. It is doubtful, though, that representatives will be influential consistently if the process is not designed in ways that support this. Designing global decision-making bodies that will allow real influence by marginalized people is a relatively recent undertaking. Even so, it appears that the design of the NGO Delegation provides useful lessons in how to meet this goal within a state-centric institutional structure.

To be sure, the NGO Delegation's successes have never been in battles that they fought against a united front of U.N. member states. It is unclear what would happen in that

circumstance, but the evidence to date highlights two factors that contribute to the NGO influence. First, different U.N. member states find the NGO Delegation useful for pressing their interests at different times, so the NGO Delegation can be understood as influential to the extent that their interests align with some powerful states or blocs of states. Second, there has never yet been a situation in which the NGO Delegation sought a goal and found no state support. This may reflect a setting in which states so completely dominate the institution that civil society muzzles its concerns. However, the multiple compromises made between the NGO Delegation, the U.N. co-sponsors, and the states demonstrate that the NGO Delegates do press unsuccessfully for decisions that they hope to see adopted. Indeed, it is more likely that the issues that the Delegation sees as important enough to champion are recognized as similarly important by at least some states at the table.

Two practices have been instrumental in securing influence for representatives of marginalized communities within UNAIDS. One is the custom of making decisions through consensus rather than voting. As Poate et al. (2009) note in the Second Independent Evaluation of UNAIDS, "one of the key aspects of how the PCB operates is not defined in the modus operandi. This is the practice of the PCB issuing decisions reflecting a consensus amongst the participants and deliberately not voting on issues" (Annex 8, para 3.3). There have been recurrent pushes from some individuals and organizations in civil society for voting rights for the NGO Delegation (Middleton-Lee 2012) while others in civil society have argued that the consensus process is acceptable, or even preferable (Poate et al. 2009). The commitment to consensus means that every seat at the PCB can be influential in the decisions that are adopted.

The second practice that has been instrumental for the NGO Delegation is their participation in agenda setting for the PCB. The NGO Delegation has pushed for, and taken advantage of, opportunities available to shape the agenda. They have been successful in gaining the opportunity to present an annual NGO report on a topic of concern for civil society and through participation on the PCB Bureau, the executive body that creates the actual agenda for each meeting (Middleton-Lee 2012). In addition, the Delegation has engaged in agenda-setting through participation in PCB working groups, and through creation of internal working groups, to focus on the board work of ensuring institutional accountability and transparency. These activities happen largely out of the light of media attention and are labor intensive, however, the watchdog role on budgets and accountability for implementation of PCB decision points demonstrates that the NGO Delegation is willing to share the burden of board work and provides the NGO Delegation with influence on the funding and decisions critical to civil society.

Within the PCB meetings, delegates continue their work to raise issues and frame the dialogue in ways that are inclusive of margainlized groups. They use their position to present data and share information from their own experience and that of others in civil society. The review of civil society influence on UNAIDS, found that "[r]epresentatives from all stakeholder groups speak passionately about the NGO Delegation's role as a reality check to the Board's proceedings – which, otherwise, risk being overly theoretical and political...They can 'shift' the discourse – by providing real life evidence, perspectives and opinions." (Middleton-Lee 2012, 5). ⁷⁹

⁷⁹ See, for example, a video-recording of the intervention by Joel Nana, an NGO Delegate from Cameroon, representing the South African organization, African Men for Sexual Health and Rights. In the video, from 2012, Nana responds to the opposition by some Member

Practical demonstrations of the effectiveness of the NGO Delegation in shaping outcomes can be seen in changes the delegates successfully sought to the PCB guiding principles, including that PCB work be "based on the meaningful and measurable involvement of civil society, especially people living with HIV and populations most at risk of HIV infection" (19th PCB) and "based on the principle of non-discrimination" (24th PCB) (Middleton-Lee 2012). These principles are included in the preamble to all PCB decision points. The NGO Delegation is described in the 2012 evaluation as having effectively heightened attention to human rights and the needs of most marginalized communities in the UNAIDS 2011-2015 strategy and in the 2011 United Nations Political Declaration on HIV/AIDS. However, the Delegation has recorded its disappointment at failing to convince Member States to include (a) reform of criminal laws focused on people living with HIV in the UNAIDS strategy and (b) attention to the human rights of transgender people in the 2011 Political Declaration (Middleton-Lee 2012).

In the UNAIDS Second Independent Evaluation, Poate et al. (2009) described the influence that the NGO Delegation had on the PCB decisions, during a particularly contentious meeting in 2004 on HIV prevention strategy. Because of intense lobbying and discussions before and during the meeting, decision were adopted that focused on meeting the needs and protecting the human rights of those people most vulnerable to the disease. These proposed decisions included a comprehensive list of these groups and were passed

States to language calling for human rights protections for key affected populations in all countries: http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DeYoGpoPGxE. The other NGO Delegates, and civil society observers from different regions, are seen standing in support as Nana speaks. At the conclusion of his remarks, the video scans the room and shows some participants in Member State delegations standing, as well as applause by what appears to be a majority of Member State representatives to the PCB.



after strenuous debate and initial opposition among some strong Member States. Opposition focused on different aspects of the strategy, including evidence-based approaches on condoms; harm reduction strategies for people in prisons and those who inject or use drugs (such as needle and syringe exchange, opioid substitution therapy); and a focus on protecting human rights throughout all aspects of the prevention strategy (23). Similarly, the 2012 evaluation described effective advocacy within the PCB meetings:

[T]he NGO Delegation has used PCB agenda items to advocate for the specific needs and rights of individual key affected communities. The Delegation – often facing considerable political opposition from some Member States – has pushed for the strongest rights – based language that would be supported by the majority of PCB members, reflect international standards and be useful for further civil society advocacy within countries and regions.

(Middleton-Lee 2012, 27)

The review and evaluation identified only a few areas where the NGO Delegation was seen as not adequately influential. The first area of concern was the lack of voting rights, although, as described above, there are mixed opinions regarding how much voting rights matter in practice (Poate et al. 2009, Middleton-Lee 2012). The other area of concern was about the post-2015 global development agenda. Respondents perceived the NGO Delegation as lacking the ability to influence the negotiations and as having insufficient power to bring other civil society voices into the process (Middleton-Lee 2012).

Goal 2: Status

To what extent have marginalized communities affected by HIV seen their status increase as a result of their representation in the PCB? Within the PCB, there are clear indications that representatives of these marginalized communities have experienced

increased status over time.⁸⁰ This increased status approaches, but does not reach, equal treatment. The reasons for the remaining inequalities have less to do with maintaining the hierarchies that exist outside the decision-making body and more to do with the intergovernmental structure of any U.N. body. As described in the previous section, where equal status does not exist is in voting rights, which are extended only to Member States.

The status improvement gained by the NGO delegates is demonstrated by their inclusion in the PCB bureau and regular meetings with the UNAIDS Executive Director and governance team, the PCB Chair and Vice-Chair, the Co-Sponsor Coordinating Committee (Middleton-Lee 2012). Further, the NGO Delegation invites a number of Member States to meet with them before each PCB meeting (Middleton-Lee 2012). The invitation itself does not show improved status. What does is the number of states that schedule these meetings: customarily the Latin American states, the U.S. government, the Nordic states, and other European states. The African states also allow the African NGO delegates to join them for a briefing. In a further mark of improved status, the NGO Delegation was originally, but is no longer, called upon last in the speaking order of PCB members. The new order has been labeled an "equitable speaking order among the Programme Coordinating Board members, including the NGO Delegation" (NGO Delegation 2008, para 10).

In 2012, the evaluation of UNAIDS includes a telling statement from a Member State that "Now, the Delegation is not just ten individuals, but a united group that also has thousands and thousands of others behind them" (Middleton-Lee 2012, 16). This provides a possible explanation for the increased status of the NGO Delegation. The evaluation credits the delegates with creating a strong identity and shared goals within the Delegation

⁸⁰ At the country level, no evaluations have been conducted of changes in status for people living with or affected by HIV as a result of their participation in global decision-making.

that have lead to higher quality interventions and created a clearer sense among Member States that the Delegation is representative of civil society organizations.

Goal 3: Partnership

Two kinds of partnerships are important for a system of liberatory representation: those between marginalized communities and more dominant social groups and those among different marginalized communities and subgroups. The inclusion of civil society in the PCB has allowed both of these kinds of partnerships to develop. Representatives of Member States and heads of U.N. agencies are the dominant social groups operating in these settings. Through opportunities to meet with Member States and co-sponsors, the NGO Delegation has identified where their interests align with other representatives. For example, the NGO Delegation has worked with Member States from Europe, Latin America, and North America to press for language supporting the human rights of people living with HIV and gay men and other men who have sex with men, and, to some extent, sex workers and people who use drugs. Recently, the Delegation made common cause with the African nations (and Iran which generally aligns itself with the African nations) to get decision points addressing intellectual property and free trade agreements adopted by the PCB (NGO Delegation 2015).

The structure for NGO participation in the PCB, combined with the rules adopted by the NGO Delegation for their own conduct, create opportunities for better understanding and coalition development between different communities affected by HIV. Within the Delegation, the ECOSOC rules for geographical diversity leads to cross-education about specific regional situations. The Delegation's commitment to inclusion of people living with HIV and those from most-affected communities brings more education to each member

about the circumstances that different communities experience. Since the first delegation in 1993, representatives have come from networks of people living with HIV, women living with HIV, sex worker networks, drug user networks, and young people's networks, as well as organizations in the fields of human rights, sexual and reproductive health, women's health, LGBT rights, access to medication, housing and anti-poverty initiatives, legal services, harm reduction for people who use drugs, journalism, faith communities, immigrant health and rights, and humanitarian medical and emergency relief (NGO Delegation 2014c).

Beyond the increased support between communities that occurs within the NGO Delegation, other civil society groups have more opportunities to work together and learn from one another because the Delegation exists. These opportunities occur at country and regional levels when the NGO Delegates hold pre- and post- PCB consultations and briefings with interested civil society organizations. They also take place at the PCB, where the NGO Delegation holds a briefing for all civil society observers before the meeting starts and daily debriefings throughout the meeting. The meetings provide the chance for the Delegates and observers to coordinate strategies and also for observers to build relationships and strategies with one another (Middleton-Lee 2012).

Dilemma 1: Institutional Legitimacy

Within the PCB, the tension that arises between voice for marginalized groups and legitimacy for international institutions is clear. Member States challenge the level of participation by civil society to a greater extent at the UNAIDS PCB than they do at the meetings of the Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues. This difference is likely due to the different levels of influence each body holds. Civil society board members within the PCB

physically sit at the same governance table with member states and participate jointly with member states in setting the agenda, proposing decisions, negotiating outcomes, and evaluating implementation. Indigenous Members in the Permanent Forum also sit together with the Permanent Forum members appointed by Member States, jointly craft the agenda, and cooperate to determine their recommendations to ECOSOC. However, the Permanent Forum serves in an advisory, rather than decision-making, capacity. Consequently, civil society Delegates to the PCB have greater opportunities to directly influence decisions that affect Member States and the U.N. agencies.

Three of the nine UNAIDS PCB Member States who were interviewed for the 2012 review expressed concerns about the influence of NGO Delegation within the PCB. Their criticisms of the NGO Delegation focused on the priority that the Delegation gave to human rights and key populations within the PCB. Among other concerns, these Member States complained that the Delegation's choices of topics for their annual report to the PCB overly emphasized key populations and human rights at the expense of other aspects of the epidemic that might be common to everyone (Middleton-Lee 2012). This exemplifies the dilemma at hand: while these Member States critiqued the report topics, the civil society respondents who were interviewed for the review gave high marks (greater than 90%) to the report topics. In fact, civil society respondents gave higher approval scores to the report topics than to almost any other question measuring the NGO Delegation's or UNAIDS' effectiveness (Middleton-Lee 2012, 5). As described above, in 2013, some Member States brought a formal challenge to the NGO Delegation's right to propose decision points

to the PCB -- a challenge that was sent to U.N. legal counsel for a review and was decided largely in favor of the NGO Delegation (NGO Delegation 2013).81

A greater issue for the legitimacy, and therefore, the stability, of UNAIDS as an intergovernmental body arises from decisions by a few Member States to disassociate themselves from specific decisions adopted by the PCB. Like other UN bodies, the PCB normally operates through consensus, with formal negotiations over contentious points proceeding until agreement is reached. However, the commitment to this consensus process has been challenged by actions at recent meetings. From the 26th meeting, in 2010, to the 31st meeting, in 2012, of the PCB, the Iranian representative noted five times that the Islamic Republic of Iran formally disassociated itself from decision points that were adopted. In the same time period, the Arab Republic of Egypt disassociated itself three times, generally overlapping with the Iranian dissents. The disassociation took the form of the following, from the 30th meeting of the PCB:

In June 2012, regarding Decision 6.1 of the 30th meeting of the PCB, "Follow-up to the thematic segment [HIV and Enabling Legal Environments] from the 29th PCB meeting," on the Arab Republic of Egypt and the Islamic Republic of Iran disassociated themselves.



⁸¹ Member state opposition to the NGO Delegation's proposal of decision points arose in response to an NGO report focusing on "treatment access for gay men and other men who have sex with men, transgender people, sex workers and people who inject drugs: communities that persistently struggle for visibility and access to health services in many contexts" (NGO Delegation, 2013b).

⁸² An earlier approach to a Member State's opposition to decision points can be seen in the treatment of the U.S. delegation in 2005. The PCB approved Decision 8.6 of the 17th meeting of the PCB that took notice of the U.S. government's statement that supporting needle and syringe exchange as a harm reduction approach for people who inject drugs was incompatible with national laws and policies and that the U.S., therefore, could not be expected to fund such programs.

⁸³ In 2010, regarding Decision 12 of the 26th meeting of the PCB, on "Reducing HIV transmission among men who have sex with men and transgender people," the Islamic Republic of Iran disassociated itself.

The Arab Republic of Egypt and the Islamic Republic of Iran disassociate themselves from those parts of this Decision Point that may be interpreted as recognition, protection or promotion of unethical/illegal behaviours; or may contradict with cultural, moral and religious values, national sovereignty, and legal and social systems of the countries concerned. Accordingly, the Arab Republic of Egypt and the Islamic Republic of Iran shall not be bound by any results related to or arising from the abovementioned parts.

(Decision 6.1 of the 30th meeting of the UNAIDS PCB, 2012)

The first two occasions took place before the 2012 evaluation of civil society participation in the PCB was complete. Member States referred to the conflict with concern. By contrast, NGO Delegates expressed some support for the processes of disassociation, as reported in the evaluation:

[T]he 2012 Review identified widespread concern about tense dynamics between some members of the PCB. This is seen to have contributed to a scenario whereby – to conclude some highly sensitive agenda items and prolonged debates – some Member States have started to 'dis-associate' themselves from decision points. Some stakeholders fear that, as a representative of a Member State put it, "the time for universal consensus has gone" – weakening the power of PCB decisions. However, others, including many in the current NGO Delegation, welcome that 'dis-association' enables the PCB to maintain relatively strong language, such as about key affected communities. (Middleton-Lee 2012, 6)

This difference in perspective likely arises from the different responsibilities that Member States have for international cooperation as compared with civil society. For UN Member States, the UNAIDS PCB is one venue among many within which states coordinate their activities. Collaboration across all these venues depends entirely on the goodwill and reciprocity of states. Follow through is dependent on each state's commitment to the joint agreements. By contrast, for the NGO Delegation, the UNAIDS PCB represents a rare UN

In December 2012, regarding Decisions 4.5, 4.6, and 4.8 of the 31st meeting of the PCB, on "Gender Sensitivity of AIDS Response" the Islamic Republic of Iran disassociated on all three decisions and the Arab Republic of Egypt disassociated on the latter two decisions.

venue within which civil society has substantial opportunities for influence. Somewhat ironically, the fact that Iran and Egypt disassociated themselves from specific decisions indicates their acknowledgment of the legitimacy of the UNAIDS' PCB decisions. The language of these decisions matters to them. Otherwise, they could simply choose not to concern themselves with the decisions.

The main tension for legitimacy for the UNAIDS PCB is between the focus on the most marginalized groups and their human rights that the NGO Delegation brings and the opposition of some governments⁸⁴ to making these groups and their rights a priority. The hardest balancing act for UNAIDS is between focusing on providing equal respect and concern to the groups that are most marginalized within the epidemic—the key affected populations, that are multiply-marginalized in almost every country, and women and girls overall – and maintaining the legitimacy for UNAIDS' actions, and the actions that Member States are called on to perform, that cooperation among all Member States provides.

Dilemma 2: Subordinated groups within civil society

المستشارات

Member State delegates, such as those from Iran and Egypt in 2010, 2012, or 2013, that regard the NGO Delegation as wielding too much weight in the PCB also regard subordinated groups within civil society as having plenty of access -- more than is warranted -- to the PCB. The evaluation of UNAIDS in 2012 indicated as much: "Some Member States express strong concern about what they perceive as over-representation of key affected communities in the NGO Delegation - considering it to be disproportionate and unhelpful" (Middleton-Lee, 26). Yet the evaluations in 2008 and 2012, as well as

⁸⁴ Some Member States are consistently supportive of the human rights of key population groups, primarily the Nordic states, the Western European states, and the Latin American states.

contributors to a special report in the journal Lancet, found significant gaps in the representation of those most marginalized, particularly in terms of the participation by, and attention to the needs of, gay men and other men who have sex with men, sex workers, and people who use drugs (Das and Samarasekera 2008, Poate et al. 2009, Middleton-Lee 2012). While the authors of the Second Independent Evaluation found some progress in UNAIDS' leadership in supporting country-level services for these multiply-marginalized groups, they saw continued absence of leadership regarding the human rights of these group members, including, at times, a lack of support or urgency from country-level staff for the human rights of key populations (Poate et al. 2009).

Over time, the NGO Delegation increasingly has paid conscious attention to issues of the most subordinated groups, despite criticism for this from some Member States and others in civil society (Middleton-Lee 2012). The NGO Delegation has developed recruitment criteria to ensure better inclusion of subordinated groups, including giving preference to candidates openly living with HIV and key affected populations, with a requirement that a minimum of three delegates be living with HIV (NGO Delegation 2008). The 2012 evaluation reported that Member States and civil society largely felt that the NGO Delegation has improved in inclusion of representatives from key populations and the quality and experience of those selected to serve (Middleton-Lee 2012).

However, there are still some concerns. These include concerns that geographic representation has substantial gaps, with some areas consistently unrepresented. The clearest examples of this are in the Middle East and North Africa, part of the African region, and the Caribbean, part of the Latin American and Caribbean region. In the 20 years of the PCB, there has been one representative from the Middle East and North Africa. The

representative, Nadia Rafif of Association de Lutte Contre le Sida (ALCS), Morocco, served from 2011-2013. Similarly, until the selection of a representative from the Caribbean Network of People Living with HIV (CRN+), the Caribbean region had representation for only two years: with Robert Carr, who was replaced by Ian McNight, from the Caribbean Vulnerable Communities Coalition, Jamaica, serving in 2009 and 2010 (NGO Delegation 2014).

Dilemma 3: Burden

The work burden dilemma refers to the tension that exists between the opportunity to bring voices of excluded people to decision-making bodies and the cost to individuals and their organizations as a result. This tension is particularly acute because dominant social groups do not need to volunteer their efforts in this way. Rather, they can expect their governments to protect their interests.

For the PCB work, the amount of time expected of NGO Delegates is substantial. Delegates make a commitment of ten hours per week, which equals 25% of full time work. For the non-governmental organizations that hold the seats and support each delegate's time out of their own budgets and work plans, this equals a considerable amount of unpaid work. The work burden is a barrier to participation by smaller civil society organizations. To help the NGO Delegation participate in board work on a more equitable basis, the PCB agreed, in 2007, to provide staff support in a "Communications and Consultation Facility" (Decision 9.1 of the 20th meeting of the PCB). Even so, the NGO Delegates remain at a disadvantage as compared to Member States and the UNAIDS co-

⁸⁵ Further, the 2012 evaluation found that Delegates often work more hours than this (Middleton-Lee 2012).



sponsors. The 2008 evaluation noted that the "resources available to NGOs contrast sharply with those for other delegations to the PCB – which benefit from their institutions' considerable financial, policy and administrative support." (Poates et al. 2009, Annex 8, para 3.49). Yet, even though participation is costly in human and financial resources, the alternative for NGOs and their delegates would be a PCB that insufficiently attends to the needs of those most affected by HIV and most marginalized in their own countries.

Summary

In summary, systems of representation that meet liberatory ideals can be developed. Indeed, current processes exist that reach toward the achievement of these ideals. Rather than evaluating representation processes as liberatory or not, it is more useful to think of these processes as falling along a continuum with different factors contributing more or less to the political equality of marginalized groups.

This chapter identified three goals and three dilemmas for a system of liberatory representation. The goals for liberatory representation are for subordinated groups to experience: equal respect and concern in decisions that affect the group; increased status for the group, as they are seen to an ever greater extent as equals in governance rather than people needing to be governed by others; and the development of new partnerships within which marginalized groups can work with other groups to identify shared interests and engage in joint strategies. The dilemmas that must be addressed are foreseeable but undesired consequences that can result from increasing the voice of marginalized groups: more conservative states may withdraw their participation from international institutions if these institutions are perceived as insufficiently state-centric; the voices of more privileged members of marginalized groups may be amplified at the expense of those with

less power or subordinated within the group; and marginalized groups may have to shoulder heavy burdens of participation, in terms of human and financial costs – burdens that would be unnecessary if they were treated with equal respect and concern by their governments.

An examination of the structures and practices of the United Nations Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues and the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS--two global institutions devised to bring greater voice to marginalized groups, affected by state and global decisions—demonstrates both possibilities and challenges for other organizations seeking similar goals. Both representative bodies have increased the influence of marginalized groups, Indigenous Peoples and communities of people living with and most affected by HIV, respectively. The influence is most clear, however, within the bodies themselves. It is not clear yet whether these bodies bring significant changes for marginalized group members back at home.

The formal role for the NGO Delegation as a board member within the UNAIDS PCB allows for more influence than the advisory role established for the Permanent Forum. Improvements in status can be identified for both groups as a result of their participation in these representative bodies. However, again, the status improvements have occurred within the bodies themselves, which, while important in their own right, provide little information about improvements for communities where they live.

Similarly, within the representative bodies, Indigenous participants and people living with and affected by HIV have developed partnerships across regions and with Member States. There is some evidence that these partnerships may also extend to the country level in some instances as members of the Permanent Forum and the NGO

Delegation build relationships with governments at the global level that continue at the country level. Both representative processes have established geographic criteria that assure some diversity of voices from marginalized groups. In addition, the NGO Delegation recruitment criteria, which prioritizes gender equality and applicants from the most marginalized affected groups, increases the participation of those who are subordinated within oppressed groups.

Organizations and individuals representing marginalized groups, in both bodies, take on a burden in order to get attention to their communities' needs. A few ameliorating factors have been put in place that affect these burdens. For the NGO Delegation, the PCB directed UNAIDS to fund support staff to help with administration and communication. The Permanent Forum formally meets only a few times per year, which can limit the burden for members as well. However, experience shows that concerns about human rights violations against Indigenous Peoples in countries around the world mean that Permanent Forum members can feel an almost constant responsibility to use their position to draw attention to these violations.

The institutional legitimacy of the U.N. as a state-centered body for global governance is protected in both cases by rules limiting the influence of non-state actors. This includes the advisory role of the Permanent Forum and the voting restrictions on the NGO Delegation. Even so, when the Permanent Forum or the NGO Delegation has been seen as pushing too hard for a political voice, there has been a backlash from governments that threatens to remove their consent from some of the U.N. processes (such as reduced commitments to follow through on provisions of U.N. Declarations to which they are signatories or exiting from cooperation in the U.N. consensus-system for decision making).

The more influence that a representation process allows to the people who are most subordinated domestically, the greater the challenge to the legitimacy of the process by governments.

When working within intergovernmental institutions, as experienced by both the Permanent Forum and the NGO Delegation to the UNAIDS PCB, the result is that an increase in the opportunities for a liberatory practice can perversely decrease the state support for the institution overall. Attention will be required by both civil society and supportive states to keep the right level of tension such that oppressed groups receive as much attention to their needs as possible without greatly damaging the institution in the eyes of less supportive states.

CHAPTER 8 CONCLUSION

Previous struggles by African Americans in the U.S. South for national-level recourse for state-level discrimination provide lessons for current struggles for participation by marginalized groups. In Atlantic City, in August of 1964, the delegates to the U.S. Democratic National Convention found themselves entangled in conflict. This was not a battle over which Democratic Party presidential candidate to nominate for the general election in November, as would be typical for national party conventions. In 1964, the nomination of Lyndon Baines Johnson, already serving as President for a year since the assassination of John F. Kennedy, was secure. Indeed, Johnson would be selected as the nominee by acclimation at this Convention. Instead, the fight was about legitimate representation at the national convention for people who were denied access to the state-level nominating conventions.

The Democratic Party in the State of Mississippi had sent an all-white delegation to the Convention, following a whites-only selection process. The Mississippi Democrats had a long-standing practice of denying to African Americans any voting rights, including the right to participate in the selection of delegates to the national convention. This practice was still the order of the day in 1964 despite a U.S. Supreme Court ruling in 1944 that prohibited it.⁸⁶

⁸⁶ In *Smith v. Allwright*, 321 U.S. 649 (1944), the U.S. Supreme Court decided that political parties cannot be treated solely as private organizations given the near-exclusive influence they have on selecting candidates for public office. Instead, political parties are understood as partial state actors that are subject to the 14th and 15th Amendments of the U.S. Constitution. As such, political parties are not allowed to set internal rules for membership that deny voting rights based on race. This ruling, combined with subsequent local court challenges by African Americans across the South, had a noticeably positive effect on African American voter registration rates in the region. Nevertheless, voter registration rates remained low in the region and lowest of all in Mississippi, where white state and

In response to this discrimination, African Americans in Mississippi, led by Robert Moses of the Student Non-Violent Coordinating Committee and local organizers Fannie Lou Hamer, Victoria Gray, Annie Devine, Lawrence Guyot, and others, formed a new, multiracial, state Democratic Party, that they named the Mississippi Freedom Democratic Party (Branch 1998, Miller 2014). The Freedom Democratic Party held a separate nominating convention in Mississippi, where they selected sixty-eight delegates to the National Convention. These delegates drove to Atlantic City, bringing with them the burned-out skeleton of a car, a tall scorched cross leaning where the windshield had been, to show the kind of violence that was directed at those who organized African Americans to vote (Branch 1998, Freeman undated).⁸⁷

Both the all-white Mississippi Democratic Party and the Mississippi Freedom Democratic Party claimed to be the legitimate party organization for sending delegates to the convention. The other state party delegations were divided in their support, with friendly delegations slipping their credentials to members of the Freedom Democratic Party to get them access to the meeting hall.⁸⁸ The controversy angered Johnson, who had been strategizing behind the scenes to keep civil rights activists quiet for the duration of

local officials made disenfranchisement of African Americans a point of honor (Klarman 2001). In March of 1965, only 6.7% of eligible African American voters in Mississippi were registered to vote (Grofman et al. 1992, 23-24).

⁸⁸ The Mississippi Freedom Democratic Party documented support from the State Democratic Parties in California, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, New York, Oregon, and Wisconsin, as well as Denver and Adams Counties in Colorado in the challenge that they presented to the National Democratic Party Credentials Committee (Mississippi Freedom Democratic Party 1964).



⁸⁷ Branch (1998, 457) describes this car as a replica of the one belonging to Michael Schwerner, the young civil rights worker from New York who was murdered along with fellow civil rights workers James Chaney, from Mississippi, and Andrew Goodman, also from New York, during the Mississippi Freedom Summer in 1964. Freeman (undated) provides photos of the car brought to Atlantic City and placed outside the convention center.

the Convention, to keep the white Southern Democrats within the party fold, and to have a positive forward-looking Convention that demonstrated strong support for his nomination (Branch 1998).

The Credentials Committee held formal hearings with the members of the traditional Mississippi Democratic Party and those from the Mississippi Freedom Democratic Party. The Freedom Democrats offered a compromise that had been adopted previously when two competing delegations came from the same state: to split the seats evenly between the traditional party delegates and the Freedom Democrats' delegates (Miller 2014). Instead, the Credentials Committee offered a different compromise: the traditional party members would keep their seats as long as they signed a loyalty pledge to support the Democratic convention presidential nominee in the general election and the Freedom Democratic Party members would get two at-large seats at the Convention, although they would not be allowed to select who in their group would hold those seats (Branch 1998).89 Johnson, Hubert Humphrey (Johnson's choice for his vice-presidential running mate), and national male civil rights leaders, including Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. and Joe Rauh, the Freedom Democrats' lawyer, and United Auto Workers Union President, Walter Reuther, supported the compromise and urged the Freedom Democrats to agree (described by former Vice-President Walter Mondale, a member of the 1964 Credentials

⁸⁹ Specifically, Johnson insisted that Fannie Lou Hamer not be selected as one of the two delegates from the Freedom Party. Hamer had provided powerful and gripping testimony during the Credential Committee hearings about the beatings and death threats she and others had endured in order to register to vote. Mondale described her testimony as, "so effective that Lyndon Johnson held a news conference to try to take the television cameras away from her testimony" (Ginther 2014, 108). In negotiations over the proposed compromise, Humphrey stated to Robert Moses, Dr. King, and Bayard Rustin, that, "the President will not allow that illiterate woman to speak from the floor of the convention" (Branch, 1998, 470).

Committee, in an interview with Ginther (2014), 109). In deliberations with the Freedom Democrats and civil rights activists about the compromise, Robert Moses argued against the compromise on principle, saying, "We're not here to bring politics to our morality but to bring morality to our politics" (Branch 1989, 474). In the end, the women and men of the Freedom Democratic Party rejected the compromise, with Fannie Lou Hamer's famous assertion, "we didn't come all this way for no two seats" (Branch 1989, 474). When the Freedom Democrats refused the compromise, the National Democratic Party voted to seat the all-white Mississippi Democrats and exclude the Freedom Democrats from the Convention (Bracey 2011, 119).

Fifty years after the convention, many critiques can be found. Lytle (2006) describes the Freedom Democrats as "outmanuevered in the end," arguing that Johnson was able to gain the perception of unity at the Convention that he so much desired (162). Mark Miller (2014) was the SNCC regional representative charged with gaining the support of the California Delegation for the Freedom Democrats. He questions, in retrospect, the decision not to take the two seats that were offered because of the subsequent retaliation by the National Democratic Party. As Mississippi began to democratize under the Civil Rights Act (1964) and Voting Rights Act (1965), the Johnson and the National Democratic Party made sure that funding and support went to Mississippi Democrats not affiliated with the Freedom Democrats (Miller 2014, 16). Mondale highlights the symbolic aspect of the proposed compromise, explaining in a 2014 interview, "what we did was that we came up with this idea of seating, two delegates, one white, one black, which would be the first black delegate from Mississippi as a matter of symbolism" (quoted in Ginther 2014, 110). However, members of Freedom Democratic Party continue to express support for their

decision, seeing themselves as holding in trust the wishes of the people in Mississippi who voted for them. In 1985, Victoria Gray Adams explained, once again, the decision to reject the compromise. Her language focuses on participation as a fundamental right:

You know for those who are unable to understand why we were unable to accept that compromise...what they didn't realize was we would have been betraying those very many people back there in Mississippi whom we represented, who not only had laid their lives on the line but many who had, who had given their lives in order for this particular event to happen... [Y]ou know we realized that we came with nothing, and it made no sense at all with all the risk that had been taken...to accept what we knew for certain to be nothing, and to go back [to Mississippi] to God only knows what. And I doubt if there was a person in that delegation that did not realize that. You may get home and not have a house. You may get home and a member of your family might be missing, or you may not get home at all. And so, you know, we are not going to accept anything less than what we came after, which is the real thing, which is representation, which is the right to participate, and if we don't get that then we'll go back and take our chances and regroup and come to fight another day. And that is precisely what we did.

(Interview with Victoria Gray Adams 1985, camera roll 345).

Relevant lessons can be drawn for a theory of liberatory representation from this episode in the U.S. civil rights movement. First among these is that the advantages of traditional electoral processes may be overstated in terms of their abilities to provide representatives that truly represent the diversity of people within their boundaries. Instead of treating any deviations from geographic-based electoral districts as regrettable, lesser forms of authorization and accountability, this demonstrates that multiple forms of representation are often needed, no matter what the underlying system, to protect oppressed groups' right to meaningfully participate. Until the Voting Rights Act of 1965, and federal marshals, put an end to race-based exclusion at Mississippi's voting booths, African Americans in Mississippi were considered legitimately represented by Representatives elected in all-white elections. Even after discrimination was outlawed, their photographs continue to hang on the walls and their names continue to be recognized

in history books. Ideas about the legitimacy and proper selection of representatives are not, and have never been, set in stone. They change over time. Equally important, the idea that the highest and clearest form of legitimate representation occurs when there is a process of formal authorization and accountability expressed through voting by constituents within clear geographic boundaries fails to hold up under scrutiny. There is a need for meaningful processes of representation that ensure a political voice for those who are persistently and perniciously excluded from decision-making processes that affect them.

The experience of the Freedom Democrats provides a further lesson: that physical presence for historically excluded groups matters. As Phillips (1995) has argued, the idea that one either represents ideas or people is a false dichotomy. Instead, these are fundamentally linked. Indeed, it became clear in Atlantic City that even national-level civil rights leaders, who had similar overall goals as the Mississippi Freedom Democrats, could not speak for the concerns of the sharecroppers, farmers, and laborers who came from Mississippi, who were elected to represent the African American and progressive white people of Mississippi, and who would return after the convention to conditions of violence and intimidation in Mississippi. The national civil rights leaders could agree to a negotiated compromise that left the all-white Mississippi delegation holding all of the seats reserved for Mississippi; the Freedom Democrats could not.

One final lesson is illustrated by the struggle at the Democratic National Convention: there is more at stake in a representation process than any individual outcome. In fact, there is more at stake than the outcomes at all. What is important is not simply that the ideas and preferences of marginalized groups be represented – indeed, given the clear support for Johnson's nomination, the preferences across groups were already known – but

that equal status and respect be accorded to those groups that are oppressed by others, yet are clearly part of the whole. While the outcome of the convention was established in advance, what was not established was the extent to which basic civil rights of marginalized groups would be recognized, particularly when it was not politically expedient. For the Democratic National Convention in 1964, what was at stake was the call for equality, respect, and concern. The Freedom Democrats, through bringing their challenge and through refusing the compromise that was offered, demonstrated their commitment that African Americans, even in the most racist areas of the U.S. South, should be able to live lives with the greatest physical well-being, development of their capacities, and social dignity possible. They refused to drop their insistence, even when their arguments were unsuccessful, that they be recognized as equal members of the shared political community created within the convention.

The efforts by the Freedom Democrats highlight the reasons why elites who are not part of the group cannot ultimately provide the benefits of representation that groups need. For example, Bono, from the Irish rock band U2, has used his celebrity status to bring attention to the needs of Africans affected by HIV. He has framed his efforts in terms of self-authorized representation (as quoted in Iley 2005, 22):

I represent a lot of people who have no voice at all. In the world's order of things, they are the people that count least. They are the 6,500 people who are dying of Aids in Africa every day for no good reason. They haven't asked me to represent them. It's cheeky but I hope they're glad I do.

What Bono has been able to do is to bring attention that they might not get otherwise to those who are severely marginalized and, to some extent, to convince conservative U.S. lawmakers and leaders to care about Africans living in poverty and affected by HIV (Adam



2013). However, a point of clarity is required for his claim: he does not speak *for* people, he speaks *about* people. The difference is critical for any theory of representation. The representation claim made by Bono highlights a critical concern for political representation: who does one speak for and who does one simply speak about? For people who are marginalized, this is the difference between their agency and their objectification. Gaining the attention and concern of leaders and celebrities may be a step forward from invisibility and neglect, yet it comes with serious dangers. Among these dangers are the chance that stereotypes will be reinforced that the group is incapable of speaking for itself and needs the guardianship of elites and that self-appointed spokespeople will be wrong about what the group members really need.

The questions raised by the Mississippi Freedom Democrats' challenge to the 1964 Democratic National Convention go to the old question of whether subordinated groups seeking freedom from domination should focus on changing hearts and minds or on changing laws and policies -- and claims both. These goals can be achieved through inclusive representation, skilfully constructed and deliberately implemented and maintained. This project provides a framework for an inclusive and liberatory system of representation, centred on three goals to be achieved and three tensions to be addressed. The next section provides a summary of the arguments for more inclusive representation processes and the proposed framework for liberatory representation.

A look back at where we have been

This project has focused on a specific democratic challenge: the meaningful participation in decision-making by the people who are most affected by the decisions made yet have the least influence on the shape that those decisions take. Certainly, political

decisions have different effects for different groups. One of the primary purposes for the existence of political processes is precisely to determine a just distribution of the costs and benefits that arise within a political community. Yet, if democracy is going to have any substantive grounds, as I have argued here that it must, than it cannot mean that some people are persistently and arbitrarily denied the right to effectively shape the conditions under which they live. Without processes of inclusive representation that ensure the meaningful participation of marginalized affected people in decision-making, then marginalized people are pushed into the role of wards of the more dominant social groups. That is, people who are capable of self-governance and equal in human rights to their neighbors within a political community are treated, because of biases based on who they are, as political children for whom decisions – including those designed to regulate their behavior and to impose material and other costs — are made by others. This project seeks to address this problem within one level of governance: that which takes place within global institutions.

With inclusive representation supported, in principle, further democratic concerns arise. Three sets of concerns about inclusive representation can be identified: whether amplifying the voice of marginalized people violates the equal participation rights of majorities; whether increasing the influence of marginalized people similarly harms majorities; and whether a principled set of criteria to determine which communities should, or should not, be included in a given decision-making process can be established. When these questions are explored at the level of global governance, they can be distilled into questions of the proper relationships between marginalized groups, affected by

particular decisions or decision-making bodies, and the governments who are the formal representatives of their states and populations within global fora.

Concerns about the potential loss of influence for dominant groups often fail to account for these groups' overrepresentation within domestic decision-making processes. By contrast, groups with low social status -- those subject to the relations of the ban -- watch as the agendas of their governments, the topics for discussion, and the decisions taken pass them by. Dominant groups use the apparatus of the state to ensure that their needs are met and that the costs incurred by the political community are largely passed on to others. Amplifying the voices of oppressed groups has the effect of increasing group members' access to government attention, discussion agendas, and recourse for harms inflicted on them by state or individual actors. Further, including the voices of those otherwise excluded provides the full information about the experiences and interests of all groups that is needed for good democratic decisions to be made.

However, if opportunities are created to amplify the voices of marginalized groups, but there are no protections for their influence, then the processes are likely to deteriorate into tokenism. If it is important that oppressed people speak, then it is equally crucial that their words will matter. Without ensuring influence, then the democratic and political "goods" created by increasing the voice of marginalized groups will not be sustained. The participation of members of marginalized groups is required to equalizing access to state attention and to bring forward fuller information about decisions to be made; if this participation turns out to make no difference in the lives of the groups that are supposed to benefit, then there is no reason for them to continue to participate. Indeed, the two groups examined in these chapters, Indigenous Peoples and people living with HIV, have

consciously organized themselves in response to exclusion at the state level. These groups seek, to use Dworkin's language, "procedures that protect and respect" the democratic conditions of "equal status for all." Without such procedures, global decisions simply reinforce domestic inequalities.

Inclusive processes for decision-making create the possibility for equal status for dominant and marginalized groups. There remain other challenges, however, including questions of practically determining which groups to include. Building on close attention to issues of representation and domination described by Held (2003), Young (1989), and Mansbridge (1999), six criteria can be identified to address this challenge. The purpose for inclusive representation is not to include everyone who is interested in a given issue but, rather, to ensure that those who have been most affected, but least able to affect, decisions are able to participate in the decision-making process. For the following criteria, the greater the extent to which a group meets these criteria, the stronger the case for inclusion in the decision-making process:

- 1) The members of the group will have their life expectancy or life chances affected by the decisions to be made.
- 2) The group is situated differently from other groups such that its experiences and understandings of the issues at hand are unlikely to be included in deliberations.
- 3) The group's interests are unlikely to be meaningfully included in decision-making without specific representation.
- 4) Group members have a history of distrust of political leaders, such that they will not expect the existing decision-making bodies to take their concerns into consideration equally with the concerns of others.
- 5) Group members have been, or continue to be, viewed by dominant groups as incapable of meaningful participation as political equals.
- 6) The decision-making body will address new or emerging issues which affected groups will not have had prior opportunity to discuss and determine their positions.

Using these criteria, any decision-making body can identify groups that are significantly affected and likely to be disregarded without representation. Further, groups that find

themselves excluded from decisions that affect them can use these criteria to petition for entry into the decision-making body.

Taken together, the arguments for inclusion of representatives of marginalized groups and ensuring their influence on outcomes and the criteria for determining when a particular group ought to be at the decision-making tables, provide a rationale and a structure for processes of inclusive representation. Treating members of marginalized groups as equals, with the ability to represent their own community interests, creates the conditions under which equal status can be realized. This is the reason that Young (1989, 262) has argued for inclusive representation, because of its potential "to undermine oppression" that excluded groups otherwise experience. To this basic structure, further attention to the goals and challenges of representation is needed.

Questions about political representation go to the heart of every democratic process that is not based on direct democracy. As such, contemporary political theorists have devoted significant normative and empirical attention to questions of substantive representation, minority influence, tokenism, deliberation quality, and status among representatives. These efforts contribute to this project's focus on liberatory processes of representation within global institutions for marginalized groups. Representation that meaningfully includes oppressed groups within decision-making bodies is anticipated to offer many democratic benefits. The increase in information and additional approaches to problems is expected to lead to better decisions. With a greater diversity of experience in the room, the quality of deliberations should improve, leading to better outcomes. Further, including members of marginalized groups as part of the decision-making body demonstrates their political equality as full partners in responding to joint problems and

shared concerns. This is expected to result in increased status, thus reduced marginalization, for members of these groups. Finally, more inclusive representation increases the democratic accountability of the institution through ensuring that greater numbers of communities that are affected by the institution's activities are able to track, monitor, and communicate policies and their effects.

However, inclusive representation may also lead to outcomes that are not liberatory for marginalized groups. Existing hierarchies of power and status pose critical obstacles. If these hierarches are reinforced, rather than dismantled, through the process for representation then the democratic possibilities will not be realized. Members of previously excluded groups may be welcomed into decision-making bodies, within which the existing power hierarchies that oppress them remain unaddressed. When this happens, marginalized groups will continue to lack influence in the decisions that affect them. Even if the representatives from marginalized groups are recognized as equal partners within the decision-making body, concerns about unjust status hierarchies remain. When representation processes are designed as if all members of marginalized groups are similar in interests and in needs and are similarly placed in terms of power, the result is a further reinforcement of existing hierarchies within the group. Those who may be subordinated within the group already, because of their gender, race, sexual orientation, or some other characteristic, thus become further silenced and invisible.

Another challenge that proponents of inclusive representation processes must address is the way that structural violence, experienced by marginalized groups, affects their participation in decision-making. From discrimination in the legal environment, such as laws criminalizing gay men, lesbians, and transgender people or enhanced police

surveillance in racial minority or immigrant communities, to the financial, emotional, and psychological costs of participation, marginalized groups face different and harsher obstacles to participation when compared with dominant groups. This structural violence that leads to a disproportionate burden for marginalized groups seeking participation in decision-making.

Further adding to the list of obstacles, those who seek more inclusive global decision-making processes must contend with a state-centric global system that is structurally rigid when it comes to civil society influence. Marginalized peoples face conflicts between legitimizing the existing global hierarchies and seeking to strengthen multilateral organizations, while simultaneously seeking greater autonomy and rights of participation in governance. Protection of state sovereignty, particularly for poorer and weaker states, is critical to ensure global stability and provide a shield against domination by stronger states, as argued by Roth (2011). This stability protects both dominant and oppressed groups, although the benefits disproportionately flow to the elites. However, there is a price paid for a global architecture founded on state power and that price is largely paid by marginalized racial, ethnic, and sexual minority groups within the state. Currently, international institutions seek to maintain the existing architecture, states seek the greatest legitimacy possible to pursue their interests, and members of marginalized groups to attempt to shift the balance of power, however slightly, in their direction.

There is a delicate balancing act taking place between the powers of the state, global institutions, multinational corporations and business interests, and NGOs and civil society organizations. From the position of marginalized groups, the state, which holds the responsibility to protect citizen rights, frequently uses its power to ignore or actively

oppress racial, ethnic, and sexual minorities; global institutions sometimes wield moral authority in their favor, but their foundation in the states means that they offer constricted support in practice; multinational corporations and business interests largely serve to minimize the space within which states, global institutions, and civil society can maneuver, working to ensure their own access to natural resources, intellectual property, and the highest prices that they can force markets to accept. Determining the entry points for action is difficult: states consistently prove uninterested in the human rights of marginalized groups within their borders. Corporations may offer token opportunities for individual participation but will not support efforts to redistribute power and resources in the ways needed to reduce competition within and among states for resources and provide economic security to marginalized groups. If global institutions provide more power and meaningful voice to marginalized groups, or any sections of civil society, they risk losing the support of states, and, thus, their legitimacy to do anything at all.

In this project, I have presented an approach for achieving the rewards and managing the risks of inclusive representation that global institutions and members of marginalized groups alike might adopt. The framework for liberatory representation provides a means for institutionalizing processes that are focused on removing domination and meaningfully increasing respect and concern within the lived experiences of marginalized groups on issues that substantively affect them. The framework is based on the commitment to three goals: 1) representatives of marginalized groups must be able to influence the outcomes of decision-making processes; 2) improved status for the marginalized group such that they are able to experience equal respect and concern in decision-making; and 3) the development of partnerships between marginalized groups

and others in the decision-making body, through greater understanding, mutual education, and the identification of issues of shared concern. In addition to the three goals, this project has argued that there are three crucial dilemmas to which liberatory representation processes within global institutions must attend. The first is that the processes must seek to protect the legitimacy of international institutions, recognizing that marginalized people are better protected when states support international institutions than when they do not. The second requires that representation processes for marginalized groups, while protecting the rights of group members in general to select their representatives, are structured such that group members who are subordinated within the group are also able to bring forward their concerns and experiences as part of the decision-making body. The final dilemma draws attention to the burden born by representations who are part of marginalized groups - burdens that can relate to discrimination or isolation within the decision-making body, to processes set up for the comfort of dominant group members (such as operating procedures, timing of breaks, types of food served, and payment and reimbursement processes), and to the larger system of structural violence within which they and their constituents live and work. The dilemma is to create processes of meaningful inclusion that recognize and seek to level the effects of the unequal burdens carried by representatives from oppressed groups.

A look forward to where we are going

The liberatory framework for representation sketched in this project calls for representation for marginalized groups so that marginalized groups can enjoy liberal democratic values of autonomy, personal development, and freedom from domination. The framework requires specific actions on the part of more dominant groups to make this

happen: these include making space within the decision making body for those who are at the intersection of multiple marginalized identities; and attending to, and working to ameliorate, undue burdens placed on representatives from marginalized groups in order to participate. A central challenge for this entire project is determining how and why current elites would agree to share power, however slightly, and to extend their efforts in this way. The arguments made in the language of liberal democracy are unlikely to persuade those who benefit from the current system and who, by virtue of their status, are able to ignore or rationalize the plight of those who are oppressed. This project described two examples of groups, Indigenous Peoples and people living with HIV, who combined pressure with language – language that was adopted initially in small ways, by few U.N. Member States -to successfully gain formal rights of participation in decision-making within the U.N. system. Is this the process for other groups to follow? What kinds and levels of pressure from marginalized groups; what language of democracy, liberalism, human rights, or efficiency; what calls to the self-interest of elites are able to speak to dominant groups and allow the development of these kinds of processes?

Further research should examine the question of influence within decision-making bodies. Specifically, researchers can observe interactions within meeting: who speaks; who is responded to or noted in responses by others at the table; who is involved in conversations behind the scenes? These questions need to be studied over an extended time period because silence can be a strategy at any particular meeting and changes may be seen over time. The critical analysis to follow from these studies and observations is to determine what outcomes can be traced to the influence of representatives from marginalized groups at the meeting.



Research questions on status also call out for further attention. To what extent does inclusion in decision-making bodies, as theorized, improve the status of groups? Researchers can explore whether or not there are changes in perception, by members of dominant or marginalized groups, such that those who have been marginalized are now seen as partners in the mutual project of governance. If inclusion does lead to status changes, what are the mechanisms that account for this? Allport's (1954) contact hypothesis would suggest that working together to solve shared problems would break down biases against the marginalized group. Alternately, members of dominant groups could seek to be seen as on the right sides of norms they perceive as changing or could find it strategically useful to align with the representatives of marginalized groups. Also critical for understanding status changes would be to determine whether these changes are limited to the people in the room or whether the higher regard is extended more broadly: from members of dominant groups who are not part of the decision-making body and to members of marginalized groups who are also not part of the decision-making body.

There are some specific questions that marginalized groups need answered in order to plan their advocacy work. Chief among these are questions about the effects that global decisions have on the life chances of affected populations. Specifically, are decisions that are weakly worded, but that gain consensus among Member States, more likely to be implemented than more strongly-worded decisions from which Member States disassociate themselves? Do more conservative states (which can be defined depending on the issue) affirmatively implement any decisions to which they agree in global fora? Further, for social movements focused on increasing respect and concern for oppressed groups, research questions include: under what conditions is an outside strategy – of

protest or direct action -- more effective, compared to an inside strategy, or a combination?

Are there claims that do not get, or seemingly cannot be, made in the representation setting that need to be made?

A concluding remark is needed here about the limits of any categories for measuring processes that affect the dignity of subordinated groups. It is clear that the inclusion of marginalized people in governance groups is greater than the sum of its parts; greater than its relative success at influence, status, and partnership; greater than its ability to solve serious dilemmas related to the role of states in intergovernmental decision-making, double and triple minorities, or burdens on groups to participate. What each system of representation creates, at the most basic level, is the chance for people who systematically are denied care and concern by states to be seen by those who are otherwise able to operate as if they do not, or should not, exist. These processes ensure for marginalized people the invaluable opportunity to sit across from government delegations and know that governments will still persecute marginalized groups, yet, these governments must, if only once or twice per year, face the members of the groups they persecute, look in their faces, and hear their assertions that they do exist, they are human, and they know that they are deserving of human rights.

REFERENCES

- Abbott, Kenneth W. and David Gartner. 2012. "Reimagining Participation in International Institutions." *Journal of International Law and International Relations* 8: 1-35.
- Abney, F. Glenn, and John D. Hutchinson, Jr. 1981. "Race, Representation, and Trust:

 Changes in Attitudes After the Election of a Black Mayor." *Public Opinion Quarterly*45, 1: 95-101.
- Agamben, Giorgio. 1998. *Homo Caser: Sovereign Power and Bare Life.* Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Aggleton, Peter, Richard Parker, and Mirim Maluwa. 2003. "Stigma, Discrimination, and HIV/AIDS in Latin America and the Caribbean." *Sustainable Development Department Technical Papers Series*. Washington, D.C.: Inter-American Development Bank.
- Aguilar, Gonzalo, Sandra Lafosse, Hugo Rojas & Rebecca Steward, "South/North Exchange of 2009 The Constitutional Recognition of Indigenous Peoples in Latin America."

 Pace International Law Review Online Companion (September): 44-96.
- Albers, Eliot. 2013. "Members Meeting—and some." (June 23). Available at: https://inpud.wordpress.com/2013/06/23/members-meeting-and-some/.

 Accessed on 22 February 2015.
- Aljassem, Kinda, Janet M. Raboud, Trevor A. Hart, Anita Benoit, DeSheng Su, Shari L. Margolese, Sean B. Rourke, Sergio Rueda, Ann Burchell, John Cairney, Paul Shuper, Mona R. Loutfy, and the OHTN Cohort Study Research Team. 2014. "Gender Differences in Severity and Correlates of Depression Symptoms in People Living

- with HIV in Ontario, Canada." Journal of the International Association of Providers of AIDS Care (JIAPAC).
- Allen, Chadwick. 2002. *Blood Narrative: Indigenous Identity in American Indian and Maori Literary and Activist Texts.* Durham: Duke University Press.
- Allport, Gorden W. 1954. The nature of prejudice. Cambridge, MA: Perseus Books
- American Foundation for AIDS Research (amfAR) & Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health. 2013. *Achieving an AIDS-Free Generation for Gay Men and Other MSM in Southern Africa*. New York and Baltimore: amfAR and Johns Hopkins. Available at: http://www.amfar.org/uploadedFiles/_amfarorg/Articles/Around_The_World/GM T/2013/MSM%20Global%20Report%20051613.pdf. Last accessed on 21 February 2015.
- Andriote, John-Manuel. 1999. *Victory Deferred: How AIDS Changed Gay Life in America*.

 Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Aristotle. [350 B.C.E] 2009. *Politics*. R.F. Stalley (ed.), Ernest Barker (transl.). Oxford University Press.
- Armitage, Andrew. 1995. *Comparing the Policy of Aboriginal Assimilation.* Vancouver, B.C.: University of British Colombia Press.
- Ball, Jessica. 2008. "Promoting equity and dignity for Aboriginal children in Canada."

 Choices: Institute for Research on Public Policy 14: 1-28.
- Banducci, Susan A., Todd Donovan, and Jeffry A. Karp. 2004. "Minority Representation, Empowerment, and Participation." *Journal of Politics* 66, no. 2: 534-556.



- Beijing Declaration of Indigenous Women. 1995. Available at http://www.ipcb.org/resolutions/htmls/dec_beijing.html. Last accessed 25 February 2015.
- Berlin, Isaiah. 1969. Four Essays on Liberty. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Bewely-Taylor, David R. 2012. *International Drug Control: Consensus Fractured.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Bhardwaj, Kajal. 2012. "The EU-India free trade agreement and access to medicines." *Third World Resurgence* No. 259 (March): 15-19.
- Beier, J. Marshall. 2007. "Indigenous Diplomacies and Indigenous Diplomacies." In Ed. Marshall Beier, Indigenous Diplomacies. New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 1-27.
- Benhabib, Seyla. 2011. *Dignity in Adversity: Human Rights in Troubled Times.* Malden, MA: Polity Press.
- Bentham, Jeremy. [1907] 2007. *An Introduction to the Principles of Morals and Legislation.*Mineola, NY: Dover Publications, Inc.
- Bentley, Arthur F. 1908. *The Process of Government: A Study of Social Pressures*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Bird, Karen. 2004. "The Political Representation of Women and Ethnic Minorities in Established Democracies: A Framework for Comparative Research." *AMID Working Paper Series*.
- Bongaarts, John and Steven W. Sindig. 2009. "A Response to Critics of Family Planning Programs." *International Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health* 35, no. 1: 39-44.



- Bosia, Michael J., 2005. "Founding of ACTUP Paris." *GLBT History 1988-1992.* Pasadena, CA: Salem Press.
- Bracey, Earnest N. 2011. *Fannie Lou Hamer: The Life of a Civil Rights Icon*. Jefferson, North Carolina: McFarland and Co., Inc.
- Branch, Taylor. 1998. *Pillar of Fire: America in the King years, 1963-1965*. New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Bray, Daniel. 2011. Representation and Leadership in Transnational Democracy. London:

 Palgrave Macmillan.
- Broder, John M. 2012. "U.S. Grants a Keystone Pipeline Permit." *New York Times Green Blog.*(June 26). Available at: http://green.blogs.nytimes.com/2012/06/26/u-s-grants-a-keystone-pipeline-permit/. Last accessed 22 February 2015.
- Brown, L. David. 2010. "International advocacy NGOs and network credibility in global governance and problem-solving." In Cheema & Popovski, (eds.) *Engaging civil society: Emerging trends in democratic governance*. New York: United Nations Press: 58-74.
- Brysk, Allison. 2000. From Tribal Village to Global Village: Indian rights and international relations in Latin America. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Bruyneel, Kevin. 2007. *The Third Space of Sovereignty: The Postcolonial Politics of U.S.– Indigenous Relations.* Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Burke, Edmund. [1774a]. "Speech On American Taxation." 19 April 1774. In *The Works of the Right Honourable Edmund Burke. Vol. 2.* London: Henry G. Bohn, 1-80.



- Burke, Edmund. [1774b] 1854-56. "Speech to the Electors of Bristol." 3 November 1774. In *The Works of the Right Honourable Edmund Burke. Vol. 2.* London: Henry G. Bohn, 446-448.
- Burke, Edmund. [1775] 1854-56. "Speech on Conciliation with the Colonies." *In The Works of the Right Honourable Edmund Burke. Vol. 2.* London: Henry G. Bohn, 464-471.
- Burke, Edmund. [1792] 2009. "A Letter To Sir Hercules Langrishe: On the Subject of Roman Catholics of Ireland, and the Propriety of Admitting Them to the Elective Franchise, Consistently with the Principles of the Constitution as Established at the Revolution." In Peter J. Stanlis (ed.), *Edmund Burke: Selected Writings and Speeches*. London: Transaction Publishers: 288-319.
- Callen, Michael. 1990. Surviving AIDS. New York: Harper Collins.
- Callen, Michael and Turner, Dan. 1997. "A History of the People with AIDS Self-Empowerment Movement." *Body Positive.* (December). http://www.thebody.com/content/31074/a-history-of-the-people-with-aids-self-empowerment.html, accessed 6 October 2014.
- Carneiro da Cunha, Manuela & Mauro Almeida. 2000. "Indigenous People, Traditional People and Conservation in the Amazon," in Brazil: Burden of the Past, Promise of the Future. *Daedalus, Journal of the American Academy of Sciences* 129, no. 2: 315-338.
- Castells, Manuel. 1997. *The Power of Identity*. Oxford: Blackwell Publishers.
- Cheema, G. Shabbir & Vesselin Popovski (eds.). 2010. *Engaging civil society: Emerging trends in democratic governance. New* York: United Nations Press.



- Chigwedere, Pride, George R. Seage III, Sofia Gruskin, Tun-Hou Lee, & Max Essex. 2008.

 "Estimating the Lost Benefits of Antiretroviral Drug Use in South Africa." *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome* 49, no. 4 [December 1]: 410-415.
- Chirif, Alberto. 2006. "The Author and his Work." Preface to Varese, Stefano, *Witness to Sovereignty*. Copenhagen: International Work Group For Indigenous Affairs (IWGIA).
- Chyvette T. Williams and Lawrence J. Ouellet. 2010. "Misdirected opposition: Evidence opposing "not in my back yard" arguments against syringe exchange programmes."

 Drug Policy,21 (5) (September 2010. Volume 21, Issue 5:437–439.)
- Chigwedere, Pride, George Seage III, Sofia Gruskin, Tun-Hou Lee, and Max Essex. 2008.

 "Estimating the Lost Benefits of Antiretroviral Drug Use in South Africa." *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome*, 49(4) (December 1): 410-5.
- Childs, Sarah and Mona Lena Krook. 2008. "Critical Mass Theory and Women's Political Representation." *Political Studies*, 56:3 (October), 725–736.
- Clay, Jason W., Janis B. Alcorn, & John R. Butler. 2000. Indigenous Peoples, Forestry

 Management and Biodiversity Conservation: An analytical study for the World Bank's

 Forestry Policy Implementation Review and Strategy Development Framework.

 Washington D.C.: The World Bank.
- Cohen, Cathy. 1999. *The Boundaries of Blackness: AIDS and the Breakdown of Black Politics.*Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Cohen, M.S. et al. 2011. "Prevention of HIV-1 Infection with Early Antiretroviral Therapy."

 The New England Journal of Medicine. 365(5):493-505



- Cohen, Robin & Shirin M. Rai. 2000. "Global Social Movements: Toward a cosmopolitan politics." In *Global Social Movements*, Robin Cohen and Shirin M. Rai (eds.). London: The Althone Press: 1-17.
- Colchester, Marcus. 2005. "Introduction." *Indigenous Peoples: Their forests, struggles, and rights* Montevideo, Uruguay: World Rainforest Movement: 10-16. Available at: http://www.forestpeoples.org/sites/fpp/files/publication/2011/04/indigenous-peoples-their-forests-struggles-and-rights.pdf. Last accessed 24 February 2015.
- Colchester, Marcus. 2010. "Free, Prior, and Informed Consent: Making FPIC work for forests and peoples." *Research Paper* 11 (July). New Haven, Connecticut: The Forests Dialogue. Available at: http://www.forestpeoples.org/sites/fpp/files/publication/2010/10/tfdfpicresearchapapercolchesterhi-res2.pdf. Last accessed 24 February 2015.
- Colchester, Marcus. 2011. "Divers Paths to Justice: legal pluralism and the rights of indigenous peoples in Southeast Asia an introduction." In Marcus Colchester & Sophie Chao, (eds.). *Divers Paths to Justice: Legal pluralism and the rights of indigenous peoples in Southeast Asia.* Chiang Mi, Thailand: Forest Peoples Programme (FPP) and Asia Indigenous Peoples Pact (AIPP): 17-39.
- Collins, Patricia Hill. 1990. *Black Feminist Thought: Knowledge, Consciousness, and the Politics of Empowerment*. Boston: Hyman.
- Conover, Pamela Johnston. 1988. "The Role of Social Groups in Political Thinking." *British Journal of Political Science* 18, no. 1: 51-76.
- Cooper, Joshua. 2014. "How to Maximize Your Effectiveness at the United Nations Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues." *Cultural Survival Quarterly.* (December).



- https://www.culturalsurvival.org/publications/cultural-survival-quarterly/how-maximize-your-effectiveness-united-nations-permanent
- Cornell S. 1990. "Land, labour and group formation: Blacks and Indians in the United States." *Ethnic and Racial Studies*.13, 368–388.
- Coulterman, Amy. 2011a. "Round-up: 28th PCB Meeting Report. What happened at the 28th meeting of the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board (PCB) in Geneva, Switzerland, June 21-23, 2011?" Available at: http://www.unaidspcbngo.org/2011/07/round-up-28th-pcb-meeting-report/. Last accessed 22 February 2015.
- Coulterman, Amy. 2011b. "UNAIDS NGO Delegation: 29th UNAIDS PCB Meeting Communiqué. What happened at the 29th meeting of the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board (PCB) in Geneva, Switzerland, December 13-15, 2011?" Available at: http://www.unaidspcbngo.org/2011/12/ngo-delegation-29th-unaidspcb-meeting-communique/. Last accessed 22 February 2015.
- Coulterman, Amy. 2012. "What Happened at the 30th UNAIDS Board Meeting? 30th meeting of the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board (PCB) Geneva, Switzerland, June 5-7, 2012." Available at: http://www.unaidspcbngo.org/2012/06/what-happened-at-the-30th-unaids-board-meeting/. Last accessed 22 February 2015.
- d'Adesky, Anne-Christine. 2004. *Moving Mountains: The Race to Treat Global AIDS*. London: Verso.
- Dahl, Jens. 2009. *IWGIA: a history*. Copenhagen: International Work Group For Indigenous Affairs (IWGIA).
- Dahl, Robert A. 1989. Democracy and Its Critics. New Haven: Yale University.



- Dahl, Robert A. 2006. On Political Equality. New Haven: Yale University.
- Das, Pam & Richard Horten. 2104. "Bringing Sex Workers to the Centre of the AIDS Response." *The Lancet* 385, no. 9962: 3-4.
- Das, Pam & Udani Samarasekera. 2008. "What Next for UNAIDS?" *The Lancet* 373, no. 9656: 209-212.
- De Albuquerque, Catarina. 2014. "Statement by Ms. Catarina de Albuquerque, Special Rapporteur on the Human Right to safe drinking water and sanitation to the 69th session of the General Assembly." Third Committee. Item # 69 (b,c). (22 October).

 New York. Available at:

 http://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=15230

 &LangID=E#sthash.qVYhv1RY.dpufwww.ohchr.org/EN/HRBodies/HRC/RegularSes
 sions/Session27/Documents/A_HRC_27_29_ENG.doc
- de Beauvoir, Simone. [1949] 1972. *The Second Sex.* H.M. Parshley (transl.). London: Penguin.
- Dean, Bartholomew and Jerome M. Levi. 2003. *At the Risk of Being Heard: Identity, Indigenous Rights, and Postcolonial States*. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.
- Dembicki, Geoff. 2011. "Keystone Pipeline Faces Indigenous Trans-Border Opposition." (4
 October). Available at http://www.defendersoftheland.org/story/284. Last
 accessed 22 February 2015.
- Dickson, Michael. "Anger at 'Maori holocaust' comment." *New Zealand Herald*. Wednesday

 Feb 8, 2012.

http://www.nzherald.co.nz/nz/news/article.cfm?c_id=1&objectid=10784076



- Dodson, Mick. 2001. "World Conference Against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia, and Related Intolerance." In Nakata, Martin (ed.) *Indigenous Peoples, Racism and the United Nations*. Australia: Common Ground Publishing Pty Ltd, 199-228.
- Dorough, Dalee Sambo. 2001. "International Law, the United Nations and the Human Rights of Indigenous Peoples." in *Indigenous Peoples, Racism and the United Nations*. Ed. Martin Nakata. Australia: Common Ground Publishing Pty Ltd, 109-121.
- Dorough, Dalee Sambo. 2014. "End of Year Message by Dalee Sambo Dorough, Chairperson of the UN Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues." http://undesadspd.org/Portals/0/UNPFIIChair_YEAR_END_statement_2014.pdf
- Dow, Unity and Max Essex. 2010. *Saturday is for Funerals.* Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Dryzek, John. 2007. "Theory, Evidence and the Tasks of Deliberation." In *Deliberation,*Participation and Democracy: Can the People Govern? In Shawn W. Rosenberg (ed.).

 New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Duberman, Martin. 2014. Hold Tight Gently: Michael Callen, Essex Hemphill, and the Battlefield of AIDS. New York: The New Press.
- Dworkin, Ronald. 1999. "The Moral Reading and the Majoritarian Premise." in *Deliberative*Democracy and Human Rights, Harold Hongju Koh and Ronald C. Slye, eds. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Elshtain, Jean Bethke. 1981. *Public Man, Private Woman*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Ely, John Hart. 1980. *Democracy and Distrust*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.



- Engle, Karen. 2011. "On Fragile Architecture: The UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples in the Context of Human Rights." *Eur J Int Law*, 22 (1): 141-163.
- Eschbach K. 1993. "Changing identification among American Indians and Alaska Natives." *Demography*. 30:635–652.
- Evans, Desiree. 2013. "Women with a Vision Kicks off Community Voices Project." Available at: http://wwav-no.org/women-with-a-vision-kicks-off-community-voices-project. Last accessed 14 February 2015.
- Evans-Campbell, T. (2008). "Historical trauma in American Indian/Native Alaska communities: A multi-level framework for exploring impacts on individuals, families and communities." *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 23, 316-38.
- Farmer, Paul. 2001. *Infections and Inequalities: The Modern Plagues*. Oakland, CA: University of California Press.
- Farmer, Paul, Matthew Basilico, Vanessa Kerry, Madeleine Ballard, Anne Becker, Gene Bukhman, Ophelia Dahl, Andy Ellner, Louise Ivers, David Jones, John Meara, Joia Mukherjee, Amy Sievers, and Alyssa Yamamoto. 2013. "Global Health Priorities for the Early Twenty-First Century." In *Reimagining Global Health: An Introduction*. Paul Farmer, Jim Yong Kim, Arthur Kleinman, and Matthew Basilico (eds.). Berkeley: University of California Press: 302-339.
- Fassin, Didier. 2013. "Children as Victims The Moral Economy of Childhood in the Times of AIDS." In *When People Come First: Critical Studies in Global Health*. João Biehl & Adriana Petryna (eds.). Princeton: Princeton University Press. 109-132.
- Fenno, Richard F. 2003. *Going Home: Black Representatives and Their Constituents*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.



- Fox, Gregory H. 2000. "The Right to Political Participation in International Law." In Democratic Governance and International Law, Gregory H. Fox and Brad R. Roth (eds.). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 48-90.
- Franck, Thomas M. 2000. "Legitimacy and the Democratic Entitlement." In *Democratic Governance and International Law*, Gregory H. Fox and Brad R. Roth (eds.). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 25-47.
- Freeman, Jo. Undated. "The Civil Rights Vigil at the 1964 Democratic Convention." Available at http://www.JoFreeman.com. Last accessed 20 February 2015.
- Freire Paulo. 1970. Pedagogy of the Oppressed. New York: Bloomsbury Academic.
- Galtung, Johan. 1969. "Violence, Peace, and Peace Research." *Journal of Peace Research*, 6:3, 167-191.
- Garmaise, David. 2015. "OIG investigation uncovers evidence of collusion, fraud and corruption in procurement activities in Kazakhstan." *AIDSPAN: Global Fund Observer*. (2 February). Available at: http://www.aidspan.org/gfo_article/oig-investigation-uncovers-evidence-collusion-fraud-and-corruption-procurement. Last accessed on 22 February 2015.
- Gay, Claudine. 2002. "Spirals of Trust?" *American Journal of Political Science* 4: 717-32.
- Gelfand, Lauren. 2013. "Donors Pledge \$12 Billion for 2014–2016." *AIDSPAN: Global Fund Observer*. (9 December). Available at: http://www.aidspan.org/gfo_article/donors-pledge-12-billion-2014%E2%80%932016. Last accessed on 22 February 2015.
- Gilio-Whitaker, Dina. 2014. "What Did Indigenous Peoples Get Out of the World Conference?" (25 September 2014). Accessed at:



- http://indiancountrytodaymedianetwork.com/2014/09/25/what-did-indigenous-peoples-get-out-world-conference-157042.
- Ginther, Morgan. 2014. "The Mississippi Delegation Debate at the 1964 Democratic National Convention: An Interview with Former Vice President Walter Mondale." *Southern Cultures*, 20, no. 4: 106-115.
- Global Forum on MSM and HIV. 2012. *Access to HIV Prevention and Treatment for Men Who Have Sex with Men: Findings from the 2012 Global Men's Health and Rights Study (GMHR)*. Oakland, CA: The Global Forum on MSM and HIV (MSMGF).
- Global Fund. 2011. "By-laws." http://www.theglobalfund.org/en/documents/governance/ (20 October 2014).
- Global Fund. 2012. "China and Global Fund Signal Strong Partnership." 30 November 2012.
- http://www.theglobalfund.org/en/mediacenter/newsreleases/2012-11-30_China_and_Global_Fund_Signal_Strong_Partnership/
- Global Fund. 2013. "Guidelines and Requirements for Country Coordinating Mechanisms."

 Available at: http://www.theglobalfund.org/en/ccm/guidelines/. Last accessed 25

 February 2015.
- Global Fund. 2014. *The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria By-Laws*. [Amended 21 November 2014]. Geneva: The Global Fund.
- GNP+ (Global Network of People Living with HIV). 2012. "Global Advocacy Agenda."

 Available at: http://www.hivadvocacynow.org/s/global-advocacy-agenda/. Last accessed: 25 February 2015.
- Gracey, Michael and Malcolm King. 2009. "Indigenous health part 1: determinants and disease patterns." *The Lancet*. Volume 374, Issue 9683, 4–10 July 2009, Pages 65–75



- Gramsci, Antonio. 1971. *Selections from the Prison Notebooks.* New York: International Publishers.
- Grofman, Bernard, Lisa Handley, and Richrad G. Niemi. 1992. *Minority Representation and the Quest for Voting Equality*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Guinier, Lani. 1991. "No Two Seats: The Elusive Quest for Political Equality." *Virginia Law Review* 77:8.
- Guinier, Lani. 1998. "Beyond Electocracy: Rethinking the Political Representative as Powerful Stranger." *The Modern Law Review* 71, no. 1: 1-35.
- Habermas, Jurgen. 1996. Between Facts and Norms: Contributions to a Discourse Theory of Law and Democracy. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Hamilton, Alexander [writing as Publius]. 1788. "The Same Subject Continued (Concerning the General Power of Taxation)." *The Federalist No. 35.* New York: Independent Journal. Available at: http://www.gutenberg.org/files/1404/1404-h/1404-h.htm#link2H_4_0056.
- Hayoun, Massoud. 2013. "World AIDS Day: Has China's PM made strides in HIV prevention?" *Al-Jazeera America*. December 1, 2013. http://america.aljazeera.com/articles/2013/12/1/china-hiv-aids-awarenessadvocatehujiacallsgovernmenteffortsafaca.html
- Held, David. 2003. *Democratic Accountability and Political Effectiveness from a Cosmopolitan Perspective.* Centre for the Study of Global Governance. London: London School of Economics and Political Science.
- Hirschmann, Nancy J. 2003. *The Subject of Liberty: Toward a Feminist Theory of Freedom.*Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.



- Hobbes, Thomas. [1651] 1994. *Leviathan*. Edwin Curley (ed.). Indianapolis: Hackett Publishing Company.
- Huntington, Samuel P. 1991. *The Third Wave: Democratization in the Late Twentieth Century*. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press.
- IDA (International Disability Alliance). 2014. "IDA guidance document: the election process of the CRPD Committee." Available at: http://www.ifhoh.org/doc/IDA_guidance_document.elections%26nomination.Feb2 014 EN.doc. Accessed 19 October 2014.
- IISD (International Institute for Sustainable Development). 2014. "Member States Debate Working Methods, Scope and Timing of Post-2015 Negotiations." http://sd.iisd.org/news/member-states-debate-working-methods-scope-and-timing-of-post-2015-negotiations/
- IIWGHA (International Indigenous Working Group on HIV and AIDS). 2015. "Mission."

 Available at: http://www.iiwgha.org/about/vision-and-mission/. Last accessed 25 February 2015.
- Iley, Chrissy. 2005. "Why Africa Needs U2." London Evening Standard. (June 9),22.
- INA (Māori, Indigenous and Pacific Island HIV/AIDS Foundation). 2013. Available at: http://www.ina.maori.nz. Last accessed on 22 February 2015.
- Interview with Victoria Gray Adams, conducted by Blackside, Inc. on November 9, 1985, for Eyes on the Prize: America's Civil Rights Years (1954-1965). Washington University Libraries, Film and Media Archive, Henry Hampton Collection.
- Itaborahy, Lucas Paoli & Jingshu Zhu. 2014. State-Sponsored Homophobia, a world survey of laws: Criminalisation, protection, and recognition of same-sex love. International



- Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans, and Intersex Association. http://old.ilga.org/Statehomophobia/ILGA_SSHR_2014_Eng.pdf.
- ITPC (International Treatment Preparedness Coaliton). 2008. "Making Global Fund Country Coordinating Mechanisms work through full engagement of civil society." Available at: http://www.hivpolicy.org/Library/HPP001531.pdf. Last accessed 25 February 2015.
- Jaggar, Alison. 1983. Feminist Politics and Human Nature. New York: Rowman and Littlefield.
- Jonas, William. 2001. "Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission," Opening Address to the Regional Meeting of Indigenous Peoples on the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance, 20 February 2001, Sydney, Australia. From *Indigenous Peoples, Racism and the United Nations*. Ed. Martin Nakata. Australia: Common Ground Publishing Pty Ltd, pp 35-47.
- Kalichman, Seth C., Cheryl Gore-Felton, Eric Benotsch, Marjorie Cage, & David Rompaef.

 2004. "Trauma Symptoms, Sexual Behaviors, and Substance Abuse: Correlates of
 Childhood Sexual Abuse and HIV Risks Among Men Who Have Sex with Men."

 Journal of Child Sexual Abuse. 13:1, 1-15.
- Kanter, Rosabeth Moss (1977). "Some Effects of Proportions on Group Life: Skewed Sex Ratios and Responses to Token Women". *American Journal of Sociology* 82, no. 5: 965–990.
- Karim, Quarraisha Abdool & Karim, Salim S Abdool. 2002. "The Evolving HIV Epidemic in South Africa." *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 31 (1): 37-40.



- Keck, Margaret and Kathryn Sikkink. 1998. *Activists Beyond Borders*. Ithaca, New York: Cornell University Press.
- Keohane, Robert O. 2002. "Global Governance and Democratic Accountability." Available from the London School of Economics at: http://www.lse.ac.uk/PublicEvents/pdf/20020701t1531t001.pdf. Last accessed 22 February 2015.
- Khagram, Sanjeev. 2004. *Dams and Development: Transnational struggles for water and power.* Ithaca, New York: Cornell University Press.
- King, Marvin P., Jr. 2010. The Mis-representation of the Black Poor. *Journal of Black Studies* 40, no. 5: 835-850.
- Kinyanjui, Karanja. 2014. "Global Fund to recover funds misused in Papua New Guinea." AIDSPAN: Global Fund Observer. (2 Apr 2014).
- Klarman, Michael J. 2001. "The White Primary Rulings: A case study in the consequences of Supreme Court Decisionmaking." *Florida State University Law Review*, 29, 55-107.
- Kristeva, Julia. 1982. *Approaching Abjection, Powers of Horror*. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Kukathas, Chandran. 1992. Are There Any Cultural Rights? *Political Theory*, 20, 105-39 (minus 109, 129-32).
- Kymlicka, Will. 1992. "The Rights of Minority Cultures: Reply to Kukathas." Political Theory, 20:1,140-146.
- Kymlicka, Will. 1996. "Three Forms of Group-Differentiated Citizenship in Canada." In Democracy and Difference. Seyla Benhabib (ed.) Princeton: Princeton University Press. 153-170.



- Laclau, Ernesto and Mouffe, Chantal. 2001. *Hegemony and Socialist Strategy*, 2nd Edition. New York, NY: Verso.
- Lee, Rachel S., Arlene Kochman, Kathleen J. Sikkema. 2002. "Internalized Stigma Among People Living with HIV-AIDS." *AIDS and Behavior*. (December) 6:4, 309-319.
- Levi, Margaret. 1997. *Consent, Dissent, and Patriotism*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Limin Mao, Michael R. Kidd, Gary Rogers, Gavin Andrews, Christy E. Newman, Adrian Booth, Deborah C. Saltman and Susan C. Kippax. 2009. "Social factors associated with Major Depressive Disorder in homosexually active, gay men attending general practices in urban Australia." *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health.* 33:1, 83–86.
- Lindroth, Marjo. 2011. "Paradoxes of power: Indigenous peoples in the Permanent Forum." *Cooperation and Conflict.* (December). Vol. 46:4, 543-562.
- Lijphart, Arend. 1969. "Consociational Democracy." *World Politics* 21, no. 2 (January): 207-225.
- Lipset, Seymour Martin. 1963. *Political Man: The Social Bases of Politics.* London: Mercury Books.
- Choque, Grand Chief Edward John. 2014. Letter from the 3 UN Mechanisms to the 68th President of the General Assembly Regarding the World Conference on Indigenous Peoples. (16 January 2014).



- http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/unpfii/documents/wc/letter-to-pga-3-mech-jan2014.pdf
- Locke, John. 1980. [1690]. *Second Treatise of Government*. C.B. Macpherson, ed. Indianapolis, IN: Hackett Publishing Company.
- Long, Carolyn and Nata Duvvury. 2011. "Civil society and accountability promotion in the Global Fund." In Scholte, ed. *Building Global Democracy: Civil Society and Accountable Global Governance*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press. 245-266.
- Lublin, David. 1997. "The Election of African Americans and Latinos to the U.S. House of Representatives, 1972-1994." *American Politics Quarterly* (July 1997): 269-286.
- Lublin, David. 1999. *The Paradox of Representation: Racial Gerrymandering and Minority Interests in Congress.* Princeton University Press.
- Lukes, Steven. 2005. Power: A Radical View. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Lyons, Charles. 2012. "The Dam Boom In the Amazon." New York Times. July 1, 2012: SR6.
- Machtinger, E. L., T. C. Wilson, J. E. Haberer, D. S. Weiss. 2012. "Psychological Trauma and PTSD in HIV-Positive Women: A Meta-Analysis." *AIDS Behavior*, 16:2091–2100.
- MacKinnon, Catherine. 1989. *Toward a Feminist Theory of the State.* Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Madison, James [writing as Publius]. 1787. The Same Subject Continued: The Union as a Safeguard Against Domestic Faction and Insurrection. *The Federalist No. 10.*Available at: http://www.gutenberg.org/files/1404/1404-h/1404-h.htm#link2H_4_0056.
- Madison, James [writing as Publius]. 1788. The Structure of the Government Must Furnish the Proper Checks and Balances Between the Different Departments. *The Federalist*



- No. 51. Available at: http://www.gutenberg.org/files/1404/1404-h/1404-h.htm#link2H_4_0056.
- Makin, Jennifer D, Brian W.C. Forsyth, Maretha J Visser, Kathleen J. Sikkema, Sharon Neufeld, and Bridget Jeffery. 2008. "Factors Affecting Disclosure in South African HIV-Positive Pregnant Women." *AIDS Patient Care and STDs.* (November), 22(11): 907-916.
- Malinowska-Sempruch, Kasia. 2008. "HIV Transmission and its Prevention in Eastern Europe." In *Global HIV/AIDS Medicine*, Paul Volberding, ed. pp. 587-594. Elsevier Health Sciences
- Mallinson, R. Kevin. 1999. "The Lived Experience of AIDS-Related Multiple Losses by HIV-Negative Gay Men." *Journal of the Association of Nurses in AIDS Care.* 10:5, 22-31.
- Mann, Charles C. 2005. *1491: New Revelations of the Americas Before Columbus.* New York: Alfred A. Knopf.
- Mansbridge, Jane. 1983. Beyond Adversary Democracy. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Mansbridge, Jane. 1999. "Should Blacks Represent Blacks and Women Represent Women?"

 A Contingent 'Yes'." *The Journal of Politics* 61: 628-57.
- Mansbridge, Jane. 2003. 'Rethinking Representation', *American Political Science Review*, 97, 4: 515-28
- Marx, Karl. 1844. "On the Jewish Question." Available at http://www.marxists.org/archive/marx/works/1844/jewish-question/. Last accessed 25 February 2015.



- Marx, Karl. 1871. "The Civil War in France." Available at: https://www.marxists.org/archive/marx/works/1871/civil-war-france/. Last accessed 25 February 2015.
- McCroy, Winnie. 2014. AIDS Activism Comes Alive in Sean Strub's "Body Counts" Thursday

 Jan 23, 2014. Boston, Mass.

 http://www.edgeboston.com/entertainment/books///154528/aids_activism_come

 s alive in sean strub's %22body counts%22
- Merry, Sally Engle. 2006. *Human Rights and Gender Violence: Translating international law into local justice.* Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Middleton-Lee, Sarah. (2012). "Independent Review: NGO/Civil Society Participation in the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board." UNAIDS/PCB(31)/12.CRP.3 Issue date: 16 November 2012.
- Mill, John Stuart. [1861] 2008. Considerations on Representative Government.
- Miller, Mike. 2014. "The Mississippi Freedom Democratic Party: Fifty Years Later a Time for Evaluation." *Social Policy* 44, no. 1: 15.
- Mississippi Freedom Democratic Party. 1964. "Challenge of the Mississippi Freedom Democratic Party." Available at the Online Archives of California at http://www.oac.cdlib.org/view?docId=kt1m3n989f&brand=oac4&doc.view=entire_text, last accessed on 21 February 2015.
- Minow, Martha. 1995. "Paradoxes of Rights" in *Identities, Politics, and Rights*, Austin Sarat & Thomas R. Kearns (eds.). Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.
- Mouffe, Chantal. 1996. "Democracy, Power, and the 'Political'." In *Democracy and Difference*.

 Seyla Benhabib (ed.) Princeton: Princeton University Press: 245-256.



- MSMGF (The Men who Have Sex with Men Global Forum). 2010. "Common Group report."

 Available at:

 http://www.makeeverywomancount.org/images/stories/documents/WorldAidsCa

 mpaign_CommonGroundMeetinReport_Oct2010.pdf. Last accessed 21 February

 2015.
- Nagel, Joanne. 1996. American Indian ethnic renewal: Red power and the resurgence of identity and culture. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Nagel, Beverly. 1999. "'Unleashing the Fury': The Cultural Violence of Rural Violence and Land Rights in Paraguay." *Comparative Studies in Society and History* 41, no. 1: 148-181.
- Nakagawa, Fumiyoa; Lodwick, Rebecca K.a; Smith, Colette J.a; Smith, Ruthb; Cambiano, Valentinaa; Lundgren, Jens D.c,d; Delpech, Valerieb; Phillips, Andrew N. 2012. Projected life expectancy of people with HIV according to timing of diagnosis. AIDS: Journal of the International AIDS Society. 28 January 2012 Volume 26 Issue 3 p 335–343 doi: 10.1097/QAD.0b013e32834dcec9.
- Nakata, Martin. 2001. "The United Nations and Indigenous Peoples." *Indigenous Peoples, Racism and the United Nations*. In Martin Nakata (ed.). Australia: Common Ground Publishing Pty Ltd, 15-18.
- Nana, Joel. 2012. "Standing up for human rights for key populations at UNAIDS PCB."

 Statement made at the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board meeting of June 8,

 2012. Available at http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DeYoGpoPGxE&feature=player_embedded. Last accessed 22 February 2015.



- Nelson, Aaron. 2012. "Dam Project Threatens a Way of Life in Peru." *New York Times*. (May 16): A4.
- NGO Delegation 2008. "23rd Meeting of the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board."

 Document prepared by the PCB NGO Delegation. Geneva, Switzerland, 15-17

 December 2008.
- NGO Delegation. 2012. "Our Mission, Vision and Code of Conduct." Available at: http://www.unaidspcbngo.org/delegation/our-mission/. Last accessed 25 February 2015.
- NGO Delegation. 2013a. The Equity Deficit: Unequal and Unfair Access to HIV Treatment,

 Care, and Support for Key Affected Communities. Available at:

 http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/pcb/2013/pcb33/agendaitems/20131206_PCB-NGO-report.pdf. Last accessed 24 February 2015.
- NGO Delegation. 2013b. NGO Delegation to the UNAIDS PCB: Communique of the 33rd PCB.

 Available at: http://www.unaidspcbngo.org/2014/02/33rd-pcb-communique/.

 Last accessed 24 February 2015.
- NGO Delegation. 2014a. "Communiqué: The 34th meeting of the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board." Available at: http://www.unaidspcbngo.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/Communique-34th-PCB_final.pdf. Last accessed 24 February 2015.
- NGO Delegation. 2014b. "Report by the NGO representation. When 'Rights' cause wrongs:

 Addressing Intellectual Property barriers to ensure access to treatment for all people living with HIV." UNAIDS/PCB (35)/14.19. Available at



- http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/20141114_NGOreport_35P CB.pdf
- NGO Delegation 2014c. "NGO Delegation Membership, 1995-2013." Accessed at http://www.unaidspcbngo.org/delegation/past-delegates/
- NGO Delegation. 2015. Communique from dDcember 2014 meeting
- Nolen, Stephanie. 2007. 28: Stories of AIDS in Africa. New York: Walker Publishing Company.
- Nussbaum, Martha. 2000. Women and Human Development: The Capabilities Approach.

 Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Nussbaum, Martha. 2010. From Disgust to Humanity: Sexual Orientation and Constitutional Law. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Okin, Susan Moller. 1991. Justice, Gender, and the Family. New York: Basic Books.
- Okin, Susan Moller. 1998. "Feminism, Women's Human Rights, and Cultural Differences." *Hypatia* 13, vol. 2: 32-52.
- Okin, Susan Moller. 1999. "Is Multiculturalism Bad for Women?" In *Is Multiculturalism Bad for Women?* Joshua Cohen, Matthew Howard, and Martha Nussbaum (eds.).

 Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Olley, B.O., M. D. Zeier, S. Seedat, and D. J. Stein. 2005. "Post-traumatic stress disorder among recently diagnosed patients with HIV/AIDS in South Africa." *AIDS Care:**Psychological and Socio-medical Aspects of AIDS/HIV, 17:5, 550-557.
- Open Letter. 2014. "Open Letter to co-chairs and all the member states of the OWG on SDGs."

 Available at:



- https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/10404openletter.pdf.
 Last accessed 22 February 2015.
- Parker, Richard and Peter Aggleton. 2003. "HIV and AIDS-related stigma and discrimination: a conceptual framework and implications for action." *Social Science* & *Medicine* 57: 13-24.
- Pateman, Carol. 1988. The Sexual Contract. Stanford: Stanford University Press
- People Living with HIV Global Advocacy Agenda. 2012. Amsterdam, GNP+. Available at http://www.hivadvocacynow.org. Last accessed 22 February 2015.
- People with AIDS Advisory Committee. 1983. "The Denver Principles: A Statement from the Advisory Committee of People with AIDS." Available at: http://www.nlm.nih.gov/survivingandthriving/education/documents/OB2216-
 DenverPrinciples.pdf. Last accessed 25 February 2015.
- Phillips, Anne. 1995. *The Politics of Presence.* Oxford Political Theory. New York: Clarendon Press.
- Phillips, Anne. 1996. "Dealing with Difference: A Politics of Ideas, or a Politics of Presence."

 In *Democracy and Difference*. Seyla Benhabib (ed.) Princeton: Princeton University

 Press. 139-152.
- Phillips, Anne. 1998. "Democracy and Representation: Or, Why Should It Matter Who Our Representatives Are?" *Feminism and Politics*. Oxford: Oxford University. pp. 224-240.
- Phillips, Anne. 1999. Which Equalities Matter? U.K.: Polity Press.

- Phillips, Anne. 2000. "Representing difference: why should it matter if women get elected?" In *New Gender Agenda*, Anna Coote (ed.). London: Institute of public policy research, 58-65.
- Phillips, Anne. 2003. "Recognition and the struggle for political voice." In *Recognition Struggles and Social Movements: Contested Identities*. Barbara Hobson, (ed.) Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 263-273.
- Physicians for Human Rights. 2007. Epidemic of Inequality: Women's Rights and HIV/AIDS in Botswana and Swaziland. An Evidence-Based Report on the Effects of Gender Inequity, Stigma and Discrimination. Physicians for Human Rights: Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Plato. [380 B.C.E] 2004. The Republic. C.D.C. Reeve (transl.). Indianapolis: Hackett.
- Pitkin, Hanna Fenichel. 1967. *The Concept of Representation*. Berkeley: University of California.
- Plotke, David, 1997. "Representation is Democracy," *Constellations* 4: 19–34.
- Poate, Derek, Paul Balogun and Kathy Attawell. 2009. "UNAIDS Second Independent Evaluation 2002-2008: Final Report." Available at: http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/en/media/unaids/contentassets/dataimport/pub/basedocument/2009/20091002 sie final report en.pdf. Last accessed 26 February 2015.
- Pool, Ian. 2012. "Death rates and life expectancy Effects of colonisation on Māori." *Te Ara the Encyclopedia of New Zealand* (13 July): 4. Available at:

 http://www.TeAra.govt.nz/en/death-rates-and-life-expectancy/page-4.

 Last accessed 24 February 2015.



- Policy Project. 2004. "Guidelines for Improving CCMs through Greater PLHIV Involvement."

 Available at: http://www.policyproject.com/pubs/policyplan/PLHA_CCM.pdf. Last accessed 25 February 2015.
- Positive Women's Network USA. 2013. "PWN-USA's Mission and Vision." Available at https://pwnusa.wordpress.com/about/vision/statement/. Last accessed 22 February 2015.
- Power, Jennifer. 2011. *Movement, Knowledge, Emotion: Gay activism and HIV/AIDS in Australia*. Canberra: Australian National University (ANU) E Press.
- Report of the Woman's Rights Convention, Held At Seneca Falls, N.Y., July 19th and 20th, 1848. In the *Selected Papers of Elizabeth Cady Stanton and Susan B. Anthony, vol. 1, In the School of Anti-Slavery, 1840 to 1866,* ed. Ann D. Gordon (New Brunswick, N.J., 1997).
- Rivers, Bernard. 2010. "Report Reveals that Seven CCM Applications Were Declared Ineligible During Round 9 Proposal Screening." *AIDSPAN: Global Fund Observer*. (1 April 2010). http://www.aidspan.org/gfo_article/report-reveals-seven-ccm-applications-were-declared-ineligible-during-round-9-proposal-s
- Robins, Steven. 2004. "Long live Zackie, long live': AIDS activism, science and citizenship after apartheid." *Journal of Southern African Studies*, 30:3.
- Roth, Brad. 1999. *Governmental Illegitimacy in International Law*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Roth, Brad. 2000. "Evaluating Democratic Progress." In *Democratic Governance and International Law*, Gregory H. Fox and Brad R. Roth (eds.). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 48-90.



- Rousseau, Jean-Jacques. [1762] 1988. The Social Contract. Indianapolis: Hackett.
- Roy, Phrang. 2004. "Foreword." In Globalization and Indigenous Peoples in Asia: Changing the Local-Global Interface. Eds. Dev Nathan, Govind Kelkar, & Pierre Walter. London: Sage Publications, 9-10.
- Sawer, Marian. 2000. "Parliamentary Representation of Women: From Discourses of Justice to Strategies of Accountability." *International Political Science Review / Revue internationale de science politique* 21, no. 4 : 361-380.
- Schiffman, Jeremy. 2008. "Has Donor Aid for HIV Displaced Aid for Other Health Issues?" *Health Policy and Planning* 23, no. 2 (Mar): 95-100.
- Schneider, Helen. 2002. "On the fault-line: the politics of AIDS policy in contemporary South Africa." *African Studies*, 61:1, 145-167.
- Scholte, Jan Aart. (ed.) 2011. *Building Global Democracy: Civil Society and Accountable Global Governance*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Schulte-Tenckhoff, Isabelle and Adil Hasan Khan. 2011. "The Permanent Quest for a Mandate." *Griffith Law Review*, 20:3, 673-701, DOI: 10.1080/10383441.2011.10854716
- Shepard Donald S., Wu Zeng, Peter Amico, Angelique K. Rwiyereka, Carlos Avila-Figueroa.

 2012. "A controlled study of funding for human immunodeficiency virus/acquired immunodeficiency syndrome as resource capacity building in the health system in Rwanda." American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 86: 902–907.
- Senterfitt, Walter. 2014. Presentation to the Annual Summit of the Positive Women's Network USA, Fort Walton Beach, Florida. September 17, 2014.



- Sikkema, K. J., S. C. Kalichman, R. Hoffmann, J. J. Koob, J. A. Kelly & T. G. Heckman. 2000. "Coping strategies and emotional wellbeing among HIV-infected men and women experiencing AIDS-related bereavement." *AIDS Care: Psychological and Sociomedical Aspects of AIDS/HIV*, 12:5, 613-624.
- Simon, Sara. 2011. *Voices from the Field: How Laws and Policies Affect HIV Responses.*Geneva: NGO Delegation to the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board.
- Siplon, Patricia. 2002. *AIDS and the Policy Struggle in the U.S.* Georgetown University Press: Washington DC.
- Soguk, Nevzat. 2007. "Indigenous Peoples and Radical Futures in Global Politics." *New Political Science*. 29:1, 1-22.
- Southwell, Matthew. 2012. "Delegation Intervention: Harm Reduction in UNODC and Ukraine." 31st UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board Meeting. (13 December).

 Available at http://unaidspcbngo.org/?p=19685. Last accessed 22 February 2015.
- Stockdill, Brett C. 2003. *Activism Against AIDS: At the Intersections of Sexuality, Race, Gender, and Class.* Boulder: Lynne Rienner Publishers, Inc.
- Strub, Sean. 2014. "Opening Statement." First U.S. Conference on HIV Criminalization (The Grinnell Gathering). 2 June 2014.
- Swain, Carol M. 1993. *Black Faces, Black Interests: The Representation of African Americans in Congress.* Cambridge, MA: Harvard University.
- Sylvain, Renee. 2002. "Land, Water, and Truth': San Identity and Global Indigenism."

 American Anthropologist. 104:4, 1074–1085.
- Telles, Edward. 2007. "Discrimination Against Indigenous Peoples: The Latin American Context." *The Magazine of the United Nations* XLIV, no. 3. Available at:



- http://unchronicle.un.org/article/discrimination-against-indigenous-peoples-latin-american-context/. Last accessed 25 February 2015.
- Texiera, Bryan (2014). Delegation Intervention: Performance Reporting in the Unified Budget and Accountability Framework (UBRAF). 34th UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board Meeting. 1 July 2014. Available at https://www.facebook.com/ngodelegationpcb. Last accessed 22 July 2014.
- Theobald, Nick A. & Donald P. Haider-Markel. 2009. "Race, Bureaucracy, and Symbolic Representation: Interactions between Citizens and Police." *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory* 19, no. 2: 409-426.
- Thies, Henrike C. 2009. "The (De)Legitimation of Multipartite Governance by Stakeholders:

 Indigenous perspectives on the UN Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues." Paper prepared for the ISA Convention. (February) New York.
- Thomas, Sue. 1994. How Women Legislate. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Toensing, Gale Courey. 2014a. "World Conference Controversy Continues at UN Permanent Forum." (5 September 2014). Accessed at: https://indiancountrytodaymedianetwork.com/2014/05/09/world-conference-controversy-continues-un-permanent-forum-154807
- Toensing, Gale Courey. 2014b. "NAIPC Says UN Indigenous Conference Insults Indigenous Peoples." (12 March 2104). Accessed at: http://indiancountrytodaymedianetwork.com/2014/03/12/naipc-says-un-indigenous-conference-insults-indigenous-peoples-153946
- Treatment Action Campaign. 2010. Fighting for our lives: The history of the Treatment Action Campaign 1998-2010. Cape Town: Treatment Action Campaign.



- Truman, David B. 1955. *The Government Process: Political Interests and Public Opinion.* New York: Alfred A. Knopf.
- Tully, Tracey. 2012. "Launch of APNSW+ and NSWP+ on Tuesday 24th July 2012 at Sex Worker Freedom Festival in Kolkata, India." Available at: http://unchronicle.un.org/article/discrimination-against-indigenous-peoples-latin-american-context/. Last accessed 22 February 2015.
- Tully, Tracey. 2013. "Forging partnerships between sex workers and scientists is important."

 APNSW. Available at: https://apnsw.wordpress.com/2013/07/09/forging-partnerships-between-sexworkers-and-scientists-is-important/. Last accessed 22 February 2015.
- UNAIDS. 2008. "Terms of Reference of the UNAIDS PCB NGO Delegation." Available at: http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/en/media/unaids/contentassets/datai mport/pub/externaldocument/2008/20080528_unaids_pcb_ngo_delegation_tor_en.pdf. Last accessed 25 February 2015.
- UNAIDS. 2010. "UNAIDS Strategy 2011-2015." Available at: http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/unaidspublication/2010/JC2034_UNAIDS_Strategy_en.pdf. Last accessed 25 February 2015.
- UNAIDS. 2012. Standing Up, Speaking Out: Women and HIV in the Middle East and North Africa. Geneva: UNAIDS.
- UNAIDS. 2014a. *The Gap Report.* Geneva: UNAIDS. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/en/media/unaids/contentassets/docu



- ments/unaidspublication/2014/UNAIDS_Gap_report_en.pdf. Last accessed 22 February 2015.
- UNAIDS 2014b. World AIDS Day 2014: Fast Track Report. Geneva: UNAIDS. Available at: http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/JC2686_WAD2014report_e n.pdf. Last accessed 22 February 2015.
- UNAIDS. 2015. "35th Meeting of the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board." Available at:

 http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/20141212_Decisions_35PC

 B_meeting_EN.pdf. Last accessed 25 February 2015.
- UNAIDS PCB Bureau. 2012. "Summary of the PCB Bureau meeting of 27 June 2012."

 Available at:

 http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/sub_landing/files/20120724_PCB_Bure
 au_NFR_27June_2012_EN_0.pdf. Last accessed on 22 February 2015.
- UNASUR Constitutive Treaty. 2008. "South American Union of Nations Constitutive Treaty."

 Available at: http://studentorgs.law.smu.edu/getattachment/International-Law-Review-Association/Resources/LBRA-Archive/15-2/SMB213.pdf.aspx. Last accessed 25 February 2015.
- United Nations. 2012. Social protection: A development priority in the post-2015 UN development agenda. Thematic Think Piece: ECA, ILO*, UNCTAD, UNDESA, UNICEF.

 Available at:

 http://www.un.org/millenniumgoals/pdf/Think%20Pieces/16_social_protection.p

 df. Last accessed 25 February 2015.
- U.S. Human Rights Network. 2014. Shadow Report Submissions to the United Nations

 Committee Against Torture document multiple forms of police and other State



- violence against immigrants, as well as against African Africans, LGBT people, Indigenous People, and people who are incarcerated. Available at http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/Treaties/CAT/Shared%20Documents/USA/INT_CAT_C SS_USA_18614_E.pdf.
- United Nations Economic and Social Council. 2004. "Inter-agency Support Group on Indigenous Issues Report on Free, Prior, and Informed Consent," paper prepared for the Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues, 3rd session, New York, 10-21 May 2004.
- Urbinati, Nadia. 2000. "Representation as Advocacy: A Study of Democratic Deliberation: *Political Theory* 28, no. 6: 258-786.
- Urbinati, Nadia. 2006. Representative Democracy. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Urbinati, Nadia and Mark E. Warren. 2008. "The Concept of Representation in Contemporary Democratic Theory." *Annual Review of Political Science* 11:387–412
- Vancouver Declaration. 2006. "Vancouver Declaration: why the world needs an international network of activists who use drugs." Available at: http://www.inpud.net/en/vancouver-declaration. Last accessed 25 February 2015.
- Varese, Stefano. 2006. Witness to Sovereignty: Essays on the Indian Movement in Latin

 America. Copenhagen: International Work Group For Indigenous Affairs (IWGIA)
- Waldron, Jeremy. 1979. Enough and as Good Left for Others. The Philosophical Quarterly.

 Vol. 29, No. 117 (Oct., 1979), pp. 319-328.
- Walters, K. L., Mohammed, S.A., Evans-Campbell, T., Beltrán, R. E., Chae, D. H., & Duran, B. 2011. "Bodies don't just tell stories, they tell histories: Embodiment of historical trauma among American Indians and Alaska Natives." *Dubois Review*, 8 (1): 179-189.



- Warren, Kay B. and Jean E. Jackson. 2002. *Indigenous Movements, Self-representation, and the State in Latin America*. Austin: University of Texas Press.
- Warren, Mark and Dario Castiglione. 2004. "The Transformation of Democratic Representation." *Democracy and Society.* Volume 2. Issue I. pp. 5, 20-22.
- Washington, Ebonya. 2012. "Do Majority-Black Districts Limit Blacks' Representation? The Case of the 1990 Redistricting." *Journal of Law and Economics* 55, no. 2: 251-274.
- Washington, Harriet A. 2007. *Medical Apartheid: The Dark History of Medical Experimentation on Black Americans from Colonial Times to the Present.* New York: Doubleday.
- Weissman, Robert, 2006. "Free Trade, Expensive Drugs." *AIDS Community Research Initiative of America (ACCRIA): Update* 15, no. 4 (Fall): 10-11, 21.
- WHO (World Health Organization). 2005. "Violence against Sex Workers and HIV Prevention." Available at: http://www.who.int/gender/documents/sexworkers.pdf. Last accessed 25 February 2015.
- WHO, UNICEF, and UNAIDS. 2013. HIV Treatment: Global Update on HIV Treatment 2013:

 Results, Impact and Opportunities. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Williams, Melissa. 1995. Justice toward Groups: Political Not Juridical. *Political Theory* 23, no. 1: 67-91.
- Williams, Melissa. 1998. *Voice, Trust, and Memory: Marginalized Groups and the Failings of Liberal Representation*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University.
- Williams, C. T. and L.J. Ouellet, L. J. 2010. "Misdirected opposition: Evidence opposing "not in my back yard" arguments against syringe exchange programmes". *International Journal of Drug Policy* 21 (5): 437–439.



- Wilson, Reid. 2015. Keystone XL company files eminent domain papers against Nebraska landowners. Washington Post. January 21 2015. http://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/govbeat/wp/2015/01/21/keystone-xl-company-files-eminent-domain-papers-against-nebraska-landowners/
- Wodak A, McLeod L. 2008. "The role of harm reduction in controlling HIV among injecting drug users." *AIDS*. (August) 22 Suppl 2:S81-92.Wollstonecraft, Mary. [1792] 1999. A Vindication of the Rights of Women. New York: Bartleby.Com.
- World Bank. 2005. "OP 4.10: Indigenous People." *Operational Manual* (July). Washington, D.C.: The World Bank Group. Available at: http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/PROJECTS/EXTPOLICIES/EXTOP MANUAL/0,,contentMDK:20553653~menuPK:4564185~pagePK:64709096~piPK: 64709108~theSitePK:502184,00.html. Last accessed on 23 February 2015.
- World Bank (2013). "Defining Civil Society." Available at: http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/TOPICS/CSO/0,,contentMDK:2010 1499~pagePK:220503~piPK:264336~theSitePK:228717,00.html. Last accessed 22 February 2015.
- World Trade Organization. 1996. Relations with Non-Governmental Organizations/Civil Society. Available at: https://www.wto.org/english/forums_e/ngo_e/intro_e.htm. Last accessed 25 February 2015.
- Worth, Jess (ed.). 2012. *Risking Ruin: Shell's dangerous developments in the Tar Sands, Arctic and Nigeria.* Bemidji, MN: The Indigenous Environmental Network and Athabasca Chipewyan First Nation.



- Xinhua. 2013. Chinese vice premier meets UNAIDS executive director. (16 August). http://en.people.cn/90883/8367558.html
- Yates, Robert [writing as Brutus]. 1787. "New Constitution Creates a National Government; Will Not Abate Foreign Influence." *Anti-Federalist Paper no. 3*. Available at: http://www.thefederalistpapers.org/anti-federalist-papers/antifederalist-paper-3-new-constitution-creates-a-national-government-will-not-abate-foreign-influence.

 Last accessed on 25 February 2015.
- Young, Iris Marion. 1990. *Justice and the Politics of Difference*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University.
- Young, Iris Marion. 1993. "Justice and Communicative Democracy." In *Radical Philosophy: Tradition, Counter-Tradition, Politics*. Roger S. Gottlieb (ed.). Philadelphia: Temple

 University Press: 23-42.
- Young, Iris Marion. 1996. "Communication and the Other: Beyond Deliberative Democracy."

 In *Democracy and Difference*. Seyla Benhabib (ed.) Princeton: Princeton University

 Press. 120-135.
- Young, Iris Marion. 2002. *Inclusion and Democracy*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Young, Iris Marion. 2005. On Female Body Experience: 'Throwing Like a Girl' and Other Essays. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Young, Iris Marion. 2006. "Ideals of Democracy and Justice Extended to Transnational Interaction." *Normative and Empirical Approaches to Global Governance,* Princeton University, February 16-18, 2006.
- Young, Iris Marion. 2007. *Global Challenges: War, Self-Determination, and Responsibility for Justice.* New York: Polity Press.



- Yu, Dongbao, Yves Souteyrand, Mazuwa A Banda, Joan Kaufman, and Joseph H. Perriens.

 2008. "Investment in HIV/AIDS programs: Does it help strengthen health systems in developing countries?" *Globalization and Health* 4:8.
- Yu, Jess Macy. 2014. Chinese AIDS Activist Says She Was Kept From U.N. Conference. *New York Times*. (23 October). http://sinosphere.blogs.nytimes.com/2014/10/23/chinese-aids-activist-says-shewas-kept-from-conference/?_r=0
- Zappala, Gianni. 1999. "The phases of the political participation of ethnic minorities in Australian politics." *Journal of Intercultural Studies* 20, no. 1: 65-79.
- Zardiashvili, Tinatin. 2013. Eastern Europe/Central Asia network chooses in-country partners for its regional harm reduction project on HIV in EECA. *AIDSpan: Global Fund Observer*. (29 November). Available at: http://www.aidspan.org/gfo_article/eastern-europecentral-asia-network-chooses-country-partners-its-regional-harm-reduction-. Last accessed 22 February 2015.
- Zhang Ying-Xia, Carol E. Golin, Bu Jin, Catherine Boland Emrick, Zhang Nan, Li Ming-Qiang. 2014. "Coping Strategies for HIV-Related Stigma in Liuzhou, China." *AIDS and Behavior* 18, no. 2 Supplement, (February): 212-220.

297

ABSTRACT

INCLUSIVE REPRESENTATION IN GLOBAL DECISION-MAKING PROCESSSES: CHALLENGES OF DEMOCRACY. SOVEREIGNTY. AND LIBERATORY POLITICS FOR MARGINALIZED GROUPS

by

LAUREL SPRAGUE

May 2015

Advisor: Dr. Brad Roth

Major: Political Science

Degree: Doctor of Philosophy

This project proposes a framework for liberatory representation that institutionalizes processes to remove domination and meaningfully increasing respect and concern toward marginalized groups on issues that substantively affect them. It argues that decision-making processes that do not offer meaningful influence to those people who are most affected by particular decisions turn those who are supposed to be political equals into wards of dominant groups; essentially turning adults into political children. To meet ideals of political equality, liberatory processes for inclusive decision-making are required. The concept of political adulthood provides the foundation for an examination of current processes designed to bring the voices of affected communities into the governance of global organizations. Dworkin's arguments for "equal respect and concern" and full membership, or "moral membership," in the political community, as the essential democratic conditions provide a theoretical foundation for analysis. Throughout, close attention is paid to the political organizing work of two marginalized groups who have successfully achieved formal representation within specific U.N. bodies: Indigenous

Peoples and people living with and affected by HIV. I argue that meaningful democratic decision-making can exist outside of both legislative and geographical boundaries, but only under particular conditions of inclusion and practice. Building on the work of Mansbridge, Williams, and Young, I argue first that we need to clearly understand – in each instance – who the affected groups are that require a decision-making voice. Next, following Agamben's "relations of the ban;" Gramscian understandings of civil society power dynamics; and Mouffe and Laclau's work on agonistic democracy; I argue that understanding civil society processes as *politics*, that is, as spaces for contention characterized by power challenges, is essential for crafting liberatory democratic practices that meaningfully involve the needs and perspectives of those most marginalized. Finally, I offer a framework for processes of liberatory representation within global institutions. I argue that critical democratic conditions that ensure meaningful influence on outcomes, increased status for oppressed groups, and opportunities to develop perceived communities of shared fate across marginalized and dominant groups must be met. Difficult challenges, some specific to the global sphere, must be addressed: the balance of power between states and global institutions that limits maneuverability for marginalized groups; structural violence; and ensuring that those subordinated within oppressed groups are meaningfully represented.



AUTOBIOGRAPHICAL STATEMENT

My work is focused on democratic processes that ensure meaningful influence by marginalized peoples within civil society and global institutions. I am most interested in the resilience and resistance of social groups when faced with stigma and discrimination and human rights abuses. In my research, I seek to close the gap between communities, and their information and analysis needs, and the academy, where resources that could actuate that research are held. Frustration expressed by non-governmental organizations (NGOs), networks of marginalized people, and global organizations, led to my dissertation research on global representation processes for oppressed groups. Since 2009, I have provided research support to a UN-civil society project: the People Living with HIV Stigma Index. The experience of providing technical assistance to communities across sub-Saharan Africa and Central/Eastern Europe has taught me to respect and learn from communities' capacity for rigorous and thoughtful research. My recent participatory research projects include: survey research on attitudes about HIV-specific criminal penalties (U.S.); structured interviews on the health, social, and political effects of HIV-related stigma (Detroit, Baton Rouge, and Vancouver); and focus groups and a survey to identify political, economic, and social needs conducted jointly with transgender people living with HIV (U.S.). I have led or supported research projects in the U.S., Canada, Central and Eastern Europe and Central Asia (five countries), and Sub-Saharan Africa (three countries). Funding for these initiatives has come primarily from philanthropic organizations in Europe and the U.S., with some travel and meeting support from the U.S. National Institutes for Health. I serve on two UN working groups to develop global HIV stigma indicators: Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting and the Indicator Working Group for the UN Monitoring and Evaluation Reference Group.

